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MAKING THE PENTAGON ACCOUNTABLE:
FINANCIAL PROBLEMS AND PROGRESS

TUESDAY, JULY 12, 1994

U.S. Senate,
Committee on Governmental Affairs,

Washington, DC.

The Committee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:35 a.m., in room
SD-342, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. John Glenn, Chair-
man of the Committee, presiding.

Present: Senators Glenn and Dorgan.

OPENING STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN GLENN
Chairman Glenn. The hearing will be in order.

Good morning. Today the Committee on Governmental Affairs

meets to review the financial management progress of the Defense
Department. If past experience is any guide, just that very exciting

announcement of the hearing title is almost guaranteed to clear out
part of our audience and a high percentage of the press table.

We have spent a lot of time on this issue, and whether there is

a lot of overall public interest in this or not is beside the point; it

is a very, very important issue and one that we are committed to

follow.

We have spent a lot of time on it, and I suspect before we are

done that we will spend a lot more time on it. In my opinion, if

the Pentagon C£in improve the way it accounts for taxpayer money,
then we can save many, many tens of billions of dollars and im-
prove the Government's credibility at the same time. And yes, that

is exhilarating, and yes, that is exciting if we can do that.

We have probably held a dozen hearings on Pentagon financial

management, and probably another dozen on issues like inventory
£ind spare parts and defective pricing. For years, we saw very little

action after we pointed out problems. You would think that when
we had a hearing, people would hop to when we pointed out things

where there were deficiencies, but that just did not happen.
But I do think more recently, with Secretary Perry, Deputy Sec-

retary Deutch, and Comptroller John Hamre and his new team on
board, that we have begun to see real high-level attention paid to

financial management. As a result, we are beginning to get much
needed progress.

Through hearings held by this Committee and the Pentagon's ac-

tions, we are for the first time seeing attention paid to such poten-

tially wasteful and abusive things as $1.4 billion in contractor over-

payments—no bills sent in, but money sent out—$41 billion in un-
matched disbursements—I am not saying they are all wrong, but

(1)



we cannot prove they are all right, either—$41 billion; payroll

problems at the Army that include $8 million erroneously paid to

ghost employees and AWOL soldiers, and weaknesses in computer
security.

And I think that this year's audit of the Army especially shows

that constructive action is being taken in an effort to correct long-

standing problems.
When we passed the CFO Act back in 1990, we knew that dec-

ades of financial neglect were not going to get fixed overnight.

Comptroller General Bowsher has said that the CFO Act was the

best step forward in financial management in 40 years. But this is

a long process. Even with commitment from top leadership, it will

take years to fulfill the CFO Act's intent.

Let me add that it will take more than just leadership. Progress

will also require initiative, and at all levels. Much attention has

been paid to the military's bottom-up review on organization and
manpower, analyzing what works from small units to larger, to the

whole mihtary. Perhaps that approach is what is needed on finan-

cial management. Surely, small unit financial management can be

achieved unit by unit. You have to go to platoon level, to company
level, to regiment level, to whatever. The result could be the basis

for a new financial bottom-up review rather than just having new
"do better" orders from the top down.
That is why I was pleased to learn, for instance, that a lieuten-

ant colonel out at Fort Riley, Kansas had developed his own match-

ing system to detect payroll problems. He is not waiting for the De-

fense Finance and Accounting Service, DFAS, to do it for him. In

fact, DFAS is now looking at Fort Riley's system, as I understand

it, to see if it can be adapted for wider Army use. And that is good.

Despite these encouraging signs, the fiscal 1993 audits of the

Army, the Air Force, and the Defense Business Operations Fund,

or DBOF, show that there are many, many serious problems which

must still be addressed. It is clear that basic internal controls are

not being followed throughout the military. The audits show that

financial problems in many instances are caused by people who are

just not following the rules.

For instance, the Army currently has 305 open cases involving

$8.1 million incorrectly paid to soldiers, and new cases are being

found all the time. The Personnel Command has issued guidance

to unit commanders requiring them to use a report that will help

detect improper payments, yet the Army Audit Agency says that

often commanders are ignoring these reports. One commander at

Fort Hood, Texas for the past 2 years has certified a soldier's pay

when the soldier has been absent without leave, AWOL, for that

entire time. In cases like this, it is clear that people need to be held

accountable for their actions.

We all know that financial systems are a problem, and—whether
we like it or not—better systems will be years in coming. What dis-

turbs me and disturbs all of us in reading these audits is that too

often we have not taken the simple but important actions that can

solve many problems now. We do not have to wait for some magic

new svstem.
For instance, finance offices are not doing the investigations that

their own regulations require when they find abnormal balances



and other obvious accounting errors. The balance of one Air Force

account increased between 1992 and 1993 by more than 4,000 per-

cent. But no one at Air Force or at the Defense Finance and Ac-

counting Service questioned it. Finally, the accounts were audited,

and the auditors caught the error—$400 million in one equipment
account that jumped in 1 year to $18 billion—and no one noticed

until the accounts were audited—an $18 billion error. This, I un-
derstand, was equipment loaned, so the equipment was probably
still someplace, but the point was nobody knew exactly where it

was, so on the books, it showed up as an $18 billion error. Surely,

we should be able to keep better track of things than that.

In some areas, we have seen these problems year after year. The
Air Force was first audited by the General Accounting Office in

1988, but many of the problems which have nothing to do with
long-term systems improvements remain problems 6 years later.

The Air Force Audit Agency gives management some credit for im-

provements, but I do not understand why, for instance, millions of

dollars worth of computer equipment could not be found, and mil-

lions more, on the other hand, were found which do not exist in

any records. Auditors have brought this up year after year; yet the

problem remains uncorrected.
These are issues of basic accountability that should run through

every job. Who is responsible, and what happens if they foul up?
Too often, nothing. I know from my own military experience that

a pilot, for instance, who damages an aircraft through slipshod or

careless operation—taxi accidents or whatever—can expect to be

grounded or transferred to other duties. We cannot afford pilots

like that.

But what happens when there is a wreck in our financial man-
agement system that literally costs the taxpayers billions, instead

of the much smaller amount from an aircraft mishap on the ramp?
Apparently, too often, it is little or nothing, and promotions and
upgrades continue as if nothing wrong had happened. That is not

right. There must be more accountability.

Do not misunderstand me. I am pleased that the auditors believe

that the military services are making progress in this difficult area,

and we are glad to see that. And I certainly fully support the Pen-

tagon's efforts to improve financial stewardship. Nonetheless, it is

clear from these audits that the Defense Department must main-
tain and strengthen its commitment to financial management if the

Pentagon is to gain control of public funds. That is the whole pur-

pose of the CFO Act which this Committee wrote, and we plan to

continue our vigorous oversight of financial management in the fu-

ture.

I want to welcome our witnesses this morning. The first panel in-

cludes Francis Reardon, the Army Auditor General; Jackie

Crawford, the Air Force Auditor General; and Derek Vander
Schaaf, the Acting Inspector General of the Defense Department.
On our second panel are Helen McCoy, Assistant Secretary for Fi-

nancial Management of the Army; Robert Hale, Assistant Secretary

for Financial Management of the Air Force; and Richard Keevey,
Deputy Comptroller for Financial Systems at the Defense Depart-

ment.
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Thank you all for being with us today. We are glad we can say
we seem to be making a little bit of progress, but it is coming ago-
nizingly slowly, I guess would be the way we would put it.

Mr. Reardon, if you would lead off with your testimony, and I

will say in advance that if you have lengthier statements, all of
them will be included in the record as though deUvered, if you care
to give a summary of your statement.
Mr. Reardon, if you would lead off, we would appreciate it.

TESTIMONY OF FRANCIS E. REARDON,^ AUDITOR GENERAL,
DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY, ACCOMPANIED BY ANDREW
BLACKWELL, PRINCIPAL AUDITOR
Mr. Reardon. Yes, sir. Grood morning, Mr. Chairman.
My name is Francis Reardon. I am the Auditor General of the

Army and head of the Army Audit Agency. Accompan5dng me this

morning is Mr. Andrew Blackwell, the principal auditor for the
Army's fiscal year 1993 financial statements.

I am pleased to be here this morning to testify on the results of
our audits of the Army's fiscal year 1993 financial statements. I

have submitted my fiill statement to the Committee, which I ask
be made part of the hearing record. I will now give a brief opening
statement.
Audit opinions. Although the Army has made progress and, in

my opinion, is committed to Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990
implementation, we could not yet express an opinion on the general
fund statements because of five principal reasons.

First, the systems supporting the Army's financial statements
lack integrated general ledgers and complete subsidiary ledgers
and therefore do not generate reliable and auditable financial infor-

mation.
Second, corrective actions for previously identified problems were

in process in all the areas we reviewed, but were not yet fully im-
plemented.

Third, DOD policies conflict with Office of Management and
Budget guidance and prevented the Army from properly reporting
material amounts of assets and liabilities.

Fourth, Army general counsel's legal representation letter did
not adequately address the Army's actual and potential litigation

liabilities, and these liabiUties were understated on the Army bal-

ance sheet.

Fifth and last, the system used by the Corps of Engineers to ac-

count for and report civil works operations does not produce reli-

able and auditable financial information.
Also underlying our disclaimer of an opinion, we found internal

control weaknesses and noncompliance with selected laws and reg-

ulations. The following is a s3niopsis of the details of our audit.

Financial statement preparation process. The processes and pro-

cedures used by the Defense Finance and Accounting Service Cen-
ter Indieoiapolis to prepare statements were much improved, but
some of the controls over compiling and adjusting financial data
needed strengthening.

^ The prepared statement of Mr. Reardon appears on page 58.



Payroll. Defense Finance and Accounting Service and the Army
are now regularly making comparisons between pay and personnel
system records, and the incidence of mismatches has been signifi-

cantly reduced. Defense Finance and Accounting Service and the

Army are also working together to implement automated interfaces

between the military personnel and pay systems. This is a positive

step and needs to be pursued further.

The problems with reconciling individual and summary payroll

data, which led to incorrect Federal tax payments for fiscal year
1992 have largely been resolved. During fiscal year 1993, a related

problem surfaced involving State tax overpajmients, but the excess

payments were collected in fiscal year 1994, We also noted that

military pay controls at the installation level needed improve-
ments.
Accounting systems and processes. The local Defense accounting

offices did not have complete sets of automated subsidiary ledgers.

Without those records, we could not sample and test the trans-

actions supporting the financial statements. We also found other

reasons for the financial information to be unreliable, such as ac-

counting personnel generally focused on budget execution report-

ing, and did not use or review general ledger data. And procedures
for preparing and maintaining documentation to support trans-

actions were not adequate.
Accounting for disbursements. For major contract payments

made by Defense Finance and Accounting Service, Columbus, local

accounting offices continue to frequently post disbursements to the

oldest unliquidated obligations rather than the correct obligations.

Travel advances. Finance offices and Army managers were not

paying sufficient attention to recouping travel advances, and 69
percent of the advances we audited were delinquent.

Military equipment. Procedures for physically accounting for re-

portable military equipment appeared adequate. Also, the accuracy
measure for military equipment data in the continuing balance sys-

tem-expanded, improved to 93 percent in fiscal year 1993, from 89
percent reported for fiscal year 1992. However, the Army's 95 per-

cent accuracy goal still was not achieved.

We also found problems in the procedures used to report equip-

ment on hand at nontactical and National Guard units, and that

the financial records for equipment in transit often were not prop-

erly closed out.

Real property and Govemment-fiimished property. The financial

accountability controls over real property and Government-fur-
nished property remsiin a major problem.

Conventional ammunition. The Army implemented several prior

audit recommendations and improved its inventory procedures and
controls for ammunition components. We determined that account-

able records were accurate for inventory valued at about $2 billion.

DOD policies. DOD policies preclude the Army from (1) fully re-

porting certain assets and liabilities, and (2) preparing representa-

tion letters that meet audit pohcy guidance. Consequently, we
found the following three conditions. First, about $6.4 billion of the

Army's war reserve munitions held at installations and intermedi-

ate supply points were not, but should have been, reported as as-

sets on the balance sheet.



Second, the Army identified about $25.7 billion in probable con-

tingencies—those likely to occur—which should be shown on the

balance sheet as liabilities, but which were only disclosed as foot-

notes.

And third. Army general counsel's legal representation letter did

not adequately address actual and potential legal liabilities, and
these liabilities may be significantly understated.

Civil works operations. The Army Corps of Engineers volun-

teered to have its statements audited, and Corps management
worked aggressively to fix problems. However, limited progress was
achieved on three conditions found in previous financial audits. We
found that (1) construction-in-progress still included completed

projects; (2) design and engineering costs were not included in the

cost of miUtary construction projects; and (3) real property values

were not adequately supported by information in the subsidiary

ledgers. We also found weaknesses in cost management practices

that resulted in labor costs being improperly charged to other

projects or overhead accounts to avoid cost overruns.

The Corps' current financial system, like other accounting sys-

tems, did not incorporate a transaction-based general ledger. This

contributed to the unreliabiUty of the civil works financial informa-

tion.

Performance measures. The Army has made significant progress

on performance measures, and we think it has established itself as

a leader in this area. To build on its progress, the Army needs to

translate its identified measures into linked networks and to de-

velop program-level cost information. As presently reported, the

measures do not provide the capability to evaluate program effec-

tiveness and efficiency and therefore are not yet complete.

Overall assessement. In summsiry, the Army is making note-

worthy progress in its attempt to attain the goals and objectives of

the CFO Act. Our audit results present a mixed picture, and a

great deal remains to be done. Overall, however, the multitude of

initiatives which sire in progress and my evaluation of manage-
ment's attitude convinces me that the Army is committed to

progress and is aggressively headed in the right direction.

To continue its progress, the Army needs to formulate an overall

plan addressing the actions to (1) further educate field-level man-
agers and operators on the importance and benefits of the propri-

etary financial management process; (2) resolve identified prob-

lems; and (3) define the business-oriented processes needed to meet

the CFO Act goals and objectives and transition to cost- and out-

come-based financial decisionmaking practices and procedures.

The Assistant Secretary of the Army for Financial Management
has recognized the need for a forward-looking plan and has begun
working on it. Nonetheless, the initiative to formulate a com-

prehensive plan to implement the requirements of the CFO Act

needs more attention and effort.

Overall, I believe the CFO Act is a powerful stimulus for all Gov-

ernment entities to achieve comprehensive financial accountability.

In my opinion, one of the priorities in implementing the Act should

be the development of cost accounting systems and procedures,

which field-level managers urgently need to do their jobs while con-

tending with constantly declining resources.



This concludes my statement. Thank you for the opportunity to

appear before the Committee.
Chairman Glenn. Thank you very much.
Mr. Crawford.

TESTIMONY OF JACKIE R. CRAWFORD,* AUDITOR GENERAL,
DEPARTMENT OF THE AIR FORCE

Mr. Crawford. Mr. Chairman, I appreciate the invitation to dis-

cuss our audits of the fiscal year 1993 Air Force financial state-

ments. I have submitted a statement for the record. Today, I will

provide an overview of my comments.
As you know, this is our second round of audits under the CFG

Act. This year, we completed audits of the Air Force General Fund
and selected accounts within the Defense Business Operations

F\ind, or DBOF. Our efforts resulted in 29 reports, consisting of 5

opinion reports and 24 supporting reports.

We issued our opinion reports in final form on June 30, 1994. We
also issued drafts for each of our 24 supporting reports before we
released the opinions.

We have obtained management comments and published 13 of

our supporting reports. Managers are responding to the remaining

11 reports, and we expect to have them all pubHshed by August 31,

1994.
, ^

Overall, the Air Force and the Defense Finance and Accounting

Service, or DFAS, have responded positively to our audits and are

pursuing corrective action in response to our 86 recommendations.

The CFO audits continue to consume a significant amount of our

resources. This year, we are devoting about 130 staff years, or

about 20 percent of our agency's resources, to CFO projects. This

is somewhat less than last year, and I attribute the savings to sev-

eral audit improvements. These improvements resulted ft-om our

initiatives, better communications with our clients, and rec-

ommendations from others, such as members of your Committee

staff, the General Accounting Office, and the DOD Inspector Gen-

eral.

One initiative was to refocus our audits. In coordination with the

DOD Assistant Inspector for Auditing, we concluded that the

DBOF accounts would not be completely auditable within the next

few years. Therefore, we agreed to pursue a building block audit

approach that would begin with four accounts in fiscal year 1993

and add additional accounts each year until the full statements

were covered.
For the fiscal year 1993 DBOF statements, we audited four bal-

ance sheet accounts—inventories held for sale; inventories not held

for sale; plant, property, and equipment; and fund balance with

Treasury.
This year, we also assigned more audit resources to internal con-

trol evaluations for key supporting systems and focused more on

short- and intermediate-term actions where long-term solutions are

pending.
Additionally, we streamlined our audit reporting process. In par-

ticular, we consohdated some audits, which allowed us to get our

1 The prepared statement of Mr. Crawford appears on page 65.
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reports to management faster, and reduced the nimiber of manage-
ment responses required. Finally, we redesigned our audit report

formats to improve readability.

Mr. Chairman, agsiin, we were unable to express an audit opin-

ion on the i^r Force's general fund financial statements. We based

our disclaimer on material uncertainties related to the amounts re-

ported in the statements and concerns with the Air Force and
DFAS accounting systems. During the audit, we compared our

prior year findings with current conditions, and we found a number
of continuing problems.
For example, a transaction-driven general ledger was still not

available. Also, some existing accounting systems could not produce

auditable financial data. Acquisition costs were not used for most
assets. Equipment, inventories and real property were not reported

accurately.

Our audit this year also reconfirmed the very real need for im-

proved accounting systems. Even though DFAS made $28.2 billion

of the $28.3 billion of accounting adjustments we recommended,
systems problems caused such significant uncertainties about the

other amounts that we were unable to express an audit opinion on

the consolidated financial statements. This situation, unfortu-

nately, is likely to continue until major system improvements are

implemented.
I will discuss some of the specific general fiind issues we identi-

fied.

Disbursement and collection records at the DFAS Denver Center

varied significantly fi-om subsidiary records at base accounting of-

fices. Specifically, over 12,000 unreconcilable differences, valued at

$3.3 billion, existed at the end of fiscal year 1993. This is a con-

tinuing problem, and DFAS is pursuing several initiatives to ad-

dress it.

Recorded obligations included almost $5.8 billion of negative, un-

Hquidated obUgations, or ULOs, at the contract item level. Our re-

view identified over 6,000 of nearly 27,000 records which contained

negative ULOs, representing significant efforts in obligation data.

Negative ULOs normally represent posting errors, other account-

ing errors, or overpayments to contractors. The DOD Comptroller

prescribed new policies effective March 31, 1994, intended to re-

solve and correct negative ULO conditions. As I will discuss later,

DFAS is edso working some system improvements to address this

problem.
Although we found that civilian and military payroll accounts

within the Air Force were generally accurate, we noted a control

problem at 20 of 44 locations reviewed. Specifically, accounting and

personnel officials had not performed the required reconciliations

between civiUan pay and personnel records. These reconciliations

aid in ensuring that payments are proper and accurate. However,

our audit test did not show any material misstatements in pay.

We also identified weaknesses in the real property accounting

process. Approximately $2.6 billion of the $35.4 billion of real prop-

erty costs reported in the financial statements did not agree with

the costs reported in subsidiary records.

As a last point on the general fiind area, Mr. Chairman, we
found weak internal controls over computer assets. Our review of



20 locations highlighted over $2.5 million of computer equipment
that could not be located, and $5.8 million of equipment on hand
but not listed on accountability records.

Although the dollars involved were small in proportion to the

total Air Force assets, strong internal controls for computer items

are essential because of the attractiveness of this equipment for

personal use.

In response to our audit, management is performing additional

inventories and initiating reports of survey for items not found. Of
course, a report of survey is a procedure for establishing respon-

sibility for loss and taking appropriate action.

We also had problems with each of the DBOF accounts that we
audited. Specifically, we could not fully verify the account balance

for the $30.9 biUion of inventory held for sale or the $3.5 billion

of inventories not held for sale. The primary problem was account-

ing system inadequacies.
Also, we concluded that the $3.6 biUion balance reported for

plant, property, and equipment was not accurate. For example, the

depot maintenance area did not report $1.2 billion of assets in use.

This problem occurred in part because of confusion over how to re-

port assets used by DBOF, but initially purchased with regular Air

Force appropriations.

Finally, the Air Force DBOF Statement of Financial Position

showed a fund balance with Treasury of $1.4 billion. However, be-

cause the Department of the Treasury only accounts for DBOF
funds at the DOD level, and because existing accounting systems

and DFAS procedures do not provide an adequate audit trail, we
were unable to verify this balance.

Shifting to the future, Mr. Chairman, I believe there is room for

some optimism. Attitudes throughout DOD are changing, and we
appear to be at a turning point for DOD financial management.
Secretary Perry has stated that one of his highest priorities is to

fix DOD's longstanding financial management problems. The Sec-

retary of the Air Force and senior Air Force and DFAS managers
have all expressed a strong commitment to financial management
improvements. Further, in many areas, short- or intermediate-term

fixes are being pursued while permanent solutions are worked. I

will discuss a few of these actions.

First and probably most significant, DFAS is moving out on some
of the most serious accounting system deficiencies. For example,

they are currently implementing two interim systems that will help

address the problems of unmatched disbursements and negative

unliquidated obligations. First, the Direct Contract Payment Notice

System should improve disbursing controls and accounting for con-

tracts. Second, the Automated Reconciliation System Avill provide

automatic comparisons of obligation data maintained in the con-

tract files with data maintained at both the accounting and dis-

bursing activities.

Also, the DFAS Denver Center has submitted plans to develop a

transaction-driven general ledger system. If approved and imple-

mented, the system's incremental development would improve the

accounting process over the next 5 years.

Further, to improve financial reporting, the DFAS Denver Center

has developed a comprehensive training program, updated their
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regulations, clarified policy guidance, and improved the accuracy of

reporting inventory values for some assets.

Likewise, the DFAS Denver Center has actions in progress to

evaluate the quality of accounting internal controls at Air Force

bases. We are working closely with them on these evaluations to

assess the implementation and effectiveness of corrective actions in

response to our prior recommendations. This year, we embarked on

five compliance reviews and have already provided the results of

two of these reviews to DFAS officials. We have agreed to continue

this compliance review program.
In summary, we recognize that achieving the intent of the CFO

Act will be a long-term and continuous process. The preparation

and audit of financial statements remains a learning experience for

both accountants and auditors.

Our audits this year showed that while progress is slow, we are

beginning to address some of the entrenched problems. Yet much
work remains, especially given the more stringent time require-

ments for preparation and audit of fineincial statements in future

years.

I believe the Air Force will continue its positive progress toward

full implementation of the CFO Act, resulting in both improved fi-

nancial reporting and better accountabihty over Air Force funds.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. At the appropriate time, I will be

pleased to respond to questions.

Chairman Glenn. Thank you very much.
Mr. Vander Schaaf.

TESTIMONY OF DEREK J. VANDER SCHAAF,^ DEPUTY INSPEC-
TOR GENERAL, DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE, ACCOMPANIED
BY ROBERT J. LBEBERMAN, ASSISTANT INSPECTOR GEN-
ERAL FOR AUDITING

Mr. Vander Schaaf. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It is a pleasure

to be here again. I appreciate your holding these hearings. I know
you have to suffer a httle bit to Hsten to all of this, but it is impor-

tant, and keeping a little heat and light on this matter is going to

prove to be very useful.

Mr. Lieberman, at my left, and I were here last April and spoke

about general financial problems in the Department of Defense,

such as in debt collection, funds flow, property valuation, disburse-

ment and so forth. This morning, I only want to try to cover the

Chief Financial Officers Act and the business of audited financial

Mr. Lieberman was last here on July 1, 1993, covering our audits

of the fiscal year 1992 financial statements. At that hearing we
identified the problems that confronted the Department as it

sought to comply with the Act's requirements. We noted that

DOD's systems for accounting and reporting financial data were in-

compatible and frequently outmoded, produced inaccurate informa-

tion, and in general were not intended to compile the information

needed for financial statements. I think you heard more of that this

morning in terms of the Air Force and Army general fund posi-

tions. The accounting records just do not produce the information

iThe prepared statement of Mr. Vander Schaaf appears on page 68.
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you need to make financial statements, and the financial state-

ments then are a mess, as you have heard.

As in other Federal agencies, DOD personnel were not well

versed in preparing or auditing financial statements. Federal ac-

counting standards and guidance pertaining to financial statements

also were not in place. As if those problems were not enough, the

DOD financial community also was seriously distracted by the Per-

sian Gulf War, the DOD budget drawdown, the problems of the

new Defense Business Operations Fund, and the disruptions that

accompanied the consolidation of accounting and disbursing activi-

ties into a single Defense Finance and Accounting Service.

With those handicaps, the Department struggled to comply with

the CFO Act. Most of the 1992 financial statements were late. Only

2 of 17 statements audited by my office received quahfied or clean

opinions; the others received heavily quahfied or adverse opinions,

or we found it impossible to render an opinion, in other words, we
gave a disclaimer. Management frequently was unwilling or unable

to provide either management representation letters or legal rep-

resentation letters to attest to the financial statements.

Now, with respect to the 1993 financial statements, in terms of

the opinions rendered, the situation is about the same as it was in

fiscal year 1992. Once again, the financial statements for most of

the audited funds were seriously flawed and unsupportable. During

the July 1993 hearings, we predicted that it would take several

years to develop the systems, the controls, and the expertise to

produce financial statements capable of receiving clean audit opin-

ions. „
Therefore, the results of the fiscal year 1993 audits generally

were expected, although we had hoped to see certain problems re-

solved, and instead they persist. It would not be very useful to

summarize every financial statement and audit report in detail.

However, I will discuss several common problems.

First, we noted that late guidance continued to cause real prob-

lems at the operating level in the DOD financial community. Sec-

ond, there was no improvement this year in the timeliness of pro-

viding the financial statements to the auditors. Final financial

statements for the year ended September 30, 1993 were not pro-

vided to us to complete our audits until as late as last month. With

our audit reports due out in accordance with the CFO Act by June

30, those delays complicated our works. Some DOD components

also viewed draft statements as unchangeable, which negated the

auditors' attempts to recommend adjustment.

Second, the makeshift process of preparing the statements and

making multiple, undocumented adjustments hampered effective

up-front involvement by the auditors.

Some DOD components continued making adjustments into

June, long after it was feasible for the auditors to verify the revised

numbers in time for a report by June 30. The Department has to

find a way to speed up the process drastically. We will focus future

audit attention on the preparation process itself, in hopes of assist-

ing in putting improvements into place.

Third, while we have seen some improvement in documenting

the source of adjustments to general ledger account balances, more
needs to be done. This is especially true for adjustments related to
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undistributed disbursements and collections and the funds balance

with the Treasury, given the effect they have on accounts receiv-

able and accounts payable.

Fourth, problems persist with the validity of reported fund bal-

ances with the Treasury, reconciliation of account balances, and
controls over appropriation limitations. And here I should add that

we found too many examples of where finance personnel have used

the oldest money on hand to pay bills, when the bills should have

been charged to newer money, or we find procurement funds being

charged for RDT&E and vice versa.

Fifth, in some accounts, transactions are still being accounted for

on a cash basis instead of an accrual basis, causing distortion. Ex-

amples are the Voluntary Separation Investment Trust Fund, the

Defense Reutilization and Marketing Service Fund, and the Penta-

gon Reservation Maintenance Fund.
Sixth, valuation of plant, property and equipment and of excess

inventory continues to be a teclmicaJ problem for the Defense Busi-

ness Operations Fund and other fiinds. Documentation for the

value of the plant, property and equipment is still an unresolved

issue. Excess inventory is valued differently by each service.

Seventh, DOD is still struggling with the concept of management
representation letters. These letters attest to the accuracy of the fi-

nancial statements, and if necessary make appropriate qualifica-

tions to them. Although the heads of the miUtary departments and
Defense agencies annually sign Federal Managers' Financial Integ-

rity Act assurance letters, written policy issued by the Comptroller

does not require those same senior management officials to jointly

sign representation letters with the senior financial officials. This

policy not only conflicts with the Gk)vemment auditing standards,

it is illogical and retards attempts to involve senior officials in fi-

nancial management improvement issues. We are working with the

Comptroller staff to resolve this matter for fiscal year 1994, but so

far they have remained unwilling to issue the guidance needed to

place the Department in compliance with GAO, PCIE, and the

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants standards for

management representation letters.

I have personally checked with several other Federal depart-

ments and agencies and found that, in most instances, the appro-

priate manager and financial officer signed a representation letter.

Although the absence of adequate representation letters is a suffi-

cient audit scope Umitation to merit a disclaimer, it was not, in and

of itself, the sole reason for adverse or disclaimed opinions in our

1993 financial statement audits. The statements had many other

problems that would have dictated such opinions, even if we would

bave received adequate management representation letters.

On a more positive note, we observed more involvement by pro-

gram officials, not just accountants, in trying to resolve financial

management issues. The DOD Senior Financial Management Over-

sight Council addressed the need to achieve compliance with the

CFO Act and improve DOD financial systems in one of its first

meetings, demonstrating to other DOD managers that these mat-

ters merit close interest. The increased involvement by flag rank

officers and other officials that we noted may be an indication that

the council's message has been or is being received.



13

We observed improved understanding of accounting and adjust-
ing processes by the Defense Logistics Agency managers with re-

spect to inventory, accounts receivable and accounts payable. The
Defense Finance and Accounting Service improved controls over
coding vouchers, required specific documentation for adjustment,
reviewed system output after adjustments were made,and enforced
controls during the year-end reporting and certification process.
Systems development is the single most critical aspect of DOD fi-

nancial management improvement efforts. We are encouraged that
the planning for an "interim migratory accounting system" at the
DFAS Denver Center is addressing issues raised in recent finzincial

audits.

We noted that important DBOF poUcies and procedures were
being put in place. The Comptroller issued decision papers, for ex-
ample, on militsiry personnel pricing, major real property mainte-
nance and repair, cash management, capital purchasing, mobiliza-
tion costs, replacement inventory, and net operating results.

As mentioned at the April 12, 1994 hearing, we continue to sup-
port the DBOF concept. However, we also stress that the DBOF
will jdeld very few if any benefits until DOD cost accoimting and
DBOF rate-setting improve; and more alternative sources of goods
and services are opened to the managers that purchase these goods
or services as DBOF customers.

It is also imperative for DBOF to solve the cash management
problems that plagued it and aroused understandable congressional
ire over the past couple years. In general, we agree with the Gen-
eral Accounting Office assessment that progress is being made, es-
pecially now that the fundamental problem of the lack of specific,

written DBOF management poUcies is being addressed.
I Avant to say a httle bit about Chief Financial Officers Act audit

requirements because there are bills pending before Congress to
amend the CFO Act in important respects.
We believe that expanding the requirement for financial state-

ments to be prepared for all or nearly all Federal fiinds would be
appropriate, although the timetable in current legislative proposals
is probably too ambitious by a factor of 2 or 3 years. The discipline
involved in generating an annual financial statement benefits day-
to-day financial reporting and other facets of operation. The incre-
mental cost within the finance and accounting community should
be minimal, especially as systems and internal controls improve so
that little manual effort is involved because adjustments, correc-
tions, and other rework become less necessary.
On the other hand, there will be considerable audit cost until the

systems sind procedures Eire proven to be reliable, which will tsike

several years. In the meantime, maintaining the current level of
CFO Act auditing will require the continued commitment annually
of between 500 and 550 audit work-years—that is in the entire De-
partment of Defense audit community, not just our office—and that
will cost over $40 million. I think last year we spent about $44 mil-
lion for these CFO audits.
Even with audit efforts of that magnitude, the largest commit-

ment of DOD internal audit resources ever for a single purpose,
full compliance with the audit requirements presently prescribed in
the CFO Act is not being achieved. In my opinion, using more audit
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resources to attempt to gain full compliance with the Act would
suboptimize our audit efforts.

Expanding the CFO Act with a blsmket requirement for an audit
of every financial statement every year would not be practiced or
cost-effective, given the likely constraints on audit resources, other
demands for audit services, and the large number of funds.
Moreover, we believe strongly that considerations of materiality

and relative risk should be carefully weighted in all audit planning.
Due professional care and principles of good management dictate

targeting our resources where they can be most effective.

We make those kinds of decisions routinely in planning and exe-

cuting our regular audit program, and we are more than willing to

stand accountable for our audit planning decisions during periodic

oversight hearings. We urge that any revisions to the CFO Act
allow us flexibility to determine, in consultation with the Chief Fi-

nancial Officer of the DOD, the appropriate level of audit coverage
for each fund, based on analysis of the fund's parameters, its pre-

vious audit results, our knowledge of the internal control structure,

and similar factors. In no case would we recommend a fund go
more than 3 years without an audit of the financial statement.
During years in which no full audit is planned, we would apply ap-
propriate analjrtical procedures to selected accounts in the financial

statements to reaffirm our decisions concerning risk and the neces-

sity for full audit.

We intend to continue our heavy emphasis on audits of financial

statements and of other aspects of DOD financial operations. Budg-
et pressures may make that increasingly difficult, but under no cir-

cumstances will we stop our concerted effort to make the CFO Act
a lasting success in terms of improved DOD financial management.
At the end of my statement, I have a lot of details with respect

to individual audit findings, both problems related to financial

statements and other financial management weaknesses that the

auditors have found. I hope you find those interesting. Those, of

course, are all backed up by more detailed audit reports. With that,

I will conclude my statement and make myself available for ques-

tions.

Chairman GLENN. Thank you very much, Mr. Vander Schaaf
Mr. Reardon, I mentioned in my opening statement that I am

pleased to see that the Army has begun to take financial manage-
ment seriously and has made progress in complying with the CFO
Act audit requirements. I am still concerned about many of the is-

sues you report, some of which have remained uncorrected for sev-

eral years now.
Can you give us a priority in general as to what you think in the

short term as to where improvements could be made, one, two,

three, prioritize some of these things? You make a number of sug-

gestions, but what can be done that is going to improve things in

the near term? I know that long term, we have new systems, we
have the CFO Act, and things that are going to take years and
years and years—but where can we make some of the most imme-
diate progress?
Mr. Reardon. Sir, we are working on giving the Army a list by

recommendation and by problem area of issues that we think are

going to be long-term, issues that can be short-term, and then is-
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sues that are interim. I can provide and would like to provide you
that information; we are going to have it in about 1 or 2 weeks,
and I can show you that information.
But there are some immediate internal controls at the finance of-

fices and the military pay offices, separation of duties, that should
be implemented immediately, and I know the Assistant Secretary
of the Army for Financial Management office is tr5dng to work on
that. Others deal with accounting and logistics systems and things
like that, which are long-term. So let me provide that to you.

[Subsequently, the following information was furnished by the
Department of the Army.]

Audit Opinion

Senator Glenn. Mr. Reardon, I am pleased to see that the Army has begun to
take financial management seriously and has made some progress in complying
with the CFO Act audit requirements. However, I am still concerned about many
of the issues you report in the audit—some of which remain uncorrected for a couple
of years now.
Would you please highlight the areas where the Army has made the most

progress, and explain how that progress was made?
Mr. Reardon. Both Army and DOD entities/managers have a substantial impact

on the Army's ability to produce reliable financial statements and comply with the
CFO Act. Therefore, in order to provide a complete response, I will address progress,
problems, and near-term improvements for both the Army and DOD.
Army Progress. We noted substantial improvenient in controls and procedures for

managing ammunition components owned by the conventional Ammunition Working
Capital Fund. The U.S. Army Armament, Munitions and Chemical Command took
a number of corrective actions in response to prior audit recommendations that im-
proved (i) internal controls to match accountable and custodial records, (ii) proce-
dures to research inventory discrepancies, and (iii) oversight over work-in-process
inventory. As a result, the ammunition component balances had an estimated accu-
racy rate of 99.8 percent.
The Army's senior leadership has demonstrated sincere commitment to meeting

the goals and objectives of the Chief Financial Officers Act. Here are some examples
of that commitment:

—On 14 January 1994, Mr. Reeder, the Under Secretary of the Army issued a
memorandum on management controls and stewardship, outlining his expec-
tations and those of Secretary West on the subject. Mr. Reeder referred to
previous and current financial statement audits and the conclusions that
management controls weren't being effectively executed. He stated that the
most important management controls are the people who carry out day-to-day
operations, and he enjoined all Army personnel to commit to the dual goals
of mission accomplishment and stewardship.

—On 28 April 1994, General Sullivan, the Chief of Staff, Army also issued a
memorandum on Army Stewardship. In that message, issued to all command-
ers and HQDA principals. General Sullivan recognized that progress toward
improving financial management was slow and problem areas remained.
While noting that current systems are inadequate, he also stated that other
problems are the result of failure to comply with existing policies and man-
agement controls. He characterized these as issues of stewardship and dis-
cipline and emphasized the need on everyone's part to improve financial man-
agement, accountability and stewardship.

—As one of the Army's most noteworthy initiatives, the Assistant Secretary of
the Army (Financial Management) formulated and oversees the Senior Level
Steering Group. The Steering Group, which was formed to address the issues
surfaced during annual audits of the financial statements and includes rep-
resentatives from key Secretariat and DA staff offices, was a positive step. It

provides high-level emphasis on the importance of improving financial man-
agement, and was a major contributing factor for positive change.

Also, the Office of the Assistant Secretary of the Army (Financial Management),
Headquarters, U.S. Armv Corps of Engineers, and the Defense Finance and Ac-
counting Service responded promptly and positively to many of the recommenda-
tions we made on how to solve some of the problems disclosed by our audit. These
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actions will help the Army attain the goals of improved financial management and
asset stewardship that was envisioned by the Act.

I'll address the progress made by the Corps of Engineers in my response to the
Q&A's on page 374.
DOD Progress. We noted significant improvements in the procedures and controls

at the Defense Finance and Accounting Service-Indianapolis Center regarding the
financial statement preparation process. Although we noted some internal control
weaknesses, the financial statements prepared by the Indianapolis Center fairly

presented the financial data submitted by field accounting activities and other
sources. Improvements in the financial statement preparation process included (i)

preparing supporting documentation for adjustments, (ii) establishing audit trails,

and (iii) enforcing internal controls over the yearend closeout process.
The Indianapolis Center also took aggressive actions to correct previously identi-

fied problems involving unauthorized payments to soldiers. The Indianapolis Center
instituted several new internal controls to compgire personnel and pajroll databases
to identify and stop unauthorized payments. Also, the Indianapolis Center and the
Army started developing automated interfaces to prevent unauthorized payments
fi*om occurring.

Senator Glenn. Mr. Reardon, in general, in which areas do you think Army has
made the least progress—or no progress all—and what accounts for these failures?

Mr. Reardon. Army Problem Areas. We found that the Army had m.ade only lim-

ited progress in correcting problems in the real property area and in improving fi-

nancial accountability over government furnished property in the custody of contrac-
tors. Also, the Corps of Engineers made only limited progress in accounting for

newly completed projects and in reporting design and engineering costs.

Real Property. The General Accounting Office (GAO) reported problems in this

area after auditing the Arm^s FY 91 and FY 92 financial statements, and we found
that these problems continued to exist. Our audit of the FY 93 statements showed
that the Army had started to address the General Accounting Office recommenda-
tions but had not fully implemented any of them. The basic cause was that the
Army had not emphasized and focused on the financial aspect of managing real

property. Responsibility for implementing recommended actions wasn't specifically

assigned.
The Army needs to take more aggressive action to make sure that real property

financial records are accurate and agree with the corresponding general ledger ac-

counts. Lack of progress in fixing previously-identified problems highlighted the
need for a designated activity to coordinate actions on audit recommendations and
to establish milestones for taking corrective actions. In response to our FY 93 audit,

the Army is preparing a Memorandum of Understanding to delineate specific re-

sponsibilities and establish a central point of contact for financial audit issues in-

volving real property. This should improve the financial oversight of real property
and promote future progress in complying with the requirements of the Chief Finan-
cial Officers Act.
Government Furnished Property. The complexity of this topic, and the number of

functional entities involved, may account for the lack of progress in solving the prob-
lem.
Both DOD and the Army have roles in managing and accounting for government

furnished property. Within the Army, responsibility for government furnished prop-
erty is shared by the acquisition, logistics and financial communities. Acquisition
managers are responsible for justifying, documenting, managing and recovering
property furnished to contractors; logistics managers are responsible for controlling

the contractors' access to the DOD supply system; and financial managers are re-

sponsible for financial accountability ana reporting.

DOD is primarily responsible for policy and automated systems. Contributing to

the difficulties in managing and controlling property furnished to contractors, the
data requirements in DOD's financial systems aren't compatible with the data DOD
requires contractors to report. For example, the financial systems distinguish gov-

ernment furnished property by fund type while contractors data is required by con-

tract, with no identification of funding sources. Also, the financial systems aren't

sufficiently integrated with the logistical and acquisition process to allow adequate
financial ledger controls. As a result, the Army can't accurately report the value of
government furnished property in its financial statements.
Although DOD must act on the policy and systems initiatives needed to fully re-

solve this problem, the Army has started to address the corrective actions within
its control. Specifically, representatives fi-om the acquisition, logistics and financial

staffs at Headquarters, DA have formed a working group to resolve the problem as
a whole instead of each group concentrating on its individual portion. The working
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group has recently steirted meeting and hasn't yet established milestones for specific

actions.

Construction in Progress. The Corps of Engineers continued to include the costs

of completed projects in its construction-in-progress accounts.

For civil works projects the Corps districts and divisions had generally established

local procedures for reviewing the construction-in-progress account. However, thev
hadn't assigned responsibility for conducting the reviews to appropriate personnel.

Corps guidance needed to emphasize removal of projects fi"om the construction-in-

progress account when they were physically complete. Existing guidance didn't em-
phasize removing completed projects from this account.

For military projects, Corps personnel said they retained physically completed
projects in the construction-in-progress account because outstanding claims or other
financial considerations prevented their removal. However, customers often occupied

the facilities still carried in the construction-in-progress account. Facilities in this

status end up being counted twice on the Army's financial statements—once as real

property and again as a construction-in-progress asset. In turn, this causes an over-

statement in the reported value of the Army's assets.

In response to our audit, the Corps said it would establish procedures to ensure
that managers are responsible for conducting thorough reviews of the projects in the

construction-in-progress accounts and revise existing guidance to clearly require

these managers to remove all physically completed projects from both civil works
and military construction-in-progress accounts.
Design and Engineering Costs. The Corps of Engineers also hadn't made sufficient

progress in capturing design and engineering costs in project totals. During the
audit of the Army's FY 91 financial statements, the General Accounting Office re-

ported that the Corps didn't include design and engineering costs in the cost of real

property reported to installations. Not including the design and engineering costs

could significantly understate the value of assets transferred to Department of De-
fense customers and the understatements are perpetuated in the Army's financial

statements. In response to our audit the Corps stated that it would take the nec-

essary action to include these costs in the cost of projects transferred to DOD cus-

tomers.
DOD Problem Areas. DOD Comptroller policies regarding contingent liabilities

and war reserve munitions significantly hinder the Army's ability to accurately re-

port these amounts on the Statement of Financial Position. In both cases, the audi-

tors (GAO and Army Audit Agency) and the Office of the Comptroller, DOD, have
profoundly different interpretations of the 0MB reporting requirements.
Senator Glenn. Mr. Reardon, you issued a disclaimer of opinion on the Army's

financial statement. What can the Amw do in the short term to significantly im-
prove the accuracy and reliability of its financial information?
(NOTE; Mr. Reardon stated at the hearing that he would provide a list of short

term improvements for the record.)

Mr. Reardon. Army Near-term Improvements. There are several actions the

Army can take in the short term to improve financial information.

National Guard Bureau. The reported dollar value for 17 National Guard entities

(States) were based on beginning rather than ending balances for FY 93. This
caused a $5.5 billion understatement in the reported value of the National Guard's
equipment. We recommended that the National Guard Bureau coordinate with the

Defense Finance and Accounting Service to ensure that this problem doesn't occur
a^ain. The National Guard Bureau disagreed and stated that, instead, the Defense
Finance and Accounting Service should initiate the coordination. Our recommenda-
tion is a simple and easily implemented action for correcting this problem and we
will endeavor to resolve the disagreement in time to ensure the value of the Guard's
equipment is accurately reported in the Army's financial statements for FY 94.

Real Property. The dollar value balance in the Army's real property general ledger

and in the supporting subsidiary ledger (the detailed real property records) were out

of balance by about $500 million in FY 93. Revising the program which extracts

data from the subsidiary ledger for entry to the general ledger would resolve this

imbalance condition. The Army agreed with our recommendation on making the nec-

essary revision and it should be in place in time to correct the imbalance condition

before the Army's financial statements for FY 94 are finalized. This action won't re-

solve the problems impacting the accuracy of the reported values for the Army's real

property, out it will eliminate one of the major obstacles to arriving at an accurate

and reliable dollar figure. Complete resolution to the problems with this account will

take at least another year.

Travel Advances. Accounting offices didn't manage outstanding travel advances.

As a result, $6.6 million (69%) of the $9.6 million we reviewed was delinquent for

periods ranging up to two years. If these conditions are representative of the Army
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as a whole, the delinquent advances are costing the Federal government about $2.2
million in interest charges. This problem can be fixed relatively easily. It requires
accounting offices to manage their travel advance accounts and to take action to col-

lect delinquent advances. The Indianapolis Center in conjunction with the Army has
already taKen aggressive action to try and get this problem corrected.

We also recommended that the Airoy establish a policy requiring all Army activi-

ties to fully implement the government charge card program by requiring people to

get their advances fi-om automated teller machines. This will significantlv reduce
the work required to manage advances and reduce delinquency rates. The Army
agreed with our intent but asked us to redirect the recommendation to the Defense
Finance and Accounting Service because it was in the process of establishing a
DOD-wide policy on this topic. The Accounting Service has (since our audit report
was published) established a policy that frequent travelers who are eligible for Gov-
ernment charge cards can only obtain travel advances (with limited exceptions) from
automated teller machines. Consequently, the delinquent advance problem should
be largely resolved.

Military PasToU. As discussed later in my response to this question, and in my
response to question on page 273, the Army and the Defense Finance and Account-
ing Service can quickly solve a number of the military payroll problems we reported
on.

Compliance. Another major issue requiring attention is compliance with existing

guidance and controls by field-level managers and operators. This is a significant

cause for financial data maccuracies. Commanders and managers at all levels must
be held accountable for their actions (or inactions) regarding compliance with guid-
ance, controls and procedures. As one of the steps necessary to improving compli-

ance, field-level personnel need to be educated on the importance of meeting the
Chief Financial Officers Act's information requirements. Part of the problem to be
overcome is that field-level personnel often view the Act's information reporting re-

quirements as a source of aaditional work which yields little apparent benefit at the
local level.

DOD Short-term Actions. There are additional near-term improvements that could

be achieved if DOD took actions.

Contingent Liabilities. DOD Comptroller policy has caused the Army to under-
state its liabilities on the Statement of Financial Position by at least $25 billion.

Although 0MB says probable contingent liabilities should be recorded, DOD Comp-
troller says that they should only be disclosed in footnotes. This problem could be
quickly fixed, but requires a change in DOD policy. The DOD Comptroller has re-

msed to change its policy. DOD nas agreed to comply with Federal Accounting
Standards Advisory Board (FASAB) policy on contingent liabilities which is expected
in FY 95, but this may not be in time for the liabilities to be recorded in the FY
94 Financial Statements.

Litigation Liabilities. Due to guidance from the DOD General Counsel, Army Gen-
eral Counsel didn't adequately address actual and potential liabilities relating to on-

going litigation, claims and assessments, and these liabilities were understated on
the Statement of Financial Position. This represents a significant scope limitation

to the audit. DOD General Counsel prevented the Army from reporting probable
amounts (which should be recorded as liabilities) and ft-om disclosing probable and
possible amounts in the footnotes. The problem could be quickly solved, but requires

a change in DOD policy. DOD Inspector General is working with the DOD General
Counsel to resolve the problem.

Reconciling Military Pay. The Defense Finance and Accounting Service-Indianap-

olis Center can't reconcile gross to net pay. This problem resulted in the Indianap-
oUs Center under paying the Internal Revenue Service $66 million in FY 92 and
overpaying States by $2.4 million in FY 93. To correct the problem, the Indianapolis

Center in conjunction with the Denver Center (the activity that developed the pay-

roll system) must identify and correct the system deficiencies. The Defense Finance
and Accounting Service stated that a joint task force has been established to iden-

tify and correct systems problems. It expects to have the problems resolved and
gross and net pay reconciled by December 1994.

Chairman Glenn. I would appreciate that, and I would like to

know what the big-dollar amounts are, and what can be done, one,

two, three, and what we need to do to help in that area.

Mr. Crawford, the same thing to you. In your testimony, I think
you make some 86 recommendations. Now, we obviously cannot
take on all 86 at once, or maybe we can. Are there priorities in

there that you would like to see addressed first?
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Mr. Crawford. Yes, sir. DFAS and the Air Force have put to-

gether a tracking system to track all the audit recommendations
that came from Air Force audit, the DOD IG, and GAO. I think the
system contains 300 or so recommendations, if you consider all

years. Many of the recommendations are already closed. We think
the most important thing in building discipline into the systems is

enforcing the internal controls we already have. In general, the Air
Force and DFAS have good internal controls; if you hark back to

the Reese fraud incident and others that we have had, controls
were prescribed and were there, but for various reasons, they were
being violated or not used. We are keeping the pressure up, and
we are working with DFAS to do that with some compliance re-

views. We are going back and trying to determine if people are
doing the things they have promised. So the No. 1 issue is actually
enforcing the controls we have.
And in the broader perspective, for the CFO Act, I think the rea-

son we have some of these big errors going undetected is that the
financial statements have taken on a life of their own outside the
normal operations. People are using parts of the financial systems
for their normal operations, but they are not using the financial
statements. We have to find a way to integrate financial statement
processes into normal operations so that the commanders are look-
ing at the financial statements, and are using that data that is crit-

ical to them.
We also need continued senior management emphasis, and I

think we have that in the Air Force. Our new Assistance Secretary
for Financial Management is pushing several initiatives that I

think will get operating people and financial managers as well in-

volved. So I think those are the top three issues. There are a num-
ber of other important points and we do have the overall list of rec-

ommendations that are being pursued.
Chairman Glenn. The reason I get a little disappointed and can

get very critical of some of this is because year after year, we have
the same thing—we say we have good systems in place now, and
we have good procedures, but they are not carried out. Of all

places, in the military, to say that we put out an order that a cer-

tain form, a certain amount, or a certain whatever will be met to

help us do audits, to help get financial management, and yet they
are apparently ignored down the Une.
What on earth is going on? How do we get accountability? I men-

tioned in my opening statement that I know—I spent some 23
years in the Marine Corps—if you bang up an airplane out on the
ramp, you only do it once; the second time, you are out of the
squadron, probably, transferred to other duties. And that is a very
minor dollar value thing.

Now, there are other considerations there, too, besides just the
dollar value of an accident. But here we have an accident that has
already occurred in effect, over in the financial management area,
and we seem to just go along. The accountability is not there, and
we just seem to go the same, old route.
How do we get people to be accountable once an order goes out

from the Pentagon? Do we need something like a bottom-up review
in the financial management area? Do we need to take a new ap-
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proach, because we get—and I know you get tired of the same
thing year after year, too.

How do we make people accountable at the lower level? Do we
need a BUR over on the financial side as well as the manpower
and the organization side?

Mr. Crawford. Well, we are trying to hold people accountable
through the existing procedures, such as the reports of survey that
I mentioned on the computers. We are also encouraging command-
ers to use our recommendations to go out and hold people account-
able where that is appropriate.

But there are a lot of mitigating circumstances that DFAS faces

right now in the accounting offices. Sometimes they are spread
pretty thin. During these periods when DFAS is organizing and
moving people, they are losing some of their best and brightest.

Consequently, they are facing a particularly tough challenge in im-
plementing improvements. We have encouraged, and Air Force and
DFAS have implemented, very extensive training programs to try

to make sure people know what the rules are and how to employ
them. Sometimes it has been the lack of knowledge that has caused
the noncompliance, not just willful noncompliance.
Chairman Glenn. Mr. Veuider Schaaf.
Mr. Vander Schaaf. Let me address your earlier theme about

what we can do quickly. I know you are looking for quick results,

and to some degree, we have had some quick results.

The first thing to mention is the creation of a centralized Defense
Finance and Accounting Service. That was an important step in

order to simplify this process. But we effectively are still operating
in a way where we have numerous accounting systems—we still

have the former Army, Navy, and Air Force accounting systems

—

but we need a consolidated DOD accounting system. That means
we have about 100,000 data elements out there that we are trying

to standardize. But when you look at the data elements that are

in all of those different systems, it can boil down to something like

1,000 data elements that we really need to manage a fully inte-

grated accounting system. Well, you have to bring that number
down from 100,000 to 1,000 in short order, and then you can re-

duce the number of accounting systems. We have some 250 ac-

counting systems in the Department, and that has to come down.
The number of stations that disburse money and keep accounting

records has to be reduced if you are going to go to modem equip-

ment and electronic finance operations. The Department is on a
glide slope to get that number down from something like, I believe,

300 to 25.

So those are the things I would do absolutely immediately, and
the Department seems to be doing them. The other thing is this

business of accountability. The Department historically has been
absolutely unwilling to take much action with respect to

Antideficiency Act violations, and this business of continuing to pay
out of accounts that are in an excess obligated position or have ac-

tually obligated more funds in that account than were ever appro-
priated must be stopped.
Now, Mr. Hamre has taken some corrective steps and said no

more of that will occur. I expect to see, when some contractors, et

cetera, do not get paid, that heat will be on for him to back off. And



21

a lot of the heat will come via the constituent to the Congress-
person, back to the Defense Department—pay the damn bills.

Chairman Glenn. You can bet on it.

Mr. Vander Schaaf. You can bet on it. And you are going to put
the heat on Mr. Hamre to relieve these guys of the pressure he has
put on them. So do not do that quite so fast, and maybe we will

get to the point where we start making these people who pay and
account for this stuff a little more accountable. But in the past
there has been pressure from all sides for prompt payments, and
we generally back off of efforts to avoid mistakes in the process.
Chairman Glenn. We had the other problem here a year or so

ago, as you know, where I think you found $1.4 billion—or whom-
ever found it over there—$1.4 billion paid out that they had never
sent a bill in for. And they were sending the money back in; some
$700 million came back in voluntarily, and then they rechecked the
accounts and found another $700 million that they went out and
asked people to return, which they did—$1.4 billion.

Mr. Vander Schaaf. Sir, I have not had one this year—but his-

torically, there have been a good number of cases where contractors
would call our office and gripe because they were not getting paid.

And I would say, look, I will make some phone calls. I think your
gripe is legitimate, and I will make some phone calls and see if I

can get you paid. But you have to agree to return the check if you
get paid a second time, because I can almost guarantee you are
going to get paid a second time if I do. And this has happened be-

fore, so I can speak from personal experience on that.

Chairman Glenn. You pointed out with regard to DBOF that
you had a lack of a general ledger system and lack of management
representation letters. You mentioned the representation letters in

your statement a moment ago. It seems to me getting a good gen-
eral ledger system is rather fundamental, isn't it? Are we making
progress in that area?
Mr. Vander Schaaf. I think we are making progress. Mr.

Lieberman here could probably speak to that more directly. I do
not know exactly what progress we have made. Obviously, if you
reduce the number of accounting systems to redefine the data ele-

ments, you can get the general ledger thing handled a little easier,

also.

Chairman Glenn. Can you address that, Mr. Lieberman?
Mr. Lieberman. Well, that is recognized as a primary deficiency,

Mr. Chairman, and it is very prominent on the priority list of the
DOD corrective actions that are underway. So, yes, progress is

being made. It cannot be implemented immediately, but they are
moving in the right direction.

Chairman Glenn. Mr. Reardon, in your testimony, you State
that: "DOD policies conflict with 0MB guidance on financial man-
agement. DOD policies preclude the Army from reporting certain

assets and liabilities." Can you elaborate on that a little bit? I am
not quite sure I understand.
Mr. Reardon. Basically, there is a conflict between what the

Comptroller believes should be reported for contingent liabilities

and for wholesale assets and what 0MB and Financial Accounting
Standards Board—FASB—want reported. For example, in war re-

serves, there are war reserves that are held at the installation level
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or at other supply points. They are not directly in the wholesale
system; they are not in the depots. And the policy is that because
they are not in those depots or in the wholesale system, they
should not be reported on the balance sheet. We believe they
should, because war reserves are not necessarily guaranteed to be
used within the next year. So we do not think they should be ex-

pensed, which is really what the argument is about.

Senator Glenn. They should be carried on the books.

Mr. Reardon. Yes, we think they should be carried on the books,

and DOD Comptroller policy has basically stated that they should
not be, and they are waiting for Federal Accounting Standards Ad-
visory Board—FASAB—to make a permanent recommendation on
this.

The other issue is contingent liabilities

Chairman Glenn. What is the rationale for just writing those

things off because they are in war reserve? I would think war re-

serve, you would really want to know what is in there. I would
think you would really want that pinpointed as closely as you
could.

Mr. Reardon. Well, that is how we feel, too.

Mr. Vander Schaaf. Because they do not know what they have.

That is basically what the problem is. If you do not know what you
have, you do not want to show further problems. Somebody knows
where it is, but from a central direction standpoint, we do not know
where it is.

Chairman Glenn. So we may be out, procuring new things or

buying new things because we do not know what is in the inven-

tory.

Mr. Reardon. Yes.

(This response is further clarified by information subsequently furnished by the

Department of the Army on page 23.)

Mr. Vander Schaaf. It happens all the time. We have a number
of audit reports
Chairman Glenn. Well, you remember the Navy situation—and

we do not have Navy here this morning—but where we had par-

ticular hydraulic pumps and driveshafts, things that were peculiar

to shipboard operation or to keeping a ship in operation, and once

these things were put on the ship as spares, they were marked off;

nobody knew they were there.

Now we are bringing ships out of commission, and we asked at

one of our hearings, well, what happens to all these spares aboard

ship—are you talang those things off and putting them back into

inventory and accounting for them, so we will know what we have?

Well, no, they had not done that, was the testimony. And then

we asked, well, could you give us an estimate of the value of the

material like that that has been put aboard ship as spares, and it

was difficult to do, but they came back with an estimate of some-

where around $7 billion.

Meanwhile, we were apparently ordering new special hydraulic

pumps, new driveshafts, new whatever it was, because we weren't

taking the things out of inventory that were spares aboard ships

being decommissioned. So it is sort of the same thing here with the

war reserves.
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Mr. Reardon. Mr. Chairman, the Army is physically accounting
for it, and we do have a dollar value—about $6 billion, $6.4 billion.

But it is just not being shown on the balance sheet, at least in our
example.
Chairman Glenn. Yes, but if we went to war tomorrow, would

somewhat know what is where, so we could go and get it?

Mr. Reardon. To the best of my ability, based on our audits, we
believe it is accounted for.

Chairman Glenn. But is somebody over there at the same time,
ordering more of whatever it is we already have plenty of?

Mr. Reardon. I do not believe that that is the situation here.
The war reserves are visible to the item managers. The item man-
agers who make the orders and so on have this information or
know where it is. So I do not believe we are ordering excess.

[Subsequently, the following information was furnished by the
Department of the Army.]

War Reserve INVE^fTORY

Item managers wouldn't order excess supplies simply because some war reserves
weren't shown on the Balance Sheet. This response also clarifies the response given
on page 22.

Chairman Glenn. How about pay, Mr. Reardon? GAO in its fis-

ceQ year 1992 audit of the Army identified significant problems in
paying soldiers, including about $6 million in overpayments, or
payments to ghosts and deserters. And since that time, that $6 mil-
lion of erroneous payments has now risen to more than $8 million,

and new ghosts continue to appear.
Your fiscal 1993 audit indicates the Army has made some

progress in payroll; but where do we stand on that? The longer-
term solution is an integrated personnel and payroll database, but
just something as simple as a payroll has been around as long as
there has been an army. Why are our false accounts or erroneous
payments going up instead of down?
Mr. Reardon. I think what is happening in that case is the num-

bers that are being investigated may be going up, and it is taking
us a long time to get them resolved. But our information is that
when the Army did a "bump" in 1992 between the personnel and
pay systems, about 2,300 people showed up on one system and not
on the other. As of March of 1994, that number was down to 199,
with only one that we found that was being investigated.
So the "bumps," are showing that the Army is doing better in

this area. The number of cases to be investigated may be going up,
because it takes a while to get them resolved.
Chairman Glenn. Mr. Vander Schaaf, all of these billions and

billions of accounting errors in Pentagon financial statements,
some are systems-related, but a lot seem to be occurring just be-
cause people are not always doing what they should on the job and
following orders, and they ignore huge errors that even a beginner
ought to catch up on.

In your view—you have been as close to this as anybody, with
all the Services and looking at it from a DOD standpoint—is DFAS
capable of doing what is expected, or do we need additional legisla-

tion? What do we need? I do not want to pile more legislation on
top of existing legislation unless it is going to do something con-
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structive. But these things go on year after year, and something
has to get shaped up. Do we need more legislation, and is DFAS
capable of correcting their problems?
Mr. Vander Schaaf. I do not know what legislation would do

here. I personally do not see a need for any legislation at the mo-
ment. If we see something that needs legislation, we will raise that
issue. At some point, we may want to recommend Antideficiency
Act problems; if we could learn to address those problems better

administratively in the Department, I think we would probably be
better off, and we could do it better, because the legislation there
is probably self-defeating; it has criminal penalties, et cetera, and
it makes the investigation of these matters far more difficult than
it needs to be because of the potential criminal liability that the in-

dividual faces for having made a mistake related to the
Antideficiency Act or expending more funds than were appro-
priated or funds for the wrong purpose, and so forth.

So I would not go for any legislation at this point. Are you asking
me is there any quick fix? I do not know of any, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Glenn. No; is DFAS capable of doing what is expected

of them?
Mr. Vander Schaaf. Sure. Certainly, they are capable of over-

coming the current problems. It is going to take a while, though.
DFAS is still not operating as a unified organization—the "De-
fense" in it is still a small part; it is still a huge, comglomeration
of separate agencies that have been forced together, in a sense.

Each DFAS Center is still oriented to some extent toward the serv-

ice that it used to support and belong to. Even the old Defense
CASRs, the paying regions that were out in Los Angeles, New
York, Boston, Dallas and so forth, were brought together in Colum-
bus, but they still tend to separate their work along the same re-

gional lines.

Again, they have to get consolidated systems in place and so

forth. I think the Defense Finance and Accounting Service has a
chance to prove to be a very successful operation, but it is going
to take a little more time.
Chairman Glenn. Are we into our fourth year of DFAS now?
Mr. Vander Schaaf. I would say they have had 3 full years of

operation—I think they stood up in January of 1991. I may have
that wrong, but they raised their flag about then on the centers
that essentially were working with the same systems they had
been working with before.

Chairman Glenn. Do you begin to see enough progress now that
we can see that they are really going to be able to handle this

thing?
Mr. Vander Schaaf. I think so.

Bob, do you want to comment on that?
Mr. Lieberman. If they receive sufficient support from the Sec-

retary of Defense, there is no reason why they should not succeed.

Conceptually, the idea of a centralized finance and accounting serv-

ice just makes ultimate sense, and technology-wise, there is no rea-

son why we cannot develop systems to get on top of these problems.
In fairness to DFAS, they inherited a mess from all three Serv-

ices, even though the Services nowadays tend to talk as if these

problems were invented by DFAS. They have been called upon to
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cut their staJRf by half at the same time they are making all these
improvements, which is a formidable management challenge.
How do you motivate the typical accounting clerk out at some

camp, post or station to do the job better when he or she is either
already aware of the fact that job is being abolished, or is afraid
it is going to be?
We need a better mix of positive and negative incentives that

mean something to the average worker out there.

Performance measures, I think, are key to DFAS, just like all

other elements of Grovemment operations. And I know your Com-
mittee, Mr. ChEiirman, was active in passing the Government Per-
formance and Results Act. DFAS is an excellent example of an or-

ganization that needs good, meaningful performance indicators that
top management in the Department and the Congress understand,
and then do something about if they are not performing.
We are still in the mode of tr3dng to figure out what performance

indicators make sense at what level, but I think that avenue needs
to be pursued very aggressively, as well as developing the tools,

particularly the automated tools, that the people in the field need
to do their jobs better. DFAS does not have complete control over
that systems development process, and therefore the Secretary of
Defense has to make sure that they do not get short-shrifted in the
CIM effort.

Chairman Glenn. How is CIM going? That is another subject I

was going to get into a little bit later, but since you mentioned
CIM—you brought it up; I did not.

Mr. LlEBERMAN. You need a separate hearing on that, Mr. Chair-
man.
Mr. Vander Schaaf. You need several hearings on that.

Chairman Glenn. Is it coming together, or is that still a
dream—any of you can answer that.

Mr. LlEBERMAN. I cannot give you a short, informed answer, and
I think the only thing I can say is that progress is mixed, depend-
ing on what area you are talking about and what systems you are
talking about.
Chairman Glenn. It is supposed to cover several areas, and we

will not get into this, because we will have additional hearings on
CIM later on. It is important, and it gets into the financial man-
agement area as well as the operation area, what you have and
what stockpiles are where, and it is supposed to give you an overall
handle on msuiagement information.
Mr. LlEBERMAN. Very much so.

Chairman Glenn. And yet it is very hard to bring that whole
thing together, too. But we will get into that at a different time.
Mr. Crawford, your auditors identified approximately $28 billion

of adjustments that were needed to improve the accuracy of the Air
Force's financial statements—$28 bilhon in adjustments. Now,
DFAS and the Air Force made all but $111 million of those adjust-
ments, and your report indicates that on that $111 million adjust-
ment, that was not made because—and I quote from you—"indica-
tions of problems greater than could be corrected by adjusting the
financial statements."
What kind of problems are those?



26

Mr. Crawford. I think that gets back to the embedded system
problems. When we got into the supply system that keeps subsidi-
ary records, there were just major systems disconnects, and they
could not really see their way clear to make those adjustments.
Chairman Glenn. Describe this $28 billion of adjustments, if you

would, please. What were those in—just erroneous accounts, or
were they summaries of different accounts, and we did not know
how many of whatever it was we had, or did they include inven-
tories, values of inventories that vary somewhat? How do we get
$28 billion in adjustments?
Mr. Crawford. Some of the adjustments were in areas you men-

tioned earlier. For example, we had the $1.2 bilhon misstatement
in construction in progress at one Air Force base in the Pacific that
was not caught as the data was accumulated. Some of them were
just errors like that.

Some errors resulted from counting assets in two systems; people
had made a mistake and included the assets twice. You see, that
goes back to the need for a transaction-driven general ledger. We
need this general ledger to force accounting discipline. Right now,
we are using a whole variety of systems and manually inputting
a considerable amount of data.

Chairman Glenn. Are some of these plus and some of them
minus?
Mr. Crawford. Yes, sir.

Chairman Glenn. The total up and down is 28, but it was not
all $28 billion minus that we went in the hole on.

Mr. Crawford. No, sir.

Chairman Glenn. It is $28 billion adjusted, some up, some down.
Do we know what the net adjustment was, then?
Mr. Crawford. Well, the $28 billion was the gross adjustment.
Chairman GLENN. I mean, was that $28 billion minus or plus is

what I am talking about.
Mr. Crawford. Yes, sir, I think it was together; the minuses and

pluses added up.
Chairman Glenn. Are we in the hole farther, or are we getting

better; that is what I want to know. [Laughter.]
Mr. Crawford. It is accounting entries here. I do not think we

are any more in the hole because of those adjustments. It is just

a matter of trying to get to the correct account balances as best we
could for the accounts we audited.
Mr. LlEBERMAN. Mr. Chairman, there is also a lot of moving

money between categories and lines. Really, they are technical

matters that usually do not have any bottom line effect from the

layman's viewpoint.
Mr. Vander Schaaf. Some of those can be meaningful, and some

are sort of not meaningful. You get into issues of valuating assets,

that can be pretty esoteric. The Department has real property as-

sets, for example, that we have had since the country was created.

How do you put a dollar on them, and were they ever recorded?

Those sorts of issues come into it. Eventually, we have to straight-

en it out; I do not know how meaningful or realistic it is in terms
of a management problem.
Chairman GLENN. Mr. Crawford, many of the problems uncov-

ered by your audit and by GAO's earlier financial audits are the



27

result of individuals failing to comply with existing guidance rather
than being due to system deficiencies.

Let me give you an example. You found one account that in-

creased from $400 million 1 year to $18 billion the next year, but
no one in the Air Force or DFAS analyzed the account as required,
so no one caught the $18 bilhon error until you did your audit. Is

that correct?
Mr. Crawford. Yes, sir.

Chairman Glenn. How do you have a $400 billion to an $18 bil-

lion difference 1 year to the next, and nobody within the system
that is managing that account Imows that it occurred until an
audit turns it up—$18 billion?

Mr. Crawford. That was really just a clerical error
Chairman Glenn. That sure was. [Laughter.]
Mr. Crawford [continuing]. And that was the point I made ear-

lier. We have two pipelines of data being used. Some of the data
that comes from the regular finsuicial systems. Conversely, other
data incorporated in these financial statements is not being used
in regular, day-to-day operations, so the commanders and the other
people who would have noticed this unusual change in the balance
are not seeing it. That is the reason I say the financial statements
have a life of their own versus the regfuiar financial operations of
the Air Force. Those have to merge in order to get the CFO Act
totally implemented.
Chairman Glenn. So there is no merging until you come around

to an audit, and you look at all of those and try to put them to-

gether. There is nobody in the day in, day out operation of financial
management who has the responsibility of picking up things like

that?
Mr. Crawford. Yes, sir, there were people responsible. This

error was overlooked, and we have made that an issue.

Mr. Lieberman. Mr. Chairman, this is why we want managers
to sign the management representation letters, not leave it up to
the accountant.
Chairman Glenn. Good point.

Mr. Vander Schaaf, the Department appears to be making some
progress in matching disbursements; the GAO seems to think that
some of the decreased results, not fi*om matching disbursements,
but from changes in how things are being counted, particularly
Navy negative unliquidated obligations. What is your opinion? How
much progress are we really making?
Mr. Vander Schaaf. They have made progress, but I think we

show more progress than we actually made. On the unmatched dis-

bursements in round numbers, we have gone down from about $18
billion I think down to $9 bilhon—any day, it is changing.
The difficulty, I guess, is that achieving a 50 percent reduction

doesn't mean that 100 percent is attainable. We have done the
large, easy-to-find transactions. Now we have the tens of thousands
of small transactions that make up this remaining $9 billion, and
that is going to be a much bigger problem. Those probably are
much older; they have been unmatched for years, if not months, so
we have got a bigger problem ahead of us.

Mr. Hamre wrote me a letter last week and asked for some fiir-

ther assistance from us in this matter. I have tried to get back in
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touch with him and talk to him more about it, but I have not had
a chance to do so yet. Maybe we in the audit business can give him
some further assessment as to what is the exposure, and how do
we go about writing some of these unmatched disbursements off,

if absolutely necessary. We will probably never be able to match
some of those transactions, those payments to obligations, and we
will have to figure out some way to just simply fix the records and
start again.
Chairman Glenn. Mr. Crawford, your audit identified some

6,000 negative, unliquidated obligations, NULOs, valued at nearly
$6 billion, as I understand it. NULOs, as I understand it, are cre-

ated when disbursements exceed obligations. NULOs can be due to

overpayments to contractors, posting errors, or other accounting er-

rors.

Could any of those also represent Antideficiency Act violations?

Mr, Crawford. We do not know; they could. You would have to

go through the reconciliation process to really find out. The normal
process in the Air Force begins with the front-end controls over ob-

ligation of money, and they have very tight controls to make sure
we have the right appropriation available for a contract or other li-

ability.

The problem comes in after you begin paying out that contract,

and you try to figure out how much money is left, or if you want
to transfer money off that contract. Then you could inadvertently
move money you really did not have and get yourself into an
Antideficiency Act situations. So the problem is between the con-

tracting activities and the DFAS Columbus paying activity, as far

as keeping those balances stredght.

I think the front end of the process in the Air Force is pretty

good as far as original obligation of the funds and controlling the
money as it comes down to the units.

Chairman Glenn. Mr. Reardon, it appears that the Army has a
significant problem with delinquent travel advances, about $6.6
million, some of which has been delinquent for 2 years or more.
Army regulations, as I understand it, require repayment or ac-

counting for the funds within 15 days. Accounting personnel obvi-

ously do not pursue collection actions the way tney should, or
maybe they are not even aware of some of the accounts.

Another portion of the advances includes $1.1 billion in pay ad-
vances. I do not believe you audited this portion of the advances,
but on this whole thing of pay, and who is keeping up with this

and making sure that these things are not just ignored, what is

happening in that area?
Mr. Reardon. Immediately, when we brought the travel advance

issue to the financial management people, the Assistant Secretary
and the Comptroller of the Army, they took immediate action to get

into travel advances and get finance offices and managers to collect

those. They have reduced that about $13 million in the last 3
months or so.

The big problem with travel advances is that people get an ad-

vance, and they just do not file a travel voucher, and then, when
they do file a travel voucher, oftentimes, the system is slow, or the
system does not keep up with the people or catch the people; and
it is a low-priority issue because the belief is that the money has
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been spent, so processing the information really will not get you

more money. But that is not always true.

Casual pay, actual casual pay, is around $600 million. Casual

pay is usually given to a soldier when there is a pay problem. And
we have not gotten into that issue, but just the size of it—we are

going to do some work in that area and find out whv we have on

average about $600 million in casual pay for pay problems.

Chairman Glenn. Are these pay advances?

Mr. Reardon. There are also pay advances in this account. That

is one of the problems with this account. It started off as a review

of travel advances, and we found several different things in here.

Also in this account is the midmonth pay for soldiers who get paid

semi-monthly.
There is a lot in there, and we are still doing some work to find

out exactly what is in there.

Chairman GLENN. A pay advance, can you borrow against your

future earnings now; is that possible?

Mr. Reardon. For example, I know, at least in the civiUan case,

if you are making a permanent change of station—PCS—overseas,

you can get an advance in your pay to help cover the rent agree-

ments and the lease up-front payments that you have to pay and
so on. I do not know on the military side exactly why you get a pay

advance. Again, like I said, we have not looked into this area a lot,

but I can respond to you later. But I know on the civiHan side, you

do it when you move.
Chairman Glenn. Yes. I would like to have some more informa-

tion on that, because apparently, we have $1.1 billion in pay ad-

vances.
Mr. Reardon. Well, that is everything I talked about, but the

$1.1 billion is not just pay advances; it is casual pay, it is

midmonth pay, and it is pay advances. I will break that down for

you and give you the exact data.

Chairman Glenn. Yes, I would like to have that.

[Subsequently, the following information was famished by the

Department of the Army.]

The table below summarizes military pay advances for FY 1993 and agrees with

Ms. McCoy's later response on this subject:

TABLE II—MILITARY PAY ADVANCES FY 1993

Amount
Description (in millions)

Casual/advance pay ^ ^na\
Midmonth pay ^°X°
Other ]11

Total
$^.^7e.O

Chairman Glenn. Army records for equipment in transit were

—

equipment in transmit—were inaccurate when it came to reporting;

in fact, about 92 percent was inaccurate at the four installations

you visited. Have you made any progress in that area? Ninety-two

percent inaccuracy is—we just do not know what is out there, I

guess; is that right?

Mr. Reardon. Well, we do not know how much is actually in

transit. We found about $5 biUion being reported in transit as of

September 30, 1993, and when we audited the four sites, we found

81-668 0-95-2
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about a 92 percent error rate. Basically, people get the equipment

in, but do not report it. And we are going to do additional work on
that area. We have talked to the logistics people in the Army about

this issue. They are trying to look into it themselves and resolve

it. But again, we need to do more work in that area, because we
just discovered the problems. But equipment in transit seems to be

a problem across the Army, no matter where we look—National

Guard, active, and so forth.

Chairman Glenn. Mr. Vander Schaaf, your DBOF audit indicate

some rather major inventory accounting problems to the Navy. Can
you explain more about what was found by the Naval Audit Service

and what needs to be fixed there?

Mr. Vander Schaaf. We have a whole pile of DBOF audits, and
I do not recall the details that apply solely to the Navy. Basically,

we provided disclaimers or adverse opinions on every DBOF ele-

ment that was audited this year.

Chairman Glenn. Maybe you could provide that for the record.

Mr. Vander Schaaf. Yes, I think we have to.

Chairman Glenn. If you would, I would appreciate it. Thank
you-
Mr. Vander Schaaf. The Navy came out with an adverse opin-

ion. Mr. Schaefer, the Auditor General of the Navy, did most of

that.

Chairman Glenn. If you could give us a statement on that for

the record, I would appreciate it.

Mr. Vander Schaaf. Yes.
[Subsequently, the following information was furnished by the

Department of Defense.]

The Naval Audit Service Report No. 053-H-94, "Fiscal Year 1993 Consolidating

Financial Statements of the Department of the Navv Defense Business Operations

Fund," dated June 29, 1994, discussed discrepancies between the supply records and

the on hand quantity for a rather large percentage of items reviewed by the audi-

tors. The report stated that, of the sampled 691 inventory items valued at $2.3 bil-

lion, the quantity of items actually on hand for 226 (32.7%) of the inventory items

differed from supply records. However, the net difference between the records

amounted to an overstatement of only $2,455,155 (.00013% of the Inventories Held

for Sale, Net account). The proiectability of the sample results is currently under

further review by the Naval Audit Service.

The Navy auditors also determined that the stock points had designed and imple-

mented an adequate physical inventory program to improve inventory accuracy and

accountability for the inventory in their custody. The stock points conducted numer-

ous physical inventories during the year, both scheduled and unscheduled. However,

some inventory transition processing problems occurred that resulted in the inven-

tory discrepancies discussed in the report. Specific processing problems included:

—Unposted documents (issues and receipts);

—Delayed storage of material;

—Erroneous inventory counts;

—Erroneous gains of losses processed;

—Incorrectly stored material;

—Material identified for disposal not shipped;

—Issues incorrectly processed; and
—Discrepancies caused by rewarehousing (moving inventory from location to lo-

cation).

The Naval Audit Service recommended that the Naval Supply Systenis Command
aggressively review and correct the systemic causes for the inventory discrepancies.

Chairman Glenn. Mr. Crawford, GAO reported that the Air

Force, in a 1988 audit, was not accounting for engines being held

by contractors. That is about $1.3 billion of engines that were not

reflected in the 1993 accounts. What is being done on that one?
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Mr. Crawford. I think this turns out to be one of those system
problems. It is not, again, that we do not know that the engines

are there; it is getting data to the financial statements so that we
can properly report them. There are a whole host of problems with

our inventory systems that must be worked to make the financial

statement accurate.

Chairman Glenn. Mr. Crawford, again, you found, just as GAO
had found in 1988, that the Air Force made adjustments to its

records without any support. In 1993, those adjustments to Defense

Business Operations Fund revenue and expense accounts totalled

at least $24 billion. Is that the same problem we discussed a httle

while ago with the $28 billion, or is this a different $24 bilhon that

we just do not know where we stand?

Mr. Crawford. The $28 billion was adjustments we rec-

ommended in the general fund, while unsupported adjustments to

the DBOF accounts are a separate issue.

Chairman Glenn. What is being done on that, and who is in

charge of correcting that? Is the Air Force working on that?

Mr. Crawford. The DBOF audit was a cooperative effort be-

tween us and the DOD IG. Similarlv, financial statement prepara-

tion is a joint effort. Air Force people work some of the feeder sys-

tems that go into DBOF, DFAS personnel at Air Force installations

are responsible for the accounting, and DFAS-Denver Center per-

sonnel summarize the data to produce the financial statements.

But there are major problems throughout the DBOF accounting

process, so much so that we basically have backed off trying to do

a complete audit of the financial statements while they are working
the system fixes. And here, systems are again the big issue in the

DBOF area.

Chairman Glenn. Mr. Reardon, your audit notes the dubious

practice by the Corps of Engineers of transferring costs between
projects and into overhead accounts. Practices of that nature create

the potential to hide Antideficiency Act violations. What is your

opinion of the practice, and can you identify the sites that are

doing this?

Mr. Reardon. I can provide you the sites later; I do not have
those with me. We do not condone the practice because we think

it is bad financial management. Basically, what we did find was ei-

ther hundreds of dollars, or thousands of dollars—not large, large

amounts of money being transferred back and forth. These usually

seemed to be done at the end of a project, where a project would
run out of money. The Corps has the abiUty to transfer funding be-

tween projects; we just do not understand why they did not do that

as opposed to transferring the costs. But it is not a practice that

we would like to see them continue, and I will give you for the

record the sites that did this.

Chairman Glenn. Good.
[Subsequently, the following information was furnished by the

Department of the Army.]

Cost Transfers by Corps of Engineers

Senator Glenn. Mr. Reardon, your audit notes the dubious practice by the Corps

of transferring costs between projects and into overhead accounts. Practices of this

nature create the potential to hide Anti-deficiency Act violations. What is your opin-

ion of this practice and, also, can you please identify the sites that were doing it?



32

(NOTE: Mr. Reardon stated at the hearing that he would provide a hst of the

sites for the record.)

Mr. Reardon. Transferring costs between projects and into overhead accounts is

inappropriate because such practices mask the true cost of projects. As a result,

Congressional and Corps leaders may make unwise decisions based on inaccurate

and misleading cost data.

We reviewed civil works labor cost transfers at four U.S. Army Engineer districts:

New Orleans, Omaha, Portland and Savannah. At each district, we identified trans-

actions on error listings that district personnel fixed by changing the automated

data processing workcode originally entered in the accounting system. (These

workcodes define projects.) We then judgmentally selected some of those trans-

actions for detailed testing. We found that, in some cases, the labor costs were

transferred because the original projects' authorized funds had been exhausted (in-

sufficient funds). Transferring labor charges in these cases to other projects or over-

head was inappropriate—the proper way to handle these charges would be to initi-

ate a reprogramming action. In other cases, the accounting changes merely cor-

rected erroneous entries and, therefore, were appropriate. Because we found inap-

propriate labor cost transfers at all four districts we audited, other districts prob-

ably have the same problem.
We also reviewed military-funded labor cost transfers at Omaha and Savannah

(Portland and New Orleans don't have a military mission) and found that some
transfers weren't appropriate.

These are the details of our review by district:

New Orleans. In August 1993, this district changed workcodes for 53 labor posting

rejects valued at $22,200. Of this total, district personnel recoded 38 ($10,100) to

other civil works projects and 15 ($12,100) to revolving fund overhead accounts. We
selected 18 transactions, valued at $16,300, for detailed testing. Of these trans-

actions, the district recoded 15 ($13,800) because insufficient project funds were

available: 6 ($3,200) to other civil works projects and 9 ($10,600) to overhead ac-

counts. The remaining three recodings were to correct erroneous workcode entries.

Omaha. During FY 93, this district changed workcodes for 719 errors, valued at

$224,272, in civil works listings. Of these, the district recoded 702, valued at

$215,575, to other civil works projects and 17, valued at $8,697, to overhead ac-

counts. We selected 24 transactions, valued at $34,378, for detailed testing. Of these

transactions, the district recoded four, valued at $4,568, because of insufficient

project funds. Two of the recodings, valued at $2,665, were to other projects. Two,

valued at $1,903, were to overhead accounts. The remaining 20 recodings were to

correct workcodes entered erroneously.

We also tested military construction error listings at Omaha. The district changed

workcodes for 303 errors, valued at $48,431. Of these, district personnel recoded

280, valued at $44,164, to other projects and 23, valued at $4,267, to overhead ac-

counts. We selected 24 transactions, valued at $13,918, for detailed testing. Six

transfers to overhead accounts, valued at $2,770, were for insufficient funds; the re-

maining 18 transfers corrected erroneous workcodes.

Portland. In FY 93, this district changed workcodes for 110 labor posting rejects,

valued at $52,761. Of these, district personnel transferred 43 ($13,237) to other civil

works projects and 67 ($39,524) to overhead accounts. We selected 20 ($24,387) for

detailed testing. Of these transactions, district personnel recoded 12 ($14,183) be-

cause of insufficient project funds: 3 ($3,037) to other projects and 9 ($11,146) to

overhead accounts. The remaining eight recodings corrected erroneous workcode en-

tries.

Savannah. In the fourth quarter of FY 93, this district changed workcodes for 49

transactions, valued at $28,396, on civil works error listings. The district recoded

all 49 to other civil works projects. We selected 16 transactions, valued at $11,328,

for detailed testing. Of these transactions, district personnel had recoded eight, val-

ued at $4,859, because of insufficient funds. The remaining eight recodings were to

correct erroneous workcode entries.

We also tested fourth quarter military construction error listings at Savannah.

The district changed workcodes for 76 errors, valued at $396,458. Of these, district

personnel recoded 74 ($318,839) to other projects and 2 ($77,619) to overhead ac-

counts. We selected 19 for detailed testing. Of these transactions, district personnel

recoded nine ($199,928) because of insufficient project funds: seven ($122,309) to

other projects and two ($77,619) to overhead accounts. The remaining 10 recodings

were to correct erroneous workcode entries.

A summary of our results, by district is provided in Table I below:
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TABLE I—SUMMARY OF AUDIT RESULTS BY DISTRICT TRANSFERS ATTRIBUTED TO
INSUFFICIENT FUNDS FY 93

Civil Works Funds Military Funds

District ~ "" "" T"
No. Value No. Value

New Orleans 15 $13,800

Omaha 4 -^^es 6 $ 2.770

Portland 12 14,183

Savannah 8 4.859 9 199,928

jo,al 39 $37,410 15 $202.698

The Chief of Engineers has directed that each of these sites conduct an investiga-

tion of potential Anti-Deficiency Act violations. These reports ultimately go to the

Congress if an actual violation occurred.

The Corps expects that its new financial management system, currently being de-

ployed, will provide realtime information regarding fund availability and enable

project managers to closely control charges to their projects.

Chairman Glenn. You note in your audit several thousand indi-

viduals with different salary amounts recorded in the master file

in the system, but did not have a chance to investigate them. Do
you think there is fraud or abuse here, or do you just not know at

this point?

Mr. Reardon. We just do not know. For example, the different

salary amounts—I guess when we started the CFO, we did not

know how much work we were getting into—it is just a lot of work
to go through all the records. We have a lot of pay checks going

to the same addresses, and we are still trying to pursue those—and

the ones we have found seem to be OK, because they are going to

the same project, where the Corps workers are working at and so

on. But we are doing more work in that area.

Chairman Glenn. Is anybody doing work on setting up some
pilot projects at different bases, just to see if we can make one

place that really works well, and then see where we go from there?

I have given figures this morning of $28 billion, $110 million we
cannot account for, $28 billion—they are all different accounts and
different treaties that these things grow out of Are we trying to

do one command, or one place where we say, OK, here is what is

going to happen at this place, and this is going to really be man-
aged well?

Mr. Vander Schaaf. You cannot do that. Senator, because you

cannot do the integration that you are talking about at the same
time so that you can come up with DOD-wide systems if you try

simultaneously to do base systems. Now, there may be some exam-

ple where a local base or camp has a local accounting system that

is working fine. I cannot recall one right offhand. Maybe Mr.

Reardon would.
Mr. Reardon. I would offer that the Corps is trying to do that;

they are trying to publish their own financial statements. Now,
they have problems, but they are trying to go out—they did not

have to do a financial statement this year—but they are trying to

publish the full financial statements. They also have their own ac-

counting system which they are in the process of redesigning right

at this time. So there is some hope that the design of that account-

ing system will become effective and will be an integrated general

ledger, and they may prove it can be done.
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Chairman Glenn. What I am trying to get, I guess, is account-

abihty at the level at which these accounts are handled, at a base

level. And it just seems that putting out more directives from the

Pentagon does not do the job. It is like sailing paper airplanes off

into the Grand Canyon; you might as well forget about them, be-

cause you are never going to see the results of where they land

anyway.
So maybe we are making progress, but nobody ever knows how

tired I get sitting up here at hearings like this, year after year, and
hearing the same old problems come out. And then we see a change

of personnel as different generals and different people go through

the Pentagon. So nobody really has the sack. You just get very

frustrated as to knowing what to do.

I want to pass some new legislation or do something, but that

probably would not do any good; we have too much legislation on

the books already. I think the CFO Act and the IG Act give us the

handles for doing that.

Mr. Vander Schaaf. The Government Performance Results Act

and the FMFIA have created plenty of activity throughout the Gov-

ernment along the lines we are espousing here.

Chairman Glenn. But how do we make it work?
Mr. Vander Schaaf. It is starting to work. Just bear with it. It

will never be
Chairman Glenn. Yes, but I am not going to hve long enough.

That is the problem. [Laughter.]

Mr. Vander Schaaf. These are systems run by human beings,

and we are going to have some problems with them; there is going

to be constant improvement forever in these types of activities. But
there has been some progress. I was a doubter about the CFO Act

to some degree. I thought we would spend an awful lot of audit

time and not get a very big payoff. But frankly, while managers
still do not use the data produced by the CFO Act in terms of man-
aging from the financial statements, the discipline that is put in

the system is going to make us get modern with our financial man-
agement. And that in itself is going to be a big plus. And as that

happens, perhaps we are going to be able to downsize our audit

role in 4 or 5 years down the road, once we can have far more con-

fidence in the accounting systems.

Chairman Glenn. OK. We have gone on with this panel longer

than I had anticipated this morning. I appreciate all your answers.

It has been a good discussion here this morning, and it sure points

out some of the problems we have; there is no doubt about that,

and they are slow getting solved. But I guess, as you point out, this

is the way we get there finally.

Honestly, I would sohcit your opinions, privately or publicly or

whatever, if you have any suggestions as to how we can either keep

the pressure on or off, or new legislation, or alter what we have

to make the whole thing work better and help you do your job. I

am obviously critical this morning, but I know you are all trying

to make this whole thing work as best you can; I appreciate that.

I question, as I said this morning, whether it is all going to come
from your level, or whether we have got to do something down at

the local level. There has got to be some accountability with the

people who are responsible at the local level. I do not know on fit-
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ness reports or efficiency reports, as the different Services call

them, whether there is a column in there these days or not that

says "financial management," on whether people get promoted or

not. Maybe at a certain level, we need to put a column in there

that above a certain officer rating level or civil service level, that

becomes one of the items in there. Maybe it is in there these days.

I do not know; I have not looked at an ER for a long time. If it

is not, it seems to me we ought to do that.

Now, at the same time, you get some people who may be lousy

as commanders out there, who are lousy at financial management
and would be superb combat commanders. So you have to balance

some things here. But certainly, we have to get a better handle on
the financial management than we have had up until now.

Thank you all very much for being here this morning, and please

respond promptly to any additional questions we may send you, so

we can include your responses in the record.

Thank you much.
Chairman Glenn. Our next panel includes Helen McCoy, Assist-

ant Secretary for Financial Management, Department of the Army;
Robert Hale, Assistant Secretary for Financial Management, De-

partment of the Air Force; Richard F. Keevey, Deputy Comptroller

for Financial Systems, Department of Defense.

We welcome you all.

Mr. Hale. Senator, I know how the people who walked into the

Coliseum felt now; the lions are ready.

Chairman Glenn. All right. Ms. McCoy, if you would lead off for

us, we would appreciate it, please.

TESTIMONY OF HELEN T. McCOY,i ASSISTANT SECRETARY
FOR FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT, DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
Ms. McCoy. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and good morning.
Thank you for the opportunity to appear before you today. I have

submitted a written statement and would like to have it entered

into the record.

Chairman Glenn. All of your statements will be entered in the

record in their entirety. Thank you.

Ms. McCoy. Thank you.

At this time, I would like to summarize the major points of that

statement, if you please.

The CFG Act has benefited the Army. It has increased the dis-

cipline needed to take a hard look at how we do business across

the Army. In the past, we focused on physical and custodial ac-

countability and control of assets. We are now questioning and
changing our management perspective from one of vertical stove-

pipes to one that is cross-functional.

We are working together more than ever before on processes and
systems development. We are committed to the resolution of audit

issues. Secretary West, Undersecretary Reeder and I, are fully com-

mitted to continued financial management improvement and sound
stewardship of those resources entrusted to the Army. Each of us

sits on DOD financial management policymaking bodies, working

1 The prepared statement of Ms. McCoy appears on page 78.
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resolutions of problems and the implementation of improved prac-

tices and systems.
The Army's senior-level steering group that was chartered after

the initial CFO audit of our financial statements is representative

of the total Army and brings together the expertise of active compo-

nent, functional principals, the National Guard, and the Army Re-

serves. It also includes the Defense Finance and Accounting Serv-

ice, our accountants; the Auditor General; the Army Inspector Gen-
eral, and we are fortunate to have the Private Sector Council as-

sisting us.

The senior level steering group is responsible for directing and
tracldng all CFO audit issues to resolution. I want to add here that

no audit issue is closed until it has been independently validated

by the Army Audit Agency.
We are now at the juncture where our efforts can turn to broader

issues as well as those identified by audit. The Army has made sig-

nificant progress in meeting the intent of the CFO Act. We have

been involved in a number of efforts that I describe as getting back

to basics. These are the disciplined actions that can be done in the

short term and on a continuing basis to demonstrate fiscal respon-

sibility and sound management while we await the development

and implementation of integrated, automated systems.

Since April 1993, through our reconciUation efforts, we have re-

duced unliquidated obligations in the Army's merged account by 98

percent. We have reduced since December 1993 unmatched dis-

bursements that are older than 61 days by more than 62 percent.

Sixty days is the current standard for active work load, but we are

working to bring down both the amount and the number of days

considered to be the standard.

We are scheduled in March of next year to implement an auto-

mated interface between the Army's functional property book sys-

tem and the Defense Finance and Accounting Service's Standard

Financial Accounting System that serves the Army. This will pro-

vide more timely and accurate asset information exchange between

custodial accounts and the general ledger from which financial

statements are derived.

We are working to create automated interfaces between our mili-

tary personnel and payroll systems. Part of this work will be com-

pleted this month.
We have developed 32 performance measures that the Army

Audit Agency recognized as a good start.

Enforcing compliance with established rules and regulations will

continue to be a challenge. Army leadership is demanding that this

challenge be met.
Mr. Chairman, my final point is a request. Accountability and

stewardship legislation has continued to evolve over the last 12

years with the passage of the Federal Managers' Financial Integ-

rity Act of 1982, the Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990, and the

Government Performance and Result Act of 1993. I request your

assistance to maximize the benefit of these laws.

The Army has a lot of work yet to do to fully comply with the

CFO Act, but we have made and will continue to make progress.

This completes my oral statement, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Glenn. Thank you very much, Ms. McCoy.
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Mr. Hale.

TESTIMONY OF ROBERT F. HALE,i ASSISTANT SECRETARY
FOR FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT, DEPARTMENT OF THE AIR
FORCE
Mr. Hale. I, too, am pleased to have this opportunity to testify.

When I assumed this position about 3 months ago, the Secretary

of the Air Force emphasized the high priority she places on finan-

cial management reform; so moving toward full compliance with

the CFG Act and related legislation is an important goal for me.
Mr. Chairman, as you are well aware, there is no lack of signifi-

cant problems confronting the Air Force as we seek to improve our
processes. I am not here today, however, to dwell on those prob-

lems. Rather, I want to discuss some ongoing Air Force efforts to

correct them and some additional steps that I plan to implement.

I will focus first on our support for DOD plans to improve finan-

cial management systems. In reviewing the Air Force's 1993 state-

ments, as you have heard from Mr. Crawford, the Air Force auditor

encountered a variety of problems that stemmed from antiquated

and inadequate systems. DOD has formulated a plan for dealing

with these problems and similar ones in the other Services, aind I

think Mr. Keevey does a good job of reviewing both the problems

and the DOD plan in his statement.

The Air Force supports this DOD plan, and I might add, as Mr.

Vander Schaaf said, it is a key to improving financial management.
We support it by participating actively on numerous review groups.

The Secretary of the Air Force personally sits on the Senior Finan-

cial Management Oversight Council, and I think that involvement

is important. It is a way to focus her attention on it. I am a mem-
ber of two other review groups; my staff serves on numerous work-
ing-level groups.
Working through these and other groups, the Air Force has as-

sisted in reform of financial management systems in several ways.

My principal deputy chairs a committee responsible for policy for-

mation and support of DBOF. The Air Force is participating ac-

tively in selecting these interim migratory systems that are keys

to improving our finance and accounting systems. And we are de-

voting substantial resources to resolving some particularly vexing

problems like unmatched disbursements.
I think the DOD plan for improving systems is a good one, and

it is being actively supported by the Air Force, but I think some
additional efforts by the Air Force are appropriate.

For example, I am not convinced that we in the Air Force are

communicating sufficiently with our senior management and tell-

ing them what is going to happen and how they are going to be

affected by financial management changes. To ensure adequate

communication, I plan to reactivate an existing Implementation

Review Council of senior managers within the Air Force.

I have briefly discussed some Air Force efforts in support of im-

proving financial management systems. But better systems are

only going to help if we ensure that our people can use them prop-

erly and that they comply with existing policies. And I know this

1 The prepared statement of Mr. Hale appears on page 81.
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is a key concern of yours, Mr. Chairman. As with systems, I think
there is room for improvement here.

The Air Force has a number of ongoing efforts admed at ensuring
comphance. Following up audit recommendations is a key part of
those efforts. To provide for systematic foUowup, the Air Force and
DFAS in March 1993 established the Joint Plan to Improve Ac-
counting Operations. Under that plan, actions necessary to resolve
each audit recommendation are identified, an office of primary re-

sponsibility is assigned, and dates are set for when the rec-

ommendations are to be accommodated. Once those actions are ac-

complished, and the case is closed, the Air Force or DFAS can
order foUowup audits to verify compliance.
Guided by that joint plain, considerable effort has already been

expended to resolve audit recommendations. For example, past au-
dits suggested that many Air Force regulations and procedures
were not well-understood—that is probably still the case in other
areas—but numerous messages have been issued by our Air Force
logistics community, civil engineer activities, and the Denver Cen-
ter of DFAS. These messages either issued new guidance or clari-

fied existing regulations.

Audit findings also play an important role in the Air Force pro-
gram that responds to the Federal Managers' Financial Integrity
Act, or FMFIA. The Secretary's Annual Statement of Assurance, re-

quired by FMFIA, identifies major weaknesses in internal controls
and is often based on these audit findings. We also have our own
internal management control program.

Finally, the Air Force is devoting particular attention to selected
problems of compliance. I will identify one of these, and that is the
processing of antideficiency violations. We need to speed up that
processing of potential violations, and we have got to do it without
compromising the fairness or the thoroughness of the investiga-
tions. To that end, the Secretary of the Air Force has sent two mes-
sages over the last 6 months to major commands, directing them
to pay more attention to processing violations, particularly the
older ones. I have met with my own people, and I have met with
headquarters legal personnel in an effort to streamline and expe-
dite the processing, and I will continue to pay attention to this

problem in the coming months.
Air Force and DFAS efforts at improving compliance I think have

borne some fruit. The latest Air Force audit states that "internal
controls are generally adequate to safeguard assets." But audits
still identify a number of key problems, such as the computer prob-
lem you alluded to, Mr. Chairman. Continued improvement is re-

quired. That means we have got to sustain these ongoing efforts

that I have discussed, and I think several additional initiatives are
appropriate.
The Air Force needs to identify a few key problems related to

compliance and policy and then focus the attention of our senior

management on them. As you said, Mr. Chairman, if we have got
80 or 90 recommendations, we cannot cover them all, and some of

them are very technical. We need to pick some broader ones, and
focus the attention of our senior managers. Again, I am going to

try to use this Implementation Review Council, which will bring to-

gether people throughout the Air Force to do it.
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We also need to seek ways within our limited resources to assist

our field commanders in training and encouraging people to comply

with financial management regulations. I think this goes to the

heart of your concern about base-level activities. I do not have any
single solution, but expanded use of things like articles in our

Quarterly Comptroller Magazine are an example of one vehicle. We
intend to ask our headquarters personnel to raise financial man-
agement issues during routine trips they make to the bases.

Finally, I recently met with the Comptroller General and his

staff to talk about potential improvements within the Air Force and
fiiiancial management areas. That meeting generated a number of

useful suggestions, including the idea of seeking more outside ad-

vice about our past progress and our future approaches. I have

asked my staff to figure out how we c£in implement that particular

suggestion.

In sum, Mr. Chairman, the Air Force has a number of ongoing

efforts designed to accomplish two key tasks: support DOD plans

for reform of financial management systems and ensuring compli-

ance with systems and policies. I intend to pay continued attention

to those ongoing efforts, while also initiating several new programs

that I have discussed here briefly today.

I believe steady attention will produce gradual improvement in

our ability to manage our finances.

I appreciate the chance to talk with you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Glenn. Thank you, Mr. Hale.

Mr. Keevey.

TESTIMONY OF RICHARD F. KEEVEY,i DEPUTY COMPTROLLER
FOR FINANCIAL SYSTEMS, DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE

Mr. Keevey. Good morning, Mr. Chairman.
Over the past few years, this Committee has heard much about

the Department's financial management problems. These have in-

cluded billions of dollars of disbursements not matched to specific

line items, billions of dollars overpaid to defense contractors, and

the issuance of pay checks to soldiers even after they are dis-

charged.
I am not going to repeat or focus my discussion on these prob-

lems today. Instead, I want to focus on the agenda the Department
has established and the journey we have embarked upon to elimi-

nate past deficiencies that have led to these management problems.

I would like first to discuss 14 immediate initiatives the Depart-

ment has underway to achieve results. One, we have established a

Senior Financial Management Oversight Council. The council has

been estabhshed to address existing and emerging management
weaknesses and deficiencies. The council meets monthly and is

chaired by the Deputy Secretary of Defense. The council provides

the necessary clout to focus attention on problem areas and exert

pressure to make things happen.
Two, we have revitalized our efforts to address Antideficiency Act

violations. We have endorsed an initiative to renew emphasis on

compliance with the Antideficiency Act and be more proactive when
potential violations of the Act are discovered.

1 The prepared statement of Mr. Keevey appears on page 85.
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Three, we have estabHshed new pohcies to stop expenditures in

accounts that are in a deficit position. On March 31, the Comptrol-

ler issued explicit guidance to cease the disbursement of funds

when such disbursements would be in excess of available balances.

The former practice of continuing disbursements under such condi-

tions was totally inconsistent with the provisions of the

Antideficiency Act and violated minimum standards of sound finan-

cial management.
Furthermore, we are exploring the feasibility of requiring dis-

bursing officers to first determine if there are funds available in

the appropriation account before disbursement is made. This is a
fundamental principle in most systems, but has not been the nor-

mal practice at DOD.
Four, we are implementing computer security initiatives. Re-

cently, the Defense Inspector General identified lax security proce-

dures at financigd data processing installations. The audits also

identified broad-based vulnerability of computer networks. The new
initiatives have been established to enforce employee compliance

with existing procedures, eliminate policy ambiguities, and reflect

current state-of-the-art operating procedures.

Finally, the Department is creating an active fi*aud detection pro-

gram for identification of possible individual intrusion into finan-

cial systems for illegal personal gain. The last initiative will involve

several DOD organizations, including the Office of IG, and will use

a methodology of matching various computer databases of pertinent

financial data to look for identified situations.

Five, we are improving the Federal Managers' Financial Integ-

rity Act process. A recent initiative by the Secretary of Defense
places an even greater emphasis on sound internal controls. The
Office of the Secretary of Defense senior managers have now been
tasked to play a more active role in the identification, reporting,

and correction of intem£d control weaknesses.
Previously, these responsibilities were primarily those of individ-

ual DOD components and many senior DOD managers played little

or no role in this process.

Six, we have established an Acquisition and Financial Manage-
ment Panel. This senior-level panel has been established to develop

a course of action to address the systemic problems of unmatched
disbursement. The purpose of the panel also is to correct long-

standing disconnects that exist between the acquisition system £ind

the financial management system.
Because this issue is so critical, a working group was formed by

the panel to provide short-term improvement recommendations
aimed at resolving the unmatched disbursement problem. One
focus is on expanded use of electronic data interchange trans-

actions to transmit contract data between the systems more effec-

tively.

Seven, we have reduced the current unmatched disbursement
problem. The Defense Finance and Accounting Service has estab-

lished a specific project to reduce the current backlog of unmatched
disbursements. The project had the goal of reducing unmatched
disbursements by 50 percent by mid 1994. Through the joint efforts

of all parties involved, reductions already total 45 percent toward
that goal.
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Eight, we have developed a migratory system strategy. The De-

partment has made substantial progress toward the consolidation

and standardization of systems and operations. Financial manage-
ment systems in the Department have been inventoried and are

being modified as necessary to meet Department-wide require-

ments, and implemented as migration systems within the Depart-

ment. To date, a number of migration systems have already been

selected. These include designated systems for civilian pay, mih-

tary retiree and annuitant pay, military pay, transportation pay-

ments, debt management, and contract payment.

Nine, we estabhshed a Payroll and Personnel Task Force in

April. The task force was estabhshed to evaluate various alter-

natives for providing the most effective pay and personnel services

to the Department. A number of alternatives are being considered,

including the current migration systems, systems existing in other

Federal agencies, and the possibihties for contracting out. Our
main goal here is to have the best possible personnel and payroll

systems at the most effective price.

Ten, we have revitalized the Financial Management Steering

Committee. This committee oversees the development of functional

requirements and facilitates the implementation of policy. The com-

mittee has focused on such issues as compliance, internal controls

and pohcies, and the need for a standard budget and accounting

classification code.

Unfortunately, even to this day, DOD does not have a standard

architecture for its finance and accounting system, thus making the

accumulation of standard financial data very difficult. Our goal is

to estabhsh this standard code by the end of this calendar year.

Eleven, we have established the Defense Business Operations

Fund Corporate Board and an Improvement Plan. The Secretary of

Defense directed a review of DBOF and the development of a plan

to correct identified deficiencies and improve this fund. The Fund
Corporate Board was established as a result of this review. The
board monitors the implementation and operation of the fund, in-

cluding policies, rate structures, cash flow analysis and criteria for

inclusion of business areas in the fund in the first instance.

Twelve, we need to improve data standardization, and we are

making progress. Data standardization is critical as we optimize

the use of migration systems and move toward sharing common
databases. The best way to ensure accurate and timely data is to

ensure that everyone is using the same data and has a clear under-

standing of its meaning.
We have over 250 finance and accounting systems, managing, as

I think Acting IG Vander Schaaf pointed out, over 100,000 different

data elements. Now, however, we believe that fewer than 800 ele-

ments are necessary, and we hope to have almost all of these

standard data elements defined by the end of this calendar year.

As we speak, we now have defined 255 elements, and they have

been agreed to by all of the DOD components.

Thirteen, we are attacking fraudulent actions. As members of

this Committee know, recently, the Department has been con-

fronted with a number of fraudulent activities. In many cases, the

ability of individuals to perpetuate such fraudulent actions, and to

go undetected for a period of time, has been enhanced by system
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deficiencies and inadequate internal controls. In each case where
fraudulent actions have been discovered, the Department has re-

viewed the circumstances that permitted the action, thoroughly as-

sessed changes needed to preclude such fraud from occurring, and
disseminated that information, along with directions to take spe-

cific action, to the applicable activity as well as informing all other

activities and services within the Department.
Fourteen, we need to reduce, clarify and reissue policies. Numer-

ous nonstandard financial management policies have been promul-

gated by the Department and its components in the past. In re-

sponse to this situation, we have commenced an effort to issue a

single "DOD Financial Management Regulation" that can be used

DOD-wide. This effort will eliminate over 70,000 pages of some-

times conflicting guidance and provide the Department with a

sound basis for achieving sound policies and procedures.

In addition to these short-term initiatives, Mr. Chairman, we
have a longer-term blueprint for financial management reform at

DOD. I just want to take a minute and highlight the six key areas.

One, we will and need to comply with statutory requirements.

Our current financial management system may be inefficient, it

may be broken and redundant, but we have to make it work better

while we are in the process of change.

Two, we need to re-engineer DOD business organizational prac-

tices. The main reason why financial management reform is so dif-

ficult is that the Department consists of numerous stovepipe orga-

nizations; and systems that were designed to report information

vertically up through these organizations, not horizontally across

organizations. A pivotal part of our reform is to re-engineer our

business practices to integrate more effectively the actions of DOD
organizations.

Three, as I mentioned before, we are in the process of standardiz-

ing data, definition and concepts. The Department is working to

modernize its myriad of accounting systems, but without data

standardization, any meaningful reduction will simply be a waste

of time.

Four, we need to consolidate and revamp DOD finance and ac-

counting systems. Three years ago, we had 18 separate military

payroll systems. Today, we are down to 11, and in 2 years, we will

be down to 2. For civilian payroll systems, we had 18, and in 2

years, we will also be down to 2.

We need to do the same thing with our accounting systems.

Here, the task, however, is much larger. Each of the existing ac-

counting systems was designed to meet unique requirements of a

specific DOD activity. Until conversion, these systems are required

to continue to operate on a daily basis. Our conversion plans have

presented our primary challenge in the coming months, but are ab-

solutely necessary if we are to meet the requirements of the CFO
Act.

Five, we need to align financial controls and management incen-

tives. Achieving the goals of higher efficiency and effectiveness

should result from efforts now underway to align financial data

and controls with the managerial incentives we are seeking to in-

still. We know that cost-conscious behavior is more likely when
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prices reflect cost. It is for this reason that the Department estab-

hshed the Defense Business Operations Fund.
Finally, Mr. Chairman, we need to practice candor with you and

other Members of the Congress, and thus hope to engender your
confidence.
Mr. Chairman, DOD has a big financial management challenge

ahead of it. And furthermore, it is clear that fundamental change
is necessary, badly needed, and long overdue.

Inaccurate financial statements are not acceptable. Failure to ad-

here to internal control policy is not acceptable. And failure to ad-

here to all aspects of the CFO Act also is unacceptable. To date,

we at DOD have not reached an acceptable level in any of these

areas. But, Mr. Chairman, good things are happening. We have an
agenda for reform. We have a long-range plan and a series of short-

term initiatives aimed at reaching levels of acceptability, and we
have the commitment and support of the most senior leaders in the

Department.
The long-range plan is heavily dependent on system changes and

enhancements, and these changes are in motion. But we cannot
wait that long. That is why we have established some critical

short-term initiatives and why we are pleased about our successes

regarding unmatched disbursements, data standardization, and
policy changes, such as the cessation of disbursements from ac-

counts with negative balances.

Financial management in the Department is serious business,

bringing with it the accountability and responsibility to do what is

right. We take this business and its challenge, Mr. Chairman, very

seriously.

Thank you.
Chairman Glenn. Thank you, Mr. Keevey, and I thank all of

you.
Mr. Keevey, I know we have kept up on a day-to-day basis with

the policies that you are trying to implement Department-wide over

there, and I think there is a great opportunity here right now. You
have the fiill backing of the Secretary, the Deputy Secretary, and
you have Mr. Hamre over there, who is working very hard at this,

I know, as the Comptroller.
We get the impression sometimes, though, that despite all the di-

rectives that are being put out, the farther you get away from the

Pentagon, the less attention may be paid to them; and that is a
major problem. You can have the greatest directives in the world,

but unless people act on them and are held accountable to those

directives, then not much really improves.
Do you have any programs to go down at the local levels and

hold people accountable, to see what is going on, so that these are

not just directives that are put out and not being followed?

Mr. Keevey. Three points on that issue, Mr. Chairman. One, we
have instituted a new aggressive antideficiency policy. We have
promulgated that at this moment to the Military Department As-

sistant Secretaries for Financial Management and have received

their concurrence. It is now out for broader departmental coordina-

tion. It will stimulate, we believe, improvements and awareness of

the problems associated with that.
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No. 2, as I mentioned, we have changed our poHcy to prohibit

disbursements in accounts that are in negative situations. People

formerly accepted such negative disbursements as the norm. When
we even talked about changing it, we got an outcry from people in

the Department saying that it could not be accomplished.

We are doing it now. It is having great response. We have a very

minimal number of accounts where people have been denied pay-

ment; we have corrected those, and we are moving ahead.

No. 3, we have changed our format for the FMFIA. We are hav-

ing a conference in September to engender awareness on the part

of managers across the Department of the seriousness of internal

controls. We are reaching out to these people to inform them of

that.

And finally, even within our own shop, we have scheduled and
are continuing to schedule meetings with Comptroller staff integra-

tions with DFAS staff. This morning, we had a strategy meeting
with regard to the next steps that need to be taken. We are going

to have an off-site meeting this weekend to bring in various man-
agers from the DFAS sites to get them more focused on the prob-

lems that we have and the changes that they need to bring about.

They have a very difficult situation. They have very difficult prob-

lems to overcome. They are trying to repair and replace systems.

At the same time, they are trying to make existing poor systems

work.
So all of those things taken as a whole, we think will reach out

to the various people who need to be touched, to let them know of

our financial management initiatives and suggest to them areas

where they need to pick up the ball, so to speak, and run a little

harder.
Chairman Glenn. Ms. McCoy, Army and DFAS have made

progress in addressing problems with payroll. We have had a pay-

roll around ever since there has been an Army, and you would
think that would be one we would really be able to get under con-

trol. But it is still a serious problem, and since our hearing about

a year ago, we now have an additional $2 million in incorrect pay-

ments, and the detection of additional ghost employees.

Now, the Audit Agency says that even after new guidance was
issued, unit commanders are still not using finance reports that

would detect ghosts and incorrect payments. And at Fort Hood, in

fact, a commander continued to certify every month one soldier's

pay when that soldier had been AWOL for 2 years.

Do you have any plans to make local commanders accountable?

How are you going to make these things work? It is one thing to

put out orders from the Pentagon. It is another thing to have them
\A ork at Fort Hood and Fort Reilly and Fort everyplace all over the

country.
Ms. McCoy. Yes, sir, we do have plans to make them work. As

Mr. Keevey has said, data standardization is a problem; systems is

a problem. But in addition to those, we believe that training and
communication are key efforts as well.

What we have found in the Army is oftentimes the guidance that

goes out is not very well-understood; there is room for interpreta-

tion, and people tend to interpret things quite differently. We be-

Ueve that we have a handle on this. We are communicating with
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people on almost a daily basis, and we believe that that commu-
nication will reap some benefits, and we will get the compliance is-

sues under control.

Chairman GLENN. Has anybody ever gotten fired?

Ms. McCoy. Not to my knowledge.
Chairman Glenn. Well, I think you were in the room a while ago

when I mentioned that I had a career in the military before I ever
came to the Senate, and I know that if I fouled up and I dinged
an airplane just once, that was my fault; twice, I was probably out
of the squadron and on to other things. You were really held ac-

countable. I mean, that was tough stuff, and you could end your
career pretty quickly if you were not careful. I do not see why we
cannot take some of that same approach to the people who are
working in these financial management areas. We are talking tens
upon tens of billions of dollars here—and I do not have a bit of
quarrel with the directives put out from the Pentagon; I do have
a big quarrel with how they are implemented out in the field where
all this money gets shuffled around. And I do not know how you
do this, but somebody has to be held accountable, some way.
Ms. McCoy. We are working, as I mentioned, with the Defense

Finance and Accounting Service to shore up our systems with some
temporary fixes, if you will, interfaces between payroll and person-
nel systems. We are doing monthly matches between payroll and
personnel systems. That is the source of the information that you
are getting. Those matches are yielding much better results than
in previous months. The number of mismatches is constantly going
down. So we think we are making a difference, we are making an
impact, and the situation is improving.
Chairman Glenn, Mr. Hale, the same thing for the Air Force.

Are we holding people accountable out there? We put out a direc-
tive—then, do we do some sampling down there to find out what
they are really doing, and whether they are paying attention to the
directives or not? It seems to me that is so fundamental that it

would just be automatic, but it does not seem to be done.
Mr. Hale. Well, some of the answer, Mr. Chairman, is the same.

We are looking for ways to remind people of the importance of this

issue again within our limited resources. That may involve using
magazines, staff assistance visits or other techniques. A lot of this
is going on.

I think there is some accountability when it is clear that there
have been major transgressions. When there is fraud involved, I

think all of the Services, and I know the Air Force, has tried to im-
prison some people who defrauded us of funds. We have reassigned
people in connection with serious antideficiency violations.

So I think when the culpability is clear, there has been some
punishment meted out. But I think most people want to do a good
job, and my feeling is that we need to improve training and that
we need to show that the boss cares, and then the workers out
there will care as well.

Chairman Glenn. Yes, I know, but what happens if they do not?
Mr. Hale. Well, if they are culpable and legally so, we will fire

them—and we have—and put them in jail. Maybe we ought to do
more, and I hear your guidance to think more about that, and I

will certainly take that into account.
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Chairman Glenn. I do not want to just hold out the specter of
jail and so on; there ought to be some carrots out there as well as
sticks

Mr. Hale. I agree with you there.

Chairman Glenn [continuing]. Out there, but I think also, from
the military, that those who take initiatives to do things, if the ini-

tiatives—like I mentioned at Fort Reilly, Kansas, Lieutenant Colo-
nel Stokes, I believe it is, heads up the finance office, and he was
able to put together records he needed, a local initiative, and he
found some folks being overpaid and getting unauthorized quarters
allowance, and some things like that. Now, if he had put together
an initiative, and it cost something, and it did not work, and he did
not turn up anything, maybe he would get marked down, and he
is in trouble for sticking his head up, too; but it seems to me that
initiatives like that should be encouraged, and we should be mak-
ing an example of what he is doing that is good, and he should get
credit for that.

Have you followed that particular case, Ms. McCoy?
Ms. McCoy. No, I have not, but I can assure you that we do try

to encourage that kind of initiative and forward thinking. I have
not followed that particular instance, but I will after this hearing,
quite frankly.

Chairman Glenn. We had the bottom-up review, as I mentioned
a while ago, in all these other areas—in military personnel and all

sorts of things, equipment, and so on. And whether we agreed with
every part of the bottom-up review or not, at least it made us look
at things. And it seems to me that maybe we need a little bottom-
up review on whether people are compljdng with the directives

—

basically, good directives—that you people are putting out from
over across the river to make sure they are complied with.
Mr. Keevey, the Army still has 305 open cases involving $6 mil-

lion incorrectly paid to soldiers. As I understand it, the Army
Criminal Investigation Division got tired of waiting for DFAS to

work together with personnel to resolve these cases, so Army CID
simply took the cases away from DFAS and gave them to person-
nel. What is the problem; do you know? Is that a correct statement
of what happened?
Mr. Keevey. I do not know whether they were taken away, Mr.

Chairman, but I know they were assigned over to the Criminal In-

vestigation Division, and they are being actively pursued now by
that organization. I do not know the results to date; I do not think
they have reported back yet.

Chairman Glenn. Do you have anything on that, Ms. McCoy? Do
you know what happened there?
Ms. McCoy. No; I would have to agree with Mr. Keevey. I am

not sure they were taken away. I know there have been a number
of cases assigned to CID.
Chairman Glenn. OK. Mr. Keevey, we have heard reference a

couple of times this morning to the migratory financial systems for

the general funds area in particular. I understand that we are still

behind schedule in choosing those systems. It was supposed to be
done in March, but I gather your new target is September—or
when is your new target? I underst£ind it is September. Do you
think you will make that date, and when do you expect the Depart-
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ment will have a working, integrated general ledger system in
place?
Mr. Keevey. a couple points on that, Mr. Chairman. We have

two or three large-scale system reviews underway. There are about
75 systems within the DBOF operation. They are the ones pres-
ently being actively evaluated. That process for evaluation is sched-
uled to be completed in late August. The evaluation is being con-
ducted by DFAS together with representatives from the Services.
The attempt there is to determine which is the most viable sys-

tem to operate a specific business area within DBOF. There was
a command decision made that we were not going to have, that it

was not possible to have, a credible one DBOF system, but that we
were going to select interim systems to be used in various business
areas for various Services. We hope to get those 75 systems down
to around 20 systems. We will reap the benefit of cost savings, and
we will be able to integrate our data a lot better.

You are correct that we are slightly behind schedule, but I think
we are doing it the right way. Part of the reason that we have de-
layed a little bit is that we are reconsidering the option of using
off-the-shelf software, whereas previously, we were going to con-
sider using only our own existing systems. We are entertaining
that idea, and it is slightly delaying us, but we think it might pay
off in the long run.
The second part, specifically to your question of general fund ac-

counting systems, there again, we have a very large number of
those systems. Those systems are also under evaluation, although
not as active an evaluation as are the DBOF systems. We think the
DBOF problem is paramount in the Department, and we are ad-
dressing that more directly.

As I mentioned earlier, we had a meeting this morning exactly
on that issue with DFAS as to exactly where we stand on the selec-
tion process for the general systems, and we are not there yet; we
are spending our time at the moment on the DBOF systems.

I might say that the general accounting systems and the need to
establish a general ledger is critical. If we were designing a system
today, we would not design it like our legacy systems. Today, it

would be fundamental to have a transaction-based, generated, gen-
eral ledger; we do not have it. We are going to get there, but
Chairman Glenn. Can you give us any estimate on it? Is it going

to be 6 months, 6 years, 10 years?
Mr. Keevey. I think we will have the systems selected for DBOF

by September or October, and I would think it might take as much
a 18 months to put those systems in operation. Some of them may
come in earlier.

Chairman Glenn. That would be DBOF; how about the general
fund?
Mr. Keevey. On the general fund, I think we are looking at least

at 2 years, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Glenn. And there is no way we can speed that up, I

guess?
Mr. Keevey. Well, again, not to repeat myself, but that was the

purpose of our meeting this morning and is the purpose of our
meeting this weekend as to where it is that we could make a big
bang, if you will; are there some areas where we can expedite im-
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plementation of these systems? Can we jump from an interim proc-

ess to a final process, if you will, and bypass some of the more cau-

tious steps that we have laid out and take the risk, perhaps, and
jump to an earlier implementation.
We will review that and see if we cannot expedite our processes.

Chairman Glenn. And those that have the biggest dollar risk.

Mr. Keevey. That is correct.

Chairman Glenn. OK. What plans do we have for making the
financial part of CIM work? Is that going to be part of this early

on, or are we going to wait for the whole CIM thing to come down
as a unit together, or are we trying to implement the CIM financial

management portions earlier than the other part?
Mr. Keevey. That is what we are doing. The CIM process is a

broader approach to implement and to frame out data processing

improvements in the Department. For our component of it, finan-

cial management, we have gone before the CIM committee and re-

viewed with that our process and how we are going about doing it.

We are moving ahead under the general rubric of CIM, but we are
doing our part immediately.
Chairman Glenn. GAO has been considerably critical in that

they do not think you are making as much progress as you should
in the CIM area. Does that need more emphasis, or do we need
more support from here or from OMB, or wherever?
Mr. Keevey. I personally do not know enough about the rest of

the nonfinancial management processes within CIM to give you an
intelligent answer, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Glenn. All right. I think what GAO referred to was

the financial management part of CIM.
Mr. Keevey. On that, I can tell you we have our plan laid out.

We have the goals that we are going to. We know what systems
need to be changed and improved. We need to define them and im-
plement them.
Chairman Glenn. OK. Mr. Hale, the audit found the Air Force

civilian payroll amounts to be generally accurate and supported.
The audit did disclose that 20 of 44 installations reviewed were not
performing required reconciliations between civilian pay records

and personnel records. Without reconciliations, we know that er-

rors and fraud are going to go undetected. What are you doing in

that area in particular?

Mr. Hale. I think some of the problem goes back to the complex-
ity of our systems and the time it takes people to do these reconcili-

ations. We may not have enough manpower to do them all until we
achieve that, but we need to focus on this issue.

As I said, I am hoping that we can pick a few issues, and I sus-

pect this may be one of them—I want to get Mr. Crawford's advice,

now that the audits are done—pick a few issues and focus senior

management attention on them, and improving reconciliations may
well be one of them.
Chairman Glenn. The Air Force Audit Agency found that nei-

ther the Air Force nor DFAS noticed that 4,000 percent change in

one account that I mentioned, from $400 million to $18 billion from
1 million to the next. As I understand it, much of that was in

equipment loaned and so on, so it was not something where the
Government or the Air Force just lost $18 billion in the hole, but
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nevertheless it shows an uncertainty about what we have where
and what is going on. You cannot manage something when the in-

formation is that sloppy.

What are we doing in that area? Shouldn't somebody have picked
that up someplace?
Mr. Hale. It sounds like they should have to me, Mr. Chairman.

I am not familiar with that specific one, but that sounds like an
incredible change and that it should have been picked up.
Chairman GLENN. We would like you to look at that one. That

is a pretty big error, and if you could look at that and give us a
comment back, if you would, for our hearing record here today.
Mr. Hale. We will do that.

Chairman GLENN. There was also a problem in the financial

audit report that equipment custodians were unable to locate some
$2.5 million in computer equipment, and that nearly $6 million in
computer equipment, they picked up by inventory that was not on
inventory records.

That leaves computers vulnerable to loss or stealing or unauthor-
ized use or whatever, and I guess the question obviously arises: If

computers, what else? What are we doing on inventory manage-
ment and equipment like that?
Mr. Hale. On the computers in particular, that was an area that

I think the auditor singled out as being of particular concern.
There are, I would reemphasize, training programs going on to

make people aware that we have got to keep up these inventories.
We are trying to improve our efforts. For example, as we transfer
computers around bases, we need to have the capability to keep
track of them. This is an area where our systems and computer
folks are concentrating. It is also an audit recommendation; so it

will go on this joint plan for improving accounting, and that means
an office of primary responsibility will be established, and we will

establish dates, and when we are finished with what we believe is

an adequate resolution of the issue, we will go back to the auditors
and ask them if the resolution is germane to the audit findings.

So there is a process here, and in that particular one, efforts are
under way to try to improve.
Chairman Glenn. Ms. McCoy, I have talked over and over this

morning about accountability and people being held accountable to

do the jobs they are supposed to be doing in this area of financial
management. We have put out a lot of good directives. Sometimes
they are followed, sometimes they are not. I do not think just issu-

ing more guidance is the answer.
Is one answer to have the auditors, when they find something

wrong, start naming names and putting them in their reports?
What would be wrong with that, so that people know that if some-
thing is fouled up, and they are not doing their job, that they are
named in the reports?
Ms. McCoy. I do not think we could argue that that would defi-

nitely have an impact. I am not sure
Chairman Glenn. Now, this may not be giving their due day in

court
Ms. McCoy. Exactly. And quite often, some of the items in audit

reports would lead you to one conclusion, when further delving into
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the situation would lead you to another, and in that time, you will

have
Chairman Glenn. Yes, I know, but examples like this morning

—

on the one hand, $400 million, on the other hand, next year, $18
billion—somebody overlooked something, that is for sure, and
somebody's name should be in there that should have checked that,

it seems to me. Now, maybe this is one way of making Mr.
Keeve/s directives from DOD and the other directives from the in-

dividual services really work, if when something like that happens,
a name is named in there, and it says that while it appears that

—

and maybe that wrecks a career unnecessarily without giving a

person their day in court, but on the other hand, all these billions

that we talk about floating around out there, we are trying to get

some accountability for taxpayer money, too. How do we do it if we
do not do something like that?

Ms. McCoy. More often than not, it is not a single individual.

Some of the cases we are talking about, where adjustments and ac-

counts are being changed, are right now a matter of normal process

in closing out records, because you have all of these systems com-
ing together at the end of the year, with people trying to prepare
financial statements from a myriad of systems.

We could certainly consider that. I am not sure that we would
want to do that right away.
Mr. Hale. Could I add a thought to that, Mr. Chairman? Maybe

if there are clear cases of culpability, that would be appropriate.

But I share Ms. McCoy's concern. If we asked that the auditors

name names in almost all of their audits, I am afraid it will slow
up and further complicate their lives. We need their help in finding

these problems, many of which are not because individuals are

doing wrong things. Either the people do not understand the regu-

lations, or perhaps have not been clear enough. Maybe if there are

clear cases of culpability, we should name names, but I certainly

would not want to see that provision in law and for all audits. I

think that would be a mistake.
Chairman Glenn. Having just suggested it, let me just say I

share Ms. McCoy's concerns also, because I am not sure it is a good
idea, either. But I am very concerned that we start having people

accountable in some way, and I do not know quite how you do it.

Somebody has to have their careers hurt in some way if they are

not doing a good job out there.

Mr. Hale. And the other side that you made clear earlier is that

we perhaps need to spend more effort picking out the ones who are

doing well and giving them credit; that might be at least as impor-
tant.

Chairman Glenn. That is right; put the carrot out there, too.

Ms. McCoy, the Army Audit Agency has reported that negative

unliquidated obligations are growing again. That means there are

more errors on the books or more overpayments. What is happen-
ing?
Ms. McCoy. I think it really means that our reconciliation effort

is paying off. Negative unliquidated obligations are a subset, if you
will, of the unmatched disbursements. And as we work through the

unmatched disbursements, it could be that we are finding more
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negative unliquidated obligations. And we know we are having suc-

cess in that area.

Chairman Glenn. Mr. Keevey, the Pentagon claims to have re-

duced $19 billion of unmatched disbursements outstanding in June
1993 to about $11 billion as of May 1994, following the same ac-

counting rules used to derive the original figure. I have been told,

however, that the $11 billion does not include nearly $3.5 billion

of Navy negative unliquidated obligations that were included in the
$19 billion amount. Is that true, or have you changed the way you
calculate or define unmatched disbursements?
Mr. Keevey. On that particular issue, I am quite certain that the

Navy is included. In fact, I had occasion to look that up last week.
The number for unmatched disbursements includes negative ac-

counts that were in the "M" account in the Navy; that is included
in there.

We have enhanced our pursuit and tracking not only of un-
matched disbursements, but some of the corollary kinds of activi-

ties, like negative unliquidated balances, undistributed disburse-
ments, and in-transit disbursements. So we track all of those phe-
nomena now.
We have learned in our process, when we were focused originally

on unmatched disbursements, it became evident that there were
other things that we should be tracking, and we are tracking them
now, also. I can tell you that we are comparing apples with apples
and that our unmatched disbursements are down. Our other ac-

counts are relatively the same level that they have been, the nega-
tive unliquidated balances and the undistributed. But we work on
them constantly; there is a turnover all the time.

A reason why an account could be undistributed is because a
payment is made, but it has not yet been sent to the accounting
office, £ind we lodge that as a pa5rment in transit or an undistrib-

uted disbursement. It will be matched, ultimately. I am told that
the data suggest that 95 percent of those in-transit and undistrib-
uted moneys are matched. Our goal is to reduce the time it takes
in order to effect that. And one of our longer-term goals, Mr. Chair-
man, is to stop that entirely by matching first, before we make a
disbursement.
Our problem with doing that today, immediately, is that we just

would upset the apple cart, so to speak. We need a little time to

put that in motion. I can tell you that we are studying it, and we
hope to be able to do it. If we were designing a system again from
day one, we would not be pa5dng before we matched the accounting
records first.

Chairman Glenn. When will we have that all ready to go? When
can we put that behind us?
Mr. Keevey. We hope to have a viable plan by the end of August;

that is our target. As to when we can implement it all, I need to

wait until August to see what the data is showing. If we were able
to redesign our systems immediately, it would be in there right

away. Our goal is to try to get that capability in there even without
the redesign of the system. But we need to make sure that we do
not create a bigger problem by solving this immediate problem.
Chairman Glenn. OK, I would agree with that. But in the Air

Force audit alone, more than 6,000 negative unliquidated obliga-
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tions, NULOs, valued at nearly $6 billion were identified. That
means there are either accounting errors or overpayments, which
of course are also errors.

Do we feel the Air Force was not violating the Antideficiency

Act?
Mr. Keevey. It does not necessarily mean that there was a defi-

ciency. Many times, the problem is because there was an account-

ing error in the first instance, unfortunate as that may be. Once
it is researched, many times, an accounting error is corrected. But
there could be an antideficiency violation, and part of the process

to stopping payment to make sure it is corrected first will reveal

that. We have the IG already looking into possible antideficiency

violations in certain accounts within the Department.
Chairman Glenn. Are you caught between the Antideficiency Act

and the Prompt Payment Act?
Mr. Keevey. I think it is more like—caught between the Prompt

Payment Act and the unmatched disbursements. I would phrase it

that way, more likely, because we are driven to making payments
on a prompt basis, and we make those payments even though we
do not know whether they are matched. We are told we make the
payments, because if we do not make the payments, we will have
interest pa5nments.

I think in the long run, it is better to err on the side of making
the verification first, before we make the payment; and if we c£in

get our systems designed properly, we will be able to do that within
the established time frame. We will be able to match the payment,
match the obligation, and make a timely payment. But I do not
want to suggest to you, Mr. Chairman, that that solution is around
the comer tomorrow.
Chairman Glenn. Mr. Hale, we are talking about the Air Force

here. Do you have any comments on some 6,000 NULOs, $6 billion?

Mr. Hale. Yes, sir. We are trying to cooperate with DFAS. We
have teams from the Air Force Materiel Command—and most of

these problems are contract-related, so they are the ones that are

involved—working with DFAS as we spe£ik, and they have been for

a period of time, and will continue in an effort to try to, as Mr.
Keevey said, research these things, find out, hopefully, that they
are accounting errors and fix them. If there are any antideficiency

violations, or the suspicion of them, then we will institute an inves-

tigation on that score. But most of them, fortunately, are not.

Chairman Glenn. Ms. McCoy, the Audit Agency uncovered some
$1.1 billion in pay advances. Now, that is one that should be very
controllable, it seems to me. What is the status there? What are

we doing about that, and what controls are in place to make sure
we do not have a lot of fraud and abuse going on in that area?

Ms. McCoy. We are looking into that. I think Mr. Reardon said

they had not done all of the research—and we rely on Mr. Reardon,
quite frankly, to find some of these things and help us in the solu-

tions.

Pay advances on both the military and civilian side are only, as

a matter of fact, for permanent change of stations, for moves when
you know that the cost is going to exceed the dollars that the em-
ployee likely has.
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We do not believe there are fraudulent circumstances here, but
again, we have to look into it more closely.

Chairman Glenn. The regulations are, I believe, that it is sup-
posed to be paid back within 15 days, or is it 30 days?
Ms. McCoy, I believe it is 15; it is 15 for travel. I am sorry.

Chairman Glenn. OK. But $1.1 biUion is an awftd lot of advance
out there, to just be sitting there on the books.
Ms. McCoy. Well, today, we have—and I am not sure whether

it is military or civilian, because I do not have the data; we have
not done the research yet—but we are having a lot of moves now-
adays. We have people in over 60 coimtries throughout the world
right now.
Chairman Glenn. I know, but if the regulations are being fol-

lowed, and you advance pay to help people get there—and I have
no quarrel with that; that is fine—but $1.1 bilhon is an awful lot

to be floating out there if it is supposed to be taken care of within
15 days after arrival.

Ms. McCoy. That does seem like an awfiiUy large number, and
we are going to follow up on it. I would be happy to provide that
information for the record.

[Subsequently, the following information was furnished by the
Department of the Army.]

The $1.1 billion that has been discussed today is comprised of several different

types of pay and allowances. The $113 million in travel advances is the category
that the auditors found 69% deUnquent, upon which we promptly acted. Travel ad-
vances were not included in the $1.1 billion figure. The amount of pay and allow-

ances is broken out as follows:

Description ,.

A'".°""'
,^ (in millions)

Casual/advance pay $ 852.1

Midmonth pay 309.0

Other 16.9

Total $1,178.0

There are distinct differences between these categories of pay. Some are earned
entitlements and some are advances against future earnings. Attached is a table de-
scribing these types of pay, whether an advance or entitlement, and how they are
paid and collected. Due to a 1993 policy change, casual pay and advance pay used
the same accounting code. The $852.1 million represents both types of payment.

SELECTED TYPES OF PAY

Type of payment
entitlement

Criteria or reason for payment Collection mechanism

Casual pay (CP) .... Entitlement .... Maximum amount payable is pay and The collection must be processed by
allowances accmed thru date of the disbursing office making the

payment, not to exceed the amount payment. Procedures require the

due on payday. CPs are also used paying office to reconcile disburse-

to facilitlate the payment of lump- ments against collections to ensure

sum payments. all CPs paid are collected.

Advance pay (AP) . Advance Paid in conjunction with Permanent After input by disbursing office mak-
Change of Station (PCS) move. Ing payment, APs are collected by

Maximum amount Is one month pay system (DJMS) over 12

base pay (less tctxes) at old post or months or, if approved by unit com-
while enroute; two months base mander and finance officer, over 24

pay (less taxes) at new station if months.

warr£inted.
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SELECTED TYPES OF PAY—Continued

Type of payment
antitiemem'

Criteria or reason for payment Collection mechanism

Mid-month pay Entitlement .... Service memt>er can elect to be paid DJMS automatically sulrtracts mid-

once or twice a month. If twice, hall month pay from end of month pay.

is paid at mid-month and half at

and of month.

Travel advance Advance Most travelers will be required to use Filing of members settlement vouch-

the American Express ATM ad- er is due 5 days after completion of

vance feature. The exception cases travel. Advances manually collected

will be paid 80% of estimated travel in 30 days,

costs prior to temporary duty travel.

Chairman Glenn. The Corps of Engineers has made some
progress in financial management, but there are some problems re-

maining with the Corps transferring project funds and engaging in

other projects that could affect compliance with the Antideficiency

Act. Have you been looking into this?

Ms. McCoy. Yes, we are. We are working with the Corps. They
are also working with the Army Audit Agency. Mr. Reardon men-
tioned that they have developed an entirely new financial manage-
ment system. We think that has tremendous promise for correcting

a lot of the things. They have some problems with compliance that

they are also working on. The head of the Corps is giving it his per-

sonal attention. We are working on those issues as well.

Chairman Glenn. OK. Mr. Hale, according to its auditors, the

Air Force failed to report nearly $30 billion of contingent liabilities.

If they are going to be understated by $30 billion, I do not know
that it is necessary to report them at all. That gets so big that it

is hardly realistic.

Mr. Hale. Is this the DBOF inventory held for sale?

Chairman Glenn. I think that is correct.

Mr. Hale. Yes. Once again, I have talked about this with our

auditors. Some of it are system problems. The auditors were not

able to apply their normal auditing procedures and so could not

verify that this was the correct amount, and so they identified it.

Of course, part of it is system problems. I think in addition, we
need to devote more effort, as I have said before, to trying to do
reconciliations and other activities that will eliminate some of these

problems.
Chairman Glenn. Mr. Keevey, at our April hearing, we learned

that contractors had returned to DFAS during a 9-month period

$1.4 billion of contract overpayments. I mentioned that earlier this

morning. According to a June 1994 IG report we just got, the prob-

lems continue. Auditors found two overpayments totalling nearly

$16 million that were made to a contractor because of inaccurate

computer entries, incorrect manual adjustments, and errors in

posting payments. Because of DFAS policies, the contractor was
told to keep the funds until DFAS could reconcile its records. That
is a policy which cost the Government about $320,000 in interest.

What is being done to reconcile contracts to prevent overpay-

ments?
Mr. Keevey. Mr. Chairman, that policy, to the best of my knowl-

edge, has been changed. People are supposed to return the money
immediately. This is one of the problem areas that I spoke about

in my opening comments, that is, the horizontal disconnects be-
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tween the acquisition and purchasing systems, for example, and
the financial systems; and it is one of the areas getting our imme-
diate attention.

This will require a long-term solution but, in the short term, we
think we can hook up the MOCAS, and the financial systems, in
such a way with some EDI implementations that we will have elec-

tronic interfaces between these systems, rather than depending
upon, which we now mostly do, a lot of manual input.
To the best of my knowledge, the magnitude of these dollars has

been significantly reduced.
Chairman Glenn. Mr. Keevey, we have been talking a lot about

accountability, and we have an example of DBOF here. According
to the IG, no one at the Pentagon was willing to prepare and sign
management and legal representation letters for the fiind. Without
these letters, taking responsibility for the financial statements,
DBOF will never get other than a disclaimer of opinion.

It also shows that no one is held accountable for DBOF's finan-
cial condition. Where do we go with that? Is the Pentagon unwill-
ing to take responsibility for DBOF?
Mr. Keevey. There should be a legal representation letter signed

and a management representation letter signed; I agree.
I do not know whether one has been signed as we sit here today.

I know the Comptroller has agreed to sign the management rep-
resentation letter. He may have signed it. I just cannot tell you
whether it was signed today. There was a delay in getting it

signed.

Chairman Glenn. All right.

Mr. Keevey. On the legal side, there was a question raised by
the DOD general counsel as to the'doUar amount in which he felt

that he should be liable for—not he personally, but that we should
be signing off on the legal representation letter—and that was
being researched, as far as I know, with the IG.

It is not something that we are resisting, that is, that we need
a legal opinion and a management opinion, which is slightly dif-

ferent from what Mr. Vguider Schaaf was talking about with regard
to who should be signing the financial statements at the Service
levels.

Chairman GLENN. Ms. McCoy, I think I made a note here that
was proper earlier on when Mr. Reardon was testifying. I believe
he said that 69 percent of advance travel money was delinquent.
Is that a correct figure?
Ms. McCoy. I beheve it is.

Chairman Glenn. That ties into our $1.1 billion here that are in
advance payments and so on. Sixty-9 percent is a
Ms. McCoy. I thought that was the advance pay and casual pay

that he was addressing and that he had not done the research.
Chairman Glenn. Maybe that was it. I just noted 69 percent of

advance travel delinquent; I guess it is 69 percent of the 15-day
money that is supposed to come in in that time period is delin-
quent.
Ms. McCoy. Travel advances.
Chairman Glenn. Yes, I guess that would be it.

Ms. McCoy. And that is a twofold problem that we have done
work on, because the traveler himself is responsible and account-
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able for that, if you will, as well as the accounting and finance of-

fice in following up once the traveler does not respond.
We have, as I think Mr. Reardon said, taken action, and we have

seen some positive results in that area.

Chairman Glenn. Maybe 15 days is a little too tight on that.

Maybe you need to be looking at the personnel problem in being
transferred and so on, and you have problems with extra expenses
and travel, and you are finding a new place to live, and one thing
and another at that time; I know that. So maybe that 15 days is

a little tight; but whatever the regulation is, I think we ought to

have it obeyed, and it should not be 69 percent violations on that,

or whatever it is.

Mr. Keevey. Mr. Chairman, just to verify that, the Comptroller
did sign the management representation letter.

Chairman Glenn. All right. Good. Thank you. I appreciate that.

Thank you all very much. I do not have any additional questions.

After we review the record, and some other Members have had a
chance to review it, we may have additional questions, and we
would appreciate your early reply.

I appreciate your being here this morning.
The hearing stands in recess.

[Whereupon, at 12:02 p.m., the Committee was adjourned.]



APPENDIX

PREPARED STATEMENT OF SENATOR COHEN
Mr. Chairman, the subject of today's hearing—examining what progress the De-

partment of Defense (DOD) has made in improving financial management and ac-

countability as required under the Chief Financial Officers (CFO) Act—is of critical

importance in today's federal budget climate. In view of shrinking defense dollars,

it has become more important than ever to ensure that taxpayers dollars spent by
the Department of Defense are spent wisely.

In a February 1994 statement presenting DOD's fiscal year 1995 budget, the Sec-

retary of Defense acknowledged "we need to reform our financial management. It

is a mess, and it is costing us money we desperately need." This reflects a changing
attitude within top DOD officials and I commend Secretary Perry for his efforts to

make the Department's financial management problems one of the Department's
priorities.

Unfortunately, however, Mr. Chairman, while today's witnesses will testify to

some progress being made in this area, it will illustrate that DOD is still a long

way fi"om addressing its long-standing financial management problems. The results

of the fiscal year 1993 audit reports are not much different from those of fiscal year
1992—and, as a result, we will be hearing today about a number of the very same
problems we heard about last year.

Numerous reports and recommendations that have been issued over the years to

address DOD's financial management and accountability problems. The General Ac-
counting Office (GAO), the DOD Inspector General (IG), and the military services'

audit organizations have conducted a number of reports over the years outlining

these issues. Moreover, this Committee has sat here year after year examining fi-

nancial management problems and listening to the Department's assurances that it

would fix the problems.
Despite these efforts, widespread problems in DOD's financial management oper-

ations and internal controls continue to exist. DOD's financial management system
remains filled with accounting system deficiencies resulting in payroll errors, and
inaccurate reporting of equipment, inventories and real property. Internal controls

are in disarray and procedures are ignored. As a result, the Department is unable
to produce financial data that can be audited, preventing the Department from
knowing what exists in its inventory or from ensuring that the dollars the Depart-
ment pays out are justified. Shoddy bookkeeping practices have resulted in DOD
paying out millions in payroll errors and the Department may be purchasing items
it does not need.

Last July, the Committee heard how DOD's lax internal controls invited theft and
fraud. For example, it allowed an Air Force accountant to illegally divert $2 million

dollars to personal bank accounts. More recently, in April, this Committee heard
disturbing testimony about pajrroll errors, contractor overpayments and unmatched
disbursements—where DOD payments don't match up to supporting invoices. In ad-
dition to stealth bombers we discovered we now have "phantom" soldiers—non-enti-

ties who are receiving federal pay and through fraud or incompetence, are costing

taxpayers millions of dollars. TTiese lax internal controls allowed a finance clerk to

manipulate the payroll system and establish pay accounts for two fictitious soldiers.

More than $33,000 in payroll pajmients went to the clerk's bank account in Ger-
many for these two non-existent soldiers. We must improve accountability within
the Department for these kinds of errors which are wasting scarce federal tax dol-

lars.

The Committee will hear testimony today that the Army, Air Force, and Defense
Business Operation Fund (DBOF) fiscal year 1993 consolidated financial statements
were unauditable and received disclaimers—auditors could not tell with adequate
certainty whether the financial numbers audited were reasonably accurate.

(57)
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Recommendations made by the GAO to the Air Force as far back as 1988 and
1989 continue to go unheeded. For example, neither the Air Force nor the Defense
Finance and Accounting Service (DFAS) accountants are doing required analyses of

account balances to identify unusual or unreasonable changes from year to year.

Auditors found one account that increased from $400 million in 1992 to $18 billion

in 1993. When investigated the increase was found to be a nearly $18 billion ac-

counting error. Auditors will also testily that some $2.5 million of computer equip-
ment could not be located and nearly $6 million in equipment was not on any inven-

ton' records.

DFAS is not ensuring funds are available before incurring obligations or making
payments on behalf of the Air Force. Obligation balances at DFAS and five Air
Force Logistic Centers varied by more than $27 billion due to data entry and pay-
ment errors. DFAS could, therefore, be obligating or paying out funds the Air Force
does not have.
Air Force auditors will also testify that thev found in nearly half of the 44 loca-

tions they reviewed, accounting and personnel offices were not performing required
reconciliation between pajToU and personnel records to ensure payments were prop-
er and accurate. As a result, DOD has erroneously paid out millions to individuals
not entitled to these funds.

Despite the years that have lapsed since passage of the CFO Act, the Army is

still unable to produce reliable, auditable financial statements. Army auditors will

report today that because of the Army's lax internal controls none of the financial

information is considered reliable for decision-making purposes. Lack of compliance
with existing guidance and controls by field-level managers and operators has
proved to be a significant cause of financial data inaccuracies. For example, out-

standing travel advances weren't being adequately managed—69 percent of out-

standing advances were delinquent because, despite regulations requiring it, ac-

counting offices had not performed monthly reconciliations to identify delinquencies
or followed up to collect delinquent advances. One commander at Fort Hood was cer-

tifying a soldier's pay without checking to ensure the soldier was entitled; as a re-

sult, the soldier was paid for two years while absent without leave.

Over the last five years, the Air Force auditors, GAO, and DOD IG have issued
reports citing problems of inadequate physical and accounting control over assets,

overstated inventory values, weak internal control procedures, and the absence of

a transaction-driven general ledger system. Most of these problems still exist and
as a result the Air Force auditors were unable to verify financial statement accounts
such as $228 billion of property and equipment, $65 billion of funds with the Treas-
ury or $31 billion of inventories not held for sale. The Air Force made $28 billion

of adjustments identified by the auditors, however, its financial statements are still

considered unreliable.

Certainly, no one on this committee expects these changes to happen over night
and it should also be noted that the Department has made some progress in ad-
dressing financial management issues. These efforts include the institution of a
standard procedure for comparing Army payroll and personnel records to reduce
payroll errors, developing an Air Force/DFAS tracking system for audit rec-

ommendations, and developing a DFAS effort to reduce the billions of unmatched
disbursements. To its credit, the Department estimates that it has reduced un-
matched disbursements and is making improvements to existing procedures and
systems to begin addressing the systemic causes of this problem. In addition, DOD
has created a senior financial management steering council to handle high level

cross-cutting issues and should be commended for it decision to consolidate DFAS
operations. DFAS is making significant efforts to streamline the military's payroll

and accounting systems and make them more efficient.

There is still a very long way to go to reform DOD's financial management system
and the repercussions of not addressing our federal governments financial manage-
ment problems are enormous. Millions, perhaps billions, of taxpayer dollars are at

risk. We need to know what we have, where it is, and what its worth as we make
decisions on where to spend scarce federal dollars in the future. A sound financial

management system is essential to our future military readiness functions. I look

forward to hearing the testimony from today's witnesses to better assess what
progress has been made and what DOD plans to do to further correct these long-

standing problems.

PREPARED STATEMENT OF FRANCIS E. REARDON

Good morning Mr. Chairman, and Members of the Committee. My name is

Francis E. Reardon—I'm the Auditor General of the Army and head of the U.S.
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Army Audit Agency. I'm a licensed CPA and I've worked as an Army auditor for
27 years. Accompanying me this morning is Mr. Andrew Blackwell. He is my prin-
cipal auditor responsible for our audits of the Army's FY 93 financial statements.

I'm pleased to be here this morning to testify on the results of our audits of the
Army's FY 93 financial statements.
Through delegation arrangements with the DOD Inspector General, we (the Army

Audit Agency) audited the Army's General Fund and DBOF financial statements for
FY 93. Specifically, we audited the balance sheet and cash flow statement portions
of the FY 93 General Fund statements, and we audited selected major asset lines
reported on the balance sheet portion of the Army's consohdated DBOF financial
statements for FY 93. Also, at the request of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, we
audited the balance sheet portion of the Corps' FY 93 financial statements for its

Civil Works operations.

I've organized my testimony into three major segments. The first segment is an
overview of our audit opinions. Next is a summary of the topics covered in our au-
dits and a discussion of what's been done to solve the problems disclosed by previous
financial statement audits. Then I'll conclude with my overall assessment of the
Army's efforts to implement the CFO Act.

Before proceeding, I wish to explain that I've limited my testimony on DBOF to
a summary of our audit opinion. This is because DBOF is still experiencing much
turmoil and we don't think our audits can paint a representative picture until the
actions set forth in the DBOF Improvement Plan have had a chance to take hold.
Also, final decisions are needed on the extent and nature of internal and external
competition—and the directly related issue of workload capacity—which DBOF ac-
tivities should be structured to handle. Given these circumstances, I believe that the
DOD Comptroller and DODIG are in the best position to provide a perspective on
the status of, and future prospects for, DBOF.

Nonetheless, after I've completed my testimony, I'm prepared to address any ques-
tions the Committee may have on all of our audit results, including DBOF.

Audit Opinions

We weren't able to express an opinion on the reliability of the data in the Army's
DBOF and General Fund statements for FY 93. This is called a disclaimer and es-
sentially means that we couldn't tell with adequate certainty whether the statement
numbers we audited were reasonably accurate. Underlying our inability to express
opinions, we found internal control weaknesses and non-compliance with selected
laws and regulations. The following is a summary of the primary reasons we
couldn't express an opinion on the General Fund balance sheet and cash flow state-
ment, and on the DBOF balance sheet.

GENERAL FUND STATEMENTS

We couldn't express an opinion on the General Fund statements we audited be-
cause:

—The systems supporting the Army's financial statements lack integrated
general ledgers and don't generate reliable and auditable financial information.
One system didn't retain a complete automated history of transactions proc-
essed during the year, so we couldn't test the summary numbers it generated.
As an added obstacle, to perform the necessary audit tests, none of the account-
ing systems produced auditable subsidiary ledgers. Subsidiary ledgers are ag-
gregated listings of transactions, by tjrpe, that are needed to test summary ac-
count balances. Both of these problems prevented us from expressing an opinion
on the FY 93 Statement of Cash Flows.
—Corrective action was in process in all the areas we reviewed, but some

hadn't experienced effective progress and most recommendations addressing
previously identified problems weren't yet fully implemented.
—DOD policies are in conflict with 0MB guidance and prevented the Army

from properly reporting material amounts of assets and liabilities.

—Due to problems with guidance issued by the Office of General Counsel,
DOD, Army General Counsel's legal representation letter didn't adequately ad-
dress the Army's actual and potential Utigations liabilities, and these liabilities
were understated on the Army balance sheet.
—The system used by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers to account for and

report Civil Works operations doesn't produce reliable and auditable financial
information.
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DEFENSE BUSINESS OPERATIONS FUND STATEMENTS

We audited, but couldn't express an opinion on, the three largest asset lines on
the Army consolidated DBOF balance sneet for FY 93. Because these lines rep-
resented 82 percent of total balance sheet assets, we also disclaimed an opinion on
the balance sheet as a whole. The primary reasons we couldn't express an opinion
were:

—We couldn't verify the accuracy of the reported dollar value of inventories
held for sale. Also, the Army couldn't identify how much of the government-
furnished property contractor's reported as on hand belonged to DBOF ac-

tivities.

—We couldn't verify the accuracy of reported war reserve assets—these assets
comprised 79 percent of the dollar value shown on the balance sheet for in-

ventories not held for sale.

—DBOF activities didn't have sufficient documentation to support the dollar

value reported on the balance sheet for property, plant and equipment.

Problems and Progress—General Fund

We knew at the outset that unresolved problems involving accounting systems
and standards would prevent opinions on the balance sheets. The Army can't by it-

self fix these systems and standards problems. Knowing this, we concentrated our
efforts on evaluating the Army's actions to solve or mitigate problems over which
it exercised at least some measure of unilateral control. We also (1) explored some
problem areas in greater depth than previous audits and (2) evaluated unresolved
problems in terms of whether they were susceptible to interim solutions and, if so,

what those interim solutions might be.

Our audit results are set forth in detail in our opinion reports, and draft manage-
ment issues reports. Here is a synopsis of the details in the reports on our General
Fund audits.

dfas-indianapolis center

Financial Statement Preparation Process. The processes and procedures used by
the Finance and Accounting Service's Indianapolis Center were much improved over
previous years, and, after some audit-identified errors were corrected, the financial
statements constituted a reasonable and reliable presentation of the data derived
from the various systems used to account for Army resources. However, some of the
controls over the processes for compiling and adjusting fmancial data needed
strengthening to minimize the potential to materially misstate the figures in future
annual statements. The Finance and Accounting Service generally agreed with the
audit conclusions and recommendations.

Payroll. The Indianapolis Center and the Army have taken several actions to cor-

rect unauthorized payments to soldiers. GAO found about 2,200 mismatches and
$6.1 million in potential overpayments in September 1992. The Finance and Ac-
counting Service and the Army are now regularly making comparisons between pay
and personnel system records, and the incidence of mismatches has been reduced

—

and apparent mismatch problems are promptly investigated and resolved. By March
1994, tnere were only 199 mismatches, and only one case was referred for investiga-
tion.

Manual interchange of data between the separate personnel and pay systems cur-
rently in use is a primary source of errors and control problems. So, developing a
single, integrated system to handle both personnel and pay transactions (to include
the appropriate checks and balances) is the ultimate solution for preventing unau-
thorized payments. In the interim, the Finance and Accounting Service and the
Army are working together to devise and implement automated interfaces between
the military personnel and pay systems. This is a positive step and needs to be pur-
sued further. We also noted that these automated interfaces should reduce the staff-

ing levels needed to carry out the pay function.

The problems with reconciling individual and summary payroll data, which led to

incorrect Federal tax payments for FY 92, have been largely resolved. During FY
93, a related problem surfaced involving state tax overpayments, but the excess pay-
ments of about $2.4 million were collected in FY 94. However, we noted that con-
trols at the installation level over military pay transactions, and reporting the dollar

values of accrued annual leave for both soldiers and civilians, needed improvements.
The Finance and Accounting Service and the Assistant Secretary of the Army (Fi-

nancial Management) agreed with our recommendations on strengthening installa-

tion-level controls over military pay and accrued leave, and on expanding the mili-

tary personnel and pay system interface initiative. Additionally, although we didn't
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cover them during our audit, we noted installation-level initiatives to conduct auto-

mated comparisons between personnel and pay records which should address some
of the installation-level control problems we found.

DFAS-DEFENSE ACCOUNTING OFFICES

In contrast to the progress made by the Indianapolis Center, its subordinate in-

stallation Defense accounting offices had significant problems in producing auditable

financial information. This was due, in large part, to the inadequacies of the sys-

tems used, and problems with the data received from other disbursing offices. The
accounting offices also needed to improve their procedures for managing travel ad-

vances.
Accounting Systems and Processes. The Defense accounting office records con-

stitute the subsidiary ledgers that support the Army's standard general ledger to-

tals. However, the accounting offices dian't have complete sets of automated subsidi-

ary ledgers. Without those records, we couldn't sample and test the transactions

supporting the financial statements. One system, the Standard Operations and
Maintenance Army Research and Development System (SOMARDS), didn't retain

all of the detailed transactions for FY 93, but we worked with management on this

problem and it should now be corrected. The other accounting systems did retain

all transactions, but lacked detailed subsidiary ledgers.

We also found other problems that caused the financial information to be unreli-

able, such as: (1) the accounting systems didn't properly post equipment purchases

and accounts payable to the general ledger because they weren't designed to do so;

(2) accounting personnel generally focused on single entry budget execution report-

ing, and didn't use or review general ledger data; and (3) procedures for preparing

and maintaining documentation to support the transactions didn't produce adequate

audit trails.

Accounting for Disbursements. For major contract payments made by the DFAS-
Columbus Center, the accounting offices continue to frequently post disbursements

to the oldest unliquidated obligations rather than the correct obligations. The root

cause appears to be that the systems used by contracting activities and the Colum-
bus Center to manage and account for contracts aren't compatible. As a result, the

payment data provided to field accounting offices frequently isn't correct and these

offices don't have the time needed to research and correctly post disbursements.

GAO and DODIG have recently audited this topic, and DOD and the Services have
ongoing initiatives to rectify the underlying systems problems—as well as reduce

the magnitude of unposted disbursements. Consequently, we didn't make any rec-

ommendations in this area.

Travel Advances. In auditing the Army's Statement of Cash Flows, we found that

finance offices weren't paying sufficient attention to recouping travel advances, and
69 percent of the advances we audited were delinquent (still outstanding more than

30 days after scheduled travel completion dates). The Assistant Secretary of the

Army (Financial Management) has initiated corrective actions in this area, and, as

of 30 April 1994, outstanding advances were reduced by almost $17 million from a

FY 93 yearend balance of $113 million.

While reviewing advances, we also noted that the account included about $614
million for casual pay advances. This amount appears large. We plan to pursue this

area in a future audit.

MILITARY EQUIPMENT

The Army made progress to correct previously identified equipment problem<s, but

we also found some other problems with reporting military equipment dollar values.

Selected tests indicated that procedures for physically accounting for reportable

equipment and property at units and activities were adequate (equipment and prop-

erty worth $15,000 or more is reportable on financial statements). We also found

that the relative accuracy measure for the data in the Continuing Balance System-

Expanded, which is used to manage equipment on hand at tactical units and to re-

port the value of this equipment in the financial statements, improved to 93 percent

in FY 93 over the 89 percent reported for FY 92. However, the Army's 95 percent

accuracy goal still wasn't achieved. As an indicator of its intent to continue to

achieve improvements, the Army is considering raising the accuracy goal.

We also noted that the Army is working with the Finance and Accounting Service

on an interface which will automatically extract equipment dollar values from tac-

tical unit property books and electronically report this data to the corresponding ac-

counting system. The final solution (both here and in all other financial manage-
ment areas) is a transaction and general-ledger based accounting system which
serves the Army's management ana financial reporting needs. In the interim, the

81-668 0-95-3
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property book-to-accounting system interface is a positive step for improving the ac-

curacy of the Army's financial statements. However, the Army also must continue
to work on the accuracy of the data in the Continuing Balance System.
Our audit coverage in this area extended beyond the prior audits and we found

significant problems in the procedures used to report equipment on hand at non-
tactical and National Guard units. We also found that the financial records for

equipment shipments (in transits) often weren't properly closed out after shipments
were received—92 percent of the open transactions we reviewed weren't valid be-

cause the equipment had already been received. Consequently, some equipment was
probably double counted on the financial statements. Financial reporting for equip-

ment in transit is unreliable for both the General Fund and DBOF, and a topic we
plan to pursue further in our audits of the FY 94 financial statements.

REAL PROPERTY

Actions were in process, but little improvement was achieved in improving the fi-

nancial accountability controls over real property. Most major commands hadn't

validated the accuracy of their installations' real property records. Also, the general
ledger and real property records hadn't been reconciled, and the two sets of records

had an unexplainea difference of about $500 million. The Army was working on a
reconciliation methodology. We recommended a change to its approach and the
Army agreed.
We think that having two entities at HQDA—the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers

and the Assistant Chief of Staff for Installation Management (ACSIM)—share the
responsibility for real property management and financial reporting was one of the
reasons for the limited progress in this area. We recommended that this responsibil-

ity be consolidated.

GOVERNMENT FURNISHED PROPERTY

The Army hadn't made much progress to improve financial accountability for gov-

ernment furnished property. The Army used contractor reported information as the
source data for financial reporting, but contractor reports didn't differentiate be-

tween DBOF and General Fund property—we also noted that the report forms con-

tractors were required to use weren't compatible with general ledger information re-

porting requirements. As a result, the Army had to use estimating techniques to al-

locate $16.6 billion of government furnished property between the DBOF and Gen-
eral Fund balance sheets. Major systems changes are needed to fix this problem,
but we recommended, and the Army agreed to implement, some interim measures
to improve the reporting process.

CONVENTIONAL AMMUNITION

The Army implemented several prior audit recommendations and improved its in-

ventory procedures and controls for ammunition components. We determined that
accountable records were accurate for inventory valued at about $2 billion.

We also identified conventional ammunition as an area where the Army could pre-

pare meaningful subsidiary financial statements to support the Army General Fund
statements. Financial statements are already required for the Conventional Ammu-
nition Working Capital Fund (a revolving fund) with about $2.2 billion in assets.

We believe those statements could be made more useful to operational managers if

they encompassed the Army's broader ammunition mission. While the Army sup-
ports the concept of such proprietary financial statements, they believe that systems
shortfalls and the cost to prepare such statements outweighed the benefits at this

time.

DOD POLICIES

DOD policies preclude the Army fi"om (1) fully reporting certain assets and liabil-

ities in accordance with 0MB guidance, and (2) preparing representation letters

that meet audit policy guidance. We noted conflicts on reporting contingent liabil-

ities and munitions on the balance sheet, as well as on both the legal and manage-
ment representation letters.

Contingent Liabilities. The Army identified about $25.7 billion in probable contin-

gencies (those likely to occur), which 0MB and Financial Accounting Standards
Board guidance state should be shown on the balance sheet as liabilities but which
Comptroller, DOD, policy required to be disclosed only as footnotes. Representatives
fi-om the Office of the Comptroller have stated that they will continue to follow that

policy until the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB) makes a
final recommendation that's accepted and promulgated by 0MB.
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Munitions. Similarly, about $6.4 billion of the Army's war reserve munitions (am-

munition and missiles) held at installations and intermediate supply points weren't

reported as assets on the balance sheet. The Comptroller, DOD, policy dictates that

only war reserves stocked at wholesale activities Tbe recorded on the balance sheet.

However, accounting standards prescribe that items not programmed for use in a

specific period should be reported as assets. Again, DOD plans to follow its current

policies until the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board makes a final rec-

ommendation that's accepted and promulgated by 0MB.
Legal Representation Letter. Army General Counsel's legal representation letter

conformed to DOD General Counsel guidance, but didn't adequately address actual

and potential liabilities relating to legal claims against the Army. This represented

a significant scope limitation in our attempts to quantify the amount of legal contin-

gent liabilities that should have been disclosed. The letter didn't comment on poten-

tial Army losses, and the financial statements didn't accrue a liability for litigation

loss. As a result, liabilities may be significantly understated. DODIG is working

with the DOD General Counsel to resolve the problem.

Management Representations. The Comptroller, DOD and DODIG have conflicting

guidance regarding management representation letters. The DODIG audit policy

states that both the Secretary of the Army and the Assistant Secretary of the Army
(Financial Management) should sign the letter, but the Comptroller's policy dictates

that only the financial manag:er sign it. Audit policy also requires that the Defense

Finance and Accounting Service, as the Army's accountant, provide a management
representation letter—but again, the Comptroller's guidance directs them not to pro-

vide a separate management representation letter to the Army. In both instances,

the Army and the Defense Finance and Accounting Service followed the Comptrol-

ler, DOD guidance. This conflict didn't affect our audit opinion for the FY 93 finan-

cial statements, but, if not resolved, could affect our opinion in future years.

CIVIL WORKS OPERATIONS

At the request of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, we also audited the balance

sheet portion of the Corps' FY 93 financial statements on its Civil Works operations.

Civil Works financial data is one of the components of the Army's General Fund
statement, so the results of our audit of the Corps' statements served as input to

our opinion report on the Army's General Fund statements. Because we approached

the Corps audit as if it were a stand-alone effort, we issued a separate opinion re-

port on the Corps' FY 93 balance sheet.

By asking us to do a separate audit, the Corps continued its characteristic prac-

tice of aggressively taking on new challenges and, in the case at hand, categorically

demonstrated its support for the intent of the CFO Act. This also resulted in the

Corps being the object of more audit coverage than any other Army command.
Several of the problems we reported were known and acknowledged by manage-

ment. In these cases, we worked with them to determine the magnitude of the prob-

lems, their causes, and progress toward resolving them. The Corps of Engineers

agreed to implement our recommendations to correct the financial management
problems disclosed by the audit.

There was limited progress in correcting a number of conditions found in previous

financial audits that included Civil Works operations. We found that (i) the reported

$23.3 billion of Construction-In-Progress inappropriately included about $6 billion

worth of completed projects, (ii) design and engineering costs—which account for an

average of about 8.3 percent of total project costs—weren't included in the costs of

military construction projects, and (iii) real property values of more than $32 billion

weren't adequately supported by information in the subsidiary ledgers. The Corps

made some improvements in accountable controls for its equipment, but additional

improvements were needed.
We also found weaknesses in controls over cost management practices which re-

sulted in labor costs being improperly charged to other projects, or overhead ac-

counts, to avoid cost overruns.

The Corps' current financial system, like other accounting systems, didn't incor-

porate a transaction-based general ledger, which contributed to the unreliability of

the Civil Works financial information. However, the Corps has a major opportunity

to significantly improve that condition in the near future with the impending field-

ing of a new financial management system. We are currently reviewing this new
system and will report our conclusions when we finish.

PERFORMANCE MEASURES

The Army has made significant progress on performance measures and we think

it has established itself as a leader in this area. In its FY 93 statements, the Army
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reported 32 program performance measures and included performance data for 13

of those measures. The measures presented execution data that was regularly used

by all levels of management to assess the status of Army programs and readiness.

Thus, the measures met the criteria cited in 0MB and DOD guidance regarding the

nature of the functions which performance measures should address.

To build on its progress in this area, the Army needs to translate its identified

measures into linked networks, and to develop program-level cost information. As
presently reported, the Army's measures are stand-alone input, output and outcome
measures, and the associated financial information is presented at the macro rather

than program level. In this form, the measures don't provide the capability to evalu-

ate program effectiveness and efficiency—and therefore aren't yet complete.

Performance measures are crucial because they are the key to using financial data

for decision-making purposes. Accordingly, we believe the Army should press for-

ward with its performance measures development efforts.

Overall Assessment

I want to summarize my comments on our audit results by saying that the Army
is making noteworthy progress in its attempts to attain the goals and objectives of

the Chief Financial Officers' Act. There's no question that the detailed results of our

audits of the FY 93 statements present a mixed picture, and a great deal remains

to be done. Outstanding progress has been made in some areas, but progress is slow

in others and we've also found new problems. Overall, however, the multitude of ini-

tiatives which are in progress, and my evaluation of management's attitude, con-

vinces me that the Army is committed to progress and aggressively headed in the

right direction.

As examples of some of the Army's significant ongoing initiatives, the Assistant

Secretary of the Army (Financial Management) is working with the Finance and Ac-

counting Service and leading efforts to:

—Reduce the volume and average age of unposted disbursenients (these dis-

bursements are commonly known as unmatched or undistributed disburse-

ments).
—Ensure that old unliquidated obligations are revalidated and, if appropriate,

paid before the authority to make disbursements fi-om the original appropria-

tions expires.

—Correct the problems we found involving delinquent travel advances.

As the vehicle for ensuring continued attention and progress in these three areas,

the Assistant Secretary established a program requiring major command managers
to make monthly evaluations of their progress, and report this progress during

quarterly joint meetings. Additionally, the Under Secretary of the Army set targets

for reducing the magnitude of unposted disbursements and required the Assistant

Secretary to provide periodic status reports.

In contrast to these concrete actions, management attitude is largely subjective

in nature and isn't easily measured by my fact-based audit tests. Nonetheless, it is

evident to me and the audit team that senior management, to include the Assistant

Secretary of the Army (Financial Management) and the Headquarters, U.S. Army
Corps of Engineers, is now placing significant emphasis on correcting problems

—

and improvements have resulted.

To recap on this point, the Army is devoting a great deal of attention to the prob-

lems highlighted by our financial statement audits. This attention alone will not im-

mediately result in major changes. However, it is an extremely important and criti-

cal ingredient—without it, the chances for meaningful improvements are virtually

nonexistent.
This leads me to discuss two other critical ingredients needed for the Army to con-

tinue to progress:

The first ingredient is that field-level managers and operators must continue

to be educated on the importance, and long-term benefits, of the new informa-

tion reporting requirements which support the proprietary financial manage-

ment process. In addition to education, streamlining local processes, and auto-

mating reporting requirements will do much to facilitate better compliance and

increased data accuracy. As cited earlier in my testimony, the Army and the

Finance and Accounting Service are already working to initiate or upgrade

automated reporting in the military pay, military equipment and real property

areas.

The second ingredient is that the Army needs to formulate an overall plan

addressing the actions it needs to take to (1) resolve identified problems and

(2) define the new business processes needed to meet the CFO Act goals and

objectives, and transition to cost and outcome-based financial decision-making
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practices and procedures. The Assistant Secretary of the Army (Financial Man-
agement), through its CFO oversight body—the Senior Level Steering Group

—

has recognized the need for a forward-looking plan. The Steering Group has
done a very effective job of keeping Army managers focused on fixing the prob-
lems identified in prior audits. Nonetheless, the effort to formulate a com-
prehensive plan to implement the requirements of the CFO Act needs more at-

tention.

This concludes my statement. Thank you for the opportunity to appear before the
Committee today. I will be happy to answer any questions you might nave.

PREPARED STATEMENT OF JACKIE R. CRAWFORD
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee:
Thank you for the invitation to discuss our audits of the Fiscal Year 1993 Air

Force financial statements. This is our second year of audits under the Chief Finan-
cial Officers (CFO) Act.

CFO Act Requirements

As you are aware; the CFO Act mandated preparation and annual audits of finan-

cial statements for general funds, trust funds, revolving funds, and substantial com-
mercial activities. The CFO Act's pilot project required the Air Force to prepare and
have audited financial statements for Fiscal Year 1992. The Office of Management
and Budget extended this project through Fiscal Year 1995.

CFO Audit Work for Fiscal Year 1993

For the Fiscal Year 1993 financial statements, we completed a series of audits
covering the Air Force general fund, along with audits of selected accounts within
the Defense Business Operations Fund (DBOF) activities. Our CFO audit effort re-

sulted in 29 reports, consisting of 5 opinion reports (1 for general fund and 4 for

DBOF accounts) and 24 supporting reports. Our opinion reports were released in

final form on 30 June 1994. All oi our supporting reports were provided to senior
Air Force and Defense Finance and Accounting Service (DFAS) managers for review
and comment prior to release of our opinion reports. We have obtained manage-
ment's comments and published 13 of our supporting reports in final form. Air Force
and DFAS managers are responding to the remaining 11 supporting reports, and
we expect to have all these reports published by 31 August 1994.
Our opinion reports summarize the results of audits for the general fund state-

ments and four DBOF accounts and provide our overall conclusions about the accu-
racy of the data presented. The supporting reports address individual issues associ-

ated with the financial statements, including problems with accounting system ca-

pabilities, analytical review procedures, recording and reporting financial trans-
actions, required accounting reconciliations, and supporting document retention.
These supporting reports enabled us to provide timely focused audit results to our
customers. Our reports contain 86 recommendations covering actions management
can take to remedy the problems we identified. Both Air Force and DFAS managers
have responded positively and are pursuing needed corrective actions.

The CFO audit effort continues to consume a significant amount of our Agency's
resources. We are devoting over 130 staff years, or about 20 percent of our Agency
resources, to CFO projects. This is somewhat less than the resources we devoted last

year, and I attribute the resource savings to several audit improvements. These im-
provements resulted ft-om our initiatives; recommendations fi*om your committee's
staff, the General Accounting Office, and the DoD Inspector General; and improved
communications with management. The following are some specific actions we took.

One initiative was to refocus our audit efforts. Through coordination with the
DoD Assistant Inspector General for Auditing, we concluded that the DBOF ac-

counts would not be completely auditable within the next few years. Therefore,
we jointly agreed to a building block audit approach that would begin with four
accounts in Fiscal Year 1993 and add additional accounts each year until all

accounts in the statements are covered. For the Fiscal Year 1993 statements,
we audited four balance sheet accounts—Inventories Held for Sale; Inventories
Not Held for Sale; Property, Plant, and Equipment; and Fund Balance With
Treasury. Current plans are to audit the entire balance sheet in Fiscal Year
1994, the balance sheet and material accounts fi-om the statement of operations
in Fiscal Year 1995, and the full DBOF financial statements in Fiscal Year
1996. Further, we are doing more internal controls evaluations for key support-
ing systems (e.g., the Financial Inventory Accounting and Billing System, Depot
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Maintenance Equipment Program, and Maintenance Actual Material Cost Sys-
tem). In the general fund reviews, we focused more on interim and intermedi-
ate-term actions where long-term solutions were pending.

Also, we took several actions to streamline the audit reporting process. In
particular, we consolidated a number of our general fund and DBOF audits
which allowed us to get the reports to management more quickly, and reduced
the number of management responses required. Finally, we redesigned our
audit report formats for improved readability.

CFO Audit Opinions

AIR FORCE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Mr. Chairman, again, we were unable to express an audit opinion on the Air
Force's General Fund consolidated financial statements. We based our disclaimer on
material uncertainties related to the reasonableness of amounts reported in the fi-

nancial statements and the adequacy of Air Force and DFAS accounting systems.
In our audit for Fiscal Year 1993, we compared our Fiscal Year 1992 findings with
current conditions. We found that the following problems still existed:

A transaction-driven general ledger was not available.
Some existing accounting systems could not produce auditable financial data.
Acquisition costs were not used for most assets.
Equipment, inventories, and real property were not reported accurately.
Disbursement and collection account balances were questionable.
Contingent liabilities were underestimated.

Of particular importance is the need for sound and reliable accounting systems.
This point is illustrated by the fact that our audits identified the need for approxi-
mately $28.3 billion of accounting adjustments. DFAS and Air Force accountants
made virtually all ($28.2 billion) of these adjustments. However, we arrived at these
adjustments using existing accoimting systems and data, many of which are known
to be unreliable. Consequentlv, even after the proposed adjustments were made, suf-
ficient uncertainties about other amounts reported precluded us from expressing an
audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

Previous testimony, as well as several prior audit reports, has disclosed that many
DoD and Air Force systems handling financial data were not designed to produce
auditable financial statements. As the DoD Deputy Comptroller (Financial Systems)
testified recently, several actions are under way to improve this situation. However,
until long-range solutions, such as creation of a transaction-driven general ledger
and resolution of interface problems between automated systems, are implemented,
we will likely not be able to express an opinion on the financial statements.
The following are some of the general fund issues we identified:

Defense Finance and Accounting Service-Denver Center disbursement and
collection records varied significantly fi-om subsidiary records at base accounting
offices. Specifically, DFAS-Denver Center accounts contained over 12,000
unreconciled differences valued at $3.3 billion at the end of Fiscal Year 1993.
Further, Defense Accounting Office personnel did not obtain or maintain ade-
quate documentation to support the validity and accuracy of these transactions.
Though reconciliation attempts were under way, more than half of the disburse-
ment and collection differences could not be reconciled. DFAS-Denver Center is

pursuing several initiatives to address this problem.
Recorded obligations included almost $5.8 billion of negative unliquidated ob-

ligations (ULOs) at the contract line item level. Our review identified over 6,000
of nearly 27,000 records which contained negative ULOs, representing signifi-

cant errors in obligation data. Negative ULOs are unliquidated obligations (ac-

counts payable and undelivered orders outstanding) balances that are less than
zero. Tney normally represent overpayments to contractors, posting errors, or
other accounting errors. Generally, these errors occur when DFAS personnel do
not properly record the obligation or contract modification amount at either the
accounting or disbursing station. Additionally, negative ULOs occur when dis-

bursing personnel make entries or force payments to incorrect accounting classi-

fication reference numbers. If disbursed amounts actually exceed available
funds, a violation of the Antideficiency Act can occur. The DoD Comptroller has
prescribed stringent new policies effective 31 March 1994, to resolve and correct
negative ULO conditions. As I will discuss later, DoD is also working system
improvements to address the negative ULO problem.

Although we found that civilian and military pajToU accounts were generally ac-

curate, we noted one control area which still needs improvement. At 20 of 44 loca-

tions reviewed, accounting and personnel officials had not performed required rec-
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onciliations between civilian pay and personnel records. These reconciliations aid in

ensuring that payments are proper and accurate. However, our tests did not show
any material misstatements in pay. We limited our work in this area because the

DoD Inspector General has an audit scheduled to reconcile pay and personnel data

for Air Force military and civilian personnel.

We also identified weaknesses in the real property accounting process. Approxi-

mately $2.6 billion of the $35.4 billion real property costs reported in the financial

statements did not agree with costs reported in subsidiary records. These errors pri-

marily related to misstatements, omissions, and misclassifications. Errors of this na-

ture impact our opinion on the overall statements.

Mr. Chairman, the last general fund-related area I will discuss is the pattern of

weak internal controls over computer assets. We looked at equipment accounts at

20 locations and found that computer equipment, valued at $2.5 million, could not

be located, and that $5.8 million of equipment was not listed on accountability

records. Although the dollars involved are not material amounts in terms of the Air

Force financial statements, strong internal controls over these type assets are essen-

tial because of their attractiveness for personal use. In response to our audit, man-
agement is performing additional inventories and initiating reports of survey (proce-

dure for establishing responsibility for loss) for items not found.

DEFENSE BUSINESS OPERATIONS FUND

Our audit opinions related to the DBOF accounts reviewed provided similar re-

sults.

We were unable to express an opinion on the accuracy of the $30.9 billion of in-

ventories held for sale reported in the DBOF financial statements. Specificallv, the

overall condition of accounting systems, subsidiary accounting records, and the in-

ternal control structure hampered our ability to verify the inventories held for sale

balance. The new Financial Inventory Accounting and Billing System (FIABS), a

key financial system, was not adequately tested before implementation and some as-

pects of the system were not functioning properly. For example, the system was not

providing line item-level control of Air Force assets at contractor repair facilities.

As a result, DFAS was relying on summary-level accounts that did not provide

needed accountability. Also, in the inventory management area, we found about
$16.5 million of medical war readiness material that was redistributed from closing

bases but not properly picked up on accountability records at receiving bases.

We could not verify that the $3.5 billion balance of inventories not held for sale

was accurate or presented in conformity with generally accepted accounting prin-

ciples. To illustrate, the Air Force's Standard Base Supply System and Standard
Material Accounting System did not provide adequate inventory accounting records

to support the applicable portion of the inventory not held for sale balance.

We concluded that the $3.6 billion balance reported for plant, property, and equip-

ment was not accurate. The Depot Maintenance area did not report $1.2 billion of

assets in use. In addition, the Air Force and DFAS did not retain appropriate de-

tailed records to support the historical cost and accumulated depreciation account
balances for capital equipment, maintain subsidiary ledgers for all equipment, or

properly post significant accounting transactions to accounting records.

The Air Force DBOF Statement of Financial Position showed a fund balance with
treasury of $ 1.4 billion. However, because the Department of the Treasury accounts

for DBOF funds only at the DoD level and because existing accounting systems and
DFAS procedures do not provide an adequate audit trail, we were unable to verify

this balance.

Management Actions

Mr. Chairman, I believe there is a brighter side to this picture. Attitudes through-

out DoD are changing and we appear to be at a turning point for DoD financial

management. Secretaij Perry has stated that one of his highest priorities is to fix

DoD's long-standing financial management problems. The Secretary of the Air

Force, the Air Force Assistant Secretary (Financial Management and Comptroller),

and DFAS senior managers have all expressed a strong commitment to financial

management improvements. In addition, in many cases, short or intermediate fixes

are being pursued while permanent solutions are worked. I would like to discuss

a few of these actions.

First and probably most significant, DFAS is moving out on some of the most seri-

ous accounting system deficiencies. For example, they are currently implementing
two interim systems that will help address the twin problems of unmatched dis-

bursements and negative unliquidated obligations. One system, the Direct Contract
Payment Notice System, should improve disbursing controls and accounting for con-
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tracts—reducing the occurrence of negative unliquidated obligations and unmatched
disbursements. The second system. Automated Reconcihation System, is intended to
preclude accounting errors and speed correction of the errors that do occur. The sys-
tem will provide automatic comparisons of obligation data maintained in contract
files with accounting data maintained at both accounting and disbursing activities.

In the intermediate term, the Joint Acquisition and Financial Management Panel
Working Group has proposed the establishment of Electronic Data Interchange com-
munications between paying and accounting offices to improve the accuracy of con-
tract obligation information. Plans should be finalized by 30 September 1994, with
a series of implementation dates scheduled for Fiscal Year 1995. Also, DFAS-Denver
Center has submitted plans to develop a transaction-driven general ledger system.
If approved and implemented, the system's incremental development would improve
the accounting process over the next 5 years.
The Air Force and DFAS have implemented a joint plan to track the status of

management actions taken on audit recommendations to improve financial report-
ing. Over half of the recommendations associated with Fiscal Year 1992 and prior
statements are closed. The Plan categorizes the issues into policy, compliance, and
systems/internal control. This tracking system provides DFAS and the Air Force in-

formation on progress made toward solving key financial reporting issues identified
by the various audit organizations.

Also, DFAS-Denver Center has developed a comprehensive training program, up-
dated regulations, clarified policy guidance, and improved the accuracy of reporting
inventory values for some assets. With continued training and renewed emphasis
on proper procedures for reporting financial transactions, we should begin seeing
improvements.

Likewise, DFAS-Denver Center has actions in progress to evaluate the quality of
internal controls at selected Air Force bases. Proper completion of these assessments
will provide management with a good analysis of whether corrective actions have
been effective and where additional work is warranted. Further, we are working
closely with DFAS-Denver Center on a follow-up program to assess the implementa-
tion and effectiveness of corrective actions. We are currently performing five compli-
ance reviews and have already provided results to DFAS officials on two of these
efforts. The Director, DFAS-Denver Center, has asked us to continue this program
beyond the initial five reviews, and we will support this request. I am confident that
these cooperative efforts will help assure that improved controls are in fact imple-
mented.

Besides the actions I have just discussed, other initiatives are ongoing to stream-
line and improve financial and other management activities. Efforts such as the
Senior Financial Management Oversight Council demonstrate top management in-

volvement in working financial management issues. Also, future direction from the
Defense Business Operations Fund Corporate Board will be a positive step in ad-
dressing audit and Congressional concerns regarding the Fund.

Conclusion

In summary, we recognize that achieving the intent of the CFO Act will be a long-
term and continuous process. The preparation and audit of federal financial state-
ments continue to be a learning experience for accountants and auditors alike. Our
audits this year showed that, while progress is slow, we are beginning to address
some of the entrenched problems. Yet, much work remains, especially given the
more stringent time constraints for the preparation and audit of financial state-
ments in future years.

I believe that the Air Force will continue its positive progress toward full imple-
mentation of the CFO Act. I base this opinion on the planned and ongoing manage-
ment efforts to correct both short- and long-term conditions; the initiatives taken to

improve the performance and reporting of our audit results; and the cooperative ef-

forts of auditors and accountants to identify and correct weaknesses. I am encour-
aged by these efforts and expect that the Congress and the public will see both im-
proved financial reporting and better accountability over Air Force funds.

PREPARED STATEMENT OF DEREK J. VANDER SCHAAF

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee:
I appreciate the opportunity to be here this morning to discuss Department of De-

fense nnancial management. I am accompanied by Mr. Robert J. Lieberman, the As-
sistant Inspector General for Auditing. As requested in your invitation letter, our
testimony today will outline the results of the audits conducted over the past year
to implement the Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990. In testimony to this Commit-
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tee on April 12, 1994, we covered a number of matters related to financial manage-
ment in DOD, such as security of computer systems supporting finance and account-

ing operations, management of prior year accounts, debt collection, and funds con-

trol during the disbursing process. While there is no need to repeat that testimony,

we have updated the April Usting of significant reports on financial management
matters for your information. It is Attachment 1 to this statement.

Previous Audits of Financial Statements

The Chief Financial Officers Act calls for audited financial statements for all DOD
revolving and management funds, as well as for the general funds of the Army and
the Air Force as pilot agencies. During your July 1, 1993 hearing on DOD financial

management, we identified the problems that confi-onted the Department as it

sought to comply with the Act's requirements. We noted that the DOD systems for

accumulating and reporting financial data were incompatible and frequently out-

moded, produced inaccurate information, and in general were not intended to com-
pile the information needed for financial statements. As in many other Federal

agencies, DOD personnel were not well versed in preparing or auditing financial

statements. Federal accounting standards and guidance pertaining to financial

statements were not in place. As if those problems were not enough, the DOD finan-

cial community also was seriously distracted by the Persian Gulf War, the DOD
budget drawdown, the problems of the new Defense Business Operations Fund
(DBOF), and the disruptions accompanying the consolidation of accounting and dis-

bursing activities into a single Defense Finance and Accounting Service.

With those handicaps, the Department struggled to comply with the CFO Act.

Most of FY 1992 financial statements were late. Only two ot 17 statements audited

by my office received unqualified ("clean") audit opinions. The others received heav-

ily qualified or adverse opinions, or we found it impossible to render an opinion.

Management was unwilling or unable to provide either management representation

letters or legal representation letters to attest to the financial statements.

Audits of FY 1993 Financial Statements

The results of the audits of DOD FY 1993 financial statements, in terms of the

opinions rendered, are summarized in Attachment 2 to this statement. Once again,

the financial statements for most of the audited funds were seriously flawed and
unsupportable. During the July 1993 hearing, we predicted that it would take sev-

eral years to develop the systems, controls and expertise to produce financial state-

ments capable of receiving clean audit opinions. Therefore the results of the FY
1993 audits generally were expected, although we had hoped to see certain problems
resolved and instead they persisted.

Common Problems

It would not be very useful to summarize every financial statement audit report

in detail; however, I will discuss several common problems.
First, we noted that late guidance continued to cause real problems at the operat-

ing levels in the DOD financial community. The DOD Form and Content guidance,

for example, was not issued until January 12, 1994. The current DOD guidance does

not totally match FY 1994 0MB guidance, so it is important to make adjustments
promptly and get the word out to reporting entities within the next few weeks. Late
guidance impacts the conversion to a standard general ledger, which is fundamental
to preparing financial statements. As accounting systems improve, such conversions

will not be needed each time the financial statements are prepared.

Second, there was no improvement this year in the timeliness of providing the fi-

nancial statements to the auditors. Final financial statements for the year ended
September 30, 1993 were not provided to us to complete our audits until as late as

last month, with our audit reports due out in accordance with the CFO Act by June
30. Some DOD components viewed draft statements as unchangeable, which ne-

gated the auditors' attempts to recommend adjustments. Further the "makeshift"

process of preparing the statements and making adjustments precluded sufficient

upfront involvement by the auditors. Other DOD components continued making ad-

justments into June, long after it is feasible for the auditors to verify the revised

numbers in time for a report by June 30. The Department has to find a way to

speed up the process drastically. We will focus audit attention on the preparation

process itself in hopes of assisting in putting improvements into place.

Third, while we have seen some improvement in documenting the source of ad-

justments to general ledger account balances, more needs to be done. This is espe-

cially true for adjustments related to undistributed disbursements and collections



70

and the funds balance with the Treasury, given the effect they have on accounts

receivable and accounts payable. Undistributed disbursements and collections are

posted to accounts payable and accounts receivable, respectively. Errors in these ac-

counts can distort the balance sheet. For example, the Navy overstated a balance

sheet account by $1.8 billion by failing to adjust undistributed accounts properly.

Another account was overstated by $362 million.

Fourth, problems persist with the vaUdity of reported fund balances with the

Treasury, reconciliation of account balances, and controls over appropriation limita-

tions.
. u •

Fifth, in some accounts transactions are still being accounted for on a cash basis

instead of an accrual basis, causing distortions. Examples are the Voluntary Separa-

tion Investment Trust Fund, the Defense Reutilization and Marketing Service Fund,

and the Pentagon Reservation Maintenance Fund.

Sixth, valuation of plant, property and equipment (PP&E) and excess inventory

continue to be technical problems for DBOF and other funds. Documentation for the

value of PP&E is still an unresolved issue. Excess inventory is valued differently

by each Service.

Seventh, the DOD is still struggling with the concept of management representa-

tion letters. These letters attest to the accuracy of the financial statements and, if

necessary, make appropriate qualifications to them. Although the heads of Military

Departments and Defense agencies annually sign Federal Managers Financial In-

tegrity Act assurance letters, written policy issued by the Comptroller does not re-

quire those same senior management officials to jointly sign representation letters

with the senior financial officials. This policy not only conflicts with the Government

Auditing Standards, it is illogical and retards attempts to involve senior officials'

interest in financial management improvement issues. We are working with the

Comptroller staff to resolve this matter for FY 1994, but so far they have remained

unwilling to issue the guidance needed to place the Department in compliance with

GAO, President's Council on Integrity and Efficiency and American Institute of Cer-

tified PubUc Accountants standards for management representation letters. I have

personally checked with several other Federal departments and agencies and found

that in most instances the appropriate manager and finance officer signed a rep-

resentation letter. Although the absence of adequate representation letters is a suffi-

cient audit limitation to merit a disclaimer, it was not, in and of itself, the sole rea-

son for adverse or disclaimed opinions on FY 1993 financial statements. The state-

ments had many other problems that would have dictated such opinions.

Indications op Progress

On a more positive note, we observed more involvement by program officials, not

just accountants, in trying to resolve financial management issues. The DOD Senior

Financial Management Oversight Council addressed the need to achieve compliance

with the CFO Act and improve DOD financial systems in one of its first meetings,

demonstrating to other DOD managers that these matters merit close interest. The

increased involvement by flag rank officers and other officials that we noted may
be an indication that the Council's message has been received.

We observed improved understanding of accounting and adjusting processes by

Defense Logistics Agency managers with respect to inventory, accounts receivable

and accounts payable. The DFAS improved controls over coding vouchers, required

specific documentation for adjustments, reviewed system output after adjustments

were made, and enforced controls during the year end reporting and certification

process. Systems development is the single most crucial aspect of DOD financial

management improvement efforts. We are encouraged that the planning for an "in-

terim migratory accounting system" at the DFAS-Denver Center is addressing is-

sues raised in recent financial audits.

We noted that important DBOF policies and procedures were being put into place.

The Comptroller issued decision papers, for example, on military personnel pricing,

major real property maintenance and repair, cash management, capital purchasing,

mobilization costs, replacement inventory, and net operating results. As mentioned

at the April 12, 1994 hearing, we continue to support the DBOF concept. However,

we also stress that the DBOF will yield very few if any benefits until (1) DOD cost

accounting and DBOF rate setting improve and (2) more alternative sources of goods

and services are opened to current DBOF customers. It is also imperative for DOD
to solve the cash management problems that plagued DBOF and aroused under-

standable congressional ire over the past couple years. In general, we agree with

the General Accounting Office assessment that progress is being made, especially

now that the fundamental problem of the lack of specific, written DBOF manage-

ment policies is being addressed.
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Meeting CFO Audit Requirements

With the passage of the CFO Act and the Government Performance and Results

Act, the Federal Government is clearly moving toward more meaningful reporting

on the status of its programs and assets. The audit community is contributing to

the process by scoring results through the annual financial statement audit reports;

identifying and recommending corrections to internal control weaknesses that con-

tribute to faulty data; and supplementing financial statement audits with reviews

of related matters like automated system controls and problems in finance oper-

ations like payroll and vendor payments.
To provide feedback to managers and the Congress, we distribute all audit reports

widely. This includes sending copies of all final reports (both CFO audit reports and

others) to the DOD Comptroller and Chief Financial Officers the 0MB, the GAO,
this Committee, the House Government Operations Comrmttee, and other Congres-

sional oversight committees for Defense. The fall 1993 Inspector General, DOD,
semiannual report to the Congress summarized the audit results for the FY 1992

financial statements and we wall continue providing such summaries each year. We
believe that hearings like this one are another very useful mechanism for highlight-

ing not only the DOD financial management problems, but also the significant effort

being made to fix them.
Regarding the CFO Act, we believe that expanding the requirement for financial

statements to be prepared for all or nearly all Federal funds would be appropriate,

although the timetable in current legislative proposals is probably too ambitious by

a factor of 2 or 3 years. The discipline involved in generating an annual financial

statement benefits day to day financial reporting and other facets of operations. The
incremental cost within the finance and accounting community should be minimal,

especially as systems and internal controls improve so that little manual effort is

involved because adjustments, corrections and other rework become less necessary.

On the other hand, there will be considerable audit cost until the systems and pro-

cedures are proven to be reliable, which will take several years. In the meantime,

maintaining the current level of CFO Act auditing will require the continued com-

mitment annually of between 500 and 550 auditor work years and well over $40

million. Even with audit efforts of that magnitude, the largest commitment of DOD
internal audit resources ever for a single purpose, full compliance with the audit re-

quirements presently prescribed by the CFO Act is not being achieved. In my opin-

ion using more audit resources to attempt to gain full compliance with the Act

would suboptimize our audit efforts.

Expanding the CFO Act with a blanket requirement for an audit of every finan-

cial statement every year would not be practical or cost effective, given the likely

constraints on audit resources, other demands for audit services and the large num-
ber of funds. Moreover, we believe strongly that considerations of materiality and
relative risk should be carefully weighed in all audit planning. Due professional care

and principles of good management dictate targeting our resources where they can

be most effective. We make those kinds of decisions routinely in planning and exe-

cuting our audit program, and we are more than willing to stand accountable for

our audit planning decisions during periodic oversight hearings. We urge that any
revisions to the CFO Act allow us flexibility to determine, in consultation with the

CFO of the DOD, the appropriate level of audit coverage for each fund, based on

analysis of the fund's parameters, previous audit results, our knowledge of the inter-

nal control structure, and similar factors. In no case would we recommend a fund

go more than three years without an audit of its financial statements. During years

in which no full audit is planned, we would apply appropriate analytical procedures

to selected accounts in the financial statements to reaffirm our decisions concerning

risk and the necessity for full audit.

We intend to continue our heavy emphasis on audits of financial statements and

of other aspects of DOD financial operations. Budget pressures may make that in-

creasingly difficult, but under no circumstances will we stop our concerted effort to

make the CFO Act a lasting success in terms of improved DOD financial manage-
ment.
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ATTACHMENT 1

Recent Significant Inspector General, DOD, Audit Reports on Finance and
Accounting

funding shortfalls and errors in navy accounts

There are potential Antideficiency Act violations in the MK-50 Torpedo and
Standard Missile programs and potential funding efficiencies in the Trident II and
Phoenix Missile programs, all of which are funded in the Navy Weapons Procure-

ment appropriation. Also, potential deficiencies were found in the Navy Aircraft Pro-

curement and Research, Development, Test and Evaluation appropriations. The offi-

cial accounting records did not reflect the true appropriations balances and the

Navy had $1 billion in net unmatched disbursements in the audited accounts. (For

a discussion of the overall undistributed and unmatched disbursement problem, see

the summary of Report No. 94-048 below.) We recommended that the Assistant Sec-

retary of the Navy (Financial Management) investigate apparent appropriation ac-

count deficiencies for the MK-50, the Standard Missile, and the Phoenix Missile,

fix responsibiUty, and report anv actual Antideficiency Act violations; record obliga-

tions even if they may cause deficiencies; establish procedures for identifying re-

quirements that mav cause deficiencies in the future; maintain contingent liabilities

in accounting recoras after funds expire; and properly record obligations supporting

contingent liabilities. We also recommended tnat the Navy correct obligational ad-

justments, post them to the correct fiscal year, and establish procedures to verify

that administering offices obtain proper approvals for obligational adjustments with-

in established thresholds. Further, we recommended that the Director, Defense Fi-

nance and Accounting Service establish automated procedures for ensuring that cor-

rect funding information is entered into the Standard Accounting and Reporting

System. Management concurred with all recommendations in the draft report except

that the Navy Director of Budget and Reports did not concur with our recommenda-
tions to maintain contingent liabilities in accounting records after funds expire and
to correct accounting entries to show the proper charges for contract modifications.

The Navy has not yet replied to the final report. (Report No. 94-036, February 10,

1994)

funding shortfalls and errors in air force accounts

Four of eight expired year Air Force Research, Development, Test, and Evaluation

(RDT&E) and Aircraft Procurement appropriations had shortfalls, accounting prob-

lems, and potential violations of the Antideficiency Act. The FY 1991 RDT&E and
the FY 1989 Aircraft Procurement appropriations were potentially deficient by $14.1

million and $21.1 million, respectively. Both FY 1990 appropriations had very small

available fund balances and were at high risk of being deficient in the near future.

Uncorrected erroneous accounting entries for negative unliquidated obligations and
progress payments totaled over $1.8 billion and have the potential to further distort

available fund balances. Also, DFAS-Denver did not track the use of $208.6 million

in current funds to finance obligation growth against former merged account unobli-

gated balances and, contrary to DOD practice, permitted uncollected refunds total-

ing $40.9 million to be used to finance obligation growth. Finally, $432.2 million of

refunds deemed to be uncollectible were not disclosed in Reports on Budget Execu-

tion and unclear DOD accounting practices for matters in litigation contributed to

incorrect available fund balances. As a result, potential violations of the

Antideficiency Act have occurred, and more may occur. We recommended that the

Air Force investigate the potential deficits in the FY 1991 RDT&E and FY 1989 Air-

craft Procurement appropriations, fix responsibility, and report violations of the

Antideficiency Act as appropriate. We also recommended that DFAS correct erro-

neous accounting conditions that caused material errors in Air Force fund account-

ing reports and institute adequate procedures to comply with fund limitations. We
further recommended that the DOD Comptroller require the DFAS to implement
DOD accounting practice for Air Force refunds receivable and amend the DOD Ac-

counting Manual to specify how matters in litigation should be presented in fund

control and accounting records. The Air Force disagreed with the audit results and
the DOD Comptroller has not yet responded to the report. We will pursue the unre-

solved issues through the DOD audit mediation and foUowup process. (Report No.

94-062, March 18, 1994)
At the request of the Senate Appropriations Committee, an audit was performed

of the unliquidated obligations remaining in the Air Force M accounts as of June
1993. We also audited selected reobligations of M account monies. Of the $574 mil-

lion in unliquidated obligations reviewed, $440 million (76 percent) were invalid.
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The finding confirmed previous audit results indicating very poor recordkeeping

with respect to the financial status of the M accounts. Liabilities were significantly

overstated. Also, contractors were paid $9.8 million for as yet unearned on-orbit in-

centive fees. The Air Force and DFAS agreed with the audit recommendations. Com-
ments from the DOD Comptroller are pending. (Report No. 94-139, June 17, 1994)

WRONG DEBTS CANCELLED

The Conference Report that accompanied Public Law 102-172 requested that we
monitor the DFAS actions on canceling mihtary member indebtedness related to Op-

erations Desert Shield and Desert Storm. Numerous personnel had complained

about aggressive efforts to collect debts that were often due to pay mistakes related

to the rapid mobilization. The Congress gave the DOD authority to cancel debts up

to $2,500. The audit concluded that 31 percent of 127,000 debts in one audit sample

were inappropriate cancelled, and at one center $15 million out of $19.9 million in

cancellations was unjustified. The DFAS Centers used specially-designed computer

programs that did not follow the intent of Public Law 102-172 in identifying debts

to be cancelled. Conversely, the computer programs did not identify many debts that

were eligible for cancellation. Further, DFAS did not request an end to the debt can-

cellation program and Service members who continue to incur debts in connection

with current Persian Gulf service could still have their debts canceled, which was

not congressional intent. We recommended that DFAS correct significant unauthor-

ized cancellations, identify and cancel additional elidble debts, and reauest an end

to the debt cancellation program. The Director of DFAS nonconcurred and stated

our recommendations for correcting the situation were too labor intensive and cost-

ly To date no unauthorized cancellations have been recouped and the program re-

mains in effect, although DFAS has agreed to end it. We are working with DFAS
to determine the break even point for debt collection efforts in this case. The matter

will then be elevated for decision. (Report No. 94-023, December 23, 1993)

CONTRACTOR DEBT NOT COLLECTED

The Federal Acquisition Regulation permits contractors to purchase materiel from

Government inventories. The buyers are expected to pay within 30 days of billing

or the accounts receivable are considered delinquent and subject to interest charges.

At the request of the Defense Logistics Agency, we reviewed $4.6 million of delin-

quent accounts receivable for material purchased by contractors from the DOD sup-

ply system. Many of the booked amounts were accounting errors, but four contrac-

tors were 9 months to 7 years overdue with payments. The Defense Finance and

Accounting Service did not advise contracting officers of delinquent accounts. Better

coordination between finance and contracting personnel would decrease administra-

tive burdens and improve debt collection efficiency. Management agreed with most

of the audit recommendations, but one open issue involving a $92,379 writeoff is

still being pursued. (Report No. 94-119, June 3, 1994)

In 1987, a contract audit followup review identified significant deficiencies in the

collection of contractor debts to the Government related to defective pricing and

Cost Accounting Standards noncompliances. Confusion existed regarding respon-

sibilities for recording accounts receivable for contractor debts and for collecting

principal and any interest due; contracting officers frequently did not issue proper

demands for payments; interest was not always assessed or collected; and inappro-

priate offsets were sometimes accepted in lieu of collections. Despite previous man-

agement agreement to address those problems, they persist. A recent review of 129

debts of $122.2 million indicated that accounts receivable had not been established

by the finance offices for any of them. Contracting officers frequently included de-

mands for debt payment in price reduction modifications, but in that form they are

not recognized by finance offices. No demands for payment were made at all for 47

cases where the Federal Acquisition Regulation required them. When deniands for

payment were issued, they seldom included all required elements. About $1.3 mil-

lion in interest collected was credited to DOD accounts instead of to the Treasury.

As a result of the review, $422,094 of previously waived interest was assessed. The

Comptroller and Director, Defense Procurement, agreed with 12 recommendations

to correct the deficiencies. The Debt Subcommittee of the DOD Contract Finance

Committee is working on a detailed redesign of the entire contract debt collection

process. (Report No. AFU 94-02, April 22, 1994)

UNDISTRIBUTED AND UNMATCHED DISBURSEMENTS

Disbursing offices frequently make payments or collections involving funds be-

longing to other activities. An audit disclosed the need for more aggressive and ef-

fective DFAS actions to clear transactions timely and reduce the disbursements car-
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ried in accounting records as undistributed or unmatched. Increased management
oversight was needed to reduce net undistributed and unmatched disbursements
valued at about $34.6 bilhon as of January 31, 1993. Those payments had not been
matched to specific obligations in the official accounting records. The DFAS Centers
took limited actions to research and resolve intra-Service disbursements that re-

mained uncleared for extended periods, and actions taken were less than fully effec-

tive. Managers at DFAS Headquarters were not given complete and accurate infor-

mation on the status of undistributed disbursements, including uncleared trans-

actions. The DFAS Centers understated the numbers and dollar values of undistrib-

uted disbursements reported as more than 180 days old by about 860,000 trans-

actions and at least $7.2 billion. The oldest transactions are those most likely to in-

clude erroneous or even fraudulent payments and Anti-deficiency Act violations. We
recommended that the DOD Comptroller publish detailed guidance for clearing

transactions and reducing undistributed disbursements. We recommended that

DFAS improve procedures and controls over transactions that are not cleared

promptly and issue specific policies for reporting undistributed disbursements. Man-
agement concurred with our findings and recommendations and aggressive actions

are now under way to reduce the DOD unmatched disbursement problems. The im-

mediate goal is to cut the unmatched disbursement level in half by September 1994.

(Report No. 94-048, March 2, 1994)

LOSS OF FUND INTEGRITY IN DISBURSEMENT PROCESS

The procedures used by DFAS-Columbus for fund control over contract payments
were not adequate. Specifically, obligation and disbursement data contained in the

Mechanization of Contract Administration Services system were not accurate. Sam-
pled contracts contained $208.1 million in errors requiring accounting adjustments,

$10.4 million in additional disbursement errors, and $741,000 in disbursements not

charged to the proper appropriations. As of July 1993, contracts at DFAS-Columbus
contained $3.1 billion in negative unliquidated obligations at the Accounting Classi-

fication Reference Number level, and 2,659 contracts had negative balances totaling

$408 million. Further, up to 50 percent of the contracts and 70 percent of the modi-

fications electronically transmitted to the Columbus Center through Military Stand-

ard Contract Administration Procedures (MILSCAP) were initially rejected or were
incomplete when DFAS-Columbus received them, and had to be manually reentered.

We recommended that the Director, DFAS, turn off the existing MILSCAP interface,

complete necessary accounting adjustments, and correct errors for the contracts dis-

cussed in the report. The Director, DFAS agreed with the need for better super-

visory and quality assurance reviews and other actions recommended. He partially

agreed with the recommendation to terminate the current MILSCAP interface. We
are pursuing the open issues through the DOD audit resolution process. (Report No.

94-054, March 15, 1994)

Overpayments to Contractors

There was merit to a DOD Hotline complaint involving payments to a contractor

by the Defense Finance and Accounting Service-Columbus Center. Auditors found

invoice verification problems on three contracts with that contractor. Two overpay-

ments totalling $15.9 million were made because of inaccurate computer entries, in-

correct manual adjustments, and errors in posting payments to accounting lines on

contracts. The contractor informed the Government about overpayments, but guid-

ance in effect at the time (late 1993) was to tell the contractor to keep the funds

until the DFAS-Columbus Center could reconcile its records. The policy resulted, in

this case, in the Government incurring costs of about $320,000 in interest paid on

money it was allowing the contractor to have interest-fi'ee for months. The DFAS
attributed part of the problem to a disgruntled employee, but also took several ac-

tions to improve internal controls. Those actions included revising the manual pay-

ment process, which had weaknesses contributing to the largest overpayment. The
number of "manual/manual" payments has dropped significantly. Formal desk oper-

ating procedures were implemented so that contractors are now instructed to return

any overpayment immediately. A Funds Returned by Contractors oversight group

is monitoring implementation of those procedures. (Report No. 94-144, June 20,

1994)

Security of Pay Systems

A series of audits showed lax management controls over the operating systems for

the processing of $130 billion of payments annually by DFAS to DOD personnel,

military retirees and contractors. Any knowledgeable user could improperly access,
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add, modify, or destroy pay and accounting data, and enter erroneous data (acciden-

tally or intentionally) without leaving an audit trail. These audits did not identify

any unauthorized access to pay and accounting data, but fraud and manipulation

of records have been detected through other means. A total of 105 specific rec-

ommendations were made. We recommended that DFAS, the Defense Information

Services Organization (DISO), and the Marine Corps Computer and Telecommuni-

cations Activity (MCCTA) strengthen controls over the use of operating systems and

security software and comply with established security requirements. Nlanagement

concurred with the findings and recommendations. The DOD Comptroller has re-

quested our assistance in a concerted effort to identify security breaches, ensure

compliance with security guidelines, and otherwise address the threats posed to the

systems by hackers andf disgruntled or dishonest employees. The audit results and

other indications of security problems in unclassified DOD computer systems also

have been briefed to the DOD Senior Financial Management Oversight Council. (Re-

ports No. 94-065, March 24, 1994; 93-133, June 30, 1993; 93-002, October 2, 1992;

and 89-058, March 14, 1989)

Management Data Audits

In selected instances where the condition of accounting systems was known to be

so bad that auditing related financial statements for FY 1993 would add no value,

alternative audit approaches were used. Recognizing that a principal goal of the

Chief Financial Officers Act is to ensure that managers receive and report accurate

data, we focused on the validity of data actually being used to manage selected

funds or organizations. We also used this approach for the Defense Logistics Agency

Supply Management Division of the DBOF, in addition to our regular financial

work. Four of the five resultant reports have been issued.

Security Assistance. The Foreign Military Sales (FMS) Trust Fund is used to man-
age and account for the financial resources provided by foreign customers to pay for

purchases of FMS goods and services from the U.S. Government. Foreign customers

are required to make advance payments in amounts that cover contractor and DOD
provider charges. The Deputy for Security Assistance, DFAS-Denver, maintains

subaccounts of the FMS Trust Fund for each foreign customer. The audit indicated

that the Services and DFAS were providing the kinds of critical management data

that the Defense Security Assistance Agency needed to operate and make major fi-

nancial decisions. However, the data were often incomplete or inaccurate. Data used

to account for country balances and to bill countries were subject to high error rates,

and errors were not always corrected in a timely manner. The errors consisted of

data not reported and data inaccurately reported. Material amounts of undistrib-

uted and unmatched disbursements existed in all Military Departments. For exam-

ple, in a recent 10-month period. Navy records showed that 29 percent of contract

payments either contained erroneous data or could not be matched to related obliga-

tions. Those flawed transactions comprised 49 percent of the dollar amount dis-

bursed to contractors. We believe that similar error rates existed in the Army and
Air Force, but the Army and Air Force systems did not identify error rates as well

as the Navy system.
The General Accounting Office and the Inspector General, Department of Defense,

have performed several reviews that addressed DOD problems in accounting for ob-

ligations and disbursements. While these reviews did not separately address FMS,
the same general problems exist for FMS transactions. The organizations, systems

and procedures for recording obligations, paying contractors, and reporting disburse-

ments are the same for FMS and other DOD transactions. A DOD working group

and DFAS are pursuing efforts to identify and systematically correct the problems

of accounting for obligations and disbursements. (Report No. 94-090, April 29, 1994)

Supply. The Defense Logistics Agency Supply Management Division of the De-

fense Business Operations Fund provides supplies and logistics services to DOD
Components and other Government agencies. The Division manages approximately

3.5 million consumable type supply items; and its FY 1993 financial statements re-

ported assets of $14.1 billion, liabilities of $1.2 billion, revenues of $11.8 billion, and

expenses of $15.4 billion. The audit showed the Division had a management infor-

mation system that, except for management data related to unit cost, provided its

managers reliable data to make financial and nonfinancial decisions. Unit cost re-

ports provided to the Division's managers and the Comptroller of the DOD were in-

accurate and untimely. Division and DOD personnel recognized that the unit cost

data were inaccurate and used other sources for this information. However, the re-

ports and the automated system used to generate the reports were not corrected.

The Defense Logistics Agency concurred with all recommendations, except one that

procedures be established to coordinate and reconcile the development of cost data
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used in the surcharge rate charged to customers and the unit cost process. The Di-

rector nonconcurred and stated that there is no direct linkage between unit cost re-

ports and the development of surcharge or cost recovery rates used in the pricing

process. The Comptroller of the DOD generally concurred with the recommenda-
tions. Further comments from the Defense Logistics Agency are pending. (Report

No. 94-128, June 14, 1994)
Finance and Accounting. The Defense Finance and Accounting Service (DFAS)

was estabhshed in 1991. For FY 1993, DFAS had a budget of approximately $1.6

billion. The audit indicated that relevant management data were lacking in the area

of mission accomplishment. Managers at Headquarters, DFAS, were not able to ac-

curately assess overall performance and mission accomplishment with available

data. While managers at Headouarters, DFAS, and the DFAS Centers stated that

Program Appraisal Review (PAR) charts, one of the major performance reporting

mecnanisms for the DFAS Centers, were useful, 40 percent of the managers at

Headquarters, DFAS, stated that the charts provided incomplete or inaccurate criti-

cal performance and financial information needed to operate, evaluate, and make
major financial and nonfinancial decisions. However, improvements to the PAR
charts are planned. Our attempts to verify the accuracy of the data reported on the

PAR charts were unsuccessful, because there was no clear audit trail back to source

documentation.
The FY 1993 DFAS financial statements contained only three performance meas-

urements and those measurements pertained only to military retiree pay. The finan-

cial statements therefore are narrowly focused and do not provide an accurate indi-

cation of DFAS mission accomplishment or the results of operations.

Critical management data were accurate and reliable for making mission-oriented

management decisions, according to managers at the five DFAS Centers; however,
computer-generated reports from the systems were not always available on time and
provided in a usable format. In most instances, the data had to be downloaded to

personal computers and reconfigured to meet management's needs. For example,
data from the Defense Business Management System, DFAS's accounting system,

were used in reports that were untimely and lacked the detail needed at the user
level. Critical management data were available, accurate, reliable, and useful for

controlling funds. Data for the control of capital assets were accurate, useful, reli-

able, and available for assets acquired during and after FY 1993, but not for assets

acquired prior to that date. Expenditures data used to calculate interest payments
were useful, reliable, accurate, and available to managers; however, there were
problems with the data used to track and monitor the interest payments.
The Director, DFAS, agreed with the finding and generally concurred with the

recommendations. He concurred with modifying Program Appraisal Review charts

to measure three areas: resolution of material weaknesses identified by the internal

management control program; progress in reducing operating costs by 50 percent;

and identifying and recouping progress pa3TTjents due from contractors. (Report No.
94-137, June 16, 1994)

Transportation. In April 1987, the Secretary of Defense established the United
States Transportation Command (USTRANSCOM) as a unified command to inte-

grate global air, land, and sea transportation during wartime, and later expanded
its role to include a peacetime mission. As of October 1, 1992, the Comptroller of

the DOD incorporated USTRANSCOM into the Defense Business Operations Fund
(DBOF). In FY 1993, USTRANSCOM reported revenues of $5.2 billion, operating ex-

Benses of $5.5 billion, and a negative net operating result of $341.1 million.

fSTRANSCOM and its components reported assets valued at $1.6 billion and are

authorized a total of 74,000 military and civilian personnel. Of that total, approxi-

mately 25,000 employees support common-user transportation functions; their sala-

ries are funded through the DBOF. The audit indicated that critical management
data needed to compute stabilized billing rates and control physical assets were
available, but not always accurate. In addition, clearly defined data on mission, re-

quirements, and costs were needed to evaluate and make major mission-oriented de-

cisions; these data were not always available, reliable, or useful.

Transportation data needed to move cargo and bill customers were often unavail-

able, unreliable, and inaccurate. Therefore, the information did not satisfy intended
requirements. Shipping activities did not consistently comply with the Military

Standard Transportation and Movement Procedures used by the Military Traffic

Management Command (MTMC) to transport personnel, patients, and cargo. Also,

transportation systems supporting the data did not interface. As a result, MTMC
had to duplicate the efforts of shipping activities in order to ensure the prompt
movement of cargo. Shipping activities did not provide the accurate billing data
needed to properly bill customers for transportation services. As of September 30,

1993, $33.9 million in unbilled accounts receivable for transportation services re-
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mained uncollected and $25.4 million in cargo billings was in a suspense account

and could not be billed.

Data used to measure mission results through unit cost and net operating results

were not reliable. Flying hours used in calculating unit cost were not accurate, and
the DOD Comptroller did not issue timely guidance on calculating the military per-

sonnel costs used in net operating results. As a result, the financial position of the

components was not presented accurately.

The Defense Logistics Agency and Defense Logistics Management Systems Office

agreed with the audit recommendations. The USTRANSCOM concurred with all rec-

ommendations except one. Comments are pending from the Comptroller and the

Services. (Report No. 94-163, June 30, 1994)

ATTACHMENT 2

FY 1993 CFO AUDITS

AUDITED BY IG, DOD AND MILITARY AUDIT ORGANIZATIONS

DBOF RELATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Audit Report

Title organization date Report No.

Defense Business Operation Fund (DBOF) Financial

Statements for FY 1993 DODIG 6/30/94 94-161

Defense Logistics Agency. Selected Accounts on DBOF
Financial Statements for FY 1993 do ...do 94-167

Defense Reutilization and Marketing Service Financial

Statements for FY 1993 do ...do 94-164

Distribution Depots—Defense Logistics Agency. Financial

Statements for FY 1993 do 2/08/94 94-035

Fund Balance witfi Treasury Accounts on DLA Business

Areas—DBOF for FY 1993 do 6/30/94 94-159

Inventory Accounts on DLA Business Areas—DBOF for

FY 1993 do 6/28/94 94-150

Property Plant, and Equipment Accounts on DLA Business

Areas—DBOF for FY 1993 do ...do 94-149

Joint Logistics Systems Center Financial Statements for

FY 1993 do 6/24/94 94-147

Defense Business Operations Fund Army FY 1993
Financial Statements Army 6/30/94 94-470

Defense Business Operations Fund Navy FY 1993
Financial Statements Navy 6/29/94 053-H-94

Fund Balance with Treasury on the Air Force DBOF
FY 1993 Financial Statements Air Force 6/30/94 94068020

Inventory Held for Sale on tfie Air Force DBOF FY 1993
Financial Statements -do -do 94068017

Inventory Not Held for Sale on the Air Force DBOF
FY 1993 Financial Statements do ...do 94068018

Property, Plant, and Equipment on the Air Force DBOF
FY 1993 Financial Statements do ...do 94068019

*An adverse audit opinion is Included in the Consolidated DLA DBOF Report (No. 94-167).

Opinion

Disclaimer

Adverse

Disclaimer

do

Adverse

Disclaimer

..do

Adverse

...do

FY 1993 CFO AUDITS

AUDITED BY IG. DOD AND MILITARY AUDIT ORGANIZATIONS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Audit Report

Title organization date

Pentagon Reservation Maintenance Fund Financial

Statements for FY 1993
Defense Homeowners Assistance Fund Financial

Statements for FY 1993
DOD Education Benefits Fund Financial Statements for

FY 1993
Voluntary Separation Incentive Trust Fund Financial

Statements for FY 1993
National Security Education Trust Fund Financial

Statements for FY 1993
Navy Management Fund FY 1993 Financial Statements ....

United States Naval Academy Museum FY 1993
Financial Statements

United States Naval Academy Gift Fund FY 1993
Financial Statements

Air Force Consolidated Financial Statements for FY 1993 ..

Army Principal and Consolidating Financial Statements

for FY 1993

Report No Opinion

DODIG
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF HELEN T. McCOY

Mr. Chairman, I would like to thank you and the committee for the opportunity

to appear before you today and update you on the Army's progress in implementing
the Chief Financial Officers (CFO) Act.

I would also like to thank Mr. Gene Reardon and his team from the United States

Army Audit Agency. We appreciate the hard work, professionalism, and dedication

during this audit process.

The Army has no illusions as to how much work still needs to be done to meet
the requirements of the CFO Act. However, I am proud to say that the Army has
made progress toward that end. The Army has done more than just talk. We have
taken a number of significant actions, at all levels, to reform the way we account
for those assets entrusted to us. We have taken the initiative to find new ways of

doing things with the tools and resources we have available today.

Army's Commitment

The Army is committed to the implementation of the Chief Financial Officers

(CFO) Act, its principles and intent. I have been the Assistant Secretary of the

Army (Financial Management) for three months and during that time have experi-

enced first hand the effect of the past several years of continuous efforts to imple-

ment the CFO Act. Through both routine and special briefings, I keep the Secretary

of the Army informed of our financial management posture. Secretary West, Under
Secretary Reeder, and I are fully committed to continued financial management im-
provement and sound stewardship of our resources. We are personally engaged with
DoD leaders and those from the other military departments as principal members
of policy and decision making groups that are in place to effect positive change and
improvement in DoD financial management. Secretary West is a principal on the

Senior Financial Management Oversight Council; Under Secretary Reeder is a prin-

cipal on the Oversight Council's Acquisition and Financial Management Panel. This
panel is concentrating its efforts on implementing short term and long term im-

provements to systems, procedures, and practices relating to contractor payments.
And, I serve as a principal on the Defense Business Operations Fund (DBOF) Board
and on the Oversight Council's Financial Management Steering Committee.
The Army's senior leadership has demonstrated its commitment to the Act's im-

plementation and continues to do so through the ongoing efforts of the Senior Level
Steering Group (SLSG) for CFO implementation that was established in 1992.

The SLSG is chaired by my Principal Deputy and is the linchpin in the Army's
CFO implementation and compliance efforts. Its membership is principals from all

functional areas including logistics, engineers, personnel, acquisition, installation

management, the National Guard Bureau and Army Reserves. The Defense Finance
and Accounting Service (DFAS), our accountants, the Army Auditor General and the

Army Inspector General are also members of the SLSG. In addition, as a
"benchmarking" initiative. Army leadership obtained the expert advice and counsel

of The Private Sector Council to help us better understand the business applications

and full implications of financial statement preparation. There are as many as five

corporate executives on our Private Sector Council team at any given time, from
sucn companies as Pacific Telesis, Ameritech, and Marsh and McLennan. The team
is an advisor to ovu- SLSG and meets with us quarterly to analyze audit findings

and evaluate corrective actions directed at full implementation of the CFO Act. The
team also attends our quarterly SLSG meetings. The Council's assistance has been
invaluable and we appreciate the time and effort they provide us free of charge. The
Army also hired one of the "Big Six" accounting firms. These consultants have as-

sisted and augmented our efforts to address detailed accounting issues. The Army
has learned a great deal from the CFO experience over the last three years.

Due in part to the results of the FY 91 CFO Act audit, we have restructured the

Army's management control process. I believe that strong management controls are
essential to effective operations and the backbone of financial stewardship. The re-

structured process, designed in advance to comply with the revised Office of Man-
agement and Budget (0MB) Circular A-123, Internal Control Systems, places more
accountability and ownership at operating levels while giving commanders and man-
agers some flexibility in instituting and evaluating their management controls. Al-

though we previously had in place what the General Accounting Office (GAO) con-
sidered a sound management control framework, it was difficult to implement in the
field and was perceived to be both a labor and paper intensive exercise. These per-
ceptions along with rightsizing took their toll on the effectiveness of the entire proc-

ess.
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Army's Progress

The Army's progress in meeting the intent of the CFO Act since appearing before
this Committee last year has been significant. We have been involved in a number
of efforts, all of whicn could be described as "getting back to basics." These are the
disciplined actions that can and must be done in the short term, and on a continu-
ing basis, to assure fiscal responsibility and sound financial management while we
await the development and implementation of integrated functional and financial

management systems. The "basics" include performing joint financial execution rec-

onciliations between functional and financial systems. In the last 15 months these
efforts have resulted in a 98 percent reduction, from $1.6 billion to $32 million, in

unliquidated obligations in the Army's "Merged" account. As of May 31, 1994, the
Army had reduced total unmatched disbursements (pajments not matched to their

corresponding obligations) by $460 million (from $2.03 billion to $1.57 billion). Un-
matched disbursements older than 61 days have been reduced by more than 62 per-

cent fi"om $338 million to $129 million since December 1993 (we consider 60 days
and less current workload). More than 92 percent of the Army's unmatched dis-

bursements ($1.44 billion) are now less than 61 days old. We are working to lower
the 60-day current workload standard. All of these efforts are continuing as a mat-
ter of day to day financial management practice.

The Army has also been actively engaged in developing the capability to interface

functional and financial systems. Last fall, my staff initiated discussion of matters
of mutual concern between the Army logistics community and the Defense Finance
and Accounting Service (DFAS). We are now scheduled to implement an automated
interface in March 1995 between the Army's functional Standard Property Book
System-Redesign and DFAS' Standard Financial Installation Accounting System
that serves the Army. This will provide more timely and accurate asset information
exchange between custodial accounts and the general ledger accounts from which
the Army's financial statements must be derived. While we all wait for fielding of
systems developed by DoD's Financial Management Reform, we must continue to

build interim bridges between the functional and financial communities.
Current systems are a reflection of many years of vertical "stovepipe" manage-

ment, developed to assist fimctional managers in their day-to-day operations. Not
only do all functional systems not communicate with all financial systems, but com-
munication between functional and financial managers has not always been as effec-

tive as it should have been over the years. The Army's efforts to implement the CFO
Act have begun the change from a vertical stovepipe management disposition to one
that is horizontal and integrated. The real value of our efforts to implement the
CFO Act has been the analysis and modification of functional processes to improve
them and meet financial management requirements. This is real progress.
Another example of progress and the integrated management philosophy can be

found in the work being done by the Army and the DFAS to create interfaces be-

tween Army military personnel systems and DoD payroll systems that pay soldiers.

Automation experts from the Army's personnel and DFAS payroll communities have
worked aggressively over the last year to create automated interfaces for an initially

identified 31 "pay events." Work on 14 of these pay events is scheduled to be com-
pleted by the end of December 1994, with eight events on-line this month. The re-

maining 17 of this initial group of pay events are being reprioritized before estab-
lishing firm completion dates. Sixteen additional pay events have been identified by
DFAS and the Army Audit Agency; each will be evaluated and, where feasible, auto-
mated interfaces will be designed and implemented. This is another example of an
interim fix that the Army, working with DFAS, can effect in the absence of trans-
action-driven automated accounting systems.
The development of objective performance measures is yet another area where we

have made some progress since our inclusion as a CFO pilot project member. In our
first (FY 1991) Annual Financial Report, the performance measures used were the
traditional ones of program and budget execution. The GAO reported that the
Army's measures ".

. . were not useful in assessing military capability . . . and did
not demonstrate whether program goals or objectives were being achieved." In our
second year of CFO implementation we revised our approach to focus the perform-
ance measures on the Army's primary mission—Total Force Readiness. We defined
total force readiness in terms of six functional elements—force structure, manning,
equipping, training, mobilizing and deploying, and sustaining. These six "functional

elements" of readiness became the framework for Army performance measures. The
Army established a multi-disciplinary team of functional managers to focus on cor-

porate. Army level outcomes. This effort resulted in the inclusion of prototype meas-
ures in four areas—manning, equipping, training, and sustaining—in our FY 1992
Annual Management Report. However, no performance data was provided for the



80

four measures. GAO stated that the Army had taken steps to develop performance
measures assessing its abihty to fulfill its missions. For FY 1993 we increased our
focus on outputs and outcomes anticipating and planning for the requirements of
the Government Performance and Results Act (GPRA). We established a consistent

format for an integrated Annual Management Report—functional missions, goals

and objectives, significant events, and performance measures. The Army's FY 1993
Annual Management Report and Financial Statements included 32 program per-

formance measures and performance data for 13 of those measures. The Army Audit
Agency stated that, "The Army made significant progress between the FY 92 and
FY 93 financial reports on the program performance measures and data reported."

While progress has been good, we also agree with the Agency's audit opinion that
"much remains to be done . . .

."

Progress can only be achieved through proactive leadership. I would like to cite

recognition of our progress by the Comptroller General of the United States, in testi-

mony to this Committee on April 12, 1994, noting, in part, that, "The Department
of the Army has demonstrated proactive involvement from top management officials

in resolving financial problems disclosed by the audits." The Army's proactive in-

volvement will continue.

Audit Opinion op the Army's FY 93 Financial Statements

Army Audit Agency cited the Army's Senior Level Steering Group as one of our
most noteworthy initiatives, but they were less than satisfied with the group's move-
ment away from audit findings toward broader issues. We agree that we need to

move to broader issues but, ensuring that the audit issues are resolved is key to

the Act's implementation and requires significant work. For example, the GAO
raised twenty-two audit issues to the Army in its two audits of Army financial state-

ments that are still being tracked. Our first priority was to address these issues,

meet them head on, and initiate appropriate corrective actions. Work on and over-

sight of all these issues continue under the auspices of our SLSG. No issue is con-

sidered closed until it is independently validated by the Army Audit Agency. This
is and will remain a diligent and disciplined process. Over the past 15 months, we
have begun turning our attention toward the future, beyond the audit issues, and
to full implementation of the CFO Act. We have taken a measured approach; having
many issues to tackle, we had to prioritize actions, addressing the most important
and feasible first. In my view, this demonstrates resource realities and good stew-
ardship principles, not lack of commitment. We are at a juncture where we can now
turn our attention to broader issues.

The Army Audit Agency cited six general reasons why it could not express an
audit opinion on the Army's financial statements. Three of the reasons have been
the Army's responsibility to resolve—record retention in the Standard Operations
and Maintenance Army Research and Development System (SOMARDS), the imple-
mentation of recommendations from our two prior financial statement audits, and
fixes to the Corps of Engineers' accounting system for Civil Works. I will address
each of these areas:

SOMARDS: The records retention problem was first identified by the GAO in

their audit of the FY 1992 financial statements. Corrective action was initiated upon
notification of the problem in October 1993. All actions were not completed in time
to capture and retain all FY 1993 data. Ownership of SOMARDS passed from the
Army to DFAS in FY 1993 and work with DFAS and The Army Audit Agency re-

sulted in a permanent system fix to the record retention problem. This reason for

"no opinion" no longer exists in FY 1994.
Implementation of Prior Audit Recommendations: As I mentioned in my discussion

of the operations of our Senior Level Steering Group, we track all audit issues and
progress toward their resolution and will not close out any issue until it has been
validated by the Army Audit Agency. The model we use for tracking the progress
on audit issues classifies their status as "Under Control"—^All corrective actions
taken, awaiting validation; "Minor Problem"—Required system changes or policy or
procedural guidance to resolve the issues have been formulated and issued, field im-
plementation in process, incomplete, and not validated; "Major Problem"—Required
system changes or policy or procedural guidance to resolve the issues has not been
formulated, resources required to resolve the issues have not been provided, or
planned corrective actions are not feasible and alternative fixes need to be devel-
oped. Using this model, work on all open audit issues continues. To date, we con-
sider six "under control," eleven are "minor problems," and five are "major prob-
lems." The audit recommendations from the FY 1993 financial statement audit will
be tracked and controlled in the same manner.
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Corps of Engineers' Accounting System for Civil Works: The Army Audit Agency
recognized the Corps' initiative, as well as their problems, in being the first Army
Major Command to develop financial statements. The Corps recognized the short-

comings of their existing financial management system several years ago and initi-

ated the development of the Corps of Engineers Financial Management System
(CEFMS) to correct those shortcomings. CEFMS is being deployed to selected dis-

tricts for testing prior to a decision for Corps-wide implementation. Testing is sched-
uled for completion in FY 1996.
Implementation of audit recommendations and compliance with corrective actions,

policies, and practices directed to our field activities are very important to us and
we take them very seriously. Compliance has been a problem in some areas. While
definitions and terminology differences between functional and financial elements
have been major causes of delays in corrective action implementation, Army leader-

ship at all levels has continued to direct and emphasize compUance. We will con-

tinue to do so.

I want to repeat what I stated earlier. We are a long way fi"om a "clean" financial

audit opinion. We continue to face significant challenges in developing effective pro-

cedures to financially report in-transit items, real property, and government fur-

nished property. Army senior leadership continues to stress accountability, all the

way down to tne unit level. Physical accountability is under control; and in those
instances where something is lost, the person responsible pays for it.

Although unresolved problems appear to paint a less than positive picture of

Army financial accountability, I assure you that is not the case. Both we and DFAS
are working hard to identify and correct deficiencies in financial operations and con-

trols. We have made good progress during the course of our participation in the pilot

project and will continue to take a proactive approach. I am fully committed to im-
proving financial management and stewardship of Army resources.

Our Challenge

A primary challenge is the continuing decrease in resources. As the Army contin-

ues to rightsize we must perform our missions in the most cost effective and effi-

cient manner possible. ReaUty dictates that investments in improvements to finan-

cial management and related systems are among many competing priorities as the

Army strives to provide the Nation with a trained and ready force. Army leadership

believes the CFO Act is important and that more accurate and timely financial man-
agement information is vital in making informed decisions. The Act is a critical ele-

ment in the Army's efforts to improve stewardship of scarce resources. We are en-

thusiastically working to implement the CFO Act not only because it is the law, but
also for the simple reason that every single dollar is important in today's Army.
The CFO Act has caused us to evaluate and address change in our processes, both

functional and financial. The Act has also caused us to question and begin to change
our traditional management perspective from one of vertical "stovepipes" to one that

is integrated and cross-functional. Army functional and financial professionals are

working together now more than ever before on integrating operational processes

and systems development. This is progress.

PREPARED STATEMENT OF ROBERT F. HALE

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee:
I am pleased to have this opportunity to testify regarding Air Force efforts to meet

our responsibilities under the Chief Financial Officers (CFO) Act of 1990. When I

assumed this position about three months ago, the Secretary of the Air Force em-
phasized the high priority she placed on financial management reform. Therefore,

moving toward full compliance with the CFO Act and related legislation is an im-

portant goal for me.
I realize that, in order to move toward compliance, the Air Force must have the

assistance and cooperation of agencies such as the Office of the Secretary of Defense

(OSD), the Defense Finance and Accounting Service (DFAS), and the Air Force

Audit Agency (AFAA). Therefore, I am glad to appear jointly with representatives

of OSD and the AFAA.
There is no lack of significant problems confi-onting the Air Force as we seek re-

form of our financial management process. In reports now before you, the Air Force

Audit Agency declined to express an opinion on the reliability of the Air Force's CFO
statements for FY 93. The audits of those Air Force statements, along with other

related audits, produced 111 recommendations calling for changes in systems, poli-

cies, and compliance activities in order to improve my service's financial manage-
ment process. Given the nature of those recommendations, it is certain that this
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year's Air Force Statement of Assurance required by the Federal Managers' Finan-
cial Integrity Act (FMFIA) will acknowledge material weaknesses in the Air Force's

financial management systems.
But I am not here today to dwell on problems. Rather I want to discuss ongoing

efforts to correct these problems as well as some additional steps that I plan to im-
plement. I will focus first on support for DoD plans to improve financial manage-
ment systems. Then I will address efforts to insure compliance with regulations and
policies.

Supporting DOD Plans to Improve Systems

In reviewing the Air Force's FY 93 statements, the Air Force auditor encountered
several problems that stem from antiquated and inadequate financial management
systems. For example, Air Force systems, like those of the other services, often lack
a standard general ledger that is needed for full compliance with the CFO Act.

Many of the systems also are not transaction-driven—that is, all amounts entered
into the accounting systems are not supported with transactions provided by other
systems.
The Defense Department has formulated a plan for dealing with system problems.

The plan is complex; but in simplified terms DoD will first reduce the number of

finance and accounting systems by selecting a few candidates for improvement. The
choice will be based on detailed functional specifications designed to insure that can-
didate systems are the best available. During this selection process, off-the-shelf sys-

tems from outside DoD will be considered. Once chosen, the systems that are se-

lected (referred to as "interim migratory" systems) will be improved in various ways.
It will take years, but eventually this plan should resolve many of the fundamental
problems that plague us today.

ongoing activities

The Air Force supports these DoD efforts by participating actively on numerous
review groups. These groups are designed to insure that the services participate in

the formulation of DoD financial management policies. The Secretary of the Air
Force personally serves on the Senior Financial Management Oversight Council,
which nas met nearly every month since being formed in July of 1993. This group
has reviewed the overall DoD plan for reforming financial management and has also

focused on areas of special concern such as antideficiency violations and unmatched
disbursements. I am a member of the Corporate Board for the Defense Business Op-
erations Fund (DBOF), which has met as often as twice a month over the last year
to review DBOF policy. I also serve on the Financial Management Steering Commit-
tee, a recently-revived group which reviews pohcies outside the DBOF area. Finally,
members of my staff and other Air Force staffs serve on numerous working-level
committees that focus on issues such as reducing unmatched disbursements and
cost reduction.

Selection of the interim migratory systems is currently one of the key issues being
debated by these review groups, and the Air Force is participating actively in that
debate. The Air Force offered comments on the functional specifications that will

provide the basis for the choice. We are also supporting the Denver Center of DFAS,
which is developing the Air Force portion of the DoD Five Year Plan for Financial
Management. We have sent people from Air Force headquarters on several occasions
to review the plan. I personally visited the DFAS Denver Center last month and
received briefings on that plan and many other financial management issues.

In addition to selecting migratory systems, DoD needs to clarify some of its poli-

cies regarding financial management. Again, the Air Force is participating actively.

For example, my principal deputy, Mr. John Beach, chairs the Special Committee
for the Oversight of Policy Actions, a committee chartered to propose changes in

DBOF policies. The Special Committee has dealt with issues such as accounting for

costs associated with mobihzation and the pricing of military personnel. None of

these discussions will make the evening news, but they must take place if we are
to have a consistent set of policies for DBOF.
The Air Force also is assisting in resolving some of the particularly vexing finan-

cial management problems, such as unmatched disbursements. Unmatched dis-

bursements occur when funds are paid out or disbursed, but the disbursements can-
not immediately be matched to a valid, funded obligation that was previously estab-
lished. Unmatched disbursements occur for many reasons, including efforts to pay
contractors promptly from widely dispersed offices and the lack of interconnection
between our financial and contracting systems. Eventually, DoD needs better sys-
tems to minimize this problem. In the interim, though, efforts are being made to
reduce the incident and volume of unmatched disbursements.

i
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The Air Force has been actively involved in supporting those efforts. For example,
Air Force personnel are serving on the Acquisition and Financial Management
Working Group established by DoD. This group will recommend long-term solutions

to the Air Force portion of this problem. In addition, people in the Air Force Mate-
riel Command, which manages most of our contracts, are working with DFAS to re-

duce unmatched disbursements. The combined efforts of Air Force and DFAS per-

sonnel have led to substantial reductions in unmatched disbursements and in other

related problems, such as negative unUquidated obligations.

ADDITIONAL EFFORTS

I believe that the DoD plan for improving financial management systems is a

good, aggressive plan that is being fully supported by the Air Force. There are, how-
ever, two areas where I think some additional Air Force efforts are warranted.

We need to increase our efforts to insure that other functional managers are in-

formed of changes that will affect them. Finance and accounting systems do not

exist in a vacuum. Much of the required financial data resides in systems main-
tained by managers of other functions, such as logistics, acquisition, and personnel.

Senior managers in these areas must be aware of upcoming changes in financial

systems that will affect them, and we in the financial community must know of

changes in other functional areas that will affect us.

I am not convinced that we are communicating sufficiently on these issues, espe-

cially at senior levels. To insure adequate communication, I plan to reactivate an
existing Implementation Review Council comprised of senior managers in various

functional areas. By discussing upcoming changes in financial systems with them,

and seeking their input regarding changes that will affect the financial commimity,
we can improve these vital communications.

I also believe that, in selected cases, we should foster competition among provid-

ers of finance and accounting services. DFAS will remain responsible for providing

the Air Force and the other services with most of its finance and accounting infor-

mation, and we need to work closely with them to insure that they succeed. But
I think it is sometimes useful to consider alternative sources in order to be sure we
get all needed services at minimum cost.

To that end, I have encouraged experimentation with an alternative system for

processing travel requests and payments. This system, which is being developed

under the auspices of the Defense Performance Review, will be tested within the

Air Force District of Washington and at an operating Air Force base. I also believe

that we should investigate using other federal agencies or private companies to pro-

vide some of our finance and accounting services.

INSURNG Compliance With Poucees and Regulations

Better systems for finance and accounting, and improvements in policy, will help

only if we insure that our people can use the systems properly and comply with the

policies. As with systems, there is room for improvement in this area. Of the 111

recommendations made by auditors during FY 93 audits, 87 or about 80% suggest

improvements in policies and compliance. Some of these improvements require ac-

tions by DFAS, but Air Force efforts are also needed.

ONGOING efforts

Following up audit recommendations is one key way of insuring compliance. To

provide for systematic follow up, the Air Force and DFAS established the Joint Plan

to Improve Accounting Operations. This plan, which replaced previous Air Force

plans, was established in March 1993 to track all audit recommendations involvmg

financial management. Under the plan, actions necessary to resolve each audit rec-

ommendation are determined and an office of primary responsibility is identified.

Once necessary actions are accomplished, and the case is closed, the Air Force or

DFAS may request a follow-up audit to verify compliance. At least six such follow-

up audits have been requested within the past six months.

Guided by the Joint Plan, considerable effort has been expended to resolve audit

recommendations. For example, past audits suggested that many Air Force regula-

tions and procedures were not well understood. This shortcoming led both the DFAS
and the Air Force to either issue new guidance or clarify existing guidance to field

activities. Numerous messages were issued by the Air Force Logistics community,

Civil Engineer activities, and the Denver Center of DFAS. These messages directed

responsible offices to initiate the required corrective action. Audits also identified

deficiencies in the areas of general ledger controls and reconciliations. For example,

personnel were not validating certain subsidiary records by comparing them with
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amounts recorded in the general ledger accounts. To correct these problems, exten-

sive training was initiated. At least three conferences have been held to insure that

the Defense Accounting Officers and the Financial Services Officers are aware of

their responsibilities in insuring accurate data flows from base accounting offices to

headquarters. The conferences dealt, for example, with the correct processes and
procedures to be followed at field activities to insure that appropriate reconciliations

are accomplished.
Over time these and many other simileir efforts have resulted in successful re-

sponses to a number of audit recommendations. Of the 87 recommendations related

to policy and compliance that were rendered during the FY 93 audits, only 13%
have been resolved so far. But 60% of the 153 recommendations arising from the
FY 92 audits have been resolved. Work continues on the others.

Audit findings also play an important part in the Air Force program that responds
to the Federal Managers Financial Integrity Act or FMFIA. The Secretary's Annual
Statement of Assurance, which is required by FMFIA and identifies major weak-
nesses in internal controls, is often based on audit findings. The Air Force also has
its own program for identifying and correcting problems associated with FMFIA con-

trols. This Internal Management Control program has been revitalized in recent
years. We have issued clear instructional publications, new forms and formats, and
comprehensive training exercises, which include annual conferences and presen-
tations to major command staffs. These actions have improved awareness of internal

controls from senior management down to line personnel. The successful execution
of the internal management control program significantly enhances compliance and
has resulted in the identification and reporting of 104 material internal control

weaknesses, 80% of which have been corrected.

In addition to responding to audits, the Air Force and DFAS have initiated var-

ious training and assistance programs aimed at improving financial management
practices. For example, the Air Force Material Command employs staff assistance
teams for this purpose. These teams identify processes that need improvement and
provide training on how to do it. The Air Force also uses it quarterly magazine, The
Air Force Comptroller, as a training vehicle. In the last few years, articles in the
magazine have provided information on topics such as the Defense Business Oper-
ations Fund, functions of combat disbursing teams, and the Internal Management
Control program. In addition, DFAS conducts training and provides oversight,

through its Independent Operational Review Program. Under this program, teams
visit accounting offices to insure that regulations and procedures are being followed.

The Air Force is devoting particular attention to selected problems, such as the
timeliness of the processing of potential antideficiency investigations. As of March
31, 1994, the Air Force was investigating 80 cases that could result in antideficiency

violations. Of these 80 cases, 27 were initiated in FY 92. The Air Force needs to

speed up the processing of these potential violations without compromising the thor-

oughness and fairness of the investigations. To that end, the Secretary has sent two
messages over the last six months to the major commands directing that they pay
additional attention to processing potential violations, particularly the older ones.

. I have met with my own people, and with headquarters legal personnel, in an effort

to streamline and expedite the processing. I will continue those efforts in coming
months.
Air Force and DFAS efforts at improving compliance have borne some fruit. In

its most recent audit of Air Force financial statements, the Air Force Audit Agency
concluded that "Internal controls were generally adequate to safeguard assets."

Audit reports also identified fewer recommendations this year than last.

ADDITIONAL EFFORTS

Nevertheless, recent audits still identify a number of weaknesses in internal con-
trols, including some that are very important. For example, the auditors emphasized
that the Air Force does not have adequate inventory controls for some of its comput-
ers and needs to do a better job of certain types of reconciliations. These and other
audit findings are likely to result in the identification of some material weaknesses
in this year's Statement of Assurance required by FMFIA.
Further improvement is required, and that means the Air Force must sustain the

ongoing efforts that I just discussed. Also, I believe that several additional initia-

tives are appropriate.
The Air Force should identify a few key problems related to compliance and policy

and then focus the attention of senior management on them. Identifying key prob-
lems will require pooling the judgments of the Air Force auditor along with the
opinions of the major commands and senior managers in various functional areas.
Focusing the attention of senior managers on the key issues will require a sustained
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effort to inform them about problems and help them monitor progress. I intend to
use the Implementation Review Council, a group comprised of senior managers from
various functional areas, to pursue both these goals.

We also need to seek ways, within our limited resources, to assist our field com-
manders in training and encouraging people to comply with financial management
regulations. Expanded use of articles in the quarterly comptroller magazine is one
vehicle. Asking headquarters personnel to raise financial management issues during
routine trips to major commands is another. I have tasked my stafF to continue to

look for ways to increase awareness of these issues.

I also believe that the Air Force needs to hear more from outsiders about our past
progress and future approaches to improving financial management. I recently met
with the Comptroller General and his staff to talk about potential improvements.
That meeting generated a number of useful suggestions, including the idea of seek-
ing more outside advice. I have tasked my staff to investigate how to put this sug-
gestion into effect.

Conclusion

It has been said that progress is what happens when impossibility yields to neces-
sity. Considering the formidable problems we face, successful reform of financial
management systems sometimes appears to be impossible. But financial manage-
ment reform is a necessity.

It is a necessity if we are to comply fiiUy with laws like the CFO Act, and that
is our goal. But it is also a necessity if DoD is to achieve much-needed improve-
ments in its management credibility. In a poll done for the Packard Commission in

1986, the American public suggested that 45% of all defense spending goes for waste
and fraud; and I do not think opinions have changed much since then. The public
apparently trusts DoD to win wars, but not to be a steward of its resources. Over
the long run, that lack of trust could undermine our ability to garner the resources
necessary to provide needed national security.

While there are a number of causes for this lack of trust, highly visible problems
in financial management—such as accounts in the red and excess pajmients to con-

tractors—are surely among them. I believe, therefore, that reform of financial man-
agement systems represents an important step toward restoring the confidence of
the American people in our ability to manage their money.

PREPARED STATEMENT OF RICHARD F. KEEVEY

Mr. Chairman, and members of the Committee, thank you for the opportunity to

appear before you today to discuss the Department's financial management oper-

ations. Mr. Chairman, your invitation to address the Committee at this hearing
asked that the Department comment on the results of the fiscal year 1993 audits

of the Department's financial statements and, in particular, the financial statements
of the Defense Business Operations Fund. Additionally, your invitation requested
that the Department address the performance of the Defense Finance and Account-
ing Service in preparing financial statements. Thirdly, your invitation offered the
Department an opportunity to apprise the Committee of the progress that the De-
partment is making in improving its financial management operations. I appreciate
the opportunity to discuss these topics with you, and the other members of this

Committee.
Over the past few years, this Committee has heard much about the Department's

financial management problems. These have included billions of dollars in disburse-

ments not matched to specific contract line items, millions of dollars overpaid to De-
fense contractors, and the issuance of paychecks to soldiers after their discharge

from the Military Service. I am not going to repeat, or focus my discussion on, those
problems. Instead, I want to focus on the agenda that the Department has estab-

lished, and the journey on which it has embarked, to eliminate past deficiencies that

led to reported financial management problems. However, before I do that, and con-

sistent with your request, let me briefly address the results of the fiscal year 1993
audits of the Department's financial statements and also comment on the Defense
Finance and Accounting Service's preparation of financial statements.

Fiscal Year 1993 Audits of Financl^l Statements

The true benefit to be derived by the Department from the preparation of audited
financial statements is the impact that it nas on the underlying financial manage-
ment information maintained by the Department, and the discipline that it intro-

duces into financial management systems and practices. In their aggregate form, the
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Department's audited financial statements are not used by the Department for deci-

sion making purposes. Rather, they reflect the quaUty of the financial information
used to prepare tne statements.
Past audits of the Department's financial statements, and the underlying financial

systems and operations that produce those statements, confirmed that the Depart-
ment's financial management systems were not designed to generate auditable fi-

nancial statements, and demonstrated that widespread diversions fi-om generally ac-

cepted accounting principles and DoD policy exist in many of the Department's orga-
nizations. The General Accounting Office, and the Department's own audit commu-
nity, have reported on inadequate internal controls and audit trails. Additionally,
the Department's managers have surfaced numerous financial system problems.
Some of the more significant deficiencies include:

• The use of a variety of nonintegrated data bases. These separate data bases

f)reclude the easy or reliable integration of information ft-om other (non-
inancial) functional areas—such as personnel, acquisition and logistics—with
the Department's finance and accounting systems.

• Current finance and accounting systems often are not sufficiently flexible to

rapidly respond to changing customer bases, legislative changes, contingency
operations, management initiatives, requirements fi'om other government
central agencies, or other changes.

• Finance and accounting systems often do not include automated indicators

that measure, or are linked to, costs, performance measurements, or other
output measurements.

• Finance and accounting systems lack a single standard transaction-driven
general ledger—an essential ingredient for sound reliable financial reports.

Unfortunately, the results of the audits of the Department's financial statements
for fiscal year 1993, including the Defense Business Operations Fund, are similar

to the results of the fiscal year 1992 audits. The Inspector General for the second
year has issued a Disclaimer of Opinion for the Defense Business Operations Fund
based on a conclusion that inadequate internal controls and undocumented audit
trails have contributed to unreliable financial data and exacerbated significant pro-

cedural and systemic deficiencies. Weaknesses that contributed to that Disclaimer
of Opinion include the Department's difficulties with:

• verifying and reconciling cash,
• valuing and reconciling physical inventories to financial account balances
• accurately reporting the value of property, plant and equipment, and
• reporting amounts in a consistent and timely manner.

Given the lead time required to fix problems previously identified, it should come
as no surprise that the fiscal year 1993 audits found that the Department again
failed to pass muster in most funds, including the Defense Business Operations
Fund. This is due largely, but not entirely, to long-standing systems problems. The
continuing system problems in the Defense Business Operations Fund, and in other

accounts, remain a serious challenge to the Department—and realistically will re-

quire a number of years to correct.

The audit findings correctly point out the need to press forward aggressively with
a comprehensive reform of the Department's financial management process. How-
ever, these audits also have shown that some actions, short of substantive system
changes, can be taken to improve operations. Progress has been made in addressing
the resolution of nonsystematic prolblems. But more needs to be done. Additionally,

many actions either are planned or ongoing to redress current system deficiencies.

I will address both types of efforts in more detail later.

The Defense Finance and Accounting Service as Preparer of Financial
Statements

The Defense Finance and Accounting Service is responsible for the preparation of

the Department's Chief Financial Officer financial statements. The annual Form
and Content Guidance issued by the Office of Management and Budget is one of the

key documents that governs the preparation of the financial statements. In addition,

the Department issues its internal Form and Content Guidance for preparation of

the financial statements. As evidenced by these annual issuances, the preparation

of the financial statements has been a learning experience from which the Form and
Content requirements are continuing to evolve.

The Defense Finance and Accounting Service has had to deal with these changing
requirements in addition to the complexities associated with each of the Military

Services and Defense Agencies. As noted in various audit reports, and stated earlier,

the primary impediments to the preparation of adequate financial statements are
various long-standing deficiencies in the Department's financial systems, and the
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lack of adequate interfaces/integration among financial systems and between finan-

cial and various nonfinancial systems. Until those system deficiencies are corrected,

and more effective interfaces or integration of systems is established, the Depart-

ment will be imable to present financial statements that will satisfactorily pass

audit. This situation will exist without regard to the DoD organization(s) preparing

required financial statements.
Although, for the reasons stated above, the Defense Finance and Accounting Serv-

ice has experienced some difficulties in preparing audited financial statements, the

Department believes that significant improvements are being made each year in the

preparation of such financial statements. Further, the Department believes that

there are benefits to having one single organization—rather than multiple organiza-

tions—prepare audited financial statements. Benefits of using the Defense Finance
and Accounting Service (DFAS) to prepare required audited financial statements in-

clude:
• Greater familiarity with, and ready access to, financial information encom-

passed within the statements, as the DFAS maintains such data throughout the

fiscal year, prepares various financial reports throughout the year, and prepares

numerous other year-end financial reports.

• Increased assurance of consistency in the application of Form and Content
Guidance, and associated procedures, in the preparation of financial statements

for each of the Components of the Department.
• More widespread understanding and application of lessons learned during

the preparation of financial statements for one Component in the preparation

of financial statements for other DoD Components.
• A broad base of personnel, with increased skills and experience regarding

the preparation and interpretation of financial statements, who are available to

assist various DoD organizations in matters involving audited financial state-

ments (versus the need for multiple DoD organizations to duplicate and main-
tain a staff capable of addressing such issues).

Commitment to Reform

The correction of deficiencies in the Department's financial operations requires

the continued involvement of the Department's senior leaders—both those directly

within, as well as those outside, the immediate DoD financial management commu-
nity. It also requires the support, and patience, of the Congress—this Committee in

particular. This is essential to implement and execute a sound financial manage-
ment strategy as envisioned by the Chief Financial Officers Act; and to institutional-

ize the senior leadership's involvement in regular oversight of the needed efforts.

Reform of the Department's financial management operations is a major concern

of the Secretary and the Deputy Secretary of Defense, as well as the Department's
other most senior leaders. All of these officials recognize that comprehensive finan-

cial management reform is absolutely essential to assure America's future military

strength. It is understood that the Department can accept nothing less than stream-

lined and highly effective financial management operations that provide accurate,

timely, and reliable financial information.

Financial management reform is a high priority of the Department for a number
of reasons. First, the Department recognizes that it has serious problems that, quite

frankly, are unacceptable. Second, the Department wants, and needs, financial in-

formation that is available in a more timely manner, and is more accurate and reli-

able. Third, financial management reform should yield long-term savings, savings

which can be applied to sustain military readiness. And fourth, the Depeutment
finds itself embarrassed in having to respond to a rising chorus of criticism about
current deficiencies. The Department must demonstrate to the Congress and the

American people that it is a trusted steward of resources provided to it.

Mr. Chairman, the reform agenda that the Department has established for itself

mirrors the goals of this Committee, and the Congress, in enacting the Chief Finan-

cial Officers Act (CFO) of 1990, which created Chief Financial Officers in 23 Execu-

tive Departments and Agencies—including the Department of Defense. The CFO Act
has helped the Department to identify and better focus on specific deficiencies, and
define the standards by which progress to correct such deficiencies may be meas-
ured. The Department's plans for financial management reform include meeting the

requirements of the CFO Act—and more. While compliance with the Act—and other

statutory requirements^s a motivation for reform, the Department's goals reach

beyond requirements specified in the Act.
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Ongoing Initiatives and Successes

Let me now turn to 14 of the initiatives that the Department has underway to

achieve its goals.

1. Establishment of the Senior Financial Management Oversight Council.

This Council has been estabUshed to address existing and emerging financial

management weaknesses and deficiencies, to approve plans for proactive solutions

to financial management weaknesses and deficiencies, to assign responsibility for

correcting financial management problems, and to monitor progress in reforming the
Department's financial management. The Council, which meets on a regular basis,

generally monthly, is chaired by the Deputy Secretary of Defense and includes the
Secretaries of the Military Departments, the Vice Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of

Staff, the Under Secretary of Defense (Acquisition and Technology), the DoD Comp-
troller (Executive Secretary), the Chief Financial Officer, the DoD General Counsel,
the Assistant Secretary of Defense (Command, Control, Communications & Intel-

ligence) and the Director of the Defense Performance Review. The Inspector Gen-
eral, in order to avoid a conflict of interest, is not a member of the Council, but
serves as an observer and supports the Council. The Director, Defense Finance and
Accounting Service also attends the Council meetings. Based on the subject matter
being addressed at a particular Coimcil meeting, other senior officials also may be
invited to attend Council meetings.

In short, the Council provides the necessary fi-amework and clout to focus atten-

tion on problem areas, and to exert pressure to make things happen.

2. Revitalization of Efforts to Address Antideficiency Act Violations.

We have endorsed an initiative to renew emphasis on compliance with the

Antideficiency Act, and to be more proactive when potential violations of the

Antideficiency Act are discovered. This mitiative includes a reissuance of the under-
lying directive to strengthen procedures for dealing with potential or actual viola-

tions. This reissuance will address the need to (1) establish minimum training re-

quirements and other qualifications for personnel conducting investigations, (2) es-

tablish guidelines regarding the time fi-ames for conducting investigations, (3) have
independent investigating officers, and (4) involve senior officials throughout the
process.

3. Establishment ofNew Policies to Stop Expenditures for Accounts in a Deficit Posi-

tion.

On March 31, 1994, the Comptroller of the Department of Defense issued explicit

guidance to cease the disbursement of funds when such disbursements would be in

excess of available balances. The former practice of continuing disbursements under
such conditions was inconsistent with the provisions of the Antideficiency Act and
violated minimum standards of sound financial management.
The Comptroller, DoD, advised DoD Component heads that:

• If disbursements exceed obligations and the appropriation manager does

not have sufficient unobligated balances available, payments will be stopped im-

mediately until the condition has been corrected.
• If disbursements exceed obligations and the appropriation manager or fund

holder has sufficient unobligated balances available, an obligation will be re-

quired to cover such disbursements if the condition (disbursements in excess of

obligations) is not corrected.

Furthermore, we are exploring the feasibility of requiring disbursing officers to

first determine if there are funds in the appropriation account, as well as unpaid
amounts against the specific obligation, before a disbursement is made. This is a

fundamental principle in most systems but has not been the normal practice within

the Department.

4. Implementation of Computer Security Initiatives.

Recently the Department of Defense Inspector General identified lax security pro-

cedures at Financial Data Processing Installations. The audits also identified broad-

based vulnerability of computer networks to intrusion. A revised program has been
established to enforce employee compliance with existing security procedures. Also,

existing policies and procedures will be revised and updated to eliminate ambigu-
ities and reflect current state of the art operating procedures. There will be renewed
emphasis on strengthening countermeasure resources in DoD. Finally, the Depart-
ment is creating an active fraud detection program for identification of possible indi-

vidual intrusion into financial systems for illegal personal gain. The last initiative

will involve several DoD organizations and will use a methodology of matching var-

ious computer data bases of pertinent financial data to look for identified situations.
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Examples are civilian employees who never take leave, vendor payments matched
to various government records to verify that the companies exist, and military retir-

ees having no personnel records.

5. Improvement of the Federal Managers' Financial Integrity Act Process.

A recent initiative by the Secretary of Defense places an even greater emphasis
on sound internal controls and the correction of control weaknesses. Office of the
Secretary of Defense (OSD) senior managers have been tasked to play a more active

role in the identification, reporting and correction of internal control weaknesses.
Previously, these responsibilities were primarily those of the various individual DoD
Components and many senior OSD managers played little or no active role in this

process. However, new roles and responsibilities require senior OSD managers to

identify major systemic and other weakness and internal control problems within
the functional area under their purview, when such weaknesses or problems have
not been reported by a Military Department or Component. This responsibility en-

compasses both those weakness or problems that may be unique to one DoD Compo-
nent, as well as those that may be common to, or affect, all or multiple Components.
Once such weaknesses or problems are identified, OSD managers also are respon-
sible for requesting, and ensuring, that the affected DoD Component(s) take respon-

sibility for reporting the weakness or problem in the DoD Annual Statement of As-
surance and taking appropriate actions to eliminate the weakness or correct the

f)roblem. For those issues that impact more than one Component, applicable OSD
iinctional managers are responsible for working with the affected DOD organiza-

tions to provide a single reporting of the systemic weakness or problem, and
overseeing a joint effort to address and resolve it. The DoD FY 1994 Annual State-

ment of ./'Ssurance is expected to reflect the benefits of this new approach.

6. Establishment of an Acquisition Financial Management Panel.

A senior level panel, the Acquisition and Financial Management Panel, has been
established to develop a course of action to address the systemic problem of un-
matched disbursements. The panel is co-chaired bv the DoD Comptroller and the
Principal Deputy Under Secretary of Defense for Acquisition and Technology. The
panel also includes the Under Secretaries of the Army, Navy, and Air Force as well

as the Director of the Defense Finance and Accounting Service and the Director of

the Defense Contract Management Command. The purpose of the Panel is to design
a long term solution to the problem of unmatched disbursements and the lack of

interconnectivity between finance and acquisition systems.
Because this issue is so critical, a working group was formed by the Panel to pro-

vide short-term improvement recommendations aimed at resolving the causes of un-
matched disbursements. The working group has prepared a draft report that identi-

fies a strategy for implementing needed systemic improvements. One focus is on ex-

panded use of stanaardized Electronic Data Interchange transaction formats to

transmit contract data between systems. This will greatlv reduce manual data
entry, improve timeliness and ensure consistency between the contract administra-
tion, payment and accounting systems. Another focus is on improving the payment
computation and validation processes. While, the Panel will meet early next month
to consider formal approval of all of the recommendations, work has been started

on a number of the high priority items.

7. Reduction of Current Unmatched Disbursements.

In addition to the effort of the Acquisition Financial Management Panel to de-

velop long-term system changes to prevent the occurrence of unmatched disburse-

ments, the Defense Finance and Accounting Service, in conjunction with the Mili-

tary Departments and the Defense Logistics Agency, has established a project to re-

duce the current backlog of unmatched disbursements. This effort has not only fo-

cused at clearing existing unmatched transactions, but also on making improve-
ments in existing procedures and systems to begin addressing the systemic causes
of this serious problem. The project had a goal of reducing unmatched disburse-

ments by 50 percent by mid-1994. Through the joint efforts of all parties involved,

reductions of about 45 percent already have been achieved and we are confident

that the project team will reach their overall goal.

8. Development of a Migratory System Strategy.

The Department has made substantial progress toward the consolidation and
standardization of systems and operations. Financial management systems in the
Department's inventory are being identified, modified as necessary to meet Depart-
ment-wide requirements, and implemented as migration systems within the Depart-
ment. To date, a number of migration systems have been selected. These include
designated systems for civilian pay, military retiree and annuitant pay, military
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pay, transportation pajrments, debt management, contract payment and
nonappropriated fund payroll. A program manager is appointed for each system and
oversight procedures are active. Rigorous studies to identify migration systems in
other business categories are in progress.
The Department is continuing the process of evaluating functional migration ac-

counting systems. Selected systems will be used on a Department-wide basis as the
transition is made from the over 250 accounting systems in use today to standard,
integrated accounting systems envisioned under the Corporate Information Manage-
ment initiative.

These migration systems eventually will evolve into standard Departmental sys-
tems consistent witn the Corporate Information Management vision. This is ex-
pected to allow all of the Department's managers to have access to finance and ac-
counting data supporting their day-to-day decision-making and operations. Similar
to finance and accounting, other (nonfinancial) related functional areas (e.g., person-
nel, acquisition and logistics) also are expected to operate standardized systems,
perhaps on a consolidated basis, thereby reducing the number of required interfaces
and increasing the opportunity for systems integration.

9. Establishment of a Payroll / Personnel Task Force.

In April 1994, a task force was established to evaluate various alternatives for

Providing the most effective pay and personnel services to the Department. A num-
er of alternatives are being considered, including the current migration systems,

systems existing in other Federal Agencies and the possibility of contracting out.

Our main goal here is to have the best possible personnel and payroll systems at
the most effective price.

10. Revitalization of the Financial Management Steering Committee.

This Committee oversees the development of functional requirements, facilitates

implementation of product and policy recommendations, and addresses other issues
involving financial management systems and practices outside the Defense Business
Operations Fund. The Committee is chaired by the Chief Financial Officer, and in-

cludes the Assistant Secretaries for Financial Management in the Military Depart-
ments and the Defense Logistics Agency, and a senior official from the Office of the
Assistant Secretary of Defense (Command, Control, Communications, and Intel-

ligence). While this Steering Committee has been in existence since 1990, it laid

dormant for an extended period of time period until recently when the DoD Comp-
troller/Chief Financial Officer revitalized the Committee to address Department-
wide finance and accounting issues not involving, or broader than, the Defense Busi-
ness Operations Fund. The Committee has focused on such issues as compliance
with internal controls, policies and procedures and the need for a standard Dudget
and accounting code architecture. Unfortunately, even to this day, DoD does not
have in place a standard architecture for its finance and accounting systems, thus
making the accumulation of consistent financial data much more difficult. Our goal
is to establish this standard code by the end of this calendar year.

11. Establishment of the Defense Business Operations Fund Corporate Board and an
Improvement Plan.

The Secretary of Defense directed a review of the Defense Business Operations
Fund and the development of a plan to correct identified deficiencies and otherwise
improve the operations of the Fund. The Defense Business Operations Fund Cor-
porate Board was established as a result of that review. The Board monitors imple-
mentation and operation of the Fund, including policies, rates, cash flow analysis
and criteria for inclusion of business areas in the fund. The establishment of a De-
fense Business Operations Fund Improvement Plan also was a key output of the re-

view, and progress against the Plan is something that the Defense Business Oper-
ations Fund Corporate Board carefully monitors. To assist it in its task, the Board
has established separate subcommittees to address areas such as cost reductions,

Eolicies and performance. Each of these subcommittees are specifically tasked to

ring proposed solutions to designated problems, or to provide recommendations for

improvement, to the Corporate Board.
The Improvement Plan is ambitious. But we know that we must demonstrate a

commitment to correct deficiencies. We believe that it is far better to act purposely,
and adjust later if necessary, rather than to plan for a slow start. The Plan has
served us well in establishing the momentum needed; and we must maintain that
momentum to achieve the desired results.

We feel very successful in our accomplishments to date.
Procedures have been implemented to ensure that financial policies involving the

Defense Business Operations Fund (DBOF) are reviewed and fully coordinated be-
fore being implemented. Overarching policies and reporting guidance for DBOF ac-
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tivities has been drafted and provided to the DoD Components for comment/coordi-
nation and will be incorporated into the DoD Financial Management Regulation. As
indicated above, a Special Committee for Oversight of Policy Actions has been estab-
lished and is expediting review of additional DBOF policies. The Committee has for-

warded several policy recommendations to the Corporate Board, and a number of
these recommendations already have been approved by the Corporate Board and the
DoD Comptroller/Chief Financial Officer.

We also are making advancements in remedying our inadequate accounting sup-
port for DBOF. We have identified the system requirements for supporting DBOF,
and are determining which of our existing systems best support those requirements.
This will allow us to migrate to fewer DBOF systems, and reduce related systems
costs.

In addition to improving efficiency, the Department also is working toward better
identification of effectiveness, or performance measures, and integrating the two
types of measures in the decision process. The Department is not starting from
scratch, but building on measures previously identified. The performance of business
areas are being directly linked to cost and effectiveness for the first time.
We also have energized efforts to improve identification of outputs, ensure all

costs are assigned to an output, and improve the delivery and quality of information
for managers at all levels. As information improves and costs are carefully analyzed,
some reduction in costs can be expected, which will be reflected in customer prices.

12. Improvement of Data Standardization.

In an October 13, 1993 memorandum, the Deputy Secretary of Defense empha-
sized the urgency of data standardization, and his commitment to ensuring "Acceler-
ated Implementation of Migration Systems, Data Standards, and Process Improve-
ment."
Data Standardization is critical as we optimize the use of migration systems and

move towards sharing common processes and data under an open systems environ-
ment. The best way to ensure accurate and timely data is to ensure that everyone
is using the same data and has a clear understanding of its meaning.
The Data Standardization effort provides comprehensive, long-term direction to

improve the planning and management of Defense data resources. This direction
takes advantage of technological advances which make it possible to manage data
as a shared resource separate fi"om the programs and applications which use it.

Data Standardization is a critical element in our Automated Information Systems
migration efforts because it supports:

• Reductions in the number of Automated Information Systems that perform
the same functional requirement.

• Accomplishment of mission critical tasks and activities with reduced dol-

lars.

• Improvement of DoD operations and decision making with data that meets
the availability requirements.

We have had over 250 finance and accounting systems managing some 100,000
data elements. Now, however, we believe that fewer than 1,000 data elements are
needed—and we hope to have almost all of these standard data elements defined
by the end of this calendar year. Similar efforts are also underway in other func-
tional areas within the Department. As of this date, 252 financial data elements
have been agreed to by the DoD Components.

13. Attack on Fraudulent Actions.

As members of this Committee know, recently, the Department has been con-
fi-onted with a number of fi-audulent actions. In many cases, the ability of the indi-

viduals to perpetuate such fi-audulent actions, and to go undetected for a period of
time, has been enhanced by systems deficiencies and inadequate internals controls.

However, another, and at least equally important, factor has been the individuals'
knowledge of such weaknesses, and therefore, the ability to exploit those weak-
nesses. In each case where fi-audulent actions have been discovered, the Department
has reviewed the circumstances that permitted such actions, thoroughly assessed
changes needed to preclude such fi-aud fi-om recurring, and disseminated that infor-

mation, along with direction to take specific actions, to the applicable activity, as
well as other activities performing similar functions. However, the Department is

not content simply to react to findings by others. It must be, and is being, proactive
in both detecting fi-aud itself, and preventing it fi-om occurring in the first place.
Also, in conjunction with the Justice Department and others, the Department has
been, and will continue to, aggressively pursue the prosecution of those that attempt
to perpetuate a fi-aud on the Department.
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14. Reduction, Clarification and Reissuance of Policies.

Numerous nonstandard financial management policies have been promulgated
within the Department in the past. This condition existed because, in part at least,

when the Office of the DoD Comptroller issued policy guidance, that guidance was
not always widely disseminated by the various DoD Components. Instead, the DoD
Components frequently interpreted the guidance and published internal implement-
ing procedures. Too often, the Components interpretation and implementing proce-

dures resulted in the inconsistent application of DoD policy. In response to this situ-

ation, we have commenced an effort to issue a single DoD Financial Management
Regulation that can be used on a DoD-wide basis. The regulation, which will include
botn policies and implementing procedures, will promulgate guidance involving the
Department's appropriated funds, its Defense Business Operations Fund, as well as
its other funds, and replace a myriad of existing policy guidance, clarify existing

guidance where appropriate, and mclude additional guidance as needed. The initial

stage of this effort—that is, the consolidation, clarification, and expansion (where
appropriate) of DoD Comptroller policy and DFAS related procedural ^idance is on
schedule to be completed by the end of 1994. Subsequent to this initial effort, and
in conjunction with the resolution of Component unique system issues, separate fi-

nancial management policy and procedural issuances of tne DoD Components will

be eliminated and also incorporated into the regulation as appropriate. This effort

is expected to eliminate over 70,000 pages of sometimes conflicting guidance and
provide the Department with a sound oasis for achieving standard policies and pro-

cedures.

Budget Execution

While I have talked about some of the finance and accounting problems that the
Department faces, and many of the initiatives that it is actively and aggressively
pursuing to correct those problems, I would be remiss if I did not comment on the
reliability of the financial information yielded in conjunction with the Department's
budgetary operations.
The Department has confidence in its existing budgetary accounting systems that

were designed to control and account for funds provided to DoD through the con-

gressional appropriation process. Those systems successfully support the budgetary
process, generally have adequate funds control processes, and satisfy requirements
for appropriation balances and fund availability. Such information is usually re-

corded and accumulated as required by appropriation language and associated avail-

ability restrictions. The existing accounting systems also were designed to keep
track of the contractual obligations for acquiring assets and to provide accurate and
timely obligation information to program managers. The existing systems generally
adequately meet these requirements. The requirements for budgetary data reported
to the Congress, and internal DoD managers, are well understood and consistently

provided by the accounting systems.
I make this point to distinguish between our inability to prepare satisfactory

auditable financial statements, and the fact that we are able to successfully monitor
and manage our annual appropriations. We need to do both. It is not satisfactory

to do one but to fail in the other critical area of financial management. But, we are

making short-term improvements and we do have a plan for the future.

DOD Blueprint for Financial Management Reform

The DoD Comptroller's blueprint for financial management reform has six ele-

ments:

1. Comply with Statutory Requirements

Our current financial management systems may be inefficient and redundant, but
we have to make them work better while we are in the process of change. We must
implement and comply with statutes like the CFO Act—and we have been making
progress. For example, we have cut substantially our unmatched disbursements
from $19 billion last fall to about half that now. As stated earlier, the DoD Comp-
troller also has acted aggressively to streamline the investigation of potential viola-

tions of the Antideficiency Act and to cease further expenditures for any accounts
that appear deficient.

2. Re-engineer DoD Business / Organizational Practices

The main reason why DoD financial management reform is so difficult is that the
Department consists of numerous stovepipe organizations, traditionally each with a
unique and incompatible management system. These systems were designed to re-

port information vertically up through a chain of command, not horizontally across
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to other DoD organizations. A pivotal part of our reform is to re-engineer our busi-

ness practices to integrate more eflFectively the actions of these disparate DoD orga-

nizations. The result will be procedures that are less complex and much less error-

prone.

3. Standardize Data, Definition, and Concepts

The Department is working to standardize and modernize its myriad of account-

ing systems. Without standardization, any meaningful reduction of complexity and
waste will be impossible. We have had over 250 finance and accounting systems
managing some 100,000 data elements. Now, however, we believe that fewer than

1,000 data elements are needed—and we hope to have almost all of these standard

data elements defined by the end of this calendar year.

Some of our biggest problems today are caused by the inability of our automated
systems to communicate effectively with each other. I am not referring only to finan-

cial systems, but to a lack of communication among all the systems requu-ed to es-

tablish reliable departmental financial information. Today, the movement of infor-

mation often requires labor intensive, error prone efforts to reenter data manually
from one system into other systems. We are working toward the effective use of elec-

tronic communications among systems in different functional areas, such as between
personnel and payroll systems, acquisition and financial systems, logistics and fi-

nancial systems, and property and financial systems.

4. Consolidate and Revamp DoD Finance and Accounting Systems

The establishment of the Defense Finance and Accounting Service was a giant

step forward in the task of streamlining DoD's financial management systems. And
the DFAS really has become a pivotal agent of change for financial management.
For example, three years ago we had 18 separate military pajToU systems; today

we operate only 11—and in two years we will be down to two or three. For civilian

payroll systems, we inherited 18, and in two years we likewise expect to be down
to only two.
We need to do the same in the area of our accounting systems. Here, the task

is much larger. Each of the existing accounting systems were designed to meet
unique requirements of DoD activities. These systems are required to continue to

operate on a daily basis. Our conversion plans have presented our primary challenge

in the coming months, but are absolutely necessary to meet the Chief Financial Offi-

cer (CFO) Act requirements.
Another major step forward was our recent announcement of the 25 sites selected

for the consolidation of DFAS operations. Too much of the DFAS leadership's time

today is consumed by the vast challenge of coordinating the work of nearly 300
sites. StreamUning operations into a few locations will better enable the DFAS to

focus its energies on the standardization and modernization of systems and proce-

dures.
The benefits from this streamlining are enormous. The Department has identified

some 46,000 people employed either by DFAS already (about 28,000) or by other

DoD organizations which currently perform finance and accounting missions that

have been designated for management by the DFAS (about 18,000). Once the DFAS
consolidation is implemented fmly, this work force should drop by half—from 46,000

to about 23,000.

5. Align Financial Controls and Management Incentives

Achieving the goals of higher efficiency and effectiveness should result from ef-

forts now underway to align financial data and controls with the managerial incen-

tives we are seeking to instill. We know that cost conscious behavior is more likely

when prices reflect costs. It is for this reason that the Department created the De-

fense Business Operations Fund (DBOF). DoD's current senior leaders firmly sup-

port this important reform and are committed to making the DBOF work effectively.

The original goals of the DBOF are as valid now as they ever have been. As has

been' said in other forums, if we did not have DBOF, we would have to invent some-

thing like it.

We also are working hard to develop performance measures for DoD activities and
to link those measures to budget decisions, as envisioned by the Government Per-

formance and Results Act. Performance reporting will supplement the financial re-

porting required by the CFO Act, provide a framework for management improve-

ment and, finally, support the allocation of resources through performance budget-

The CFO Act forced the Department to focus more directly on what and how it

measures and reports summary level output and outcome performance. The CFO
Act coverage was mandatory for industrial, commercial-like and other revolving

fiind activities—with the addition of the Army and Air Force as pilot agencies—but

81-668 0-95-4
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was not required for other activities. The Government Performance and Results Act
expands that requirement to all programs and generates a more systematic linkage

of strategic plans, performance measures and goals addressing program output and
outcome, and the use of this information in budget formulation and execution.

6. Practice Candor and Engender Confidence

Mr. Chairman, this Department historically may have been defensive or

dismissive when challenged about financial mismanagement. However, my superiors

and I believe that candor is essential to convincing you in the Congress and the

American people that we are serious about effecting financial management reform.

Conclusion

Mr. Chairman, DoD has a big financial management challenge ahead of us. And,
furthermore, it is clear that fundamental, change is badly needed, and perhaps long

overdue.
Inaccurate financial statements are not acceptable. Failure to adhere to internal

control policy is not acceptable. And, failure to adhere to all aspects of the CFO Act
also is unacceptable. To date, we at DoD have not reached an acceptable level in

any of these areas. But, Mr. Chairman, good things are happening. We have an
agenda for reform. We have a long-range plan and a series of short-term initiatives

aimed at reaching levels of acceptability. And we have the commitment and the sup-

port of the most senior leaders in the Department.
The long-range plan is heavily dependent on system changes and enhancements

—

and these changes are in motion. But, we can't wait that long. That is why we have
established some critical short-term initiatives and why we are pleased about our
successes regarding unmatched disbursements, data standardization and policy

changes such as the cessation of disbursements in accounts with negative balances.

Financial Management in the Department of Defense is serious business, bringing
with it the accountability and responsibility to do what is right. We take this busi-

ness and its challenges very seriously.
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DEPARTMEKT OF THE ARMY
OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL

3101 PARK CENTER DRIVE

ALEXANDRIA, VA 22302-1596

30 June 1994

Secretary of the Army

This is the report on our audit of the Principal Financial
Statements of the Department of the Army for the fiscal year

ended 30 September 1993. We performed the audit pursuant to

the Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990 (Public

Law 101-576)

.

We couldn't express an opinion on the reliability of the

Army's FY 93 Statement of Financial Position or Statement of

Cash Flows. Primary reasons for this disclaimer were that

the accounting systems didn't generate reliable information,

previously recommended actions were not yet fully
implemented, and DOD policies precluded full disclosure of

some assets and liabilities. We were unable to apply other

auditing procedures in these areas to satisfy ourselves as

to the fairness of the data presented.

Army leaders have acknowledged these problems and
demonstrated what we believe is a sincere commitment to

taking the actions needed to effectively and efficiently
manage the resources entrusted to them. Our audit results

show that the Army is making progress to this end. However,

the results also identified some areas where substantial
improvements are still needed. We summarize our audit
results and conclusions in the Auditor's Opinion and in the

Significant Matters sections of this report. More detailed
discussions of the progress and problem areas are in the
following sections:

- Report on Internal Controls.

- Report on Compliance with Laws and Regulations.

- Report on Performance Measures

.

This report contains no recommendations, but it summarizes

the results, conclusions and recommendations included in

audit reports issued in support of the audit opinion. A

list of the supporting audit reports is provided at Annex B.

I appreciate the courtesies and cooperation extended to us

during the audit.

^TRANCIS E. REARDON, CPA
The Auditor General
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL

3101 PARK CENTER DRIVE
ALEXANDRIA, VA 22302-1596

Secretary of the Army

In accordance with the Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990,
the Army prepared the accompanying Principal Financial
Statements for the fiscal years ended 30 September 1993 and
1992. As delegated by, and in coordination with, the
Inspector General, DOD, we audited the FY 93 statements,
including the evaluation of related internal controls and
compliance with laws and regulations. The Army is 1 of
10 pilot agencies required to prepare such statements. This
represents the third time the Army has prepared comprehen-
sive financial statements for audit, and the first time we
have conducted the audit. Previous audit coverage was
provided by the General Accounting Office.

Although the Army has made progress in complying with the
Chief Financial Officers Act, we were unable to express an
opinion on the reliability of its financial statements. The
solution to many of the obstacles preventing us from ex-
pressing an opinion require joint efforts between all of the

Services and DOD—and will take years to complete. A summa-

ry of the primary reasons we couldn't express an opinion are

as follows:

- The accounting systems which support the financial
statements don't have an integrated general ledger (or

comprehensive subsidiary ledgers) and don't generate
reliable, auditable financial information. For exam-
ple, lacking a complete general ledger, the equipment
dollar values reported in the Army's financial state-
ments are derived from systems designed to manage or
physically account for equipment. These management
systems don't interface with the accounting systems.
Moreover, the equipment systems aren't sufficiently
accurate for financial reporting or, in some cases,

their intended purposes. Consequently, our audit tests
showed that the value of selected asset lines on the
Statement of Financial Position weren't accurate, and

that the supporting information wasn't adequate to
determine what the values should be.

- One major accounting system, the Standard Operations
and Maintenance Army Research and Development System
(SOMARDS) , didn't retain complete automated records of

its transactions. As a result, we couldn't test the

reliability of the summary data—which served as input

to the financial statements—produced by the system.

Arny's FT 93 Financial St3tHnents--Audi t Opinion (HO 94-450) Auditor's Opinion/Page 5
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- Although actions were ongoing in all areas, recommenda-
tions to correct problems identified in previous finan-
cial statement audits weren't yet fully implemented.

- DOD policies prevented the Army from reporting material
amounts of assets and liabilities in the Statement of
Financial Position in accordance with prevailing guid-
ance as set forth by the government accounting
standards hierarchy.

- Army General Counsel's legal representation letter,
which conformed to the guidance from Office of General
Counsel, DOD, didn't adequately address actual and
potential liabilities relating to ongoing litigation,
claims and assessments, and these liabilities were
understated on the Statement of Financial Position.

- Flaws in the accounting system used by the U.S. Army
Corps of Engineers prevented us from determining the
reasonableness of amounts reported on the Statement of
Financial Position for Civil Works operations.

We were unable to apply other auditing procedures to satisfy
ourselves as to the fairness of the presentation of the
Statement of Financial Position or the Statement of Cash
Flows. Consequently, we couldn't express an opinion on
either statement as of 30 September 1993.

Internal controls were not fully effective in protecting the
Army's resources, assuring material compliance with laws and
regulations, or assuring there were no material misstate-
ments in the financial statements. We also identified
instances of material noncompliance with selected laws and
regulations. As a result, the overall financial account-
ability control environment is such that the risk of
material misstatement remains high.

Data contained in the Overview and the Supplemental Finan-
cial and Management Information sections of the Army's FY 93
Financial Report is derived from the same sources as the
financial statements and, therefore, is also likely to be
unreliable. The Army has made progress in its efforts to
develop performance measures, but more work and additional
resources are needed to successfully complete these develop-
ment efforts.

Army leaders have acknowledged the problems preventing full
compliance with the objectives of the Chief Financial Offi-
cers Act, and have demonstrated what we believe is a sincere
commitment to the actions needed to effectively and effi-
ciently manage the resources with which they have been
entrusted. The Office of the Assistant Secretary of the
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Army (Financial Management) and the Headquarters, U.S. Army
Corps of Engineers, have been particularly diligent in their
efforts to implement the requirements of the Chief Financial
Officers Act. Solutions to many of the problems the Army
faces require help from DOD, and can't be solved quickly.
On the other hand, the Army can resolve or mitigate some
problems on its own, and should be able to do so in the near
term. The Army has made significant progress on some, but
not all, of the latter type of problems. The Army needs to
continue to concentrate on the problems susceptible to
unilateral, procedural solutions—particularly those where
progress has been delayed by a lack of full compliance on
the part of field-level operators and managers.

To help ensure the obstacles to meeting the requirements of

the Chief Financial Officers Act are expeditiously resolved,
the Army needs to formulate and pursue a comprehensive plan
for complying with the Act's requirements. The plan should
address the problems identified through the audit process,
and the more subtle and overarching issue of how to reorient
current operations and systems—and transition to cost and
outcome-based decision-making processes. The Army has begun
working on such a plan, and should continue to make sure
this topic receives the emphasis and resources necessary to
successfully implement it.

>JCIS E. REAIOJON, CPA
The Auditor General

30 June 1994
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BACKGROUND

Accounting Services

The Defense Finance and Accounting Service plays an integral
part in the Army's financial operations. They perform much
of the Army's accounting, including the accounting aspects
of preparing the annual financial statements. The Service

—

a subordinate of the Comptroller, DOD—owns and operates
most of the Army accounting systems and, since being estab-
lished in 1991, has assimilated most of the Army's account-
ing offices in CONUS. The Army has retained ownership and
operational control of National Guard, Corps of Engineers,
and all overseas accounting offices as well as some of the
associated accounting systems.

The Defense Finance and Accounting Service - Indianapolis
Center prepares summary accounting reports for the Army,
including the Army's annual financial statements. All
offices that account for Army resources—both those belong-
ing to the Defense Finance and Accounting Service and those
operated by the Army—report accounting data to the Indian-
apolis Center, which in turn uses the data to prepare
summary financial reports. Additional information on the
financial systems and the associated reporting structure is

provided in the Overview portion of the Army's Annual Finan-
cial Report under Significant Financial Management Issues.

Because the Defense Finance and Accounting Service plays
such a significant role in Army financial matters, major
segments of our audit work focused on accounting operations
at the Indianapolis Center and its subordinate Defense
accounting offices. Where appropriate, we have directed
recommended corrective actions to the Defense Finance and
Accounting Service.

Audit Services

The General Accounting Office performed the audits of the
Army's FY 91 and FY 92 annual financial statements. It
elected to do so under the provisions of the Chief Financial
Officers Act of 1990, which allows it to select specific
Agency financial statements for audit.

For the Army's FY 93 financial statements, the Inspector
General, DOD delegated audit responsibility, including
rendering the audit opinion, to the U.S. Army Audit Agency.
The Inspector General, DOD provided audit assistance by
performing required audit work at the Indianapolis Center.
This consisted of examining the processes used at the Center
to compile and summarize accounting data, and prepare the

Army's FY 93 Financial Statements- -Audit Opinion (HQ 94-450) Backgroi»id/Page 11



104

Army's financial statements. All other audit work was
performed by the Army Audit Agency.

Accounting Standards Hierarchy

Federal agencies preparing financial statements are required
to use accounting principles and standards according to the
following hierarchy:

(1) Individual standards agreed to and published by the
Secretary of the Treasury, the Director of the
Office of Management and Budget, and the Comptroller
General. They are the co-principals of the Joint
Financial Management Improvement Program, and are
charged with the responsibility for setting Federal
government accounting standards.

(2) Office of Management and Budget form and content
requirements. Guidance for preparing the FY 93
financial statements is in Office of Management and
Budget Bulletins 93-02 and 94-01, Form and Content
of Agency Financial Statements.

(3) Agency standards as of 29 March 1991, if they are
prevalent practices.

(4) Accounting principles published by authoritative
standard setting bodies such as the Financial
Accounting Standards Board.

Army's FY 93 Financial Statements- -Audit Opinion (HQ 94-450) Bacicground/Page 12
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SIGNIFICANT MATTERS

The Army's senior leadership has demonstrated sincere com-
mitment to meeting the goals and objectives of the Chief
Financial Officers Act. Here are some examples of that
commitment:

- On 14 January 1994, Mr. Reeder, the Under Secretary of

the Army, issued a memorandum on management controls
and stewardship, outlining his expectations and those
of Secretary West on the subject. Mr. Reeder referred
to previous and current financial statement audits and
the conclusions that management controls weren't being
effectively executed. He stated that the most impor-
tant management controls are the people who carry out
day-to-day operations. Without their commitment, the
dual goals of mission accomplishment and stewardship
can't be fulfilled.

- On 28 April 1994, General Sullivan, the Chief of Staff,
Army, also issued a memorandum on Army stewardship. In
that message, issued to all commanders and HQDA princi-
pals. General Sullivan recognized that progress toward
improving financial management was slow and problem
areas remained. While noting that current systems are
inadequate, he also stated that other problems are the
result of failure to comply with existing policies and
management controls. He characterized these as issues
of stewardship and discipline, and emphasized the need
on everyone's part to improve financial management,
accountability and stewardship.

- The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers engaged us to audit
its FY 93 Statement of Financial Position. It is the
Army's first major command to prepare a complete set of
financial statements for audit. Developing the disci-
plines and structure to report accurate financial
information is an important first step to improving
financial management systems and practices. The Corps'
decision to prepare statements and subject them to
audit showed a genuine commitment to the Chief Finan-
cial Officers Act's concepts and goals.

- The U.S. Army Materiel Command and Forces Command are
considering preparing financial statements.

- Several installation and higher-level commanders have
asked us to help them better account for and manage the
costs of operating installations and their tenant
tactical units.

Also, the Office of the Assistant Secretary of the Army
(Financial Management), Headquarters, U.S. Army Corps of
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Engineers, and the Defense Finance and Accounting Service
responded promptly and positively to many of the recommenda-
tions we made on how to solve some of the problems disclosed
by our audit. These actions will help the Army attain the
goals of improved financial management and asset stewardship
that was envisioned by the Act.

Our audit results showed that the Army is making progress on

its commitment to effectively and efficiently manage the
resources entrusted to it. However, our results also iden-

tified areas where significant improvements were still
needed

.

- Some problem areas experienced substantial progress
during FY 93. We noted significant improvements in the
procedures and controls at the Defense Finance and
Accounting Service - Indianapolis Center regarding the
financial statement preparation process, and military
pay operations. Also, accountable controls improved to
a point where the reported inventory balances for the
Conventional Ammunition Working Capital Fund were
accurate.

- Progress was made to correct some previously identified
problems, but more improvements were still needed. The
Army placed more emphasis on the process for reporting
military equipment at tactical units and, although more
improvement is needed, accuracy rates improved in

FY 93. But we found significant inaccuracies in the
values of equipment reported for non-tactical activi-
ties and National Guard units. Also, the equipment-in-
transit values reported for all types of units were
significantly inaccurate. Similarly, accounting
offices have reduced the number of unposted contract
payments, but the systems and procedures currently in

use don't ensure that posted contract payments are
correct (a Defensewide problem)

.

- Some problem areas experienced little improvement since

the last audit. We found limited progress in improving
the accuracy of, and dollar values reported for, real
property and government furnished property. Also,
DOD policies concerning contingent liabilities and war
reserve munitions continued to prevent the Army from
fully reporting its assets and liabilities. Further,
the Corps of Engineers still didn't properly report
completed construction projects, or capture design and
engineering costs in project totals.

The unresolved problem areas need to be addressed and cor-
rected. Additionally, over the long term, DOD and the Army

need to continue to work on improving financial management
systems, procedures and processes. These improvements are
urgently needed. But, given the magnitude of the effort.
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its costs, and the shrinking Defense budget, major systems
and process improvements probably won't occur quickly.

While the Army is committed to improving financial manage-
ment, and progress is being made through a number of initia-
tives, these efforts need to be channeled toward a long term
vision of what the Army wants to achieve. As one of the
Army's most noteworthy initiatives, the Assistant Secretary
of the Army (Financial Management) formulated and oversees
the Senior Level Steering Group. The Steering Group, which
was formed to address the issues surfaced during annual
audits of the financial statements and includes representa-
tives from key Secretariat and DA staff offices, was a

positive step. It provides high-level emphasis on the
importance of improving financial management, and was a

major contributing factor for positive change. However, the
Steering Group has primarily focused on addressing the
findings and recommendations resulting from prior financial
statement audits. The Steering Group also has recognized
the need for a comprehensive and forward-looking action
plan, but this initiative needs more emphasis and resources.

The Army should evaluate its current systems and procedures,
and conceptually define the new business processes needed to
successfully implement the goals and objectives of the Chief
Financial Officers Act. Having accomplished this, the Army
needs to develop a corresponding plan—complete with goals,
objectives and milestones—and devote all of the resources
it can afford to execute the plan. This effort will be
highly difficult— it can't be accomplished properly or
promptly unless the Army affords it a commensurate level of
resources.

Another major issue requiring attention is compliance with
existing guidance and controls by field-level managers and
operators. This is a significant cause for financial data
inaccuracies. Conananders and managers at all levels must be
held accountable for their actions (or inactions) regarding
compliance with guidance, controls and procedures. As one
of the steps necessary to improving compliance, field-level
personnel need to be educated on the importance of meeting
the Chief Financial Officers Act's information requirements
—requirements which many field-level operators view as top-
driven and which add work, but deliver no benefit to their
day-to-day missions.
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROLS
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

We evaluated and tested relevant internal controls for the:

- Financial statement preparation process,

- Statement of Cash Flows (Direct Method) , including
military and civilian payroll.

- Key non-financial asset lines on the Statement of
Financial Position.

- U.S. Army Corps of Engineers' Civil Works operations.

In some cases we followed up on previously identified weak-
nesses; others we covered for the first time in terms of
financial statement reporting.

In our opinion, internal controls weren't fully effective in
protecting the Army's assets, ensuring material compliance
with laws and regulations, or assuring there were no mate-
rial misstatements in the financial statements. We noted
progress in several areas where substantial efforts are
being made to correct problems previously identified by the
General Accounting Office. However, significant previously
identified internal control weaknesses continue in many
material areas and the overall financial accountability
control environment is such that the risk of material mis-
statement remains high. This report discusses both the
progress and the material internal control deficiencies
identified during our audit of the Army's FY 93 Financial
Statements

.

The material internal control weaknesses discussed here are
reportable conditions that represent significant deficien-
cies in the design and operation of the internal control
structure. Material weaknesses are reportable conditions in
which internal control weaknesses offer ready opportunities
for material errors or irregularities to occur and not be
detected promptly. Material weaknesses included in this
report have, or could have, a significant effect on the
financial statements. Several of the weaknesses cited in
this report were identified as material weaknesses in the
FY 93 annual assurance statements prepared by the Army
and/or the Defense Finance and Accounting Service. (The
annual assurance statements are required by the Federal
Managers' Financial Integrity Act.) The other weaknesses
identified here may or may not meet the criteria for report-
ing in the annual assurance statements. Our ongoing annual
audit of the Army's internal control program will evaluate
these control weaknesses and, if warranted, recommend them
for inclusion in the appropriate FY 94 annual assurance
statement. We also noted other, less significant internal
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control weaknesses that we reported separately to the local
commanders of the units and activities we audited.

Defense Finance and Accounting Service Operations

The internal controls governing the Indianapolis Center's
processes for preparing financial statements were much
improved, but additional improvements were needed.

The internal controls for the status-of-funds yearend
reporting and certification process were effective. The
Indianapolis Center established specific controls, held
training classes to explain the controls, and enforced the
controls throughout the reporting and certification process.
Controls for transcribing general ledger data to the printed
financial statements were also effective. The Indianapolis
Center made significant control improvements in the process
used to document and record adjustments. It established an

audit trail to identify the number and dollar value of
adjustments, classified the adjustments by type, and pre-
pared and attached written descriptions of the reasons for
most adjustment vouchers.

However, controls still weren't adequate for significant
portions of the adjustment and financial statement prepara-
tion process. The Indianapolis Center didn't initially
detect or correct about $2.7 billion of errors in general
ledger financial data reported by field accounting offices
or generated internally. The Indianapolis Center corrected
the errors when brought to their attention. The causes for

the errors were that:

- Controls weren't in place to ascertain the reasonable-
ness of line item balances on the financial statements
or to detect erroneous general ledger balances reported
by field-level accounting offices.

- Manual and automated interfaces didn't properly pass
the required information between source systems and the
general ledger.

- The general ledger system didn't contain automated
edits that would reject submissions or adjustments that
were incorrect or created abnormal account balances
(such as negative balances for equipment accounts)

.

Also, some general ledger adjustments weren't adequately
documented or accurate. The Indianapolis Center hadn't
established clear criteria for supporting documentation,
didn't subject adjustment documentation to independent
reviews, and allowed some individuals to both prepare and
enter adjustments to the general ledger. Unless the con-

trols over the adjustment process are strengthened, there's
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a significant risk of misstating the Army's financial
statements

.

The systems used by the Indianapolis Center to produce the
Army's financial statements aren't integrated and don't
incorporate the standard general ledger. These system flaws
are the underlying cause of the internal control weaknesses
we identified in the adjustment and statement preparation
process. Responsible Defense Finance and Accounting Service
personnel stated that the problem will be corrected by
September 1997, when the present accounting system will be
replaced with a standard DOD-wide accounting and reporting
system. Therefore, we didn't make recommendations on the
accounting system problems. In the meantime, however, we
believe that strict compensating controls should be
established to:

- Reduce the inherent risks caused by the existing
accounting system.

- Increase the accuracy and reliability of the financial
statements

.

The Defense Finance and Accounting Service concurred with
the audit results and agreed to implement most of the audit
recommendations to improve internal controls. Detailed
audit results, recommendations and command replies are in
the Inspector General, DOD report titled Defense Finance and
Accounting Service Work on the Armv FY 1993 Financial
Statements (Project Number 3FI-2007)

.

Cash Flows

Installation level Defense accounting offices had signifi-
cant problems in producing reliable financial information.
This was due, in large part, to the inadequacies of the
accounting systems used, and problems with the data received
from other disbursing offices. The accounting offices also
needed to improve their procedures for managing travel
advances. The Defense Finance and Accounting Service and
the Army generally agreed to implement the recommendations
to correct the problems we identified, and in some cases
have already instituted new procedures. Detailed audit
results, recommendations and command replies for all of
these issues are in Audit Report SR 94-485, Army Cash Flow
Statement

.

Accounting Systems and Processes

The accounting systems and processes used by Defense
accounting offices didn't produce auditable financial data.
The Army's Statement of Cash Flows is prepared using the
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direct method. This method, in essence, captures and summa-
rizes all cash disbursements and collections for the year.
Field accounting activities report the financial data to the
Defense Finance and Accounting Service - Indianapolis Center
for consolidation into the Army departmental financial
statements. Under this structure, the field accounting
records constitute the subsidiary ledgers to support the
Army totals. However, the accounting offices didn't have
complete sets of automated subsidiary records (subsidiary
ledgers) . Lacking subsidiary ledgers, we couldn't sample
and test transactions supporting the amounts used to prepare
the Army's financial statements. As the most severe exam-
ple, the Standard Operations and Maintenance Army Research
and Development System (SOMARDS) didn't retain all of the
detailed transactions for the year, a problem previously
noted by the General Accounting Office. We worked with
management to correct this problem, and it shouldn't be an
issue in future audits. The other accounting systems did
retain all transactions, but lacked detailed subsidiary
ledgers, and therefore also weren't auditable.

We also found other problems which caused the Cash Flow
Statement to be unreliable:

- Equipment purchases weren't properly posted to the
general ledger because the systems weren't set up to
recognize such transactions. Disbursements for capital
equipment purchases, which should have been reported as
assets, were instead treated as expenses.

- The accounting systems didn't post accounts payable to
the general ledger. Consequently, the Army reported
about $6.7 billion in accounts payable (excluding civil
works) as of 30 September 1993, but didn't have sup-
porting subsidiary records.

- Accounting procedures focused on budget execution
rather than the general ledger. Accounting personnel
generally only understood single entry data (commit-
ments, obligations, disbursements) , and didn't know how
these transactions affected other accounts.

- Procedures for preparing collection and disbursement
vouchers didn't produce adequate audit trails. The
documentation either couldn't be found, or it took an
unreasonably long time—up to four months—for account-
ing personnel to locate the vouchers. The absence of
vouchers precluded us from testing and validating the
transactions we selected for audit.

Accounting for Disbursements

Accounting offices continue to have problems accounting for
disbursements accurately. Our review showed that contract
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disbursements by the Defense Finance and Accounting Service
- Columbus Center were often posted by field accounting
offices based on the availability of unliquidated obliga-
tions rather than correctly matching the disbursements to
the appropriate obligations. This occurred because the data
coming from the contract management and accounting systems
wasn't accurate, and was exacerbated because field office
accounting technicians didn't have the time to research and
correctly record the payments. The technicians are under
significant amounts of pressure to post the disbursements
quickly, to keep the level of undistributed (unposted)
disbursements down and to avoid creating negative unliqui-
dated obligations (payments in excess of the obligated
amount)

.

In response to the numerous audits on this subject, the
Defense Finance and Accounting Service established an undis-
tributed disbursements project in July 1993. The project
has a broad charter to include investigating the many fac-
tors causing the inaccuracies in the obligation and dis-
bursement data in the contract management system. Also, the
Army placed substantial emphasis on reducing the dollar
value of undistributed disbursements, and the undistributed
amount at the end of FY 93 was about $1 billion less than at
the end of FY 92. However, until the contract management
and accounting system problems are resolved, the inaccurate
recording of disbursements is likely to persist.

Managing Advances

Accounting offices didn't manage outstanding travel advances
adequately, and didn't accurately record advances in the
accounting records. Our sample showed that about 69 percent
of the advances were delinquent. However, the accounting
offices didn't follow up on the outstanding amounts or
perform monthly reconciliations to identify and resolve
errors. Furthermore, the advances and prepayments line on
the Statement of Financial Position contained misleading
information. Delinquent travel advances should have been
transferred to accounts receivable, and about $1.1 billion
of casual. pay, mid-month pay, and pay advances should have
been recorded in another general ledger account. These
errors 'could mislead users of the financial information.

During the audit, as a result of a coordinated effort by
Army and Finance Service managers, total outstanding travel
advances were reduced by about $16.8 million as of
30 April 1994 from a total of $113 million at the end of
FY 93.
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Military and Civilian Payrolls

The Defense Finance and Accounting Service - Indianapolis
Center took aggressive actions to correct previously identi-
fied military payroll problems, making progress in several
areas, but more efforts are needed. Controls at the
installation-level, however, weren't adequate and needed
significant improvement. We recommended several improve-
ments that the Defense Finance and Accounting Service agreed
to institute at both the headquarters and field levels. We
discuss the overall results below, and the detailed results,
recommendations and command comments are in Audit Report
SR 94-486, Army's Military and Civilian Payrolls .

Military Personnel and Payroll Interface

The Indianapolis Center took several actions to correct
problems involving unauthorized payments to soldiers. In
its audit of the Army's FY 92 financial statements, the
General Accounting Office found about 2,200 mismatches
between the Army payroll and personnel systems, and identi-
fied soldier overpayments of about $6.1 million. Since
then, the Indianapolis Center instituted several new inter-
nal control procedures for detecting unauthorized payments
to soldiers. The controls consisted of various comparisons
and queries of the personnel and payroll databases, and
provided greatly improved capabilities to identify and
prevent the continuation of unauthorized payments. The
March 1994 comparison showed only 199 mismatches between the
personnel and payroll databases, and only one case appeared
suspicious (and was referred for legal investigation)

.

Additionally, the Indianapolis Center and the Army started
developing an automated interface between the personnel and
payroll systems to prevent unauthorized payments from occur-
ring. The Indianapolis Center identified 31 payroll events
that the Air Force had interfaced between its personnel and
pay systems. The Army determined that 17 of the events
could be interfaced by the end of 1994, and the remaining 14
would require systems reprogramming that should be completed
by 1996. This is a good start, but a comprehensive review
of the two systems is needed to identify all possible inter-
faces. We identified 19 additional payroll events that
could be interfaced, and there may be more. Beyond that,
the ultimate goal of the Army and the Indianapolis Center
should be to develop a single, integrated personnel and
payroll system that would serve the needs of both functions.

Maximizing the interface between the personnel and payroll
systems will also reduce workload at military pay offices.
An independent analysis showed that interfacing the 50 iden-
tified payroll events, when operational, will decrease
workload by at least 405 workyears at the military pay
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offices. This in turn should reduce the rates the Defense
Finances and Accounting Service charges the Army to process
military payroll.

Controls at Installations - Military Pay

Installation military pay offices didn't have adequate
internal controls in place to ensure that payroll records
for individual soldiers were accurate and that pay offices
couldn't make unauthorized payments. Military pay offices
didn't sufficiently restrict access to the payroll system,
and didn't conduct all the necessary reviews of the payroll
records. Also, unit commanders didn't effectively use the
Unit Commanders Finance Report to ensure that soldiers were
paid accurately. Until the personnel and payroll systems
are fully interfaced or an integrated system is developed,
all parties involved in the process must place added empha-
sis on ensuring that only authorized personnel are paid.

During the audit, we were informed of initiatives by
installation-level Army managers—assisted by Finance
Service personnel—to automate comparisons of the type which
we recommended be done manually. Although we didn't audit
these initiatives (we didn't hear about them until after our
field work was completed) , based on the descriptions pro-
vided to us, the initiatives appear highly productive. We
were also told that the Finance Service planned to promul-
gate these automated comparisons to all Army installations.
We plan to evaluate this topic in detail during our audit of
the Army's FY 94 financial statements.

Summarizing and Reporting Military Pay Data

Although the Indianapolis Center placed considerable empha-
sis on improving its process for summarizing and reporting
Army payroll data, it still made several errors. The
General Accounting Office previously identified problems
with the summarization and reporting process that caused
underpayments in federal tax remittances. Despite extensive
efforts, however, Indianapolis Center personnel still
couldn't reconcile gross and net payroll data as summarized
by the military payroll system. They did establish proce-
dures to ensure proper remittance of Federal taxes, but
errors in reporting State payroll taxes caused a $28 million
negative balance. The Indianapolis Center stated that they
reviewed the problem and determined that they actually
overpaid the States by about $2.4 million. The overpaid
amounts were recovered in FY 94.

The Indianapolis Center also understated accrued annual
leave for both military and civilian pay on the Statement of
Financial Position. For the military annual leave accrual.
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the Indianapolis Center relied on data provided by the
Denver Center (the Denver Center developed the military
payroll system now used to pay Army soldiers) . However, the
calculation didn't include the Army's share of payroll
taxes—about $92 million. For the civilian leave accrual,
the Indianapolis Center was unable to report an accurate
amount because it didn't receive accurate data from some
civilian pay offices.

Civilian Pay

Controls at civilian pay offices were generally adequate to
ensure that civilian employees were paid accurately. We did
find some internal control weaknesses at the local level
(such as reporting accrued annual leave) , but these were
compliance issues that were reported to the responsible
commands and pay offices.

Military Equipment

Although we noted some progress, overall procedures and
controls weren't adequate to ensure that $12 5 billion of
military equipment was accurately reported in the Statement
of Financial Position. Unit property books were generally
accurate for items with a unit price of $15,000 or more
($15,000 was the capitalization threshold for assets
acquired during FY 92 and FY 93) . The Army also made prog-
ress in reporting the value of equipment held by Active Army
tactical units, but more improvements were needed. Addi-
tionally, we found significant problems with the equipment
values reported by non-tactical activities, and with equip-
ment in transit to all Army units and activities. Details
of the audit results, recommendations and the command com-
ments are in Audit Report WR 94-473, Retail Military
Equipment .

Tactical Units

The Army has made concerted efforts to address problems with
the Continuing Balance System - Expanded identified by the
General Accounting Office during its audit of the Army's
FY 92 financial statements. The Army has made the area a
special interest item for logistics inspection teams. We
also found that:

- Overall compatibility rates between unit property books
and the Continuing Balance System - Expanded (the
system from which the financial statement dollar value
for equipment at tactical units is obtained) improved
from 89 percent to 93 percent between FY 92 and FY 93,
but didn't meet the 95 percent goal.
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- Asset balance volatility (fluctuations) has been
reduced.

Continued emphasis in these areas should help improve the
accuracy and reliability of the Continuing Balance System -

Expanded.

The Army also began developing an automated interface
between the tactical units' property book system and the
standard accounting system. This will allow the units to
report their equipment totals directly to the general ledger
instead of using data extracts from the Continuing Balance
System - Expanded. The interface is expected to be com-
pleted in 1995. We believe this is appropriate, as it will
make the unit property books—which are the accountable
records—the subsidiary documentation for the financial
statement records. However, this is an interim measure, and
doesn't satisfy the long term requirement for a fully inte-
grated, transaction-based accounting and management system.
Ultimately, the new DOD accounting systems should address
both the Army's asset management and accounting needs.
Until then, the Continuing Balance System - Expanded will
remain an important tool for logistics management and deci-
sion making purposes, and the Army needs to continue its
efforts to improve the accuracy and reliability of the data
provided by this system.

Non-Tactical Activities

We found significant control problems with the Army's proce-
dures for reporting equipment held by non-tactical
activities. We found that:

- Some property books weren't identified and reported for
inclusion in the financial statements. Accounting
offices didn't request input from 7 of the 13 activi-
ties we audited.

- Accounting offices sometimes didn't use appropriate
cut-off dates for reporting purposes. Only one of the
four offices reviewed used a 30 September 1993 cut-off
date. Others used various dates ranging back to FY 92
yearend

.

- Property book officers sometimes didn't use current
equipment prices when computing their yearend totals.

These compliance problems resulted in a discrepancy of about
$715 million between the $2.2 billion recorded in the prop-
erty books and the $1.5 billion reported in the financial
statements for the 13 activities.
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Equipment In Transit

Data in the Continuing Balance System - Expanded on equip-
ment in transit was inaccurate and incomplete. We found
that about 92 percent of the sampled in-transit transactions
weren't valid, primarily because the receiving activities
didn't process the necessary receipt documents. Army offi-
cials were aware of many of the problems in this area and
were making efforts to correct system shortfalls. These
initiatives should help reduce some of the inaccuracies, but
the biggest problem continues to be with the receiving
activities. Until this compliance problem is resolved.
Continuing Balance System - Expanded records for equipment
in transit will be significantly erroneous, and the data
won't be useful for functional or financial management
purposes.

We also found that equipment in transit to non-tactical
activities and National Guard units weren't reported to the
general ledger. As of 30 September 1993, the Continuing
Balance System - Expanded showed about $3.1 billion in
transit to these activities. However, because the
in-transit data in the System appears to be highly inaccu-
rate, we couldn't estimate the amount that should be added
to the financial statements for the non-tactical activities
and National Guard units. We intend to pursue this topic
further during our audit of the Army's FY 94 financial
statements.

Real Property

Previously reported control weaknesses in real property
accountability continue to exist. Although the Army began
addressing the General Accounting Office recommendations
from prior audits, none have been fully implemented. The
two key problem areas directly affecting the financial
integrity of real property records—accuracy of installation
property records and reconciliations between the general
ledger and the Integrated Facilities System—still have not
been corrected.

- Most major commands have not conducted on-site reviews
to validate installation real property records. Until
those reviews are completed, the Army won't have rea-
sonable assurance as to the accuracy of the reported
$3 billion in real property.

- The general ledger and real property records are still
about $500 million out of balance. We recommended, and
the Army has agreed to develop, a new reconciliation
process to solve this problem.
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One reason for the limited progress in this area is that
management and financial reporting responsibilities are
split between the Assistant Chief of Staff for Installation
Management and the Corps of Engineers. The Army established
the Office of the Assistant Chief of Staff for Installation
Management in 1993 to help centralize responsibility for
installation operations. However, this action didn't cen-
tralize control over financial aspects of real property
management. To solve this problem, we recommended that
responsibilities for all installation real property manage-
ment functions be consolidated under the Assistant Chief of
Staff for Installation Management.

We address these issues in detail, including our recommenda-
tions and command's comments, in Audit Report HQ 94-452,
FollowuD Issues .

Government Furnished Property

The Army made little progress to improve financial account-
ability for government furnished property. Based on previ-
ous audit recommendations, the Army used contractor-reported
balances as the source data for financial reporting
purposes. However, the contractor information wasn't segre-
gated between the Army general fund and the Defense Business
Operations Fund. We also found that the forms the contrac-
tors were required to use to report government property
weren't compatible with the information requirements for
general ledger reporting. As a result, the Army had to use
estimating techniques to allocate $16.6 billion of govern-
ment furnished property between Statements of Financial
Position for the Army's General Fund and the Defense
Business Operations Fund.

This problem is likely to continue until the new DOD finan-
cial accounting system is fielded, but there are some
interim measures we recommended that the Army can take to
help improve the reporting process. Additionally, the Army
needs to take a proactive approach to identify its data and
information requirements for government furnished property
and make sure those requirements are addressed by the DOD
system being developed.

The Army agreed to implement our recommendations and also
requested our assistance to help resolve some of the report-
ing problems. Detailed audit results, including our recom-
mendations and command's comments, are in Audit Report
HQ 94-452, Followup Issues .
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Conventional Ammunition

The reported inventory balances for ammunition components
were accurate. We determined that the activity custodial
records and the headquarters accountable records for inven-
tory valued at about $2 billion were accurate. This
improved accountability occurred because the Army took
effective actions to implement prior audit recommendations.
The U.S. Army Armament, Munitions and Chemical Command
improved

:

- Controls to complete automated matches between the
accountable records at command headquarters and the
custodial records at ammunition plants.

- Procedures for researching inventory discrepancies and
taking followup actions.

- Management control and oversight over components in a

work-in-process status, decreasing the previously
excessive onhand quantities from $395 million to about
$178 million—a 55 percent reduction.

We also identified the conventional ammunition area as an
opportunity for the Army to prepare subsidiary financial
statements. Currently, financial reporting for ammunition
operations relate only to the Conventional Ammunition Work-
ing Capital Fund, a revolving fund that requires financial
statements under the Chief Financial Officers Act. The Fund
only covers the direct costs of buying components and assem-
bling them into end items. We believe the statements would
be more useful if they encompassed the Army's broader mis-
sion as the DOD Single Manager for Conventional Ammunition.
While the financial data on the Single Manager mission that
isn't shown in the Working Capital Fund Statements is

included in the Army's consolidated financial statements, it

isn't useful to ammunition managers in that format. Com-
plete financial statements for the entire ammunition func-
tional area would provide better management control and
oversight of the total costs and resources required to
produce, store and manage ammunition.

The Army stated that it fully supports the concept of pro-
prietary financial statements for the Single Manager
mission. However, it didn't concur with our recommendation
to prepare the statements immediately, citing systems short-
falls and the costs versus benefits of preparing such
statements. Detailed audit results, along with our recom-
mendations and command's comments are in Audit Report
NR 94-466, Financial Reporting of Conventional Ammunition .
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Corps of Engineers - Civil Worlts

The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers prepared FY 93 financial
statements for its Civil Works operations and asked us to
audit them. The Corps' decision to subject its financial
statements to audit demonstrates its willingness to work
toward improving financial management. Several of the
problems we reported were known and acknowledged by the
Corps. In these cases, we worked with the Corps to deter-
mine the magnitude of the problems, their causes, and what
progress had been made to resolve them. The Corps agreed to
implement virtually all of the recommendations to correct
the financial management problems disclosed by our audit.
The audit opinion and complete details on the audit results,
recommendations and command's comments are in Audit Report
SR 94-481, FY 93 Financial Statements - Civil Works .

Conditions Found in Previous Audits

The Corps didn't make adequate progress in correcting condi-
tions found by the General Accounting Office in previous
audits of the Army's financial statements. In following up
on the recommended corrective actions, we found the
following conditions:

- Completed construction projects were included in the
Corps' construction- in-progress account for both civil
works and military construction projects. We estimated
about $6 billion of the $23.3 billion total as of
30 September 1993 was actually attributable to
completed projects.

- Design and engineering costs weren't included in the
costs of completed military projects transferred to DOD
customers. Latest available studies showed these costs
averaged 8.3 percent of the projects' total costs.

- The Corps made some improvements in accountable con-
trols for equipment, but additional improvements were
needed in accounting for $1.3 billion of equipment, and
reconciling the equipment values with subsidiary
records

.

- Real property values of about $32.6 billion reported in
the financial statements weren't adequately supported
by information in the subsidiary records.

- The Corps hadn't implemented controls to formally
recognize obligations when awarding contracts for
capital assets using its revolving fund.
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Financial iVIanagement Practices

Financial management practices, particularly in the areas of
accounts receivable and cost management, needed significant
improvement to ensure proper stewardship of funds and fiscal
integrity in the financial management structure.

Corps personnel didn't aggressively pursue the collection of
funds owed the Corps. They didn't age accounts receivable
correctly or implement adequate followup procedures on
delinquent receivables. As of 30 September 1993, the Corps
had about $20 million of current receivables, and about
$13 million (65 percent) were delinquent. The receivables
weren't collected because the district offices didn't take
aggressive action, and in some cases, didn't perceive it as
their responsibility.

Weaknesses in controls over cost management practices may
have resulted in inaccurate and misleading data. Corps
senior management officials recognize the importance of
accurate accounting for costs, and emphasized it to the
field activities. Despite this emphasis, however, we found
that labor costs were improperly charged to other projects
or overhead to avoid cost overruns. Also, management con-
trols over indirect cost accounts weren't sufficient, dis-
torting project costs and setting the stage for large
deficits and, possibly, the insolvency of the Corps'
revolving fund.

Financial Management Systems

The Corps' current financial system (Corps of Engineers
Management Information System) didn't incorporate a
transaction-based general ledger and prevented the Corps
from reporting reliable financial information. Several key
lines on the Corps' financial statements weren't produced
from, or supported by, either a general ledger or subsidiary
accounting records.

The Corps has a major opportunity to make significant
improvements in its financial systems in the near future
with the impending deployment of a new financial management
system called the Corps of Engineers Financial Management
System (CEFMS) . It is essential, however, that the current
financial data be corrected prior to transfer, or the iden-
tified deficiencies will be perpetuated in the new financial
system.
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REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Army's FY 93 Financial Statanents- -Audit Opinion (HQ 94-450) Laws and Regulations/Page 35



125

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

We identified instances of material noncompliance with
selected laws and regulations. An instance of material
noncompliance is reportable if it could result in a material
misstatement to the financial statements, or if the sensi-
tivity of the matter would cause others to perceive it as
significant.

Most of the noncompliance problems we identified were
directly or indirectly tied to internal control weaknesses.
As such, they are discussed in the Report on Internal Con-
trols section of this report. However, we also identified
three additional areas where we believe the Army is not in
compliance with established accounting standards or audit
policies:

- The Army is restricted by DOD Comptroller policies from
properly reporting contingent liabilities and war
reserve munitions.

- The legal representation letter we received from the
Office of the General Counsel doesn't meet the finan-
cial statement disclosure requirements.

- Management representations prepared by the Army and the
Defense Finance and Accounting Service - Indianapolis
Center didn't meet the Inspector General, DOD audit
policy guidance.

For those laws and regulations we didn't test for compli-
ance, nothing came to our attention to indicate any material
problems, or noncompliance.

DOD Comptroller Policies

In its audit of the Army's FY 92 financial statements, the
General Accounting Office took exception to DOD Comptroller
policies regarding contingent liabilities and ammunition,
and their exclusion from the Army's Statement of Financial
Position. We reviewed these issues in detail and concur
with the General Accounting Office position in both
instances. Current guidance requires that they should be
reflected in the Statement of Financial Position. We recom-
mended that DOD change its policies on these issues, but it
declined, stating that it would continue to follow current
DOD policies until the Financial Accounting Standards Advi-
sory Board makes a final recommendation that's accepted and
promulgated by the Office of Management and Budget. The
issues are summarized below, and discussed in detail, along
with the DOD Comptroller response, in Audit Report
HQ 94-451, DOD Policy Issues .
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Contingent Liabilities

DOD policy doesn't comply with Office of Management and
Budget reporting requirements for probable contingent lia-
bilities. The latest guidance issued by the Office of
Management and Budget specifically requires that Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards Number 5 (Accounting for
Contingencies) should be followed for contingent liability
presentation. Statement 5 calls for probable contingencies
(those likely to occur) to be recorded in the Statement of
Financial Position. The Army estimated probable contingent
liabilities as of 30 September 1993 at about $25.7 billion-
Current DOD guidance, however, directs that probable contin-
gent liabilities be disclosed in the footnotes only, and not
recorded as a liability in the Statement of Financial Posi-
tion. Consequently, liabilities were significantly
understated.

Ammunition and Missiles

About $6.4 billion of the Army's war reserve ammunition and
missiles, held as war reserves at intermediate supply points
and installations, weren't included as assets in the State-
ment of Financial Position. War reserves are maintained for
use in the event of future conflicts. They are not pro-
grammed for use during a specific accounting period.
Accounting standards prescribe that such items should be
treated as assets. DOD policy, however, dictates that only
war reserves stocked at wholesale supply activities should
be recorded in the Statement of Financial Position, and all
other war reserve munitions are excluded. Consequently,
non-financial assets were significantly understated.

Legal Representation Letter

We were unable to determine the monetary effects of litiga-
tion, claims and assessments against the Army. This repre-
sented a significant scope limitation to our attempt to
quantify the amount of contingent liabilities that should
have been disclosed. The legal representation letter we
received from the Office of the General Counsel didn't
address litigation, claims and assessments for items below
the established reporting threshold for individual cases of
$100 million, but which in the aggregate exceeded
$300 million. In the footnotes to its FY 92 financial
statements, the Army reported that it was involved in
approximately 10,000 litigation actions with a potential for
more than $12 billion in ultimate losses. No such disclo-
sure was included in the FY 93 footnotes. We recognize that
it is highly unlikely that the Army will lose all of the
pending cases, and that the Army's liability in each case is
limited to certain dollar amounts, with the remainder being
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paid out of the Judgment Fund maintained by the Department
of Justice. However, the legal representation letter didn't
comment on the potential Army losses, and the financial
statements didn't accrue a liability for litigation loss.
As a result, the liability for litigation loss may be
significantly understated.

The Army General Counsel prepared the legal representation
letter in accordance with guidance from the DOD General
Counsel. The DOD General Counsel is working with the
Inspector General, DOD to resolve the problem.

Management Representations

The Inspector General, DOD and the Comptroller, DOD have
conflicting guidance regarding management representation
letters. The management representation letter is intended
to be a document whereby management discloses information to
the auditors about the financial statement contents and
preparation process.

As it applies to the Army, audit policy issued by the
Inspector General, DOD states that the management represen-
tation letter should be signed by the Secretary of the Army
and the Assistant Secretary of the Army (Financial Manage-
ment) . The audit policy guidance also states that the
Defense Finance and Accounting Service, as the Army's
accountant, should provide a management representation
letter as input to the Army's representation letter to the
auditors. The corresponding guidance issued by the Comp-
troller, DOD requires that the Army's representation letter
be signed only by the Assistant Secretary (Financial Manage-
ment) . Further, the Comptroller's guidance requires the
Defense Finance and Accounting Service to certify to the
Army that the statements were prepared using appropriate
accounting data, but directs it not to provide a separate
management representation letter to the Army.

The Army and the Defense Finance and Accounting Service
followed the Comptroller, DOD guidance during our audit.
The Inspector General, DOD position is that not following
its audit policy guidance should be disclosed in our report,
and should be considered in deciding the type of opinion to
render. The other problems disclosed by our audit (which
are summarized in the Auditor's Opinion section of this
report) dictated that we couldn't offer an opinion on the
Army's financial statements, so the problem caused by the
conflicting guidance didn't affect our conclusions. How-
ever, this problem, if not resolved, could affect our audit
opinion in future years.
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REPORT ON PERFORMANCE MEASURES
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PERFORMANCE MEASURES

The Army made significant progress between the FY 92 and
FY 93 financial reports on the program performance measures
and data reported. For FY. 92, the Army reported only four
program performance measures and didn't include any perfor-
mance data. In the FY 93 statements, the Army reported
32 program performance measures, and included performance
data for 13 of those measures.

The Army's program performance measures presented program
execution data that was regularly used by all levels of
management to assess the status of Army programs and readi-
ness. Thus, the measures and data represented information
that the Army placed great value on in its day-to-day pro-
gram management and evaluation. As such, they were signifi-
cant measures of performance and met requirements set forth
in guidance issued by the Office of Management and Budget
and DOD.

Notwithstanding the significant progress made, much remains
to be done to develop a complete network of systematic
performance measures. The FY 93 program performance mea-
sures used data that was already in use within the Army to
monitor and manage program execution. This was a good
starting point. However, the reported measures weren't
linked, but instead were stand-alone input, output and
outcome measures, and the associated financial data was
reported at the macro rather than program level. The Army
should begin to identify the linkage between input, output
and outcome measures, and the associated cost measurement
data. This process is needed to give more meaning to the
financial data presented in the Army's financial statements,
and will also be necessary to enable the Army to accomplish
the performance measurement and evaluation processes called
for by the Government Performance and Results Act and the
National Performance Review.
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AUDIT SCOPE AND METHODOLOGY
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AUDIT SCOPE AND METHODOLOGY

Army management, with support provided by the Defense
Finance and Accounting Service, is responsible for:

- Preparing the annual financial statements in conformity
with applicable accounting principles.

- Establishing and maintaining internal controls and
systems to provide reasonable assurance that the broad
control objectives of the Federal Managers' Financial
Integrity Act are met.

- Complying with applicable laws and regulations.

We are responsible for auditing the financial statements and
evaluating related internal controls and compliance with
laws and regulations. In carrying out these
responsibilities, we:

- Examined, on a test basis, evidence supporting amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements.

- Assessed the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management.

- Evaluated the overall presentation of the Statement of
Financial Position and the Statement of Cash Flows.

- Evaluated and tested relevant internal controls
encompass ing

:

o Financial statement preparation procedures.

o Cash collections and disbursements.

o Military and civilian payroll.

o Military equipment.

o Real property.

o Government property furnished to contractors.

o Conventional ammunition.

o Corps of Engineers civil works functions.

- Tested compliance with selected laws and regulations.

- Assessed performance measurement information in the
Overview section of the annual financial report.
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Except for the limitations we described on the scope of our
work on the principal financial statements, internal con-
trols, and compliance with laws and regulations described
throughout the report, we performed our work in accordance
with generally accepted government auditing standards and
Office of Management and Budget Bulletin 93-06, Audit
Recmirements for Federal Financial Statements .
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ANNEX A

Principal Statements

PRINCIPAL
STATEMENTS

The Anny's FY 1993 Principal Financial Statements are presented in the fonnat prescribed by

the Office of Management and Budget and the Department of Defense. The statements present the

overall financial position and operating results of the Army for the fiscal year ended September 30,

1993. The following statements are included as Army's Principal Statements.

- Statement of Financial Position

- Statement of Operations (and Changes in Net Position)

- Statement of Cash Flows pirect MeAod)

- Statement of Budget and Actual Expenses

The statements include Army and Corps of Engineers (Civil Works) financial results rounded

to thousands. The accompanying footnotes have been cross-referenced to the appropriate accounts

and should be considered an integral pan of the principal statements.

The following limitations apply to the statements.

- The financial statements have been prepared to report the financial position and results of

operations of the entity, pursuant to the requirements of the Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990.

- While the statements have been prqiared from the books and records of the entity in

accordance with the formats prescribed by the Office of Management and Budget, the statements

are different from the financial reports used to monitor and control budgetary resources, which are

prepared from the same books and records.

- The statements should be read with the realization that they are for a component of a

sovereign entity, that liabilities not covered by budgetary resources cannot be liquidated without

the enactment of an appropriation, and that the payment of all liabilities other than for contracts

can be abrogated by the sovereign entity.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

Fiscal Year 1993 Annual Financial Report
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ANNEX A

Principal Statements

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

Fiscal Year 1993 Annual Financial Report

Department/Ageacy: Department of the Army
Reporting Entity: Principal Statements

Statement of Financial Position

as of Septonber 30, 1993

(Thousands)

LIABILITIES Continued

i. Other Funded Liabilities, Non-Federal (Note IS)

j. Intragoverameotal Liabilities

(1) AccounU Payable, Federal (Note U & 26)

(2) Debt (Note 27E)

(3) Deferred Revenue (Note 13)

(4) Other Funded Liabilities, Federal (Note 15)

k. Total Funded Liabilities

5. Unfunded Liabilities:

a. Accrued Leave (Note 16)

b. Lease Liabilities (Note 10)

c. Debt (Note 27E)

d. Pensions and Other Actuarial Liabilities (Note 14)

e. Other Unfunded Liabilities (Notel7 & 19)

{. Total Unfunded Liabilities

6. TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET POSITION

7. Fund Balances: (Note 18)

a. Revolving Fund Balances 1,696,894 2,084,019

b. Trust Fund Balances 1,702,101 1,811,872

c. Appropriated Fund Bahmces 275,624,526 273,761,977

d. Total Fund Balances S279.023.S21 S277.6S7.868

8. Less Future Funding Requirements (Note 17 & 18) 2,097,862 2.625.303

9. Net Position S276.925.6S9 S275.032.S6S

10. Total liabilities and Net Position $292,436,559 S292,849,798

tm
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Principal Statements

Department/Agency: Department of the Anny
Reporting Entity: Principal Statements
Statement of Operations (and Qianges in Net Position)

for Period Ended September 30, 1993
(Thousands)

EXPENSES Contiinied 1993 1992

21. Nel Position, Beginning Balince $275,032,565 $328,450,122

22. Excess (Shortage) of Revenues md Financing

Sources Over Tool Expenses (1,580.369) 1,225,724

23. Plus (Minus) Equity Transfers (Note 25) 3.473.463 (54.643.281)

24. Net Position, Ending Balance $276,925,659 $275,032,565

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

Fiscal Year 1993 Annual Financial Report

An«7>» FY 93 Fin«ncUl Statements—Audit Opinion (HQ 94-450) Annex A/Page A-6



139

ANNEX A

Principal Statements

Department/Agency: Department of the Army
Reporting Entity: Principal Statements

Sutement of Cash Flows (Direct) (Note 27)

for the Period Ended S^tember 30, 1993

(Thousands)

CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACI'lVniES:

Cash Provided:

1. Tax CoUecdons

2. Sales of Goods and Services (Note 26)

3. Interest and Penalties

4. Benefit Programs

5. Insurance and Guarantee Programs

6. Other Operating Cash Provided

7. Total Cash Provided

Cash Used:

8. Goods and Services (Note 26)

9. Penonnel Services and Benefits

10. Tnr/d and Transportation

11. Reot, Communications and Utilities

12. Printing and Reproduction

13. Other Contractual Services

14. Supplies and Materials

15. Insurance Claims and Indemnities

16. Grants, Subsidies and Indemnities

17. Other Operating Cash Used

18. Total Cash Used

19. Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities

CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

20. Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment

21

.

Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment

22. Sale of Securities

23. Purchase of Securities

24. Collection of Long-Term hoais Receivable

25

.

Creation of Long-Term Loans Receivable

26. Other Investing Cash Provided (Used)

27. Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities

1993

$11,168,988

7,458

4,101

1992

$14,386,268

13,666

(52.878)

$11,180,547
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Principal Statements

Department/Agency: Department of the Army
Reporting Entity: Principal Statements
Statonent of Cash Flows (Direct) (Note 27)

for the Period Ended September 30, 1993
(Thousands)

CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY FINANCING ACTlVri'lES

28. Appropriatioos (Current Wurants)

29. Add:

a. Restorations

b. Transfers of Cash From Others

30. Deduct:

a. Withdrawals

b. Transfers of Cash To Others

31. Net Apptopriatiaas

32. Borrowing from (he Public

33. Repayments on Loans to the Public

34. Borrowing from the Treasury and

the Federal Finaitcing Bank

35. Repayments on Loans from die Treasury

and the Federal Fmancing Bank

36. Other Borrowings and Rep^meots

37. Net Cash Provided (Used) by Fmancing Activities

38. Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating. Non- Operating

and Financing Activities

39. Fund Balances with Treasury, Cash, and

Foreign Current^, Beginmng

40. Fund Balances with Treasury, Cash, and

Foreign Currency, Ending

1993 1992

$65,127,873 $71,089,373

5.945,856 7.914,361

647,883 239,896

873.409 1,890,385

$69,552,437 $76,873,453

$69,552,437 $76,873,453

($6,373,383) ($6,249,804)

$41,749,872 $47,999,676

$35,376,489 $41,749,872

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

Fiscal Year 1993 Annual Financial Report
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ANNEX A

Principal Statements

Department/Agency: Department of the Army
Reporting Entity: Principal Statements
Statement of Budget and Actual Expenses (Note 27)

for the Period Ended September 30, 1993
(Thousands)

BUDGET ACTUAL

Program
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Footnotes
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Principal

Statements
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ANNEX A

Footnotes

Footnotes to the Principal Statements

Note 1 Summary ofSignificaM Accounting Policies

A. Reporting Entity and Basis of Consolidation

The United States Army is the largest component in terms ofpersonnel ofthe Department of

Defense. The Army's principal mission is to achieve total force readiness and provide a credible

deterrence against any threat to the peace and security ofthe Nation, and ifnecessary, to fight and

win America's battles.

The Ann/s CFO financial statements are prepared fi-om a consolidation ofaccounting informa-

tion reported fi'om various installation systems, accounts offices (majorcommands) and DFAS-IN.

The consolidated information is maintained inthe Headquarters Accounting and Reporting System

(HQARS) departmental general ledger located at DFAS-IN. Financial resources and liabilities in the

Statement ofFinandal Position are derived fi'om general ledger accounts which reflect information in

theyear-end departmental budget execution and expenditure reports. Departmental budget execution

reports are prepared firom installation reports that are certified for accuracy and completeness by

installationcommanders. Non-financial resources are primarily derived fi'om general ledger reported

data. Amounts reported in the Statement ofOperations and Statement ofBudget and Actual Ex-

penses are primarily derived from general ledger reported data. The Statement ofCash Flows (Direct

Method) is prepared by using budget execution reports. The accompanying financial statements

account for Department ofArmy (21) and Civil Works (96) fimds (See Supplemental Financial

Statement Analysis Section). Identifiable balances for intra-agency transactions have been eliminated

through the use ofdata elements resident in theHQARS . Information on classified operations has

been aggregated and reported in such a manner that it is no longer classified.

B. Accounting Standards

Pending the issuance offinal accounting standards as approved by the Federal Accounting

Standards AdvisoryBoard, thefoUowinghierarchy ofaccountingprinciples and standards, which

constitute an "other comprehensive basis ofaccounting" were used for preparing these financial

statements:

- "OSD ComptrollerDoD Guidance on Form and ContentofFinancial Statements forFY 1993

and 1 994 Financial Activity", dated January 12, 1994;

- Form and Content Requirements included in Office ofManagement and BudgetBulletins 93-02

and 94-01;

- DoD Accounting Manual

To the extent that accounting issues are not fiilly covered by Ae preceding, the Army follows

guidance promulgated by the Comptroller General, Director of0MB, the Secretary offte Treasuty,

and the individual standards agreed to and published bythe Joint FinancialManagementImprovement

Program principals. These standards presently include Statementon Federal Financial Accounting

Standards (SFFAS) Nos. I -3 and are incorporated in0MB Bulletin 94-0 1

.

Fiscal Yew 1993 Annual Financial Report
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ANNEX A

Footnotes

C. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

The Anny's major activities consist ofgeneral, revolving, trust, special and deposit funds. The

accounts are used to fund, execute, and report on the Anny's militaiy and Civil Works functions.

General funds contain the bulk ofcongressional appropriations, including personnel, operatons, re-

search and development, investmentand construction accounts. The ConventionalAmmunition

WorkingCapital revolvingfimd accounts forthe procurement, production, storage, distribution, mainte-

nance, and demilitarization ofconventional ammunition for all services. The CivilWorks revolving

fund is used for the acquisition and maintenance ofplant and equipment, temporary financing of

services chargeable to Civil Works functions and to furnish facilities and services to the Army for

military functions and otfiers. Trust funds are used to record the receipt offunds held in trust for the

government and revenues derived fi'om taxes, fees and tolls imposed for use ofU.S. waterways and

ports, as well as, contributions by non-federal interests for expenditures on river and harbor improve-

ments. Special funds are comprised ofreceipt and expenditure accounts that can only be used in

accordance with specific provisions oflaw. Deposit fiinds generally are used to hold assets that are

awaiting legal determination or for which the Army acts as agent or custodian. These accounts m^
also be used for unidentified remittances.

D. Basis of Accounting

Transactions are recorded on an accrual accounting basis and a budgetary basis. Under the

accrual method, revenues are recognized when earned; expenses are recognized in the period a

liability is incurred. The cost ofgoods sold or services provided is recognized when expenses are

incurred. Revenue recognition varies for revolvingfunds. ForCOE revolving fund activities, revenue

accrues at the point the service is completed or on a cost incurred basis. The ammunition fimd

recognizes revenues at the point ofdelivery. The difference between the accrual basis ofaccounting

for expenses and the budgetary basis ofaccounting for expenditures is presented in tiie Statement of

Budget and Actual Expenses financial statement

Accounting policy requires the installation to record the accrual based on receipt ofthe receiving

report For instances where receiving reports are not received by accounting, an adjustment to record

Ae accrual (decrease to undelivered orders and an increase to accounts payable) is system generated

monthly. Departmental accruals are also recognized for those invoices, scheduled for payment within

30 days, which are on hand at month end at the Defense Firumce and Accounting Service - Columbus

Center and the Defense Contract Administrative Services Regions. Accounts Payable and Fund

Balance WithTreasury are also adjusted for the amount ofundistributed disbursements and collections

reported in the departmental expenditure system. These transactions represent Anny's in-float

(undistributed) disbursements for transactions that have not been recorded by the charged fimded

station in the same month the disbursement was processed. The September 30, 1993 in-float

(undistributed) balance was comprised ofTransfer For Others/Transfer By Others (TFO/TBO) ($3.2

billion), Interfimd ($. 1 billion) and CTOss-disbursing ($. 8 billion). Total accountability is systemically

maintained over undistributed transactions which generally-clear within 60 dstys.

E. Revenues and Other Financing Sources

Congress provides financing souices forgeneral fimd revenues through annual and multi-year

appropriations. These appropriations are, when aisthorized, supplemented by revenues generated by

sales ofgoods or services through a reimbursable order process. Revenue is recognized when earned

under the reimbursable process. Donations to the Army are recognized as a financial source upon

Fiscal Year 1993 Axmua] Financial Report
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ANNEX A

Footnotes

acceptance of the donated asset A revenue is recorded for the value ofthe increase to the asset

account Civil Works has an estimated $1.1 billion ofcontinuing contracts for which no orders have

been placed. This represents future contract authority.

In FY 93 Ac Army sold assets to foreign governments under the provisions ofthe Arms Export

Control Act of 1 976. Customers are required to make payments in advance to a Treasury trust fund.

The trust fimd is used to reimburse DoD for tfie cost ofadministering and executing sales. In FY 93

theArmy processed S6.4 billion ingross obligations citingDoD funds or reimbursingArmy fiinds

under the Foreign Military Sales Program.

F. Reclassiflcations

Certain amounts for FY 92 have been reclassified to conform with the FY 93 presentation.

Note 2 Funds with U. S. Treasury, Cash and Foreign Currency

The Army's funding resources are maintained in Treasury receipt and expenditure accounts. The

account balance with Treasury represents the aggregate ofall unexpended Army appropriations. The

fund balance has decreased significantlydueto reductions in funding for military appropriated fiinds.

The Army acts as an agent for the Department ofthe Treasury for cash on hand. Cash in tiie

accounts ofArmy ofiSdals inthe amount of$99.7 million was reported in the financial statements as

"Other Monetary Assets". Other cash reported in the amount of$65. 1 million included imprest fund

and undeposited collections. Army disbursing ofBcers maintained small onhand balances offoreign

currencies when acting as an agent for the Treasury in overseas locations. These foreign currency

balances are reported atthe U.S . Dollar equivalent, totalling $31.3 million, using the exchange rate in

effect on the last day ofdie reporting period. Amounts that have been restricted by Congress, 0MB,
Treasury or DoD have been separately identified inAe schedule.

Fund Balance witb Treasury

Military

UnobligatedBaL Avail.

Available

Restricted

Reserve For Anticip Resource

Obligated (butnot expensed) BaL

Unfunded Contract Auth.

UnusedBorrowingAuth.

Total

OvU
Unobligated BaL Avafl.

Available

Restricted

Obligated (but not expensed) Bal.

Total

Combined FY 93 Total

Combined FY 92 Total

(Thousands)

Revolv- Approp- Other

Trust ing priated Fund

Funds Funds Funds Types Total

$868 $272,151 $4,694,092 $271,512 $5,238,623

1,678,780 1,678,780

27 26,412,210 26,412^7

$895 $272,151 $32,785,082 $271,512 $33,329,640

67,733 162,878 1311.350 l>tl,961

48,007 48,007

67597 213.730 78.846 360.573

$135,730 $376,608 $1^90,1% $48,007 $1,950,541

$136,625 $648,759 $34,175,278 $319,519 $35,280,181

$114,612 $857,110 $40,630,830 $41,151 $41,643,703
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Note 3 Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable include all receivables due from federal and non-federal sources, net of

allowance for estimated uncollectible accounts. Allowances for uncollectible accounts which

amounted to $ 11 6.2 million was based on an analysis ofcollection experience by ftmd type. During

FY 93 the Amiy wrote ofiF$20.2 million in uncollectible receivables.

Note 4 Inventory Held For Sale

There were no inventories held for sale as a result ofthe Army's Stock and Industrial Funds being

transferred to the Defense Business Operations Fund in FY 91. COE purchases supplies as needed

and does not maintain levels ofitems material enough to be considered inventory.

Note S Inventory Not Held For Sale

The inventory not held for sale balances were comprised ofArmy's revolving Conventional

AmmunitionWorking Capital Fund inventory controlled by dieAimyMaterielCommand and govern-

ment fiimished material in tiie hands ofthe contractors.

(Thousands)

CAWCF Inventory FY 93 FY 92

Material and Goods for Own Use $2,100,646 $2,594332

Other 715>t9 929.808

Total $2,816,195 $3,524,140

Note 6 Other Non-Financial Resources

Procurement appropriations andRDT&E fimded inventories were reclassified. In FY 93, aircraft

procurement, procurement ofweapons and tracked combat vehicles and other procurement inventory

were classified as equipment not in use in the property plant and equipment account Missile and

ammunition procurement inventory were recorded inthe odiernon-financial resources account All

procurement and RDT&E fimded work in process was classified as construction in progress and

abnormal balances reported by installations were eliminated. This treatment ofprocurement inventory

is consistent with prior auditor recommendations and DoD's concurrence with the recommendations.

Civil tfiernon-financial resources include revolving fimd plant operations for wiiich the costs and

income pertain to future operations. Other assets include an estimated $7 billion ofmilitary property in

the hands ofcontractors. This estimate is based on the data reported by contractors for military

peculiar property that can include end items and integral components ofmilitary weapons systems.

The contractors maintain the accountable records on government fiimished property for the Army.

DoD policy also requires ammunition and missile inventory issued to the installation to be expensed.

Theamount ofammunition and missile invoitories issued to installations that has not been reflected in

the Army's statement offinancial position is $4.9 billion and $ 1 .5 biUion respectively.
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changes based on a monthly update to the general ledger. Depreciation for revolving fiind property

and equipment were calculated using the straight line method. Depreciation is not recorded for assets

financed by othergeneral fiind appropriations. Civil Works applies depreciation to structures, facilities

and leasehold improvements except forrevolvingfimds

.

The capitalization criteria for assets capitalized afterFV 91 was increased from $5,000 to $1 5,000.

Assets capitalized before FY 91 still use the $5,000 criteria. Due to systems limitations, tiie dual

threshold is generally not maintained and is not always consistently applied. For example, in FY 93 the

Kq>italizalion threshold was increased from $5,000 to $ 1 5,000 for allTOE assets. The Corps of

Engineers - Civil Works and the National Guard Bureau use a $5,000 threshold for reporting real

property and equipment Non-tactical elements such asTDA activities use a variety ofcapitalization

criteria depending on tfie system capabilities which range from the entire property book to $ 1 5,000.

Routine maintenance and repair costs are expensed when incurred. The amount classified as

Equipment in Use and Equipment not inUse was $95 . and $24.4 billion respectively. Documentation

is notavailable to identify $697 million in Civil Works property, plant, and equipment assets that existed

priorto the implementation ofCOEMIS.

Constiuction-in-progress is updated as costs are incurred. An installation capitalizes tfie value of

buildings when they transfer to its control. Gains or losses from transfer ofassets or liabilities be-

tween agencies are not recognized, except when assets are transferred to the Base Realignment and

Closure Account This account is not allowed to acctimulate gains or losses on disposal. Aitygainor

loss must be transferred back to the original/losing command. The account also includes restricted

assets of$505.6 million. The assets represent property furnished by others for structures and facilities

w4uch are located overseas and have been obtained through various international treaties and agree-

ments negotiated by Department of State.

Property, Plant, and Equipment, Net

Classes of Fixed Assets

Military

1. Land

2. Structure, Fatnlities,

and Leasdiold Improvements

3. MilitaryEquipment

4. ADP Software

5. Assets Under Capital Lease

6. Natural Resources

7. Construction in Progress

Total
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Govenunent furnished material and property(GFM/GFP) are reported monthly in the departmen-

tal general ledger. The government furnished material is valued at $ 1 79 millioa This amount was

obtained from two sources — Army fiscal stations and Ae contractors. The fiscal stations directly

reported $ 1 89 millioa The reduction of$ 1 million was an estimate based on the difference between

the amounts reported by the fiscal stations and the contractors. The contractors maintain the account-

able records on government fiimished property for the Army.

Land and buildings should include S3 .7 billion ofreal property in the hands ofcontractors. The

amount for government furnished real property is reported through the Army's real property reporting

systems.

Military Equipment balance includes $5.1 billion ofgovemment furnished equipmentinthehands

ofcontractors. This amount was obtained from two sources — Army fiscal stations and the contrac-

tors. The fiscal stations directly reported $5.9 billioa The reduction of$.8 billion was an estimate

based on tfie difference between the amounts reported by the fiscal stations and the contractors. The

contractors maintain tfte accountable records ongovernment furnished property for the Army.

Construction in Progress balance includes $2.5 billion ofgovemment furnished material in the

hands ofcontractors. This amount was obtained from two sources - Army fiscal stations and tiie

contractors. The fiscal stations directly reported $2.6 billion. The reduction of$. 1 billionwas an

estimate based on the difference between the amounts reported by the fiscal stations and Ae contrac-

tors. The contractors maintain the accountable records on govenunent furnished property for the

Aimy.

FY93 FY92
Woric-in-ProcessGFM $189.2miIIion $281.7million

Construction-in-ProcessGFM $2,451.9million $2,644.9million

Equipment with Contractors $5,059.8 million $5;231.0million

Decreases in the Military Equipment and Construction in Progress accounts as a result of

downsizing are the primary cause for tfie decrease in the account balance. Additional downsizing in

the European Conunand could affect military equipment accounts in the future. Under the drawdown

plan, rather than retum equipmentto the states for disposal, equipment which meets the qualifications

for transfer under the Conventional Armed Forces in Europe Treaty will be free issued to U.S. allies.

Several North Atlantic Treaty Organization allies have accepted excess treaty-limited equipment

Note 11 Accounts Payable

Accounts parable for goods and services are recognized based upon receipt ofa receiving report

providing notification ofacceptance ofgoods or services. CentraUy managed allotments use the cash

basis for accounting to tiie extenttfiat obligations are adjusted basedupon disbursement/collection

activity during the fiscal year.

Accoimts payable is understated by tfie amount ofnegative unliquidated obligations recorded in the

accountingrecords. The majority ofnegative unliquidated obligation balances occurred because

payments were processed by DFAS-CO with an Accounting Classification Reference Number

Fiscal Year 1993 Annual Financial Report
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(ACRN) different than the ACRN used to record the obligatioa DFAS-HQ established a work group
in August 1993 to review the contract administration procedures and implement corrective actions. Of
the$214.4 million negative unliquidated obligations reportedforthequarterendingSeptember 30, 1993,

$8.2 millionwas for actual overpayments to contractors and SI millionwas in litigation resultingfrom
bankruptcy ortertnination ofcontracts.

Note 12 Accrued Payroll attd Ben^Hs

AH military and civilian payroll earned but not paid was accrued in the financial statements as non-

federal. September30, 1993 accnialsformilitarypayreflectS2.0billionformiIitaryand$1.2 billion

for civilian p:^ and benefits. Civil Works accrued payroll and benefits amounted to $ 147 million.

Note 13 D^erred Revatius

Payments received by Anny from entities in advance ofthe delivery ofgoods or performing a

service are treated as unearned revenue and recorded as a liability.

Note 14 Retirement Han

Army militaiy and civilian employees are covered under the retirement plans listed below. No
amounts are reported in the Army's financial statements for employee retiremoit funds, because die

fimds are maintained by the Office ofPersonnel Management and DoD. Overseas coimnands

obligate mission funds to pay separation/severance pay for Foreign Nationals, in accordance with the

Status ofForces Agreements, when they leave the employment ofthe U.S. Government

CSRS

FEES

Annymakes matching contributians equal to 7 percent ofcivilian pxy.

Army contributes to FERS, Social Security and TSP for civilian

employees hired after December 3 1 , 1983, or CSRS employees that

elected to be covered under FERS.

Military Pay Army contributes to ttie Military Pay Retirement Fund for Active

Retirement Fund ComponentandReserve/National Guardmembers.

CSRS
FERS
MRS
Social Security

Total

FERS Thrift Savings Plan

FY 93

$332.7miIIion

3S7.2million

8,496.7million

325.0niillion

S9^I1.6mimon

S92.6mi]lion

FY 92

$260.5 milUon

24S.8million

6,061J million

269.SniilIk)n

$6,837.1 million

$64 million
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Note IS Net Position

Net Position consists ofinvested capital, cumulative results ofoperations, and unexpended appro-

priations less unfunded liabilities. Invested capital represents the net value ofthe AmQ^s capital

assets. Cumulative results ofoperations for working capital fimds represent the excess ofrevenues

over expenses since the fiinds inception, less refiinds to customers and returns to the U.S. Treasury.

Unexpended appropriations represent theamount ofauftority which is eitherunobligated or

unliquidated. An amount due from future financing sources is recognized as an ofiEset to net position

for unfiinded liabilities. These accrued liabilities, such as annual and military leave earned butnot

taken, are not funded when accrued and are financed in the period the p^ments are made.

Fund Balance

Military

1. Unexpended

Appropriations

2. Invested Capital

3. Cumulative Results

ofOperations

4. Transfers

5. Donations

Revolving

Funds

771,394

(Thousands)

Trust Approp.

Funds Funds

$28,508,133

200,553,332

1,488

Total

$28,508,133

200,553,332

772,882

Total
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Note 19 CondngencUs

TheAnny is aparty in various administrative proceedings, legal actions, environmental suits, and

claims brought by or against it which are classified as contingent liabilities. These contingencies

represent fiiture liabilities to Army activities whichmay require additional fimding to liquidate. The
disclosures are being made in the footnotes in accordance withDoD policy forFY 93 contingencies

existing as ofSeptember 30, 1993. Disclosures for contingencies identified afier that periodhave been

identified as a subsequent event

Amounts reported as contingencies in the footnotes are estimates and msy include contingencies

reported by Department ofJustice since we cannot predict with complete accuracy wWch agency will

be impacted at settlement The total Government and Appellant claims as ofSeptember 30, 1 993

were$77.3and$352.1 millionrespectively. Contingent liabilities for Corps ofEngiiieers, CivilWorks
totalledS403 millionforoutstandingadjudicated claims reported by their counsel withinthe42 Dis-

tricts.

The Army is involved innine litigation, asserted claims, and assessment actions over $ 100 miUion

as ofSeptember 30,1 993. The Government was found liable in one ofthejudgements involving a

patent infringementsuit The amountofthe liability may range from$ 100 million to $300 million and

will not be paid from Army fimds. The likely outcomes ofthe remaining seven cases cannot be

determined at this time. The table below discloses the nature ofthe suit and the possible associated

loss.

(Millions)

InverseCondemnation Suit, FL $100

InverseCondemnation Suit,CA $110

Fiduciary Duties to Manage Trust Funds, OK $110

Patent Infiringement Suit $100

Patent Infiingement Suit $125

Alleged MishandlingoflnvestigationClaim $320

Contractual and Constitutional Violations Claim $173

Violations ofthe Defense Autfiorization Act, CA $100

Foreign Military Sales $100

Probable liabilities for tiieArmy's EnvironmentalProgram have increased from S 1 4.3 billionto

$20.2 billion. The increase from prior year estimates was due to new projects being identified and

more accurate clean-up estimates being developed. The liabilities are primarily comprised ofesti-

mates to clean-up contamination at Army installations, such as Rocky Mountain Arserial. Other

environmental laws for which contingent liabilities were established were tiie impacts ofchanges in

conservation program requirements due to the Endangered Species Act, CleanWater Act, and the

Sikes Act Possible costs of $9.5 billion were also reported primarily to clean-up contamination at

Army installations. These costs represent the best estimate available as costs for compliance are still

beingdeveloped and requirements identified.

Improper handling and disposal oflow level radioactive waste in die past has resulted in anumber
ofsites being listed as having the potential ofbeing contaminated with radioactivity. There are

currently 259 sites located on 63 installations confirmed to have radioactive contaminatioa The cost

to cleanup asite ranged from $100 thousand to $19 million. The probable estimate forthe cleanup is

$216 million with possible costs of$68.5 million for 20 unidentified sites. The current estimate is lower
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than previously reported as past estimates were projected based on an average cost ofcleanup per

site. The current estimates are more reliable as they were developed by inspections ofpotentially

contaminated sites.

Contingent liabilities were also created as a result ofreductions in the military (active, reserve, and

National Guard) and civilian workforce. Probable estimates for related downsizing costs in the

mihtary strength amounted to $2. 3 billion. An estimate ofS 1 1 million was classified as possible.

Probable estimates for downsizing inthe civilian workforceamounted to $702 million. These contin-

gent liabilities primarily rdale to Congressionally authorized programs designed to provide transition

benefits and incentives for military and civilians leaving the workforce. The subsequent evoit ofthe

passage oftheFY 94 National Defense Authorization Act and PublicLaw 1 03-226 added additional

contingent liabilities for reducing the military and civilian workforce. For ttiese events, an estimate of

S 166million isprobableand S 1 75 million is possible for military and civilian downsizing.

The Army inPanama is expected to incur a probable liability of$544 million forturning over the

real property to the Goverrunent ofPanama. These costs include moving troops and equipment for

relocationor consolidation and facilities turnover. Army Europe is expected to incur aprobable
liabilityof$839 millionforrestructuring and realigningwhichinclude such costs as installation close

out, termination ofcontracts and leases, and redistribution, disposal, and removal ofmateriel and

equipment The DoD Overseas Military Facility Investment Recovery Account will receive expected

proceeds ofan undeterminable amount&x>m hostnations for the Army's investment in the retumed

installations.

Additional contingent liabilities include the Chemical DemilitarizationProgram whichtheAimy is

the ExecutiveAgent Theprogram includes the Stockpile and Non-stockpile programs which is

expected to be primarily fimded by the Chemical Agents& Munitions Destruction, Defense Appro-

priation. Therefore, the liabilities will not affect the Army's net position in the principal statements.

The projected costs ofthe Stockpile and Non-Stockpile programs that will be fiinded byDoD are $6

billion and $17.7 billion, respectively. However, Army's principal statements will be impacted by an

estimatedprobable liability of$ 1 billionwhich should be funded inthe Military Construction, Army
account The costs represent the best estimate available and may increase as additional requirements

are identified.

A significant amount ofthe Army's overseas operations is conducted in the currency ofthe host

nation. However, the obligation amounts representing this activity are in U.S . Dollars, and the ex-

change rate ofthe U.S. Dollar can affect the cost ofliquidating these obligations. The impact ofthis

process is displayed as a contingent liability againstthe following appropriations: Operations and

Maintenance, Armj^ Military Construction; FamilyHousing Operations and Maintenance; and Family

Housing Constructioa TheaccruedvarianceasofSeptember30, 1993,was$61.0million. Expenses

or revenues are recognized as die variance between die current exchange rate at the date ofpayment

and a budg^ rate established at the beginning ofthe fiscal year.

The Army is obligated to pay for undelivered orders (goods and services which have been ordered

butnot yet received). Aggregate undelivered orders amounted to$28.2billionat fiscal year-end.

Equity values in the Financial Statements are reduced by $9. 1 billion for the value ofunfilled orders

(reimbursable orders received for which supplies or services have not been delivered to the ordering

agency).
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In 1991, Congress passed Public Law 101-510, tfieNational Defense Authorization Act forFY
9 1 , which eliminated merged accounts entirely by the end ofFY 93. The Army cancelled all merged

year iq)propTiations in accordance with the law. The Army may still be responsible for an estimated

S366 million in obligations that related tothe cancelled appropriations.

TheArmy is currently working with ifs General Counsel to identify aggregate claims exceeding

$300 miUionwhichhavenot been disclosed in this report. Liabilities which do not apply to the princi-

pal statements are not footnoted as the liabilities are not fimded by Army Department 2 1 appropria-

tions, and therefore will not affect these statements. Base Realignment and Closure downsizing and

restructuring liabilities are examples ofcontingencies which will not affect the principal statements.

Note 20 Other Revenues and Financing Sources

Other military revenues and financingsources include miscellaneous receipts, donated revenue

and inventory and other gains. The Civil Trust fund revenue is provided and accounted for by Depart-

ment ofthe Treasury. Miscellaneous receipts which are unavailable for agency use and are returned

to Treasury consist oflicense, fees, fines, penalties and general fund receipts. Non-operating income

is realized fi'om salesfromthe Civil Revolving Fund.

Other Revenues and Financing Sources

Military

(1) Misc. Receipts

(2) Donated Revenue

(3) Other Gains

(4) Inventory Gains

Total

CivU

(1) Trust Fund Revenues

(2) Miscellaneous Receipts

(3) Provision for Plant Replacement

(4) Non-Operating Income

Total

Combined Total

Note 21 Program or Operating Expenses

A. Military

Operating Expenses by Object Class

(1) Personal Services and Benefits

(2) Travel and Transportation

(3) Rental, Communication and Utilities

(4) Printingand Reproduction

(5) Contractual Services

(6) Supplies and Materials
,

(7) Equipment not Capitalized

(8) Grants, Subsidies and Contributions

(9) Insurance Claims and Indemnities

(10) Other

Total

Fiscal Year 1993 Annual Financial Report

(Thousands)



157

ANNEX A



158

ANNEX A

Footnotes

Note 24 Prior Period Adjustments

Priorperiod adjustments intheamountof$66.5 million primarily relateto reclassification ofprior

year uncoUectable receivables. Civil Works reported a prior period adjustment amounting to a credit

S6.8millioa

Note 25 Non-Operating Changes

Transactions that directly affect Army's net position during the fiscal year that were not a part of

revenues and financing sources, expenses, extraordinary items and prior period adjustments are

included in this account Examples oftransactions include transfers-in/transfers-out, non-cash dona-

tions, corrections oferrors and non-operating increases and decreases. The transfer of Stock and

Industrial fijnds to the Defense Business Operations Fund and a correction to a duplication in reporting

procurement inventory were the most significantFY 92 transactions affecting the account

(Thousands)

1993 1992

Military

Stock/IndustrialFundTransfer ($18;Z42,746)

Procurementlnventory (25;M7,141)

Other Military $2,401.172 (11,802,414)

Total $2,401,172 ($55,252,301)

Civil

Transfers-In $3,839,584

Otfier Increases 303,709 $609,020

Transfers Out (77,592)

Other Decreases (2.993.410)

Total $1,072,291 $609,020

Combined Total $3,473,463 ($54,643;J81)

Note 26 Intrafund Eliminations

Identifiable balances for intra-agency transactions have been eliminated in the Principal State-

ments through the use ofdata elements resident in the departmental accounting system. Schedule A
shows the amount ofeliminated intra-agency balances by account and entity. Schedule B shows Ae
amount ofintra-departmental balances by account and DoD component

Schedule A
(Thousand])

Accts Rec/ Rev/ Disb/

Entity Accts Pay Exp Advances CoQ

Antty $440,857 $6,173,901 $1,288,071 $4,194,159

Civil 1.795 2.468 2.771

Total $442,652 $6,176,369 $1,288,071 $4,196,930
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DoD Component

Army'

Air Force

Navy
Other DoD
DBOF

Amy
Air Force

Navy
DLA
U.S. TE?ANSCOM
DISA
DeCA
DFAS
JLSC
Other

Total
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- Sale and Purchase of Securities agree with tfie 1 1 76 (Report on Budget Execution)

supporting schedule forthe Army Gift Fund.

The Civil Works general ledger is not designed to provide the level ofdetail required to prepare

the Statement ofCash Flows using the direct method. The statement was prepared as follows:

- Operating Cash Provided

- Revenues figures were taken firom the Statement ofOperations and assumed to

represent the sales of goods and services.

- Operating Cash Used
- Cost ofGoods Sold is assumed to equal sales.

- Other categories were computed based on spreading disbursements by means of

estimates and percentages depicted by object class taken firom the U.S. Budget
- Other Contractual Services included categories in the budget that were not

included in OMB's Form and Content

- Investing Activities

- Purchase ofProperty Plant and Equipment and the purchase of securities (by

Treasury) were used here.

- Financing Activities

- Figures were taken fi'om the PBAS system (Warrants, SFUSls- Nonexpenditure Trans-

fer Authorization, etc.)

B. Statement of Budget and Actual Expenses (Program Data)

The statement has been modified to include a detailed break-out ofthe Army's general fund type

^propriations by individual ftinded programs. Appropriations are funded and classified for aparticular

purpose or program. This modification is an attempt to enhance Army's financial statements by

making the statements more informative and meaningfiil to program managers. A complete list of

impropriations included inthe Army's military and civil fund types is included inthe Supplemental

Financial Statement Analysis section ofthis report The following appropriations were included in the

general fund program break-out

Military Basic Symbob
MiUtaryPersonnel (2010,2070,2060)

Operations and Maintenance (2020,2065,2080,7025,1705)

Procurement (2030,2031,2032,2033,2034,2035)

Construction (2050,2085,2086,7020)

RDT&E (2040)

Miscellaneous (All Other General Fund Basic Symbols)

Qvil

Operations and Maintenance (X3123,3/73123,47X4542.1)

HoodContro! (3112;K312S,3/73125)

RDT&E (3121,89X0224)

Construction (3122,67X0204.14X1039,14X2301)

RegulatoryProgram (3126)

Miscellaneous (All Other GeneralFund Basic Symbols)
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C. Reportable Anti-Dericiency Violations

TheArmy maintains strictcontrols overfund distribution throughthe

Program Budget and Accounting System. Fund control is maintained al the

performing activity level. Accounting controls are established widiin the

installation accounting system to providefund status visibilityto managers.

No anti-deficiency act violations were finalized and reported inFY 93. The

only cases finalized duringFY 93 were determined to be non-violations.

Subsequent events occurred in FY 94 for prior year funds which are ad-

dressed inthefoUowingparagraphs.

D. Military Payroll Mischarges

The Army's military pay system uses service component codes to govern

which pay account is charged for soldiers' pay. Errors in these codes re-

sultedm material amounts ofFY 9 1 and 92 payroll disbursements being

charged incorrectly. As a result, budget projections, appropriations received

and accounting processes were applied to the wrong appropriation over atwo

year period. The errors resulted fi-om implementing anew pay system in FY
91, lack of an interface between the pay and personnel systems and problems

encountered from the unprecedented call to active duty ofNalional Guard

and Army Reserve personnel during Desert Storm. Errors affecting the FY
9 1/92 reports have not been identified and corrected. Determining the FY 9

1

mischarges does not appear feasible because the former pay system is no

longer operational and there is no personnel database that captured the true

service component data codes during the war. Therefore, a payroll and

personnel data file comparison can not be made. FY 92 mischarges may be

identifiable. The methods for correcting FY 92 mischarges and the cost

feasibility are currently being analyzed. The accounts mjy potentially be over

disbursed, given the remaining FY 92 cash balance ofthe National Guard

Personnel, Army and Reserve Personnel, Army appropriations. Analysis of

the accounts will continue and all legal and cost effective actions will be taken

once the investigation is completed.

Additional military pay problems are being analyzed in the area ofcasual

and advance payments. The Joint Service Software system does not main-

tain fiscal year identity as the payments are being recouped. This condition

allovs^ collections to be charged to a fiscal year other than the fiscal year the

casual or advance payment was recorded.

TheNational Guard FY 93 pay ^proprialion was in an overdisbursed

status amountingtoSll.2 millionaltheend ofJanuary 1994. Ateam com-

prised ofNational Gtiard, Army Reserve and DFAS-IN staffwas immedi-

ately formed to investigate this problem. The team is researching available

moneys, disbursement volumes and investigating any potential Anti-Defi-

ciency Act violations. The National Guard has applied for an appropriation

transfer ofS80 million to cover the fimding shortage.
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E. Debt and Taxes

The Aimy, as an agency ofDoD and the federal government, interacts

witfi and is dependent on the financial activities ofthe federal government as

a whole. Therefore, these financial statements do not reflect tfie results of all

financial decisions applicable to the Army which would otherwise be recorded
ifthe agency were a stand-alone entity. The Army's proportionate share of

public debt and related expenses ofthe federal government are not included

in the financial statements. Debt incurred by the federal government and the

related interest are not apportioned to federal agencies. Consequently, the

Army's financial statements do not reflect any portion ofthe public debt or

interest thereon, nor do the statements reflect the source ofpublic financing

(e.g. debt issuance, tax revenues).

Fiscal Year 1993 Annual Financial Report

Army's FY 93 Financial Statements—Audit Opinion (BQ 94-450) Annex A/Page A-32
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ANNEX B

AUDIT OF THE ARMY'S FY 93 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SUPPORTING AUDIT REPORTS

The Corps of Engineers - Civil Works report was issued on
30 June 1994, The remaining reports will be finalized at a
later date.

Report Title
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DEPARTMENT OF THE AIR FORCE
WASHINGTON DC 20330-10CX3

FFICE OF" THE SECRETARY

MEMORANDUM FOR SECRETARY OF THE AIR FORCE
CHffiF OF STAFF, USAF

FROM: SAF/AG

SUBJECT: Report of Audit, Opinion on Fiscal Year 1993 Air Force Consolidated

Financial Statements (Project 94053022)

This report presents om opinion on the Air Force consohdated financial

statements for the fiscal year (FY) ended 30 September 1993. We also reviewed

relevant internal controls and assessed compliance with applicable laws and

regulations.

We are unable to express an opinion on the FY 1 993 Air Force consolidated

financial statements because of material uncertainties related to the reasonableness

of amounts reported in the financial statements and the adequacy of the supporting

accounting systems. Internal controls were generally adequate to safeguard assets,

but we determined that the internal control structure did not provide reasonable

assurance of achieving the internal control objectives over financial data described

in OfSce of Management and Budget guidance. Finally, we determined that

existing systems and controls did not enable the Air Force and the Defense

Finance and Accounting Service (DFAS) to fxilly comply with all laws and

regulations that materially affect the fmancial statements. For details, please

refer to the Executive Summary and audit report which follow.

The Assistant Secretary of the Air Force, Financial Management and

Comptroller, acknowledged our rationale for disclaiming an opinion on the

FY 1993 Air Force consolidated financial statements. While he did not necessarily

agree with all the statements in this report, specific comments were reserved for

the detailed reports listed at Appendix IV. DFAS conunents were generally

responsive to the issues discussed in this report and we amended our report to

reflect corrective actions taken by DFAS management. Management comments to

this report are included verbatim at Appendix VII.

lo/v^ A (/U--/4^
JACKIE R. CRAWFORD
The Auditor General
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OPINION ON FISCAL YEAR 1993

AIR FORCE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Project 94053022 30 June 1994

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

INTRODUCTION

The Chief Financial Officers (CFO) Act of 1990 included the Air Force in a pilot

project to prepare and have audited financial statements for Fiscal Year (FY) 1992

covering all Air Force funds. The Office of Management and Budget (0MB)

extended the pilot project through FY 1995. The Defense Finance and Accounting

Service (DFAS) provides accounting services for the Air Force, including

preparing the financial statements. The Air Force Audit Agency (AFAA) audits

the statements. This report presents the results of our audit of the FY 1993 Air

Force consolidated financial statements which are contained in Appendix VUl.

(Reference Appendix 1 for greater detail regarding requirements estabUshed by the

CFO Act and the 0MB.)

OBJECTIVES

We performed an audit of the FY 1993 Air Force consolidated financial statements

to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements, notes to the

fmancial statements, and combining statements present fairly, in all material

respects, the financial position, results of operations, cash flows, and

reconciliation of budget and actual expenses in accordance with appUcable

accounting standards. We also evaluated tiie Air Force internal control structure to

determine whether that structure provides reasonable assurance of achieving the

internal control objectives described in 0MB Bulletin 93-06, Audit Requirements

for Federal Financial Statements, January 8, 1993. Finally, we assessed comph-

ance with laws and regulations that could have a direct and material effect on the

financial statements, as well as other laws and regulations pertinent to Air Force

financial management operations.

CONCLUSIONS

We were not able to obtain sufficient evidential matter, or to apply other auditing

procedures, to satisfy owselves as to the fairness of the Air Force consolidated
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financial statements. As a result, we are unable to express an opinion on the

reliability of Air Force financial statements for FY 1993. Internal controls were

generally adequate to safeguard assets. However, Air Force and DFAS persormel

need to improve internal controls used to compile and report accurate, complete,

and reliable financial information. We fiirther determined that internal controls

were not effective to provide a reasonable basis for determining material

compliance with certain laws and regulations, and to prevent material

misstatements in the financial statements. Finally, existing systems and controls

did not enable the Air Force and DFAS to fiilly comply with laws and regulations

that materially affect the fiinancial statements.

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSE

The Assistant Secretary of the Air Force, Financial Management and Comptroller,

acknowledged our rationale for disclaiming an opinion on the FY 1993 Air Force

consolidated financial statements. While he did not necessarily agree with all the

statements in this report, specific comments were reserved for the detailed reports

hsted at Appendix IV. DFAS comments were generally responsive to the issues

discussed in this report and we amended our report to reflect corrective actions

taken by DFAS management. Management comments to this report are included

verbatim at Appendix VH.

II
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TAB A

OPINION ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

BACKGROUND

1. As of 30 September 1993, the Air Force Consolidated Statement of Financial

Position reported total assets valued at about $327 billion, liabilities of $8 billion,

and net position totaling $319 biUion. The Statement of Operations reported total

revenues and financing sources of approximately $56 billion and expenses of

$60 billion. The Air Force budget for FY 1993 was about $82 billion.

2. We initiated an audit of the accompanying statement of financial position of

the Air Force as of 30 September 1993, and the related statements of operations

and changes in net position, cash flows, and budget and actual expenses for the

year then ended. DFAS published Air Force consolidated financial statements on

7 March 1994 (Appendix VHI).

AUDIT OPINION

Results

3. We are unable to express an opinion on the FY 1993 consolidated financial

statements of the Air Force because of material imcertainties related to the

reasonableness of amounts reported in the financial statements and the adequacy

of Air Force accounting systems. Amounts reported on the statements, such as

property, plant, and equipment of $228 billion, fimd balances with treasury of

$65 billion, and inventories not held for sale of $30.8 billion were assembled fi-om

a variety of separate information systems of uncertain reliability and, for most

items, we were unable to verify the account balances. Because of the uncertainties

of account balances and the many accoimting system inadequacies, we are unable

to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and we caution

users that these statements may not be totally reliable.
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TAB A Opinion on Consolidated Financial Statements

Actions Initiated

4. In response to prior General Accounting Office (GAO)' and AFAA^ audits, and

during the course of our FY 1993 audit, the Air Force initiated actions to address

the problems discussed in this report. In addition, DoD has ongoing, longer range

programs to improve accoimting systems. Once the problems we are reporting are

corrected, the Air Force will be capable of achieving more effective financial

control over its assets, as well as more reliable financial information to

economically and effectively control its operations.

5. In a separate review of management initiatives to improve Air Force financial

management,^ we concluded that the Air Force and DFAS-Denver Center

(DFAS-DE) had made progress in developing policies, procedures, internal

controls, and systems that address financial management problems. Air Force and

DFAS have successfixUy developed and implemented a joint plan to track the

status of management actions taken on audit recommendations to improve

financial reporting. The system provides milestones and other information on
progress made toward solving key financial reporting issues identified by the

GAO, DoD Inspector General (DoDIG), and AFAA. In addition, the Interim

Migratory Accounting Systems (IMAS) project is being implemented to improve

the overall accounting process, reduce the total number of financial systems, and
meet GAO, Treasury, Federal Managers' Financial Integrity Act (FMFIA), CFO
Act, and DoD accounting standards and requirements. Finally, DFAS-DE is

developing the Direct Contract Payment Notice (CPN) System and the Automated

Reconciliation System (ARS) to improve controls over the obligation process and

reduce obligation discrepancies between the Air Force and the DFAS-Columbus
Center (DFAS-CO).

' GAO/AFMD-90-23, Financial Audit: Air Force Does Not Effectively Account for Billions of Dollars of

Resources, February 23, 1990; and GAO/AFMD-92-12, Financial Audit: Aggressive Actions Needed for

Air Force to Meet Objectives of the CFO Act, Fd)ruary 19, 1992.

^ Report of Audit 92053011, Opinion on Fiscal Year (FY) 1992 Air Force Consolidated Financial

Statements, 29 June 1993.

Draft Report of Audit, Project 94053021, Review of Management Initiatives to Improve Financial

Reporting, Fiscal Year 1993 Air Force Consolidated Financial Statements, 18 May 1994.
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6. While awaiting the completion of these system development efiTorts, the

Denver Center must address several significant issues to improve financial

management operations, including accounting for and valuing military equipment

and inventories, and complying with established internal controls regarding

abnormal balances, reconciliations, and accoimting adjustments documentation.

We have provided below a synopsis of the significant issues which preclude an

opinion on the Air Force Statement of Financial Position as of 30 September 1993.

AUDIT RESULTS

Conditions Found in 1992 Continue

7. Our report on the Air Force's FY 1992 financial statements identified a number

of conditions which prevented us fi^om expressing an opinion on the reliability of

those statements. In our audit for FY 1993, we compared our FY 1992 findings

with current conditions. We found that the following conditions still existed:

a. The Air Force did not have a transaction-driven general ledger,

b. Existing accoimting systems cannot produce auditable financial statements,

c. Acquisition costs were not used for most assets,

d. Equipment, inventories, and real property were not reported accurately,

e. Disbursement and collection account balances were questionable, and

f. Contingent liabilities were imderestimated.

Significant Issues

8. We have classified significant Air Force accounting issues using the financial

statement assertions defined by generally accepted auditing standards* and

embodied in the financial statement components. Most of the audit work in

forming an opinion on the financial statements consists of obtaining and evaluating

* The financial statement assertions are defined by the American Institute of Certified Public

Accountants (AICPA) in the Codification of Statements on Auditing Standards, AU Section 326.
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evidential matter concerning financial statement assertions. The significant issues

smnmarized below are covered in more detail in separate reports, which we have

provided to the Air Force and DoD for comment (Appendix IV).

a. Valuation/Allocation . These issues relate to the appropriateness of amoimts

included in the financial statements for asset, Uability, revenue, and expense

accounts.

(1) We could not determine the accuracy of selected property, plant, and

equipment, or inventory account balances because the Air Force does not have a

financial accoimting system designed to accumulate, account for, and report the

acquisition costs of these assets. The total balance recorded in the general ledger

for these selected asset accounts as of 30 September 1993 was $204.7 billion.

(Reports ofAudit 93053007, 93053024, 94053031)

(2) Real property costs reported in the financial statements did not agree

with costs recorded in subsidiary records, resulting in errors totaling $2 6 billion.

The underlying discrepancies related to real property over- and xmderstatements,

omissions, and misclassifications. As a result, the accuracy of the $35.4 billion

real property accoimt balance included in the FY 1993 financial statements is

questionable. (Report of Audit 94053026)

(3) Persormel at six accounting offices provided DFAS-DE with

imderstated values for some assets having a cost of $1 million or greater because

they did not update unit prices. As a result, the equipment account balance was

understated at least $83 miUion. (Report of Audit 93053007)

b. Existence or Occurrence . All assets or liabilities included in the financial

statements as of 30 September 1993 should exist at that date and all recorded

transactions should have occurred within the fiscal year ending on that date.

(1) Defense accoimting persormel at one Air Force location overstated

equipment on loan to contractors, an accounting error that remained imdetected by

accountants at the base, the major corrunand, and DFAS-DE. Therefore, the initial

financial statement contained an equipment balance which was overstated by

nearly $18 billion. The accompanying statements include the correction for this

overstatement. (Report of Audit 93053007)
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(2) Existing obligations include almost $5.8 billion of negative

unliquidated obligations (ULOs), representing significant errors in obligation data.

We found over 6,000 of the nearly 27,000 records examined represented negative

ULOs. Negative ULOs occur because of overpayments to contractors, posting

errors, or other accounting errors. If negative ULOs are not promptly detected and

corrected, the Air Force could lose obligational authority, may not collect

overpayments, and could be responsible for violating the Antideficiency Act.

(Report of Audit 93053015)

(3) Construction-in-progress at Osan Air Base (AB), Republic of Korea,

was overstated by $1.2 billion due to a series of accoimting errors at the base. The

overall error in the account balance was not detected by base accoxmtants, major

command accoimtants, or DFAS-DE personnel. As a result, the value of

construction-in-progress was also overstated for the major command. Pacific Air

Forces (PACAF), and in the initial and March 7, 1994 versions of the FY 1993 Air

Force consolidated financial statements. This overstatement, however, was

corrected in the May 1994 version of these financial statements. (Report of Audit

94053024)

c. Account Completeness . Financial statements should include all appropriate

transactions and accounts. The following issues relate to the completeness of

various Air Force accounts.

(1) The value of property, plant, and equipment was initially understated

in die FY 1993 Air Force Statement of Financial Position by $1.3 billion. This

condition occurred because $973 million of uninstalled engine modules and

$279 million of contractor logistics support engines were not captured by Air

Force accounting systems and reported for inclusion in the financial statements.

The accompanying statements include the correction for this understatement.

(Report of Audit 93053024)

(2) DFAS-DE disbursement and collection records contained over 12,000

unreconciled differences valued at $3.3 billion at the end of FY 1993. This

situation was also reported in our FY 1992 audit results. In FY 1993, we noted

efforts imder way to reconcile the most recent transaction differences. However,

52 percent of the differences are more than 2 years old and may not be

reconcilable. (Report of Audit 94053030)
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d. Presentation and Disclosure . These issues relate to the way financial

statement components are classified, described, and disclosed.

(1) The FY 1993 financial statements include balances for 2,287 aircraft

($8 billion) and 168 missiles ($300 million) that are categorized as "not in use" by
the Air Force, yet carried in the statements at their fiill operational value. These
assets include aircraft and missiles in storage, on loan to contractors or other

governmental agencies, or identified as having no operational value in the

FY 1993 Air Force consoUdated financial statements as reported in the notes to the

initial and March 7, 1994 versions of the FY 1993 financial statements. The
operational value of the assets was clarified in the notes to the May 1994 version

of the FY 1993 financial statements. (Report of Audit 93053024)

(2) DFAS-DE did not disclose all Air Force contingent liabilities or their

fiill magnitude. We determined that contingent liabilities were understated by at

least $30.1 billion in the FY 1993 Air Force consolidated financial statements as

reported in the notes to the initial and March 7,1994, versions of the FY 1993

financial statements. This imderstatement was corrected in the notes to the May
1994 version of the FY 1993 financial statements. (Report of Audit 94053024)

(3) Base defense accoimting office (DAO) personnel misclassified crypto-

graphic equipment and medical equipment as assets rather than expenses in Air

Force financial records. As a result, initial Air Force financial statements

overstated equipment assets by $692 million. The accompanying statements

include the correction for this overstatement. (Report of Audit 93053007)

Dual or Inaccurate Accounting Systems

9. We encountered problems when assets were included in two accoimting

systems, or "double coimted," and when accounting system errors resulted in

inaccurate reporting, as illustrated by the following examples.

a. Inventorv . The value of Air Force inventory in the Statement of Financial

Position was initially overstated by $4.8 billion due to dual reporting of account

balances, incomplete reporting of Air Force assets held by other agencies, and
inadequate interfaces between automated management information systems.

(Report of Audit 9405303 1)

6
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b. Military Equipment. The DAO at Headquarters Air Force Materiel

Command (HQAFMC) "double counted" reclamation and museum aircraft,

overstating the value of aircraft by $2.2 bilhon in the initial financial statements.

The accompanying statements include the correction ft)r this overstatement.

(Report of Audit 93053024)

Identification of Required Adjustments

10. During the audit, we identified approximately $28.3 billion of adjustments that

were needed to improve the accuracy and presentation of military and civilian

payroll; property, plant, and equipment; real property; and inventories not held for

sale accounts in the Air Force's consoUdated financial statements. DFAS-DE and

the Air Force made about $28.2 billion of these adjustments to mihtary and

civilian payroll; property, plant, and equipment (real property, engines, equipment,

aircraft, and missiles); and inventories not held for sale (ammunition) accounts.

The remaining adjustments of $lllmiUion relating to property, plant, and

equipment (equipment) were not made as of the May 1994 revision to the

statements due to indications of supply system problems greater than those that

could be corrected by adjusting the financial statements. However, once these

situations are researched and corrective action identiQed, adjustments should be

made to provide more accurate beginning account balances for the FY 1994

financial statements.

Basis for Adjustments

11. The adjustments simmiarized above are required based on audit findings.

However, we arrived at the adjustments using existing accounting systems and

data, and many of those systems and associated data are known to be imreliable.

Consequently, even if all the proposed adjustments had been made, sufficient

imcertainties regarding other amounts reported would have precluded us from

expressing an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

12. Management Comments.

a. The Assistant Secretary of the Air Force, Financial Management and

Comptroller (SAF/FM), did not make any specific comments about the issues

discussed in this tab. His overall comments are included verbatim in

Appendix Vn.
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b. The HQ DFAS Deputy Director for General Accounting generally

concurred with the issues discussed in this tab. He requested that we include in

our discussion of the various issues DFAS' corrective actions and their

adjustments to the Air Force financial statements in response to our audit findings.

The Deputy Director also requested that we include a discussion of the dijfficulty

of obtaining and reporting the acqmsition cost for most Air Force assets. The full

text df the Deputy Director's comments are included verbatim in Appendix Vn.

Evaluation of Management Comments

13.We considered the Air Force and DFAS comments responsive to the issues

discussed in this tab. We amended our discussion in this tab to acknowledge

DFAS' corrective actions and their adjustments to the financial statement balances.

Because the DFAS Deputy Director's comments included in Appendix VII provide

a detailed discussion of the difficiilty of obtaining and reporting the acquisition

cost of most Air Force assets, we are making no further comments about that issue

here.

8



179

Project 94053022

TABB

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROLS

BACKGROUND

1. Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control

structure to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that obligaflons and

costs are in compliance with applicable laws; funds, property, and other assets are

safeguarded against waste, loss, imauthorized use, or misappropriation; and

financial resources and expenditures applicable to the entity's operations are

properly recorded and accounted for to permit the preparation of accoimts and

reliable financial and statistical reports in accordance with applicable accounting

standards and to maintain accountability over the assets. In fulfilling this

responsibility, management estimates and judgments are required to assess the

expected benefits and related costs of internal control structure policies and

procedures.

2. For the purpose of this report, we have classified the significant internal control

structure policies and procedures in the following categories: financial reporting,

cash operations, military equipment, inventory not held for sale, military payroll,

civilian payroll, liabilities, equipment and vehicles, budget and fimd control,

receivables, real property, revenues, and operating expenses. Our consideration of

the internal control structure included all of these categories.

AUDIT RESULTS

Summary

3. We determined that the Air Force internal control structure did not provide

reasonable assurance of achieving the internal control objectives described in

0MB Bulletin 93-06. Although internal controls were generally effective to

safeguard assets. Air Force and DFAS personnel need to improve internal controls

used to compile and report accurate, complete, and reliable financial information.

We also determined that internal controls were not effective to provide a

reasonable basis for determioing material compliance with certain laws and

regulations, and to prevent material misstatements in the financial statements. We
identified material internal control weaknesses in the areas of accounting system

capabilities, analytical review procedxu"es, recording and reporting financial

transactions, required accounting reconciliations, and supporting document

retention.

9
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Reportable Conditions

4. We noted certain matters involving the internal control structure and its

operation that we consider to be reportable conditions under standards established

by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and 0MB Biille-

tin 93-06. Reportable conditions involve matters coming to our attention relating

to significant deficiencies in the design or operation of the internal control

structure. These deficiencies could adversely affect the entity's ability to ensure

that the objectives of the infernal control structure are being achieved.

a. Accounting Systems . Neither DFAS nor the Air Force can ensure that they

properly record, process, and summarize only valid transactions for the Air Force

and provide accxarate financial information due to significant accoxmting system

internal control weaknesses.

(1) Information Sources . The Air Force does not have a transaction-

driven general ledger to provide a single source for the compilation and reporting

of financial information for use in preparing the Air Force financial statements.

Although DFAS-DE is developing a transaction-based financial management

system, it will be several years before it is fiilly operational. Consequently, Air

Force and DFAS-DE personnel must extract data firom multiple automated

systems, as well as some manual systems, to prepare the annual Air Force

consolidated financial statements. This cimibersome process contributes to control

problems in developing accurate financial statements, including the FY 1993

reporting issues identified in Tab A.

(2) Interface Problems and Data Entry Controls . As reported by the

DoDIG,* automated systems designed to control obligations and payments did not

properly interface, and DFAS-CO controls were not adequate to verify the

accuracy and completeness of data at manual point of entry. As a result, existing

control systems did not provide assurance of fimd availability prior to incurring

obligations or making payments. (Report of Audit 93053015)

^ DoDIG Report 94-048, Audit Report on Uncleared Transactions by and for Others, March 4, 1994;

DoDIG Report 94-054, Fund Control Over Contract Payments at the Defense Finance and Accounting

Service-Columbus Center, March 15, 1994; and DoDIG Report 94-062, Financial Status of Air Force

Expired Year Appropriations, March 18, 1994.

10
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b. Analytical Review. Air Force and DFAS-DE personnel did not adequately

review the reasonableness of amounts reported in the accounting records and

financial statements, a procedure which should highlight increases or decreases in

accoimt balances. The GAO reported this finding in its audits of the FY 1988 and

FY 1989 Air Force financial statements.* The following examples highlight the

impact of management's shortcomings in analyzing accoimting data.

(1) Equipment on Loan . Between FY 1992 and FY 1993, the HQ AFMC
equipment on loan balance increased from $400 million to $18 billion. This error

went tmchallenged because accounting persoimel at Kelly AFB, HQ AFMC, and

DFAS-DE did not analyze accovmt balances for unusual changes. As a result, the

financial statements contained an equipment balance which was overstated by

nearly $18 billion. Although DFAS-DE has corrected the equipment balance in

the financial statements, the internal control structure shoxild have prevented this

error. (Report ofAudit 93053007)

(2) Construction-in-Progress . Osan AB accounting office personnel over-

stated the value of construction-in-progress by $1.2 billion due to incorrectly

processing two general ledger journal vouchers in November 1992. We identified

the overstatement during our FY 1993 year-end review of PACAF general ledger

accoimt balances. Accounting personnel at Osan AB, PACAF, and DFAS-DE did

not detect the error because they did not analyze year-end account balances to

identify unusual changes. An account analysis would have detected the unusually

large account balance increase, signaled a need to investigate the increase, and

prevented the $1.2 billion overstatement in the FY 1993 Air Force financial

statements. (Report of Audit 94053026)

c. Contingent Liabilities . Neither the Air Force nor DFAS has a systematic,

structured approach for compiling and reporting contingent Uabilities for inclusion

in the Air Force financial statements. Consequently, Air Force and DFAS
personnel must compile tiiis data through a cimibersome, uiu-eUable process that

utilizes multiple sources. As a result, contingent liabilities were xmderstated by at

least $30. 1 billion in tiie FY 1993 Air Force consolidated financial statements.

(Report of Audit 94053024)

The GAO reports mentioned here are the same reports listed at footnote 1.

11
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d. Funds Control Data . Unreconciled differences in 12,051 disbursement and

collection transactions resulted in $3.3 billion of accounting discrepancies between

DFAS-DE control accounts and installation-level subsidiary accounting records.

Although Air Force regulations contained internal control procedures, accounting

personnel did not consistently perform required reconciliations of disbursement

and collection transactions. The lack of reliable fund control data prevented otir

confirmation of the accuracy of amounts used to compile various financial

statement accoxmt balances (e.g., fund balances with treasury, $65 billion; and

accounts receivable, $2.1 billion). (Report of Audit 94053030)

e. Accoimtabilitv Records . Our review of 359 accounts at 20 locations

disclosed that equipment custodians could not locate approximately $2.5 million

(6 percent) of the $38.7 million in equipment reviewed, and that $5.8 million of

computer equipment was not on accountability records. As a result, these assets

were susceptible to waste, loss, unauthorized use, or misappropriation. (Report of

Audit 93053007)

f Supporting Documentation . DAO personnel did not obtain or maintain

adequate documentation to support the validity and accuracy of fund control

transactions. Of the over 12,000 disbursement and collection transaction

differences identified, 52 percent could not be reconciled due to a lack of

supporting documentation. (Report of Audit 94053030)

Material Weaknesses

5. We believe the conditions reported in the previous paragraphs are material

weaknesses. A material weakness is a reportable condition in which the design or

operation of internal controls does not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that

losses, noncompliance, or misstatements will go undetected. Under an adequate

internal control system, some instances of loss, noncompliance, or misstatement

material to the fmancial statements may occur, but should be detected within a

timely period by employees in the normal course of their assigned duties.

6. Our consideration of the internal control stiixcture would not necessarily

disclose all matters that might be reportable conditions and, accordingly, would

not necessarily disclose all reportable conditions that are also considered to be

material weaknesses as defined above. We also noted other matters involving the

internal control structure and its operation that we have reported to Air Force and

DFAS management in the associated CFO Act audit reports listed at Appendix IV.

12
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TABB

7. Management Comments. Neither Air Force nor DFAS made any comments

about the specific issues discussed in this tab.

13
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TABC

REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

BACKGROUND

1. An entity's management is responsible for establishing an internal control

structure to assure compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Issues which

should be of concern to management include:

a. Resources . Comphance with laws and regulations that could significantly

affect the acquisition, protection, and use of the entity's resources, and the

quantity, quahty, timeliness, and cost of the products and services it produces and

delivers.

b. Programs . Compliance with laws and regulations pertaining to the objec-

tives of the entity's programs, activities, and functions; the maimer in which

programs and services are to be delivered; the population a program or service is to

serve; and whether the programs, activities, and functions are being carried out in

conformity with these laws and regulations.

2. Material instances of noncompliance, as described below, are noncompliance

with requirements, or violations of prohibitions contained in laws or regulations

that cause us to conclude that the aggregation of the misstatements resulting fi-om

noncompliance or violations is material to the financial statements, or the

sensitivity of the matter would cause it to be perceived as significant by others.

AUDIT RESULTS

Summary

3. We determined that existing systems and contiols did not enable the Air Force

and DFAS to fully comply with laws and regulations that materially affect the

financial statements. Further, we noted some noncompliance with other laws and

regulations pertinent to Air Force financial management operations. We identified

noncompliance with the Federal Managers' Financial Integrity Act, the Anti-

deficiency Act, and the Budget and Accounting Procedures Act, as well as several

Air Force directives.
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TAB C Report on Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

4. We considered the noncompliance reported below in forming our opinion on

whether the Air Force's FY 1993 ConsoUdated Financial Statements are fairly

presented, in all material respects, with appUcable accounting standards in effect

for federal entities during the preparation of the entity's financial statements. The

issues discussed in this tab do not affect our report on those statements, located at

Tab A. Except as described below, the results of our tests of compliance indicate

that, with respect to the items tested, the Air Force complied, in all material

respects, with the provisions referred to above and in Appendix HI, and, with

respect to items not tested, nothing came to our attention to cause us to believe that

the Air Force has not compUed, in all material respects, with those provisions.

a. FMFIA, Section 4 . We concluded that the Air Force and DFAS manage-

ment may not have reasonable assurance that the accounting systems (Section 4)

review process adequately identifies system nonconformances with Comptroller

General principles and standards.

(1) Military Equipment. The Air Force did not report the Equipment

Inventory, Multiple Status, and Utilization Reporting System (EIMSURS), the

Comprehensive Engine Management System (CEMS), or the current method of

reporting satellite values as materially nonconforming accounting systems in the

1993 annual statement of assurance. (Report of Audit 93053024)

(2) Inventories. The Air Force has not identified the Combat Ammunition

System (CAS) as an accoimting system subject to review tmder FMFIA, Section 4.

(Report ofAudit 94053031)

(3) Computer Equipment The Air Force did not identify the Information

Processing Management System (IPMS), which produces information for the Air

Force financial statements, as a materially nonconforming accounting system

under FMFIA, Section 4. (Report of Audit 93053007)

b. FMFIA, Section 2 . We determined that the process used to support the

FY 1993 Air Force FMFIA Statement of Assurance relating to the Internal

Management Control Program (Section 2) was improved over FY 1992. However,

our review of the FY 1993 Air Force financial statements disclosed the following

internal control weaknesses.
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Report on Compliance with Laws and Regulations TAB C

(1) Equipment and Vehicle Inventory . Although the 0MB declared

infonnation technology and accounting for real and personal property as high risk

areas requiring internal control reviews, management had not conducted reviews at

any of 17 locations where we reviewed compliance with FMFIA, Section 2. This

condition occurred because most major commands had not identified the computer

accoimtability section within base communications as a high risk area. Had base

commimications personnel performed internal management control reviews, they

could have detected the equipment inventory internal control problems we
identified in Tab B. (Report of Audit 93053007)

(2) Contingent Liabilities . We believe the lack of a systematic, structured

approach for compiling and reporting contingent liabilities (discussed in Tab B)

constitutes a material weakness that DFAS should report in their annual FMFIA
statement of assurance. (Report of Audit 94053024)

c. Antideficiencv Act . We determined that certain existing Air Force financial

management policies and practices make fiill compliance with the Antideficiency

Act difficult, if not impossible. DFAS and the Air Force need to improve

accoimting policies to preclude the potentially damaging effects of the situations

described below on Air Force financial management and reporting.

(1) Fund Availability . Existing internal control systems did not provide

assurance of fimd availability prior to incurring obligations or making

expenditures. This condition occurred because DFAS Headquarters did not

establish controls requiring that, prior to making payments, DFAS-CO verify their

obligation data with the appropriate Air Force activities. As a result, the vast

differences between DFAS-CO (disbursing station) payment data and the

obligation data recorded at Air Force activities (accountable stations) make

Antideficiency Act compliance difficult, if not impossible. (Report of Audit

93053015)

(2) Undelivered Orders Outstanding . DFAS-DE initially disclosed about

$662 million of tmdelivered orders outstanding in the Other Disclosures footnote

in the December 1993 version of the FY 1993 financial statements. DFAS-DE
should have classified the undeUvered orders as contingencies, based on current

accoimting policies. The $662 million contingency resulted from cancellation of

obligations associated with the canceled merged accotmt. These cancellations are

important, because some of them will result in legitimate liabilities which are
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unfunded due to Congressional tennination of merged accounts. Those liabilities,

in turn, may place the Air Force in violation of the Antideficiency Act, since they

are not ciurently fimded and the availability of future funds is xmcertain. This

accounting presentation was adjusted in the March 1994 version of the FY 1993

financial statements. (Report of Audit 94053024)

(3) Potential Contingent Liability . Air Force management is addressing a

potentially significant contingent liability issue regarding the proper accounting of

funds appropriated for procurement of weapon and space systems—Titan FV,

Advanced Medium-Range Air-to-Air Missile (AMRAAM), C-17 aircraft, and the

Defense Satellite Program. The Air Force has initiated investigations of these

systems for possible fVmding violations of the Antideficiency Act. Because

management is taking appropriate actions at this time, we are reporting this issue

only to ensure full disclosure of significant matters that came to our attention.

(Report of Audit 94053024)

d. Budget and Accounting Procedtires Act . As reported in our audit of the

FY 1992 financial statements, DFAS-DE does not have procedures to reconcile the

Undisbursed Appropriation Accoimt Ledger and the Undisbursed Appropriation

Accounts - Trial Balance as required by DoD Manual 7220.9-M, DoD Accoxmting

Manual, 1 1 October 1985. The Office of Assistant Inspector General for Auditing,

Department of Defense, has reported this issue with recommended corrective

actions.^ We are reiterating the issue here to ensiire full disclosiu"e, but are making

no recommendations for further corrective action.

e. Air Force Regulations . Various Air Force regulations provide policy on

required reconciliations of accounting and management data. In addition. Air

Force Regulation (AFR) 4-20, Volume 2, Disposition of Air Force Records, 1 May

1992, provides guidance on docimient retention. Appendix 1 provides information

on the requirements of each pertinent regulation.

(1) Required Reconciliations . AFR 170-8, Accounting for Obligations,

January 1990; AFR 177-101, General Accounting and Finance Systems at Base-

Level, 15 February 1991; AFR 177-108, Paying and Collecting Transactions at

' DoDIG Report 94-073, Defense Finance and Accounting Service Work on the Air Force FY 1992

Financial Statements, March 31, 1994.
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Base Level, May 1991; AFR 177-120, Central Procurement Transactions,

17 Febmaiy 1988; AFR 177-130, Policy, Functions, and Responsibilities at Major

and Intermediate Command Level, 15 February 1991; and Air Force Man-

ual (AFM) 177-370, USAF Standard Base-Level General Accounting and Finance

System: H069/BQ, March 1987, provide requirements for various reconciliations

of accounting and management data.* We noted several instances of noncom-

pliance with these requirements. Not performing these reconciliations resulted in

questionable financial reporting for several significant financial statement

amounts.

(a) Fund Control ReconciUations . At 14 of 17 Air Force locations,

we foimd that accoimting personnel did not adequately perform reconcihations

related to the fund control process. Overall, we identified reconciliation-related

deficiencies at 10 of 13 locations for accounts payable and operating expenses,

11 of 14 locations for disbursement and collection differences, and 5 of 10

locations for accounts receivable. In addition, accounting personnel used

incomplete reconciliation methods and excluded critical directive-required

procedures. (Reportof Audit 94053030)

(b) Real Propertv Reconciliations . DFAS and Air Force accounting

personnel were not reconciling real property accounting records with the civil

engineer's real property records as required. We were not able to identify any one

cause for the lack of reconciliations, but it appeared that some locations may not

have sufficient resources, while personnel at other locations were unaware of the

reconciliation requirement. (Report of Audit 94053026)

(2) Docimient Retention . We were unable to evaluate and test critical

internal controls and obtain support for key accounting data because accoimting

personnel and other managers did not retain critical information and records.

(a) Fund Control Documentation . DAO personnel did not obtain or

maintain adequate documentation to support the validity and accuracy of fund

control transactions. More than half of the 12,000 disbursement and collection

differences could not be reconciled due to a lack of supporting documentation.

(Report of Audit 94053030)

' Although these regulations are identified as "Air Force," DFAS-DE is the focal point for these

directives.
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(b) Real Property Documentarion . Engineering records that support

real property costs in installation-level accounts were not complete. We found that

16 of 35 bases did not have complete records in support of recorded real property

costs, even though AFR 4-20 requires retention of those records. Civil engineer

personnel could not explain why the records were not retained, nor could they

reconstruct supporting documents. The absence of support for reported real

property costs precludes the necessary validation of those reported values. (Report

of Audit 94053026)

5. Management Comments. Neither Air Force nor DFAS management

provided any specific comments on the issues discussed in this tab.

20
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BACKGROUND INFORMATION

V GENERAL

1. Statutory Requirements. The CFO Act of 1990 requires preparation of four

principal financial statements for each entity designated to report xmder CFO Act

provisions. Agencies should prepare these statements, the Statement of Financial

Position, Statement of Operations and Changes in Net Position, Statement of Cash

Flows, and Statement of Budget and Actual Expenses, as directed by the 0MB in

Bulletin 93-02, Form and Content of Agency Financial Statements, October 22,

1992. In addition, the 0MB updated that guidance through the issuance of

Biilletin 94-01 in November 1993. While most provisions of the new bulletin are

effective for the FY 1994 financial statements only, some provisions were in effect

for the FY 1993 statements. The CFO Act initially required each agency to submit

financial statements not later than 3 1 March follovmig the end of the fiscal year

under audit. The issuance of 0MB Bulletin 93-18, Audited Financial Statements,

June 25, 1993, extended the CFO Act pilot project through FY 1995 and

accelerated the CFO Act time fi^ames for audited financial statements. DoD has

subsequentiy published time fi'ames to be used within the department for financial

statement preparation and audit.

2. Accounting for Air Force Activity. The Air Force general fimd accounts

for more than 99 percent of the assets, liabiUties, revenues, and expenses shown on

Air Force consoUdated financial statements. The Air Force utilizes two methods

to account for financial data, as described below.

a. General Ledger. AFR 170-29, Principles, Standards, and Policies of the Air

Force Financial Management System, 30 November 1990, requires the Air Force

to establish a series of accounts, known as general ledger accounts, to provide a

summary of most assets, some Uabilities, and other costs of the Air Force. The
individual general ledger accounts are reported in the Air Force Trial Balance for

General Funds, RCS: HAF-ACF (SA) 7105. The DFAS-DE then summarizes the

account balances in the annual Air Force financial statements.

b. Status of Fxmds . The Air Force uses the Status of Funds Data Base

Transmission (DBT), RCS: HAF-ACF (AR) 7801 to report certain Air Force Une

items, such as accounts receivable, accounts payable, revenues, and expenses. The

DBT accumulates and reports the status of Air Force fiinds. Accounting ofGces

initially prepare the DBT, the next higher Air Force command level consolidates

the data by command, and DFAS-DE ultimately summarizes the data in the Air

APPENDIX I
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Force financial statements. The Air Force uses this reporting process because

DFAS-DE has determined that DBT data are more reliable than general ledger

reporting for certain accounts.

3. FY 1993 Financial Statement Balances. As of 30 September 1993, the Air

Force Consolidated Statement of Financial Position reported total assets valued at

about $327 billion, liabilities of $8 billion, and net position totaling $319 billion.

The Statement of Operations reported total revenues and financing soiu'ces of

approximately $56 billion and expenses of $60 billion. The Air Force budget for

FY 1993 was about $82 billion.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

4. Purpose of Internal Controls. Title 2 of the GAO Policy and Procedures

Manual for Guidance of Federal Agencies (Chapter 3, Section 7.1) states that:

The objectives of the Federal Government internal control systems are . . to

provide reasonable assurance that:

- Obligations and costs comply with applicable law.

- All assets are safeguarded against waste, loss, unauthorized use, and

misappropriation.

- Revenues and expenditures applicable to agency operations are

recorded and accoimted for properly so that accoimts and reliable

financial and statistical reports may be prepared and accountability

of the assets may be maintained.

5. Authoritative Guidance.

a. FMFIA of 1982 .

(1) FMFIA, Section 2, requires each executive agency to report annually

to the President and Congress on the status of its systems of internal accoimting

and administrative controls. The 0MB developed guidelines in Circular A- 123

(Revised), Internal Control Systems, 4 August 1986, implemented by DoD and Air

Force regulations, to meet Section 2 requirements. The guidelines specify

procedures for agencies to plan, perform, and document reviews of internal

controls, and report and implement corrective actions for identified weaknesses.

APPENDIX I
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The Department of the Air Force annually evaluates its internal controls through

the Internal Management Control (IMC) program and reports the results to the

Secretary of Defense.

(2) FMFIA, Section 4, requires each executive agency head to report

annually to the President and the Congress whether its accounting systems are in

conformance with Comptroller General principles and standards. The 0MB
developed guideUnes in Circular A- 127, Financial Management Systems, 23 July

1993, implemented by Air Force and DoD regulations, to meet Section 4

requirements. 0MB guidance, further modified by DoD for its components,

provides policies and procedures to develop, operate, evaluate, and report on

financial management systems. Air Force guidance includes procedures for

performing general and detailed accounting system reviews, determining material

system weabiesses, and maintaining an accounting system inventory.

b. Defense Guidance . The DoD Accounting Mantxal, DoD 7220.9-M,

Chapter 14, Internal Control, 1 1 October 1985, prescribes the internal control

techniques that are to be designed and implemented into all DoD operating

accounting systems. The manual requires structuring accounting systems to ensure

proper gathering, recording, storing, processing, communicating, and reporting of

information; and providing adequate support for financial transactions with

pertinent documents and source records. The manual also provides detailed

internal control requirements in the areas of account reconciliation, transaction

processing, error handling, output controls, data verification, system reviews,

reporting, accuracy, timeliness, consistency, and documentation.

c. Air Force Guidance . AFR 170-29 defines internal control as the plan of

organization and all the methods adopted within an organization to safeguard its

assets, check the accuracy and reliability of its accounting or financial data,

promote operating efficiency, and encourage adherence to prescribed managerial

policies. Some of the more important features of a system of internal controls

are: separation of duties, physical security, proper authorization for expenditures,

and recording of transactions.

LAWS AND REGULATIONS

6. Applicable Laws and Regulations. Title 31, United States Code,

Section 3512 (31 U.S.C. 3512); GAO Policy and Procedures Manual for Guidance

of Federal Agencies, Title 2; 0MB Bulletins 94-01 and 93-02; the DoD
Accounting Manual; and various other DoD and Air Force regulations provide

APPENDIX I
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policy guidance and direction related to this audit. Among those, DoD
Directive 7200.1, Administrative Control of Appropriations, 7 May 1984;

AFRs 170-8, 177-120, 177-101, 177-130, 177-108, 4-20; and AFM 177-370 were

of particular significance for this audit.

a. 31U.S.C. 3512 . Sections of the CFO Act of 1990, the FMFIA of 1982, and

the Budget and Accounting Procedures Act of 1950 are included in 31 U.S.C.

3512. Under 31 U.S.C. 3512, the head of each agency is responsible for

establishing and maintaining adequate systems of accoimting and internal control.

The law requires that these systems must conform to Comptroller General

accounting principles, standards, and related requirements and internal control

standards. Agencies must report in an annual statement of assurance whether their

accoimting and internal control systems conform to Comptroller General

standards.

b. Title 2 . The GAO Policy and Procedures Manual for Guidance of Federal

Agencies, Title 2-Accounting, contains Comptroller General accounting principles

and standards with which 3 1 U.S.C. 35 12 requires federal agencies to comply.

APPENDIX I
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AUDIT SCOPE AND PRIOR AUDIT COVERAGE

AUDIT SCOPE

1. Management Responsibility. Management is responsible for:

a. Preparing the annual financial statements in conformity with applicable

accoimting principles;

b. Establishing and maintaining internal controls and systems to provide

reasonable assurance that the broad control objectives ofFMFIA are met; and

c. Complying with applicable laws and regulations.

2. Audit Responsibility. The AFAA is responsible for planning and performing

an audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether (a) the financial statements

are reliable (fi-ee of material misstatement and presented fairly in conformity with

0MB Bulletins 94-01 and 93-02, and applicable accounting principles), and (b)

relevant internal controls are in place and operating effectively. The AFAA is also

responsible for testing compUance with selected provisions of laws and regulations

and for performing limited audit procedures with respect to testing the consistency

of other information presented in this annual financial statement with the

consolidated financial statements.

3. Work Performed. In order to fiilfill these responsibilities, we:

a. Examined, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amoimts and disclosures

in the financial statements;

b. Assessed the accounting principles xised and significant estimates made by

management;

c. Evaluated the overall presentation of the financial statements;

d. Considered compUance with the process required by FMFIA for evaluating

and reporting on internal control and accoimting systems;

e. Tested compUance with selected provisions of laws and regulations Usted at

Appendix HI;
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f. Evaluated and tested relevant internal controls; and

g. Obtained audit support from the DoDIG, at DFAS-DE, and the Defense

Contract Audit Agency (DCAA), at selected contractor facilities.

4. Extent of Evaluation. We did not evaluate all internal controls relevant to

operating objectives as broadly defined by FMFIA, such as those controls relevant

to preparing statistical reports and ensuring efficient operations. We limited our

work to accounting and other controls necessary to achieve the objectives outlined

in our opinion on internal controls. Because of inherent limitations in any system

of internal control, losses, noncompliance, or misstatements may nevertheless

occur and not be detected. Ehiring the audit, we relied on computer-based data,

although the scope of our audits did not always include a comprehensive test of

system general and application controls to confirm the reliability of data. We also

caution that projecting our evaluation to future periods is subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the

degree of compliance with controls may increase or deteriorate.

5. Locations and Time Frames. The audit was accomplished from August

1993 to April 1994 at 8 major command headquarters, 128 Air Force active duty,

reserve, and guard locations, and 48 DFAS locations (DFAS-HQ, DFAS centers,

and DAOs). Specific locations are listed in the individual audit reports identified

at Appendix IV. A draft of this report was provided to management in May 1994.

6. Standards. We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted

government auditing standards and the provisions of0MB Bulletin 93-06. To the

extent that audit results relate to activities at DFAS-DE, those results were based

in part on DoDIG audit work. In addition, the DCAA performed audit work at

selected contractor facilities in support of oiu- audit of satellite inventories (Draft

Report, Review of Military Equipment, Project 93053024, 22 March 1994). We
believe our audit and the audit work of DoDIG and DCAA provide a reasonable

basis for our opinion on Air Force consolidated financial statements.

PRIOR AUDIT COVERAGE

7. GAO, DoDIG, and AFAA Audit Coverage. During tiie past 5 years, the

GAO has issued several reports related to their audits of Air Force financial

management operations for FYs 1988 and 1989. In addition, DoDIG issued a

report addressing DFAS work on the Air Force FY 1992 financial statements.
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Finally, AFAA issued an audit opinion on the FY 1992 Air Force consolidated

financial statements.

a. GAP Reports . The GAO perfonned audits of Air Force FY 1988 and

FY 1989 financial statements. Significant accoimting issues addressed in their

reports included:

(1) The lack of a transaction-driven general ledger.

(2) Financial systems that do not provide adequate control o^

accoimtability over, or cost/expenditure data for real and personal property.

(3) In-use equipment, vehicles, and inventory that are not valued at actual

prices paid, or market value if donated.

The GAO concluded that Air Force systems do not accurately accumulate and

report accoimting data, and therefore do not adequately portray the financial

position of the Air Force. The GAO fiirther concluded that systems which

improve the quality, reliability, and consistency of financial data are not expected

to be realized in the short term. The GAO recommended that imtil improved

systems become available, the DoD Comptroller should develop methodologies to

use data fi^om existing Air Force systems to develop more reliable financial

statements. The DoD conciured with recommendations and developed a plan of

action dated 4 March 1993 to improve financial accoimting and reporting.

b. DoDIG Reports . The DoDIG issued a report summarizing their audit work

related to the Air Force FY 1992 financial statements, DoDIG Report 94-073,

Defense Finance and Accounting Service Work on the Air Force FY 1992

Financial Statements, March 31, 1994. The DoDIG concluded that the DFAS-DE
did not prepare complete, accurate, and reliable FY 1992 Air Force financial

statements. They reported that the Denver Center did not comply with the DoD
Accoimting Manual or maintain effective procedures and internal controls over its

systems. In addition, DoDIG determined that internal controls over the budgetary

process were not effective. Further, the audit disclosed that the Statement of

Operations did not include all activity affecting Air Force operations. As a result,

revenues were overstated by $424.5 miUion; support for operating expenses was

unavailable for leases of $8.3 billion, asset damage of $568.7 million, and bad

debts of $24.7 million; extraordinary losses of $1.2 billion were excluded; and

prior period adjustments of $13.0 billion were incorrect or omitted. Finally,

DoDIG concluded the Denver Center did not validate the accuracy of
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construction-in-progress data and did not adhere to Air Force guidance on

government-furnished material and contractor-acquired material when preparing

the financial statements.

c. AFAA Reports . AFAA disclaimed an opinion on the FY 1992 Air Force

consolidated financial statements because of material uncertainties related to the

reasonableness of amounts reported in the financial statements and the adequacy

of Air Force's accounting systems (Report of Audit 92053011, Opinion on Fiscal

Year 1992 Air Force Financial Statements, 29 June 1993). Amounts reported on

the statements were assembled fi^om a variety of separate information systems of

uncertain reliability and, for most items, auditors were xmable to verify account

balances. In addition. Air Force management did not provide management or legal

representation letters. AFAA also reported that the Air Force internal control

structure did not provide reasonable assurance of achieving the internal control

objectives described in 0MB Bulletin 93-06. Finally, the Air Force did not fully

comply with laws and regulations that materially affect the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT PROVISIONS OF LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

We reviewed significant provisions of tiie laws and regulations listed below.

Congressional Issuances

Budget and Accounting Procedures Act of 1950, ch. 946, 64 Stat. 832 (codified as

amended in scattered sections of 31 U.S.C.)

Antideficiency Act, ch. 510 3, 34 Stat. 49 (codified as amended in 31 U.S.C.

SS1341, 1342, 1349-1351, 1511-1519(1988))

Federal Managers' Financial Integrity Act of 1982, 31 U.S.C. ssll05, 1113, 3512

(1988)

Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, ch. 676, 52 Stat. 1060 (codified as amended in

29 U.S.C. SS201-219 (1988))

Civil Service Retirement Act of 1930, ch. 34 1-18, 46 Stat. 468, as renumbered

July 31, 1956, Ch. 804, titie IV, s401 70 Stat. 743 (codified as amended in

5 U.S.C. SS1308, 3323, 8331-8348 (1988))

Civil Service Reform Act of 1978, Pub. L. No. 95-454, 92 Stat. 1111 (codified in

various sections of 5 U.S.C, 10 U.S.C, 15 U.S.C, 28 U.S.C, 38 U.S.C,

39 U.S.C, 42 U.S.C)

Prompt Payment Act, Pub. L. No. 97-177, 96 Stat. 85, 31 U.S.C. ss3901-3906

(1988)

Debt Collection Act of 1982, Pub. L. No. 97-365, 96 Stat. 1749 (codified in

various sections of 5 U.S.C, 18 U.S.C, 26 U.S.C, 28 U.S.C, 31 U.S.C)

Federal Employees' Compensation Act, ch. 458, 39 Stat. 742 (codified as amended

in various sections of 5 U.S.C)

Federal Employees' Group Life Insurance Act of 1980, Pub. L. No. 96-427,

94 Stat. 183 1 (codified in various sections of 5 U.S.C.)
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Federal Employees Health Benefits Act of 1959, Pub. L. No. 86-382, 73 Stat. 708

(codified as amended in various sections of 5 U.S.C.)

Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990, Pub. L. No. 101-576, 104 Stat. 2838

(codified in various sections of 5 U.S.C, 31 U.S.C, 38 U.S.C, 42 U.S.C.)

GAO Issuances

Title 2, GAO's Policy and Procedures Manual for Guidance of Federal Agencies

OMB Issuances

0MB Bulletin No. 93-02: Form and Content of Agency Financial Statements,

22 October 1992

OMB Bulletin No. 94-01, Form and Content of Agency Financial Statements,

16 November 1993 (Selected provisions that apply to the FY 1993 financial

statements)

OMB Circular A-34 (Revised): Instructions on Budget Execution, 8 August 1985

OMB Circular A- 123 (Revised): Internal Control Systems, 4 August 1986

OMB Circular A-125 (Revised): Prompt Payment, 12 December 1989

OMB Circular A-127: Financial Management Systems, 23 July 1993

OMB Internal Control Guidelines, December 1982

Treasury Issuances

Treasvuy Financial Manual, Volxmie 1, For Guidance of Departments and

Agencies, Transmittal Letter 521 Posted 2 April 1992.

DoD Issuances

DoD 7220.9-M, Department ofDefense Accounting Manual, 11 October 1985

DoD Directive 7200.1, Administrative Control of Appropriations, 7 May 1984
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Air Force Directives

AFM 177-370, USAF Standard Base-Level General Accounting and Finance

System: H069/BQ, March 1987

AFR 4-20, Volume 2, Disposition of Air Force Records, 1 May 1992

AFR 170-8, Accounting for Obligations, January 1990

AFR 177-101, General Accounting and Finance Systems at Base-Level,

15 February 1991

AFR 177-108, Paying and Collecting Transactions at Base Level, May 1991

AFR 177-120, Central Procurement Transactions, 17 February 1988

AFR 177-130, Policy, Functions, and Responsibilities at Major and Intermediate

Command Level, 15 February 1991
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ASSOCIATED AIR FORCE REPORTS OF AUDIT

Report Title

Review of Civilian Payroll, Fiscal Year 1993 Air Force

Consolidated Financial Statements

Review of Military Personnel Costs, Fiscal Year 1993

Air Force Consolidated Financial Statements

Review of Military Equipment, Fiscal Year 1993 Air Force

Consolidated Financial Statements

Report Number/

Date Issued

93053014

6Jun94

93053013

7 Mar 94*

93053024

22 Mar 94*

Review of Inventories Not Held For Sale, Fiscal Year 1993 9405303

1

Air Force Consolidated Financial Statements 16 Mar 94*

Review of Equipment and Vehicle Inventory, Fiscal Year 1993 93053007

Air Force Consolidated Financial Statements 6 Apr 94*

Review of Contingent Liabilities, Fiscal Year 1993 Air Force 94053024

Consolidated Financial Statements 14 Apr 94*

Review of Real Property, Fiscal Year 1993 Air Force 94053026

Consolidated Financial Statements 28 Apr 94*

Review of Accuracy and Validity of Air Force Obligations, 93053015

Fiscal Year 1993 Air Force Consolidated Financial Statements 6 May 94*

Review of the Funds Control Process, Fiscal Year 1993 94053030

Air Force Consolidated Financial Statements 6 May 94*

Review of Management Initiatives to Improve Financial 9405302

1

Reporting, Fiscal Year 1993 Air Force Consolidated Financial 20 May 94*

Statements

Review of Overview and Performance Measures, Fiscal Year 94053029

1993 Air Force Consolidated Financial Statements 12 May 94*

* Date draft report was released to management
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ACTIVITIES COORDINATED WITH
DURING THE AUDIT

Organization

Defense Contract Audit Agency

Central Region Resident Office

McDonnell Douglas Aircraft Corporation

Mid-Atlantic Region Resident Office

General ElectricA'^alley Forge

Western Region Resident Office

Rockwell International and

Lockheed Aircraft Services Company

Defense Finance and Accounting Service

Defense Finance and Accounting Service

-Columbus Center (DFAS-CO)

Defense Finance and Accoimting Service

-Denver Center (DFAS-DE)

Office of Inspector General-Department of Defense (OIG-DOD)

Office of the Assistant Inspector General

for Auditing (OAIG-AUD)

Office of the Assistant Inspector General

for Auditing, Financial Management
Directorate (OAIG-AUD-FM)

Office of the Assistant Inspector General

for Auditing, Financial Management
Directorate, Denver and Columbus Field Offices

(OAIG-AUD-FD and OAIG-AUD-FC)
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Department of the Treasury

Assistant Inspector General for Audit (AIG-A)

Secretary of the Air Force

Office of the Assistant Secretary of the Air Force

for Financial Management and Comptroller (SAF/FM)

Office of the Assistant Secretary of the Air Force

for Manpower, Reserve Affairs, Installations,

and Enviroimient (SAF/MI)

Office of the Assistant Secretary of the

General Counsel (SAF/GC)
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MAJOR CONTRIBUTORS TO THIS REPORT

Financial Management Division (AFAA/FSC)
Financial and Support Audits Directorate

March AFB CA

Kelton M. Seelig, Associate Director

DSN 947-4965

Commercial (909) 655-4965

Donna L. Edsall, Program Manager
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VERBATIM MANAGEMENT COMMENTS

DEPARTMENT OF THE AIR FORCE
WASHINGTON DC

OFFICE OF THE ASSISTANT SECRETARY

MEMORANDUM FOR SAF/AGA

FROM: SAF/FMP

SUBJECT: Management Comments to AFAA Draft Report, Opinion on Fiscal Year 1993

Fiscal Year 1993 Air Force Consolidated Financial Statements (Project 94053022)

While we recognize the overall basis for your position that you are unable to express an

opinion on the reliability of the Air Force financial statements for FY 1993, we do not

necessarily agree with all the specific statements made in this draft report.

Since this report is a summary of several audit reports, and does not contain any additional

recommendations, we feel that it would be more appropriate to provide specific comments to

the detailed reports.

The Air Force will continue to address the issues within its control, and work with the

Defense Finance and Accounting Service on related accounting issues, as we both strive toward

achieving auditable fmancial statements.

.n

a
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DEFENSE FINANCE AND ACCOUNTING SERVICE

I aj I JLf Fl.KtsON OAVIb HK.HWAV
ARLINGTON. VA 22240 0291

JUN I 5 694

DFAS-HQ/GC
,

MEMORANDUM FOR DIRECTOR, FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT DIRECTORATE
INSPECTOR GENERAL, DOD

SUBJECT: Management Comments on the Air Force Audit Agency
(AFAA) Draft Report of Audit, Opinion on Fiscal Year
(FY) 1993 Air Force Consolidated Financial Statements
(Project 94053022)

We have reviewed the draft audit on the AFAA opinion on the
FY 93 Air Force Consolidated Financial Statements and the
attached management comments are provided for inclusion in the
final audit report. Any additional questions may be addressed to
Mr. Charles Mcintosh on (703) 607-1120.

.^^^^^;zpX^-<

Arnold R. Weiss
Deputy Director for General
Accounting

Attachment
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SUBJECT: Management Comments on the Air Force Audit Agency
(AFAA) Draft Report of Audit, Opinion on Fiscal Year
(FY) 1993 Air Force Consolidated Financial Statements
(Project 94053022)

\

We have reviewed AFAA's findings in the draft report of the
audit. Opinion on FY 93 Air Force Consolidated Financial
Statements and provide the following management comments:

The audit report states at Tab A, page 4, paragraph 8.a.(l).
"The total balance recorded in the general ledger for these asset
accounts as of 30 September 1993 was $204.6 billion. (Reports of
Audit 93053007, 93053024, 94053031)"

DFAS Reconfflended Change: The reported adjusted balance as
of September 30, 1993 (financial statements dated March 7, 1994)
for property, plant, equipment, and inventory was $258.9 billion.
(Reports of Audit 93053007, 93053026, 94053031)

The audit report states at Tab A, page 4, paragraph 8.b.(l).
"Therefore, the financial statement contained an equipment
balance which was overstated by nearly $18 billion. (Report of
Audit 93053007)"

DFAS RecoBUiiended Change: Therefore, the initial financial
statement contained an equipment balance which was overstated by
nearly $18 billion. The accompanying statements include the
correction for this overstatement. (Report of Audit 93053007)

The audit report states at Tab A, page 5, paragraph 8.b.(3).
"As a result, the value of construction-in-progress was also
overstated for the major command. Pacific Air Force (PACAF) , and
in the .FY 1993 Air Force consolidated financial statements.
(Reporfof Audit 94053026)

DFAS Recommended Change: As a result, the value of
construction-in-progress was also overstated for the major
command. Pacific Air Forces (PACAF) , and in the initial and March
7, 1994 versions of the FY 93 Air Force consolidated financial
statements. This overstatement, however, was corrected in the
May 1994 version of these financial statements. (Report of Audit
94053024)

The audit report states at Tab A, page 5, paragraph 8.c.(l).
"...engines were not captured by Air Force accounting systems and
reported for inclusion in the financial statements. (Report of
Audit 93053024)"

DFAS Recommended Change: . . . engines were not captured by
Air Force accounting systems and reported for inclusion in the

ATTACHMENT
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tinancial statements. The accompanying statements include the

correction for this understatement. (Report of Audit 93053024)

The audit report states at Tab A, page 5, paragraph 8.d.(l).
"These assets include aircraft and missiles in storage, on loan

to contractors or other governmei^tal agencies, or identified as

having no operational value. (Report of Audit 94053024)

DFAS Recommended Changes: These assets include aircraft and
missiles in storage, on loan to contractors or other governmental
agencies, or identified as having no operational value in the
FY 93 Air Force consolidated financial statements as reported in

the notes to the initial and March 7, 1994 versions of the FY 93

financial statements. The operational value of the assets was
clarified in notes of the May 1994 version of the FY 93 financial
statements. (Report of Audit 94053024)

The audit report states at Tab A, page 6, paragraph 8.d.(2).

"We determined that contingent liabilities were understated by at

least $30.1 billion in the FY 1993 Air Force consolidated
financial statements. (Report of Audit 94053024)"

DFAS Recommended change: We determined that contingent
liabilities were understated by at least $30.1 billion in the

FY 93 Air Force consolidated financial statements as reported in

the notes to the initial and March 7, 1994, versions of the FY 93

financial statements. This understatement was corrected in the
notes to the May 1994 version of the FY 93 financial statements.
(Report of Audit 94053024)

The audit report states at Tab A, page 6, paragraph 8.d.(3).

"As a result, Air Force financial statements overstated equipment
assets by $692 million. (Report of Audit 93053007)"

DFAS Recommended Change: As a result, initial Air Force
financial statements overstated equipment assets by $692 million.

The accompanying statements include the correction for this
overstatement. (Report of Audit 93053007)

The audit report states at Tab A, page 6, paragraph 9.b.

"The DAO at Headquarters Air Force Materiel Command (HQ AFMC)

"double counted" reclamation and museum aircraft, overstating the

value of aircraft by $2.2 billion in the initial financial
statements.

"

DFAS Recommended Change: The DAO at Headquarters Air Force

Materiel Command (HQ AFMC) "double counted" reclamation and
museum aircraft, overstating the value of the aircraft by $2.2

billion in the initial financial statements. The accompanying
statements include the correction for this overstatement.
(Report of Audit 93053024)

ATTACHMENT
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Finally, this audit report mentions the lact that the Air
Force does not have a system that uses acquisition costs tor
equipment (paragraph 7.c and paragraph 8.a.(l)). It does not
mention that there is significant difficulty with using
acquisition costs under existing current accounting standards
even if an acquisition cost system was shortly available. This
difficulty is pointed out in one of the underlying audit reports,
"Review of the Equipment and Vehicle Inventory, FY 93
Consolidated Financial Statements (Report of Audit 93053007)."
The difficulty is in obtaining supportable acquisition costs for
all equipment covered by such a system. More specifically, it is
"the difficulty of not being able to develop supportable
acquisition cost figures for the equipment in the inventory, some
of which the Air Force acquired over 30 years ago."

The referenced underlying audit report addresses this
difficulty, as follows:

TAB A. 3. a. Equipment Valuation, Asset Pricing, "Department
of Defense Initiatives . The Department of Defense Inspector
General (DoDIG) and the Naval Audit Service have addressed the
problem of valuing assets at acquisition cost in government
financial statements. Both have requested the Federal Accounting
Standards Advisory Board (FASAB) to evaluate the requirement for
valuing existing assets at their acquisition costs. In addition,
the Deputy Chief Financial Officer for DoD, who is a member of
the FASAB, has formally requested the FASAB to endorse DoD use of
recorded valuations of property, or other available information
if the value has not been formally recorded for financial
statement purposes until such time as the board recommends other
applicable accounting standards. In a 23 March 1993 letter, the
FASAB Executive indicated the board was evaluating alternatives
to the acquisition cost method for reporting DoD asset values.
As of January 1994, the FASAB was continuing to study these
issues.

"

The readers of the audit report should be made aware of the
existing underlying difficulty with using acquisition cost, of
DoD and FASAB initiatives, to evaluate alternative methods for
valuing assets, and approval of alternative methods is outside of
DoD control. They should also be aware that such alternative
methods and/or changes in accounting standards could remove this
obstacle to the auditors' ability to render an unqualified
opinion as to the fairness of presentation of the Air Force's
financial statements in the future. Therefore, we recommend the
audit report be expanded to include these items for the benefit
of the readers and users of the audit report.

ATTACHMENT
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DEFENSE FINANCE AND ACCOUNTING SERVICE

DENVER CENTER

6760 E. IRVINGTON PLACE

DENVER, COLORADO 80279

DFAS-DE/ADF
MAR 07 199A

MEMORANDUM FOR DEPUTY DIRECTOR FOR GENERAL ACCOUNTING, DEFENSE
FINANCE AND ACCOUNTING SERVICE

SUBJECT: Transmittal of the FY 93 General Funds Financial
Statements Required Under the Chief Financial Officers
(CFO) Act of 1990

The attached financial statements, footnotes and performance
measures replace the draft statements, footnotes, and performance
measures that we provided on December 30, 1993. A summary of the
changes made to the draft financial statements is also included.

Our financial statement prepairation consisted principally of
financial data compilation, analytical procedures applied to
financial data, inquiries of Defense Finance and Accounting
Service (DFAS) personnel, and other input furnished by the audit
community. Other than those issues that may be disclosed either
in the financial statement footnotes or the statement
certification, we are not aware of any material modifications
that should be made to the final financial statements in order
for them to be in conformity with DoD accounting and reporting
standards

.

Questions your staff may have concerning these final
statements may be directed to my project officer, Mr. Zack Gaddy,
DFAS-DE/AD, DSN 926-7748 or commercial (303) 676-7748.

7erry Coleman
Principal Deputy Director

Attachments

cc: SEE DISTRIBUTION LIST
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MAR 07 1994

Air Force General Funds FY 93 CFO
Financial Statement Certification

I hereby certify that the accompeoiying FY 93 CFO Act
Principal Statements for the Air Force General Funds (referenced
in the transmitteil memorandum of Mairch 7, 1994) are supported by
trial balcinces, feeder reports, or other information provided to,
or maintained by, the Defense Finance and Accounting Service -

Denver Center. The eibove referenced FY 93 CFO Act Principal
Statements are a correct consolidation of such supporting
information. Any adjustments made by the Denver Center are fully
documented

.

y,u^
Jerry Coleman

Principal Deputy Director
Defense Finamce and Accounting Service

Denver Center
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Overview

DEPARTMENT OF AER FORCE
OVERVIEW

GENERAL STATEMENT

The goal of the Air Force is to build a quality force for today and tomorrow. Quality for

today translates into readiness—the ability to create, sustain and deploy highly mobile forces to

project America's global reach and global power. Quality for tomorrow means always being

prepared to meet our future national security objectives. Top-notch people and leading-edge

technologies are keys to both.

Taking care of Air Force people demands special attention at every leadership level. In the

Air Force, it starts with the Secretary. Secretary Widnall has committed her personal attention to

pay, promotions, training, retention, and ensuring a high quality of life for the Air Force men and

women who sacrifice so much for the United States.

The Air Force was built on the promise of technology. We must m^nt^n our technological

edge to fight and win in the fiiture, but "business as usual" will no longer work as we develop,

buy, and sustain new technology. Air Force procurement dollars must be managed so that today's

problems never jeopardize tomorrow's combat capability. Our toughest challenge will be to

continue to absorb budget cuts wisely.

The Secretary has also expressed a fiindamental belief in the need for integrity, both in

human relations and in professional behavior. The Air Force must maintain its uncompromisingly

high standards of integrity. Integrity and the mutual trust and credibility it fosters are key to the

continued success of the Air Force. We will accept nothing less fi^om all Air Force members.

In our fast-changing world, professionalism is one constant we must all count on. The Air

Force must continue to demonstrate the real meaning of public service that has made it this

world's most respected Air Force.

Who is the Air Force

More than 45 years ago, the Air Force became an equal service partner, responsible for

providing the very best in aerial combat capability. Visionaries like Generals Billy Mitchell and

Hap Arnold knew that if our nation's military strength remained on land or in the water, our

fi-eedom and security soon would be at risk fi^om above. Air power would be a decisive factor in

future conflicts.
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Over the years air power has proven to be a superior deterrent. But air power is powerless

without people. Those who came before us set the example. We're proud of our

legacy, and our standards remain high. To fly, fix and support high-tech airplanes and missiles

requires both brawn and brains. We need to continue to create better and cheaper ways to use

our resources and to nurture and motivate our people.

The Air Force family includes active-duty members, civilian employees, Guardsmen,

Reservists, retirees and their families. In all, more than a million people, less than half are on

active duty.

Our active-duty demographic profile; the average age of our officers is 35. This decreases

to 28 for enlisted members. Fifteen percent of the force are women, including nearly 300 pilots

and more than 1 00 navigators. By rank, most blue suitors are sergeants and captains. Finally, we

come from all economic, racial, religious, and geographic backgrounds.

At first glance, we are not much diflFerent than our civilian neighbors. We educate our

children, shop for groceries, wash our cars, and attend worship services. We coach sports teams.

We are scoutmasters and Red Cross volunteers. Regardless of where we are or what we do, we

know that freedom has a price, and we are willing to pay it.

Sometimes, our families are separated; or we get orders just when our children are entering

their senior year of high school. But, we overcome the personal obstacles and family crises. We
know that duty takes precedence over individual desires. In the process, we become united in

purpose and committed to excellence. We expert nothing more and the American public deserves

nothing less.

WHAT WE DO

The Air Force exists for a single purpose—to protert the people and values of our nation.

As a result, our job has always been clear-cut: to respond to aggression whenever and wherever

it may occur.

Today, as we continue to refine our force to meet the challenges of the 21st century, we

have fiirther refined our specific mission: to defend the United States through control and

exploitation of air and space. In simpler terms, the Air Force job is to fly and to fight.

However, pilots and aircrews cannot do the job alone. They rely on forecasters,

photographers, cooks, medics, accounting and finance clerks, chaplains, air traffic controllers,

nurses, and on and on. Team Air Force. Part of a worldwide aerial fleet ultimately committed to

supporting ground-bound troops to ensure they're not attacked from the air. The Air Force has

shown that it can deliver air power when and where it is needed; be it in response to aggression or

catastrophe.
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In the last year, the Air Force participated in more than 40 deployments in 18 countries.

Working shoulder to shoulder with our sister services and allies, we have fined-tuned how we do

business. Some deployments were for training, while others were in response to real-world needs.

Examples include: Delivering food and medicine to the Soviet Union, Angola, and Somalia, and

helping stop the flow of drugs across our borders.

We call our ability to respond Global Reach-Global Power, because we have the means-

the speed, range, precision, lethality, and flexibility—to reach any location on the map within hours

and to deliver a deadly blow or a execute lifesaving effort. Whether it's to help an ally prevent a

coup or transport and deliver a human liver to a waiting transplant patient, the Air Force is ready.

The Air Force is ready because it trains in peace as it will fight in war. Training is the key to

everything. Training builds confidence and readiness and serves as a deterrent to those who

threaten our independence. Whether it's basic, technical, or flight, we train to fight. And if forced

to fight, we train to survive and win.

However, the Air Force is even better when it works jointly with the other services.

Working together as we did in Desert Storm, we learned a new equation: Total Force = Total

Victory.

HOW WELL WE DO IT

As we enter the 21st century, the Soviet Union and Berlin Wall exist in memory only. The

possibility of nuclear war and threats to our democracy are greatly reduced.

In light of these changes, the Air Force is changing the way it does business. The line

between strategic and tactical operations has become blurred. We've seen strategic weapons

destroy tactical targets, and tactical weapons destroy strategic targets. To respond to any

contingency in the world, the basic unit for generating and employing combat capability is still the

wing. Several wings have become composite wings, meaning that they operate more than one

kind of aircraft.

Whether a unit is composite or not, there is one basic rule for wing organization: One base,

one wing, one boss. This means aircraft assigned to any given base are the responsibility of a

single local commander. These commanders are responsible for mission accomplishment, and

they have the resources and authority to get the job done. Even our research and logistics

operations have changed. Instead of two commands, we now have one streamlined command

that develops and delivers weapons to the field.
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Overall, the Air Force decreased the air staff in the Pentagon by 21 percent, including a net

loss of 14 general officers. By taking people from air staff and command headquarters and putting

them in the field, weVe increased eflRciency and reduced bureaucracy. The resuh: a smaller Air

Force with improved combat capabihty.

From 40-year old C-130s and B-52s to high tech helicopters and stealth fighters, potential

adversaries know they can run, but they can't hide. Night vision goggles and infrared systems that

turn night into day coupled with all-weather, multirole aircraft make smart weapons brilliant. The

stealth fighter can deliver a knockout blow and be on its way home even before the weapons hit

their targets.

Our aerial arsenal includes aircraft that can find and track enemy on the ground and then

direct the attack. Olir planes can jam the enemy's radar, photograph troop movements, carry out

a battle plan, deliver troops and equipment to remote areas and rescue downed pilots.

But combat capability is more than "gee whiz" weapons and high-tech equipment. Our

biggest assets in the combat capability arena are the people. We provide the best training

available in the safest environment possible and then stand aside. We not only train the people,

we hold them accountable. Under the concept of total quality management, decisions are made at

the lowest possible level, because that is where the expertise resides.

WHERE WE ARE GOING

When we look to the fijture, we will be guided by a new world with new rules, new

thinking, new fiscal constraints, and new teclaiology.

We expect more military-to-military contacts with new democracies as well as continued

joint training exercises with our current allies. We will collaborate with other services to

exchange ideas and techniques concerning operations, modernization, and support; and we

continue to look for the best way to do the job.

We will consider how our actions may affect the environment, readiness, and deployability.

All changes will be made with careful study and review.

The Air Force will experience more base closures as we slim down from 205 wings in fiscal

year 1988 to 100 active and 50 guard and reserve wings by fiscal year 1995. Additionally, we will

continue looking for more ways to reduce support requirements, especially in the area of mobility

and deployment.
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With base closure comes a reduced force. Within the enlisted force, the goal is to keep a

balance of youth and experience, thus producing a future force with stable career progression and

predictable opportunities for tenure, promotion, and jobs. For the officers, the goal is to provide

a fair and equitable promotion program that meets the needs of the Air Force.

In putting people first, the Air Force will continue to improve health care, housing,

commissary, and exchange benefits as part of a commitment to quality life issues.

As the budget continues to decrease, the Air Force will need to operate more like a

business, by getting the most fi-om our dollars while at the same time improving our capabilities.

Centralization and consolidation of management to eliminate duplication, achieve efficiencies of

scale, and reduce overhead will continue.

The Air Force will continue to pursue doctrinal, organizational, hardware, and support

issues to improve joint operations. The more we know about the other services' capabilities, the

better we will all do our jobs when the need arises.

The Air Force wU continue to change as the world situation changes. The threat may not

be the same, but a threat still remains. We need to work hard to ensure that we have the means to

do the job. We must be able to perform not only today's mission, but also tomorrow's, control

and exploitation of air and space.

Reliability, sustainability, maintainability, capability, and deployability will continue to apply

a vital role in what the Air Force does. AH of this produces a "Quality Air Force."

FINANCIAL ISSUES

The Chief Financial OfiBcers (CFO) Art of 1990, established the requirement to produce

annual audited financial statements. Prior to the passage of this Act, the Air Force had worked

with the General Accounting Office (GAO) to produce commercial style financial statements. We
discovered that while our systems did an excellent job of budgetary accounting, the existing

accounting systems were not able to produce the information required by the GAO nor satisfy the

requirements of the new legislation.

Since that time the Air Force, as well as the entire Department of Defense (DoD), has

worked hard at improving financial management. No doubt many of DoD's financial problems

will take years to corrert. However, there are improvements that can and must be made in the

next two to three years. It is clear that the Department must differentiate between near-term

goals and longer term goals. There has been much disappointment and criticism about lack of

progress in accomplishing the required improvements. We must be careful not to set unrealistic

goals or to imply that long-term tasks can be accomplished in the near-term when in fart they can

not be achieved.
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The Defense Finance and Accounting Service (DFAS) and the Air Force have established a

joint plan to improve financial management. This plan is a subset of the DoD CFO Financial

Management 5-Year Plan. The DFAS/AF joint plan represents consolidation of all outstanding

actions, establishes action offices and estimated completion dates. The plan will be updated

periodically to monitor results and incorporate new actions as required. Completion of the plan

will ultimately fulfill the legal requirements of the CFO Act.

As we work through the plans to improve fmancial management, we need to keep in mind

the following concepts: near-term achievable goals versus long-term efforts; division of

responsibility between DFAS and the Military Departments; prioritization of requirements; and

most importantly a vision of how accounting systems improvements will help the DoD decision

maker in the field.

Limitations of the Financial Statements

The financial statements included in this report have been prepared to report the financial

position and resuhs of operations for the Air Force pursuant to the requirements of the CFO Act

of 1990.

While the statements have been prepared fi-om the books and records of the Air Force, in

accordance with the formats prescribed by 0MB, the statements are different fi-om the financial

statements used to monitor and control budgetary resources that are prepared fi-om the same

books and records.

The statements should be read with the realization that they are for a sovereign entity, that

unfunded liabilities reported in the financial statements cannot be liquidated without the enactment

of an appropriation, and that the payment of all liabilities other than for contracts can be

abrogated by the sovereign entity.
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D'epartraent/Agency: Department of Defense

Reporting Entity: Department of the Air Force

Statement of Financial Position

as of September 30, 1993

(Dollars)

Principal Statements

ASSETS 1993 1992

1. Financial Resources:

a. Fund Balances with Treasiuy (Notes 2 and 3)

b. Cash (Note 3)

c. Foreign Currency (Note 2)

d. Other Monetarv- Assets

e. Investments. Non-Federal (Note 4)

f Accounts Receivable, Net - Non-Federal

g. Inventories Held for Sale, Net (Note 4)

h. Loans Recei\able, Net - Non-FederaJ

i. Propert> Held for Sale (Note 5)

j. Other, Non-Federal

k. Intragovemmental Items:

(1) Accounts Receivable. Federal

(2) Loans Receivable. Federal

(3) Investments, Federal (Note 3)

(4) Other. Federal

I. Total Financial Resources

2. Non-Fmancial Resources:

a. Resources Transferable to Treasurs (Note 8)

b. Advances and Prepayments, Non-Federal

c. Inventories Not Held for Sale (Note 4)

d. Property. Plant and Equipment, Net (Note 5)

e. Other

f. Total Non-Financial Resources

3. Total Assets

$65,845,798,903 $72,060,918,755

149,055,181 113,544,941

1,229,216

721,389,761 236,450,151

1,430,922,919

2,022,402

1,616,679,878

1,655,136

$68,149,189,166 $74,030.478.077

$128,561,197 $100,538,102

239,765,752 288,972,184

30,801,793,849 24,197,250,627

228,197,699,500 228,659,269,191

$259.367,820,298 $253.246,030, 1 04

$327,517.009.464 $327,276,508,181

LIABILITIES

4. Funded Liabilities

a. Accounts Payable, Non-Federal

b. Accrued Interest Payable

c. Accrtied Payroll and Benefits

d. Accrued Entitlement Benefits

e. Lease Liabilities (Note 6)

f Liabilities for Loans Guarantees

g. Deferred Revenue- Non-Federal

h. Pensions and Other Actuarial Liabilities (Note 14)

$2,770,936,772 $4,021,727,943

1,315,440.492 1,516,956,953

TV «fcomii«m-iiiT notn %n mn faitfgnJ D«r« ottbtx it«««ni«nti.
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Department/Agency: Department of Defense

Reporting Entit)-: Department of the Air Force

Statement of Financial Position

as of September 30, 1993

(Dollars)

LIABILITIES Continued 1993 1992

i. Other Funded Liabilities, Non-Federal (Note 7)

j. IntragoverTunental Liabilities

(1) Accounts Payable, Federal

(2) Debt

(3) Unearned Revenue

(4) Other Funded Liabilities, Federal (Note 7)
"

k. Total Funded Liabilities

5. Unfunded Liabilities:

a. Accrued Leave

b. Lease Liabilities (Note 6)

c. Debt

d. Pensions, Social Insurance and Other Actuarial Liabilities

e. Other Unfunded Liabilities (Note 8)

f. Total Unfunded Liabilities

6. TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET POSITION

$973,977,827 $1,184,273,588

1,228.671,263

158,491,988

1.166.017,145

128,652,670

$6,447,518,342 $8,017,628,299

$1,438,090,461 $1,433,836,132

401.217.230
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Department/Agency: Department of Defense

Reporting Entity: Department of the Air Force

Statement of Operations (and Changes in Net Position)

for Period Ended September 30, 1993

(Dollars)

REVENUES AND FINANCING SOURCES

1. Appropriations Available (Note l.V)

2. Earnings from Reimbursable Program

a. To the Public

b. Intragovenmiental

3. Interest and Penalties, Non-Federal

4. Interest, Federal

5. Taxes

6. Other Re\'enues and Financing Sources (Note 1 1)

7. Less: Taxes and Receipts Returned to

the Treasury

8. Total Revenues and Financing Sources (Note l.V)

a. Total Availability - Operating & Capital Appropriations

b. Less: Capital Approp Expended Plus Capital Reimburseme

c. Total Avail Net of Capital Approp Expend

EXPENSES
9. Program or Operation Expenses (Note 12)

10. Cost of Reimbursable Program (Note 13)

11. Depreciation

12. Bad Debts

13. Interest

a. Federal Financing Bank/Treasuiy

Borrowing

b. Federal Securities

c. Other - Interest & Penalties

14. Other Expenses

a. Discounts Lost (Note 14)

15. Total Expenses

1993 1992

$77,814,106,782 $83,081,482,594

146,924,198

3,689,035,312

76,757,729

140,567.215

4.699,400,934

200,802,033

$81,726,824,021

25,937,815.095

$88,122,252,776

29.259.778.644

$55.789.008,926 $58.862.474.132

$56,974,971,266 $54,510,383,901

3,352,694,109 4,461,300.138

51,246,255

1.117.883

2,318,294

249,396,770

1,066,310

2,366,619

16.

r.

18.

19.

20.

Excess (Shortage) ofRevenues and

Financing Sources 0\'er Total Expenses

Before Adjustments

Plus (Minus) Adjustments:

a. Extraordinary Items (Note 15)

Excess (Shortage) of Revenues and

Financing Sources over Total Expenses

Plus: Uniiinded E\-penses (Note 14)

Excess (Shortage) of Revenues and

Financing Sources Over Funded Expenses

$60.382.347.807 $59.224.513.738

($4,593,338,881) ($362,039,606)

($4,593,338,881) ($362,039,606)

232,953,495 (856,401,105)

($4,360,385,386)" ($1.218.440.711)

The accompanying notes are an liitegfl ymwt of tfcese itatcinCTita. 6il APPENDIX VIII
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Department/Agency: Department of Defense

Reporting Entit)': Department of the Air Force

Statement of Operations (and Changes in Net Position)

for Period Ended September 30, 1993

(Dollars)

EXPENSES Continued 1993 1992

21. Net Position, Beginning Balance $317,680,548,781 $348,540,000,785

22. Prior Period Adjustments (Note 15)

a. Unexpended Appropriation:

(1) Accounts Payable 6,794,808,055

(2) Allo^.Mces (226,499,384)

(3) Correction ofPosilion- Cadet (8,592,340)

(4) Accounts Receivable 897,076

b. Cumulative Results from Operations/Future Funding Requirements

(1) Miscellaneous Receipts (313,873.073)

(2) Merged Accounts 289,047,179

c. Invested Capital-Donated Property (3.567.709.304)

d. Total Prior Period Adjustments $0_ $2.968.078.209

23. Net Position Beginning Balance, As Adjusted $317.680.548.781 $351.508.078.994

24. A. Excess (Shortage) ofRevenues and Financing

Sources CKer Total Expenses (Note 1 8) ($4.593.338.881) ($362,039.606)

B. Net Increase (Decrease) in Invested Capital (Note 18)

1. (Decrease) From Aircraft Crashes (Note l.M) ($667,430,755) ($524,638,271)

2. (Decrease) From Natural Disasters (592.868,553)

3. Other Net Increase (Decrease) from Acquisitions,

Dispositions, and Useage (excludes amount reported

as Equity Transfers on Line 25. if any) (Note 1 8) 6.810.404.286 259.360.290

4. Total Increase decrease) in Invested Capital $6.142.973.531 ($858.146.534)

25. Plus (Minus) Equity Transfers (Note 16) SO- (S32.607.344.073)

26. Net Position, Ending Balance $319.230.183.431 $317.680.548.781

TTw iccomMin-liif notw art mn hitegnJ pari ofUwae lUttintnte. 62 APPENDIX VIII



226

Department/Agency: Department of Defense

Reporting Entity: Department of the Air Force

Statement of Cash Flows (Indirect)

for the Period Ended September 30, 1993

(Dollars)

Cash Flows from Operating & Capital Activities:

I. Excess (Shortage) of Revenues and Financing Sources

Over Total Expenses before Extraordinary Items, Prior

Period Adjustments and Transfers (Note l.W)

Project 94053022

Principal Statements

Adjustments affecting Cash Flow:

2. Capital Appropriations Expended

3. Decrease (Increase) in Accounts Receivable Net of

Eliminations/Resources Transferrable to Treasury

4. Decrease (Increase) in Loans Receivable

5. Decrease (Increase) in Other Assets

6. Increase (Decrease) in Accounts Payable Net of

Eliminations/Resources Transferrable to Treasury

7. Increase (Decrease) in Other Liabilities

8. Depreciation and Amortization

9. Other Unfunded Expenses

10. Prior Period Adjustment - Cadet Fund

11. Total Adjustments

12. Net Cash Pro%ided (Used) by Operating & CapitalActivities

Cash Flows from Non-Operating Acti>ities:

13. Proceeds from Sales of Investments

14. Proceeds from Sales of Property, Plant and Equipment

15. Purchases of Investments

16. F*urchases of Propertj', Plant and Equipment

17. Net Cash Provided (Used) by Noo-Operating Activities

CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY FINANCIAL ACTIVmES

18. Appropriations (Current Warrants)

19. Add:

a. Restorations

b. Transfers ofCash from Others

20. Deduct:

a. Withdrawals

b. Transfers of Cash to Others

21. Net Appropriations

1993 1992

($4.593.338.881) ($362.039.606)

$25,937,815,095 $29,259,778,644

(278,366,580) (563,900,098)

(1.309.133,367) (1,165,310,859)

(8.592,340)

$24.350,315.148 $27,521.975,347

$19.756,976.267 $27.159,935.741

$1,229,216

($1,229,216)

($25,937.815.095) (29.259,778.644)

($25,936,585.879) ($29.26 1 .007.860)

$0 $0

Thf «ccomD«ii\-lni' nolts «rem Integral part ofth«« sUtcnwiiti. 63 APPENDIX VIII
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Department/Agency: Department of Defense

Reporting Entity: Department of the Air Force

Statement of Cash Flows (Indirect)

for the Period Ended September 30, 1993

(Dollars)

22. Borrowing from the Public

23. Repayments on Loans to the Public

24. Borrowing firom the Treasury and the

Federal Financing Bank

25. Repajments on Loans from the Treasury and the

Federal Financing Bank

26. Other Boaowings and Repa>Tnents

27. Net Cash Provided (Used) by Financing Activities

28. Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating, Non-Operating

and Financing Activities

29. Fund Balance with Treasury, Cash,

and Foreign Currency, Beginning

30. Fund Balance with Treasury, Cash,

and Foreign Currency, Ending

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:

31. Total Interest Paid

Supplemental Schedule of Financing and Investing Activity:

32. Property and Equipment Acquired Under

Capital Lease Obligations

33. Property Acquired Under Long-term

Financing Arrangements

34. Other Exchanges ofNoncash Assets or

Liabilities

1993 1992

$0 $0

($6,179,609,612) ($2,101,072,119)

72,174,463,696 74.275,535,815

$65.994.854"[084~ $72.174.463,696

$1,117,883

SO

SO

$0

$1,066,310

SO

so

so

The «CTomDaiittiit notw «re «ii bilegral part of<li«« «t««eiii«iiti. 64 APPENDIX VIII
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Department/Agency: Department of Defense

Reporting Entity: Department of the Air Force

Statement of Budget and Actual Expenses

for the Period Ended September 30, 1993

(Dollars)

(

Program

Naine(s)

General Funds

Special Funds

Trust Funds

Project 94053022

Principal Statements

Resources

$105,136,175,084

929,368

35,570.883

Less: Inter-Air Force Eliminations

Totals
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE AIR FORCE GENERAL FUND

FY 93

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A. Reporting Entity:

The United States Air Force was created on September 18, 1947 by the National

Security Act of 1947. The National Security Act Amendments of 1949 established the

Department of Defense (DoD) and made the Air Force a department within DoD. The

overall mission of the Air Force is to defend the United States through control and

exploitation of air and space.

Fiscal year (FY) 92 was the first year that the Air Force prepared audited financial

statements as required by Section 252 of Title 10, U.S.C. Fiscal year 93 will be the first

year that the Air Force prepares comparative financial statements. Section 252 requires the

Comptroller of the Air Force to issue four consolidated financial statements which include:

(l)statement of financial position, (2) statement of operations, (3) statement of cash flows,

and (4) statement ofbudget and actual expenses.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements ofthe Air Force include the

accounts of the General, Special, Deposit, and Trust funds under the Air Force's control.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements account for all fiinds for which the

Air Force is responsible except that information relative to classified assets, programs, and

operations has been excluded fi-om the statements or otherwise aggregated and reported in

such a manner that it is no longer classified. Financial statements and reports are prepared

by the Defense Finance and Accounting Service - Denver Center -Directorate of

Departmental Accounting (DFAS-DE/AD) based upon data provided by over 100

financial reporting systems, some ofwhich are the General Accounting and Finance

System (GAFS), Standard Base Supply System (SBSS), Medical Materiel Accounting

System (MMAS), and major command unique systems which feed into general fijnds.

Feeder data are supplied by the Air Force Academy Accounting and Finance Office for the

Cadet Fund. The (Jift Fund is administered by DFAS-DE/AD. Data are also received

fi-om other entities, such as Army Corps ofEngineers and Department ofNavy.
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DFAS-DE/AD uses the Departmental On-Line Accounting and Reporting System

(DOLARS) to consolidate and prepare Air Force level financial reports. Monthly, the

Automated Digital Network (AUTODIN) is used to transmit data fi-om either the base

or major command, depending on the report. The data are programmatically validated by

DOLARS' programs and then automatically updated in the departmental database. Data

are also updated in the database through manual dntries. The database is an integrated

database with several subsystems. Status ofFunds reports are prepared fi-om this single,

integrated database, thus enabling consistent and accurate reporting. The data in the

database are readily available for update and inquiry by departmental staff; inquiry is also

available to Air Staff and major command staffs. All data in the database have readily

available audit trails.

The Air Force uses a service-unique general ledger structure. A plan to accomplish

initial tasks (phase one) required for a conversion to a transaction driven general

ledger (using the DoD standard general ledger structure) was approved by DFAS-HQ.
Additionally, the GAFS Integration and Modernization Plan (IMP) 2000 was established

this year to blend the Air Force information management and DFAS financial systems into

a comprehensive management information system. The total cost for this 5-year

development effort is $160.6 million ($38.10 million for GAFS and $122.50 million for

USAF feeder systems and program management). The financial statements presented

herein, therefore, are derived fi-om supply, maintenance and accounting records, utilizing

the Air Force service-unique general ledger structure.

The Air Force incorporates into the accounting systems internal controls,

reconciliations, management by exception reports, and other analytical check and balance

processes to enhance required general ledger controls.

B. Accounting Standards:

The financial statements are presented in accordance with the accounting principles and

reporting standards contained in the DoD Accounting Manual (DoD 7220.9-M). There

are, however, five areas in which the accounting systems do not curtently comply with

existing DoD accounting standards. These areas include:

1) Chart of Accounts. Prior to capitalization by DFAS, the Air Force had not

implemented the standard DoD General Funds General Ledger (GFGL) chart of accounts.

DoD 7220.9-M requires that a general ledger system be established using the standard

DoD chart of accounts to provide primary internal accounting control and produce useful

and reliable financial management information. This deficiency has been reported in the

Air Force Federal Managers' Financial Integrity Act (FMFIA), Section 4, Conformance

Review and Evaluation of Accounting Systems.
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2) General Ledger. Prior to capitalization by DFAS, the Air Force had not

implemented a true transaction driven general ledger system to provide a consolidated

source of financial management information for either management or financial statement

purposes. To account for its resources, the Air Force utilizes an extensive number of

external systems to account, control and report on the status of it's resources. Many of

these systems are outside the accounting and finance network (i.e., budget and property

systems) and the general ledger accounting process. The accounting system does,

however, provide an audit trail to the source information. This deficiency has been

reported in the Air Force FMFIA, Section 4, Conformance Review and Evaluation of

Accounting Systems.

3) Government Furnished Material (GFM) Costs. DFAS-DE has identified GFM as

a deficiency in the FMFIA, Section 4, Conformance Review and Evaluation of Accounting

Systems. See Note 5. J. (5).

4) Inventory/Equipment. The Air Force uses different valuation methods for the

various categories of materials and equipment contained in the Air Force inventory.

Materials inventory and equipment items accounted for in logistics systems are valued at

standard price. Generally, standard prices are based on prices paid for recently acquired

items, plus surcharges for handling, distribution, and other costs which results in their

being higher than historical cost. Real property installed equipment is valued at cost and is

included as part of the real property facility cost basis. This inconsistency in valuation

methods was initially documented in the General Accounting OflBce (GAO) FY 88

financial audit report. The DoD Comptroller has directed a revised inventory valuation

methodology which allows the Air Force to continue to use standard costs in logistics

systems (equipment valuations), but use the latest acquisition cost to value inventory for

financial statements; the Air Force has implemented this revised inventory valuation

methodology.

5) Capitalizing Aircraft and Missile GFM and Modifications Cost. The Air Force

does not generally capitalize the cost of aircraft and missile contract modifications made

after the initial acquisition (see Note 5.J.(5)).

C. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting:

The Air Force's activities are financed by general, trust, special, deposit, and revolving

funds. These notes describe the attributes ofthese fiinds.

General fijnd accounts are used to record the amounts appropriated by Congress and

the financial transactions utilizing the fiands. The Air Force manages 1 5 general fimd

accounts: seven are fiinded by current year appropriations and eight by multi-year

appropriations. Current year appropriations received $41,261,137,000 in FY 93. Multi-

year appropriations received $36,252,577,000 in FY 93. Special Fund received $590,336

in FY 93. The Statement of Operations reflects appropriations available of

$77,814,106,782; this amounts includes:
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Appropriations Realized $ 77,5 14,304,336

Net Transfers of Current

Year Authority 410,161,000

Net Transfers of Prior

Year Authority 1,638,818,000

Less Merged Year Cancellationsf 1 .749. 1 76. 5 54)

Appropriations Available... $ 77.814.106.782

Trust fiand accounts are used to record the receipt and expenditure of funds held in

trust by the government for use in carrying out specific purposes or programs in

accordance with the terms of a trust agreement or statute. Trust accounts include funds

collected through gifts and bequests (as well as interest earned on the investments of some

of these gifts) and assets held for particular purposes. The Air Force maintains two trust

fund accounts, totaling $2,679,942 in assets.

Special fund accounts are credited with collections from specific sources that can only

be used in accordance with specific provisions of law. The Air Force manages one special

fund account, the Wildlife Conservation Program, totaling $507, 11 2 in assets. This

Special Fund account had appropriations available of $590,336.

Deposit funds are generally used to 1) hold funds whose distribution awaits legal

determination or for which the Air Force acts as agent or custodian and 2) account for

unidentified remittances. The Air Force expressly requires all check collections to pass

under the immediate control of one of these deposit fijnds upon receipt, regardless of

source, if the ultimate recipient is unknown. The Air Force deposit fund accounts total

$94,123,827 in assets.

D. Basis of Accounting:

Transactions are recorded on an accrual basis of accounting, recording revenue and

expenses as required by DoD 7220.9-M with the exception ofthe Cadet and Gift Trust

Fund accounts (described in detail in a subsequent note) which are on a cash basis. Under

the accrual basis, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized

when a liability is incurred, without regard to receipt or payment of cash. Budgetary

accounting facilitates compliance with legal constraints and controls over the use of

federal funds.

E. Revenues and Other Financing Sources:

The Air Force is financed primarily through appropriations provided by Congress for

annual and multi-year purposes. The following Treasury accounts are used to fund,

execute, and report on total financial activity.
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1) General Funds. This grouping contains the bulk of congressional appropriations,

including: operations; research, development, test and evaluation (RDT&E); and

investment and construction accounts. Operations accounts represent those funds used

for the pay of operating forces. These funds also finance the functional and administrative

support needed to operate and maintain Air Force installations.
i

The Air Force conducts and contracts for RDT&E of advanced weapons systems.

RDT&E costs are normally expensed. RDT&E programs support modernization of

weapon systems through military research, exploratory development, and the development

and testing of prototypes and full-scale preproduction of hardware. The Air Force

contracts for and procures its weapons systems considering the technological advances

achieved through RDT&E programs.

Investment/construction accounts are used for specific purposes approved by and

reportable to Congress. These accounts are used for the acquisition or construction of

technology, property, and infrastructures.

Revenue and expenses were reduced by $1,739,906,679, and receivables and payables

were oflFset $528,418,816, as a resuk of eliminating intra Air Force transactions (see Note

17).

2) Trust Funds. The Air Force Trust Funds are endowment or revolving funds.

These accounts are used to record the receipt and outlay of funds held in trust by the

government for use in carrying out specific purposes or programs. The Air Force operates

two trust fiinds. They are;

(a) The Air Force Gift Fund is an endowment fund where donors make
conditional monetary gifts to the Air Force. Donations to the Air Force are recognized as

a financial source upon acceptance of the donated asset, and a revenue is recorded

for the value of the increase to the asset account. Obligations and expenditures are made
against the Gift Fund for the purposes specified in the gift oflFer. The use or obligation of

Gift Fund receipts is recorded on a cash basis. When specified in the gift offer these funds

are allowed to be invested in marketable securities. Donated property is disclosed in the

financial statements.

(b) The Air Force Cadet Fund operates as a local deposit fund account. It is

administered by the Superintendent of the Air Force Academy on behalfofthe Air Force

Academy cadets. Each month, monies are deposited into the account from checks and

information provided by the Defense Joint Military Pay System (DJMS). The cadet pay

office draws checks on this account to pay the various vendors and contractors at the

Academy. The advance education funds which previously were processed through the

Cadet Fund are now paid directly from the Military Personnel Appropriation (3500) and a

repayment of indebtedness is established on the cadet Master Military Pay
Account (MMPA) in DJMS.

73 APPENDIX VIII



235

Project 94053022

Footnotes .

Trust fund revenue of $8,479,845 includes donations and gifts to the Gift Fund, and

advances and transfers of funds from the military personnel fund to the Cadet Fund.

Specifically, $7,833,507 was a transfer from the military personnel appropriation to the

Cadet Fund, and has been eliminated on the consolidated statements.

(

3) Special Funds Receipt Accounts. These accounts are credited with receipts from

specific sources, are earmarked by law for a particular purpose, and none of the fiinds are

generated from operations. Special Fund expenditure accounts are used to record

appropriated amounts of Special Fund receipts to be expended for special programs in

accordance with specific provisions of law.

4) Deposit Fund Accounts. These accounts generally are used to 1) hold assets

whose distribution awaits legal determination or for which the Air Force acts as agent or

custodian and 2) account for unidentified remittances. The Air Force expressly requires

all check collections to pass under the immediate control of one of these deposit funds

upon receipt, regardless of source, if the ultimate recipient is unknown.

Annual and multi-year congressional appropriations, are supplemented, when

authorized, wath revenues generated by sales ofgoods or services through a reimbursable

order process. This process allows the seller to increase funds available by

the cost ofthe supplies and/or services ordered by the customer. The reimbursable order

process promotes efficiency in providing products and services and it allows an accurate

accounting of resources provided and applied. The authority to obligate is recognized

(i.e., obligations may be recorded) when orders from a government entity are accepted or

advances from a non-federal entity are received. Obligation authority must be recorded

before performance on an order begins. For financial reporting purposes under accrual

accounting, revenue is recognized when earned. The cost ofgoods sold or services

provided is recognized when expenses are incurred. Advances received prior to delivery

ofgoods or services are treated as unearned revenue and recorded as a liability of the Air

Force.

F. Accounting for Intra-governmental Activities:

The Air Force, as an agency ofthe federal government, interacts with and is dependent

upon the financial activities of the federal government as a whole. Therefore, these

financial statements do not reflect the results of all financial decisions applicable to the Air

Force as though the agency were a stand-alone entity.

The Air Force civilian employees participate in the Civil Service Retirement System

(CSRS) and Federal Employees Retirement Systems (FERS) which includes the Thrift

Savings Plan (TSP), while military personnel are covered by the Military Retirement

System (MRS). Additionally, employees and personnel covered by FERS and MRS are

also covered by Social Security. The Air Force funds a portion ofpension benefits

under these retirement systems but does not disclose the assets or actuarial data on the

accumulated plan benefits or unfunded pension liabilities of its employees; the Office of

Personnel Management (0PM) reports pension benefits and liabilities for CSRS, FERS

and TSP, and DoD reports for MRS.
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In FY 93, the Air Force contributed the following amounts to the retirement plans and •

Social Security.
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Miscellaneous Receivables and Interest and Penalties: Accounts receivable do not

include tlie amount of miscellaneous receivables. Miscellaneous receipts receivables result

from interest, penalties, and administrative charges associated with the collection of

delinquent accounts, merged appropriation accounts, and other miscellaneous receivables.

Effective September 30, 1993, the remaining merged appropriation accounts were closed

from the Treasury records. Receipts for merged appropriation accounts and for other

miscellaneous receipts cannot be used to augment appropriations and any collections

must be credited to a Treasury receipt account. Beginning in FY 93, miscellaneous

receipts receivables are stated separately as non-financial resources transferable to

Treasury and reported as liabilities to the Department of Treasury.

The FY 92 net miscellaneous receivable total (as restated on the comparative

statements) is $100,538,102. The FY 93 net total is $128,561,197 (total receivables of

$710,218,378 less estimated uncollectibles of $581,657,181). See Note 8. Both fiscal

years include miscellaneous receipts, interest, penalties, and administrative charges, but the

FY 93 amount includes $173,960,252 for merged appropriation accounts which were

cancelled.

Refund Receivable Claims Against Contractors: The accounts receivable, net, non-

federal, for FY 93 was increased by $622,562,860 for contractor debts subject to deferred

payment agreements. These contractor debts are valid receivables ofthe Air Force, The

majority of these debts resulted from unliquidated progress payments, defective pricing,

and breach of contract. Deferred payment agreements are an interim financial

arrangement between the contractor and the government to defer the government's right

to prompt payment from the contractor of the indebtedness, pending a decision by the

Armed Services Board of Contract Appeals (ASBCA), and in no way releases or waives

any other existing rights or remedies of the federal government. When the government

(contracting oflBce) issues a demand for payment of indebtedness, the contractor has a

right to request that payment ofthe indebtedness be deferred pending disposition of its

appeal to the ASBCA. Of the total deferred payment agreements, $605,424,955 is

payable to the Foreign Military Sales Trust Fund upon collection.

Summary of Accounts Receivables by Fund Before Interfund

Eliminations

Net Net

Non-Federal Federal

General Funds $ 721,389,654 $1,430,113,662

Deposit Funds 000 000

Special Funds 000 000

Trust Funds 107 809.257

Total 721 389.761 1.430.922.919
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General Funds

Receivable Allowance

Public / $ 105,134,887

Deferred Payment

Agreements & Refunds 681.612.893

Total Public

Total Federal

Total

786,747.780

1.430.1 13.662

S 2.216.861.442

Net

$ 6.308,093 $ 98,826,794

59.050.033 622.562.860

65,358,126 721,389,654

000 1.430.113.662

S 65.358.126 S 2.151.503.316

Total Public

Total Federal

Total

Receivable

$ 107

809.257

$ 809.364

Trust Funds

Allowance

$ 000

000

$ 000

Net

$ 107

809.257

$ 809.364

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts: A departmental allowance for doubtful accounts

receivables, non-federal, is computed each year. The average percent of write-offs to total

public accounts receivables for the last 5 years is applied against the total outstanding

public accounts receivable for the current year. The total amount of certain claims is

included in the receivables balance for full disclosure because no final determination on

collectibility of the claims was made as of September 30, 1993. The allowance includes

$59,050,033 for the refund receivable claims and $6,308,093 for the balance of

the public receivables, resulting in a total allowance of $65,358,126. Although required

by the DoD 7220.9-M, no allowance for doubtful accounts is recorded for federal

receivables since data to record this amount does not currently exist. The increase in

public allowance for FY 93 is $51,246,255 after reclassification of accounts receivable Air

Force to resources transferable to Treasury.

Negative Unliquidated Obligations fULOs'): Negative ULOs represent erroneous

accounting entries and/or overpayments to contractors. Depending on the specific

situation, the negative ULO can cause either liabilities or accounts receivable to be

understated. Continual emphasis, increased visibility (fi-om a newNULO reporting system

implemented in FY 92), and overall research and correction efforts resulted in a

downward trend during the fiscal year. At the end ofFY 93, $739 million was reported

in negative ULOs, down fi-om $1 .8 billion reported at the end ofFY 92. Ofthe $739

million, reconciliation efforts were complete and corrertive actions in process on $352

million. For the remainder, reconciliation efforts are pending.
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J. Loans Receivable:

Loans are accounted as receivables after funds have been disbursed. Air Force did not

report this type of receivables.

K. Inventories:

Inventories, including operating supplies and nonconsumable items, are valued at

standard prices as required by DoD 7220.9-M. Generally, these prices are based on prices

paid for recently acquired items plus appropriate surcharges. Air Force reported no

Inventory Held for Sale, however. Inventory Not held for Sale is valued at

$30,801,793,849.

L. Investments in U.S. Government Securities, Investments

Federal:

The Air Force Gift Fund was established to control the account for the disbursement

and use ofmonies donated to the United States Air Force and the receipt of interest or

dividends arising from investment of such donations. The Air Force Gift Fund accepts

certain gifts offered by the public. Among these are monetary gifts which are accounted

for by DFAS-DE. The amount of investments represents federal securities controlled by

DFAS-DE. The related earnings are allocated to appropriate Air Force activities to be

used in accordance with the directions ofthe donor. At September 30, 1993, $3 10,500 of

investments in U.S. securities were included in the Gift Fund fund balance with Treasury.

This amount was not separately stated on the financial statements but included in the fund

balance with Treasury.

M. Property and Equipment:

Capitalization of Assets: The Air Force followed the criteria for capitalization of

assets contained in DoD 7220.9-M. This guidance required capitalization of all assets

with a useful life of2 or more years and an acquisition cost of $5,000 or more. In

September, 1992, Air Force received direction from the Acting Comptroller of the

Department ofDefense to change this requirement (retroactively to October 1, 1991) to

capitalize assets with a useful life of 2 years or more and an acquisition cost equal to or

exceeding the expense/investment funding threshold used by Congress for appropriating

DoD operating (expense) and procurement (investment) appropriations. Currently, tiiis

threshold is $15,000. During FY 93 the Air Force changed the Standard Base Supply

System (SBSS), and regulatory documents to implement the $15,000 threshold.
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Valuation of Assets: All fixed assets, including land held in public domain, are valued

at acquisition cost. Acquisition cost includes such costs as purchase price; broker's

commissions; fees for examining and recording the title; surveying; razing and removal

costs (less salvage proceeds) of structures on the land, transportation; handling and

storage; installation; interest; preparation; labor; engineering; appropriate share of the cost

of equipment and facilities used in construction; inspections; supervision; legal recording (

fees; and other related costs of obtaining the property. When the acquisition cost can not

be determined, fair market value at the time of acquisition is used.

The various criteria used to establish the fair market value are:

a. Cash realized in transartions involving the same or similar assets,

b. Quoted market prices,

c. Fair market value of other assets or services received in exchange of property, or

d. Independent appraisals.

Routine maintenance and repair costs are expensed when incurred.

Base Closures: There were no base closure related real estate sale or lease

transactions during FY 93 which caused adjustments to the value of the Property, Plant

and Equipment. Eleven bases have been officially closed including Pease AFB, NH in FY
91 and Bergstrom AFB, TX; Carswell AFB, TX; Chanute AFB, IL; Eaker AFB, AR;
England AFB, LA; George AFB, CA; Mather AFB, CA; Myrtle Beach AFB, SC; Williams

AFB, AZ; and Wurtsmith AFB, MI all in FY 93. Between FY 94 and FY 97 adjustments

can be expected as a result of disposal transactions at these 1 1 closed installations or at

any of the other 17 closure installations. The 17 closure installations include the following

8 new installations added by the FY 93 Base Realignment and Closure Commission:

Homestead AFB, FL: K.I. Sawder AFB, MI; OTIare International ARS, EL; Griffis AFB,
NY, March AFB, CA; Newark AFB, OH; Plattsburgh AFB, NY; and Gentile AFS, OH.

No income from base closure related real estate sales or lease transactions was
deposited into or redistributed from the special Base Closure Account (BCA), Parts I and

n. These special accounts were estabhshed by Public Law 100-526 (1988 Act) and Public

Law 101-510 (1990 Act), respectively, to handle receipts and disbursements in connection

with base closure, realignment and disposal. This is an OSD account that the i^ Force

makes deposits into and receives disbursements from for base realignment, closure and

disposal purposes.

Natural Disasters: The FY 92 financial statements have been restated to account for

the estimated loss of materiel in stores and equipment in use at Homestead AFB, which

was severely damaged by Hurricane Andrew. However, real property is still carried at

full value; the civil engineering community has not written-down this property. Accounting

for Homestead AFB has been rehomed to McDill AFB.
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Aerospace Vehicle Losses : The cost of aircraft which were either destroyed or

damaged beyond repair due to aviation mishaps in FY 93 was $667,430,755 and in FY 92
was $524,638,271; this represents the book value at unit cost of those aircraft. The
associated loss impacted both asset and equity accounts. No loss has been separately

recognized for aircraft which were damaged by accidents but were reparable. Costs

associated with repair of such aircraft are recorded as operating expenses and generally

funded fi^om operations and maintenance appropriations.

Assets Located in Foreign Countries: The Air Force has the use of land, buildings,

and other facilities which are located overseas and have been obtained through various

international treaties and agreements negotiated by the Department of State. Generally,

treaty terms allow the Air Force continued use of these properties until the treaties expire.

Capital investments in buildings, runways, aircraft shelters and other facilities located on
the overseas bases are capitalized. As of September 30, 1993, the Air Force has not

finalized the cost values of buildings and facilities located in foreign countries. These fixed

assets are subject to loss in the event the treaties are not renewed or other agreements are

not reached which allow for the continued use by the Air Force. In the event these treaties

or agreements are terminated, losses will be recorded for the value of nonretrievable

capital assets.

Medical Funding: Beginning in FY 92, funding for all components in DoD was
accomplished through the Defense Health Program appropriation, with an amount

allocated to the Air Force. Any fixed assets purchased with these fiands, if they

met the capitalization criteria, were commingled with assets purchased with other Air

Force appropriations, and are included in those amounts. Materiel in stores, real property,

and equipment in the medical care program remain on the General Funds financial

statements.

N. Prepaid and Deferred Changes:

Payments in advance of the receipt ofgoods and services are recorded as prepaid

charges at the time of prepayment and recognized as expenditures/expenses when the

related goods and services are received. Beginning with FY 93 financial statements,

advances and prepayments, non-federal, are reportable under non-financial resources. The

FY 92 restated advances and prepayments, non-federal, amount was reclassified to non-

financial resources. In addition, the FY 92 amount was increased by $15,107,729 for

advances to contractors recorded on the disbursing oflBcers' Statement of Accountability,

SF 1219. Air Force reported (restated) $288,972,184 in FY 92 and $239,765,752 in FY
93 of advances and prepayments.

O. Leases:

Air Force reported no commitment for operating leases and rental agreements (see

Note 6). All leases are recorded as operating leases, contracted for annually, and paid

by the annual Operations and Maintenance appropriation.
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P. Contingencies:

By their nature, DoD accounting polices are a blend ofbudgetary and proprietary rules.

The DoD Accounting Manual requires the Air Force to report and disclose budgetary and

proprietary accounts. Overall, unfunded liabilities cannot be liquidated without the

enactment of an appropriation.

Budgetary Contingencies: Air Force budgetary contingencies exist at three levels;

commitments, undelivered orders outstanding, and unfilled orders outstanding.

The DoD Accounting Manual, in conformance with requirements imposed by the

Office of Management and Budget, requires that all procurement accounts, military

construction and RDT&E accounts report budgetary contingencies that meet the

definition of budgetary conunitments. Air Force also reports budgetary commitments for

operation and maintenance accounts. Budgetary commitments are administrative

reservations of appropriated fiinds. The purpose of budgetary commitments is to improve

obligation accounting and reduce the possibility of the overobligation of appropriated

fiinds.

The Air Force reported a total of S5,l 16,584,832 as budgetary conunitments at the end

ofFY 93 in unexpired accounts.

Undelivered orders outstanding represent amounts ordered but not received.

Undelivered orders do not represent a liability for payment. As of September 30, 1993,

total undelivered orders amounted to $45,729,100,885 in expired and unexpired accounts.

Cancelled merged account undelivered orders total $662,225,825 (see note 19).

Unfilled orders outstanding represent reimbursable orders received for which supplies

or services have not been delivered to the ordering agency. Except for sale fi-om inventory

items, unfilled orders at fiscal year-end have been obligated. As of September 30, 1993,

total unfilled orders outstanding amounted to $2,066,450,562 in expired and unexpired

accounts. Cancelled merged account unfilled orders total $22,399,498.

Proprietary Contingencies: Proprietary contingencies are commonly referred to as

contingent liabilities. If they meet certain requirements, proprietary contingencies are

either disclosed in the notes to the financial statements or recorded as liabilities in the

principal financial statements.

At the end ofFY 93, the Air Force reported a total of $636,973,691 of contingent

liabilities. Of this amount, $272,656,033 is included on line 5e, Other Unfijnded Liabilities

and the $364,3 1 7,658 balance is disclosed here since it is reasonably possible that this

balance may be incurred. See Note 8.

The Air Force is party to various legal and administrative claims brought against it.

Most are tort claims initiated by individuals addressing aircraft and vehicle accidents,

medical malpractice, property and environmental damages resulting fi-om Air Force

activities, and contract disputes.
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Certain legal actions to which the Air Force is named a party are administered and, in '

some instances litigated, by other Federal agencies. Legal actions to which the Air Force

is a litigant are covered by the Federal Tort Claims Act and Chapter 163 (Military Claims)

of Title 10, United States Code (U.S.C). Contingent liabilities under the Tort Claims Act

and Chapter 163, Title 10 U.S.C, are $2,500 and $100,000 respectively, per occurrence.

Settlements in excess of these amounts are paid from the Treasury's Claims, Judgments

and Relief Acts Fund; under these situations the Treasury's Claims, Judgments and Relief

Acts Fund is not reimbursed by Air Force appropriations, and contingent liabilities arising

from legal artions against the Air Force will not materially affect its operations or financial

condition. However, the Air Force must reimburse the Treasury's Claims, Judgments and

Relief Acts Fund for claims filed under the Contract Disputes Act. The Legal

Representation Letter describes contingent liabilities over $100 million, which will

probably be paid by from the Treasury's Claims, Judgments and Relief Acts Fund, and

thus, will not be reflected in the Air Force financial statements.

The Air Force may pay approximately $387.4 million in litigations and claims, but there

is no certainty that it would ever accrue. In addition to the fact that many cases simply

lack merit, most claims, even if successfiil, will not be paid from Air Force accounts.

Rather, judgments are ordinarily paid from the GAO Judgment Fund, not from Air Force

accounts. In many cases involving attorney fees, the amounts will not be known until the

last appeal is taken.

Seven pending cases have been identified where the Government could potentially be

liable for more than $100 million (each) in which either the Department of the Air Force

or the Secretary of the Air Force is a party, or where the potential liability is allegedly

related to an Air Force activity. Air Force appropriations, however, would not

necessarily pay for all judgments or settlements in these cases, and the probability of

payment is unknown, so these seven pending cases are not reflected in the financial

statements.

The Air Force is responsible for environmental cleanup. These responsibility is

programmed into the Air Force 5 year defense plan. The total cost to the Air Force is

estimated at $6.2 billion, however, the probability of actual disbursement is not known.

Through FY 93, the Air Force has disbursed approximately $1 billion, and will disbursed

approximately $500 million in FY 94.

The National Defense Authorization Act for FY 92 enacted Sections 1 174a and 1 175,

Title 10, United States Code which authorized the Special Separation Benefit (SSB) and

Voluntary Separation Incentive (VSI) programs. These programs offer eligible military

members special benefits associated with separation from active duty and voluntary

appointment, enlistment or transfer to a Reserve component. The SSB transactions are

paid from the current Military Personnel appropriation and expenditures for FY 93 were

$288,405,539.64. All VSI payments made after December 31, 1992, are paid from a

"Voluntary Separation Incentive Fund" established by the Department of Treasury. The

Fund is used to accumulate amounts needed to finance, on an actuarially sound basis,

liabilities accrued under the VSI Program. The Department of Defense Board
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of Actuaries determines the present value of the future benefits payable to persons who

separate under VSI. The Board also determines an amortization schedule for liquidating
•

these new unfijnded liabilities. In January 1993, $391.4 million was transferred to the VSI

trust fund, which is expected to cover all VSI expenditures through January 1, 1995. VSI

expenditures for FY 93 were $25,969,917.39.

Future workers' compensation benefits pertaining to the Federal Employees'

Compensation Act (FECA) is estimated at $1.1 billion for the next 26 years. The

probability of this contingent liability is not known, so the $1. 1 billion is not included in

the financial statements. However, annual FECA disbursements are approximately $200

million, and are included in the financial statements.

Q. Accrued Leave:

Civilian annual leave and military leave are accrued as earned and the accrued amounts

are reduced as leave is taken. The balances for annual and military leave at the end of the

fiscal year reflect current pay rates for the leave that is earned but not taken. To the

extent current or prior year appropriations are not available to flmd annual leave earried

but not taken, fijnding will be obtained fi-om future financing sources.

Sick leave and other types of nonvested leave are expensed as taken.

R Equity:

Equity consists ofunexpended appropriations, invested capital, donations, and

cumulative result of operations.

Unexpended appropriations represent amounts of authority which are unobligated and

have not been rescinded or withdrawn, and amounts obligated but for which neither legal

liabilities for payments have been incurred nor actual payments made. See note 9.G. for

fund balance detail.

Invested capital, as presented in the consolidated statement of financial position,

represents the value of the Department's capital assets which consists of property, plant

and equipment and inventory not held for sale.

Donations represent the value of donated assets on hand.

Cumulative results of operations are equal to the amount of future funding

requirements; this represents the accumulated effect ofunfunded expenses.

S. Comparative Data:

Comparative data are presented for FY 92 and FY 93 for Air Force activities.

Comparative data are presented to disclose changes in the financial position and

operations of the Air Force.
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T. Accounting for Disbursing Officer Cash:

As agents of the US Treasury Department, disbursing officers (DO) maintain

monthly Standard Form 1219, Statement of Accountability, that portray their cash

accountability to the Treasury. Technically, the items making up this cash accountability

are not Air Force assets. However, in 1992, the GAO held that since the cash

accountability is under Air Force control, it should be included on the consolidated Air

Force financial statements, with a corresponding liability to the Treasury Department.

Beginning with financial statements for FY 92, accordingly, the consolidated total ofDO
cash accountability was included within totals reported for "unrestricted cash on hand."

The amount of total DO cash accountability included in the FY 93 statement as a liability

to Treasury is $158,491,988.

The majority ofDO's cash accountability is actual operating or

accommodation/exchange "cash" either acquired by Treasury check issue or by collection

fi-om customers. However, portions ofthe total FY 93 cash accountability shown on the

disbursing officer's Statement of AccountabiUty, SF 1219, includes advances to

contractors under advance payments pool agreements. These advances are reported as

non-financial resources under Advances and Prepayments, Non-Federal.

U. Federal Managers' Financial Integrity Act (FMFIA)
Discrepancies:

During FY 93, several material weaknesses were identified with the Air Force General

Funds accounting systems, procedures, and internal controls. These discrepancies were

reported in the DFAS-DE and Air Force FMFIA reports on the adequacy of internal

controls and conformance of accounting systems to Comptroller General standards.

Corrective actions for these deficiencies are in progress or completed.

Outstanding Travel Orders and Advances: Outstanding travel orders and advances

require continuous monitoring and collection by base-level accounting and finance offices.

Failure to effectively follow-up on outstanding items hinders sound cash management and

accountability, and increases the risk that the Air Force will lose fiinds. Correction of this

weakness is scheduled for completion by the end of FY 94.

Federal Income Contribution Act (FICA) and Federal Income Tax Withholding

(TTTW) Deposit Fund Balances: Procedures for reconciling FICA deposit fijnd

accounts are inadequate. Semiannual certification ofFICA and MlW deposit fiind

balances can not be substantiated due to these inadequate procedures. Reconciliation is

also hindered by inadequate manual FICA adjustment processing procedures. The impact

of this weakness is the accuracy of military pay appropriation tax liability obligations will

be in doubt and procedures used to maintain military pay deposit fund records will not be

in compliance with Comptroller General standards. Correction of this weakness is

scheduled for completion during FY 94.
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General Ledger and Trial Balance Accounting: Due to lack of training and

noncompliance, base-level Accounting and Finance Office personnel sometimes posted •

unsupported and arbitrary adjustments to the General Fund General Ledger and reported

abnormal balances in the General Funds Trial Balance. Also, required reconciliations of

general ledger control accounts with subsidiary accounts were not always being

performed. Unsupported and arbitrary adjustments can result in

misstating financial statements, thereby distorting the results of operations and the value of

assets, liabilities, and equity. Correction of this material weakness is in progress.

Correction of the weakness is ongoing.

Inaccurate and Unreliable Contract Accounting: Accounting systems use data

abstracted fi-om contracts as a basis for recording obligations. Accounting records are

updated with payment data based on information interfaced fi"om contract administration

and contract payment records maintained by Columbus Center and other contract payment

offices under administrative control of the Columbus Center. Controls are inadequate to

ensure that contract and payment data are recorded accurately and timely in the

accounting systems. Both interim and long-term plans were started to correct this

weakness, the completion date is currently FY 95.

Financial Accounting for Real and Personal Property; The Air Force does not

comply with statutory Comptroller General and OfBce of the Secretary ofDefense (OSD)

requirements in accounting for $247.8 billion in real and personal property belonging to

Air Force entities. Property book systems maintaining item accountability are not

integrated with financial accounting systems to concurrently record the dollar value of

item transactions. General ledger accounting adds a check and balance system to the

property accountability system. Lacking mandated controls and required procedures, the

Air Force cannot adequately account for real and personal property and provide assurance

for the adequacy of controls. The impacts of this weakness are adverse publicity and

criticism because ofnoncompliance with Public Law, Treasury and 0MB directives, and

overall lack of accountability for real and personal property. Additionally, the auditability

of Air Force financial statements is impaired. This weakness was categorized as a DoD-

wide weakness requiring DoD Comptroller intervention to resolve, therefore, the

completion date has not been determined.

Joint Uniform Military Pay System - Reserve Forces Processing Procedures:

Personnel working on the Joint Uniform Military Pay System - Reserve Forces have the

ability to enter pay affecting transactions directly to the paying update. There are

inadequate procedures in effect to audit or review these transactions prior to them being

acted upon and paid by the system. This condition could result in fi'aud, abuse, and

loss of funds. Correction ofthis weakness is scheduled for completion in FY 94.

Automated Data Processing Equipment Inventory; The automated data processing

equipment (ADPE) inventory was inadequate to detect loss, prevent misappropriation of

equipment, or to identify ownership of equipment. The inventory file was unable to

identify Defense Information Services Organization (DISO) property fi-om DFAS Denver

Center. This identified the need to reestablish the Automated Resource Management
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System (ARMS) file for maintenance of all controlled equipment and to establish a

financial value baseline of property. Correction of this weakness is scheduled for

completion during FY 94.

Merged Accountability and Fund Reporting (MAFR): Installation level defense

offices (DAOs) and accounting and finance offices (AFOs) are not always performing

required reconciliation ofthe Status ofFunds Data Base Transmission Report, Report of

Disbursements and Collection Transactions, Cycle Report ofVouchers For- and By-

Others, and cumulative balances with prior month balances plus current month for-self

and by-others amounts. Additionally, the DAOs and AFOs are not effectively using the

departmental GAFS automatically generated products to identify problems and facilitate

installation level reconciliations. Correction of this weakness is scheduled for

completion during FY 95.

Joint Uniform Military Pay System/Joint Service Software Active Component
(JUMPS/JSS-AC) Cannot be Balanced: The exercise of balancing the system from

new monthly accruals to the final disposition of those accruals cannot be successfully

accomplished. Money held for later disbursement as residual separation payments are not

routinely balanced to ensure total accountability. Correction of this weakness is scheduled

for completion during FY 95.

Joint Uniform Military Pay System/Joint Service Software-Active Component
(JUMPS/JSS-AC) Input Capability: Sections within the Directorate of Military Pay

Operations have access to accounting disbursing station numbers (ADSN) that are not

assigned to their respective section. In addition, the Directorate ofDebt and Claims

Management also has input capability to the master military pay accounts and uses the

same ADSN. To facilitate adequate internal controls, only the Directorate of Military Pay

Operations should be authorized to specific ADSNs. Correction of this weakness is

scheduled for completion during FY 94.

Military Pay Separation Payment System (MPSPS): Insufficient automated

controls exist within MPSPS in that payments recorded in the system drop off" after 90

days and cases are not updated when a check was cancelled although the MMPA is JSS-

AC is adjusted. The MPSPS also permits the independent adjustment ofpayment amounts

due a separated member without a mandatory corresponding adjustment to the member's

MMPA. Since MPSPS is used to generate the MPS Payroll Voucher Report that supports

the DD Form 117 Military Pay Voucher, authorizing final separation check payments,

duplicate, fraudulent, and erroneous payments can occur. Correction of this weakness is

scheduled for completion during FY 94.
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Reconciliation of Data Elements in the Joint Uniform Military Pay Svstem/Joint

Service Software-Active Component (JUMPS/JSS/AC) and the Personnel Data

system (PDS): The reconciliation of the data element in the pay and personnel systems

indicate that even though the personnel data are interfaced into the pay system, there are

numerous discrepancies between the systems. The current methodology is to extract

personnel data elements from AFMPC tapes and compare the data elements to DFAS
Denver Center military pay accounts. However, in the future all reconciliations must be

reviewed to verify that the process is selecting the desired data to the extent necessary and

to establish a working group relationship between AFMPC and DFAS Denver Center to

ensure that all listings are properly annotated and returned to the Center. Correction of

this weakness is scheduled for completion during FY 95.

Fraudulent Manual Payment Vouchers: Based on an Internal Revenue Service

investigation and a related Air Force Audit Agency (AFAA) evaluation, a major loss of

funds was reported by the Defense Accounting Office at Reese AFB, Texas. The loss of

funds was determined to be caused by processing fraudulent manual payment vouchers in

the Materiel subject matter area. Correction of this weakness is scheduled for completion

during FY 94.

Base Level General Accounting and Finance System: The General Accounting

Office (GAO) identified two nonconformances with this system. First, in automated

accounting systems each transaction must be processed to a general ledger account or a

formal record of original entry from the original source document, rather than being hand-

posted reflections of subsidiary records, memorandum records, and reports which is

the case in the existing general accounting and finance system. Also, the Air Force has not

implemented the DoD Uniform Chart of Accounts (which DFAS-DE is presently

designing for the Air Force). The result is untimely data. Second, Government

Furnished Material and Government Furnished Equipment in the possession of production

contractors are not being controlled on a transaction by transaction basis. System

improvements are currently being addressed through various DFAS interim and

long-term DoD and DFAS efforts will eliminate or correct accountability and control

problems.

Merged Accountability and Fund Reporting System: This system controls and

consolidates all payments and collections data from Air Force accountable activities. An
alternative internal control review in July 1991 revealed that the systems documentation

was many years out-of-date. The nonconformance was to be corrected in FY 93 when the

system was scheduled to be replaced by the MOD-MAFR system. However, MAFR has

been designated as a legacy system to be replaced by a DFAS migratory system. As a

result, the MOD-MAFR system development effort was canceled in May 1993. With the

cancellation of the MOD-MAFR program, we are again resurfacing the situation. The

lack of current documentation has not affected the agency operations because experienced

personnel are working on the system. Both interim and long-term plans are in place to

correct this weakness; the completion date is currently unknown.
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Status of Funds System: The system is an on-line database used to create

departmental Status ofFunds reports. An alternative internal control review in July 1991,

revealed the systems documentation was many years out-of-date. Additional resources to

update the documentation were never obtained due to scarcity ofDFAS funds. Also,

DOLARS has been designated as a legacy system to be replaced by a migratory system in

the future. As a result, actions on the alternative internal control review milestones were

suspended. The lack of current documentation has not affected the agency operations

because experienced personnel are working on the system. Both interim and long-term

plans are in place to corrert this weakness; the completion date is currently unknown.

General Funds General Ledger System-Departmental: This system consolidates

general ledger account balances which are reported by various Air Force Commands. An
alternative internal control review in July 1991, revealed the systems documentation was

many years out-of-date. Additional resources to update the documentation were never

obtained due to scarcity ofDFAS funds. Also, DOLARS has been designated as a legacy

system to be replaced by a migratory system in the future. As a result, actions on the

ahemative internal control review milestones were suspended. The lack of current

documentation has not afiFected the agency operations because experienced personnel are

working on the system. Both interim and long-term plans are in place to correct this

weakness; the completion date is currently unknown.

Work Information Management System: This system is used by the Base Civil

Engineering organization to record costs associated with the operation, maintenance, and

construction of Air Force real property. The system was not evaluated by the system

manager during FY 93 to determine whether the system conforms to accounting policies

and requirements prescribed by the Comptroller General; Treasury; Office ofManagement

and Budget (0MB); Joint Financial Management Improvement Program CORE Financial

System Requirements; and Department ofDefense (DoD) Accounting Manual. As a

result, the responsible system manager was unable to certify the compliancy of this

accounting system to Comptroller General standards. A review and evaluation ofthe

system will be performed during FY 94.

Automated Portuguese Pay System: This system computes payroD for all local

national employees employed by United States Forces Azores on a bi-weekly basis. Air

Force Audit Agency draft report of audit (Project Number 92068003) and results ofthe

FY 93 FMFIA Section 4 review disclosed that the system has material internal control

weaknesses. Off-line systems have been developed to maintain operations which

compromise the system's integrity. The system is to be replaced with a new Automated

Portuguese Pay System in FY 94.
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Italian Direct Hire Local National Pay System: This system computes payroll for

all Italian local national employees employed by United States Air Force Europe on a bi-

weekly basis. The documentation for operating the system as well as the system's output

products are entirely in Italian. The system cannot be independently verified as

conforming to the appropriate Comptroller General standards until the documentation is

translated to English. No personnel other than local national employees can operate the

system in the event of an emergency. Translation of system documentation and output

products into English is scheduled for completion in FY 94.

Noncomptroller Internal Control Issues: The GAO identified three internal control

issues that involved the Air Force Materiel Command (AFMC). The first issue involves

the undervaluing of Air Force weapons systems. The actual costs ofweapons systems are

not reported. Instead the Air Force uses "unit costs", which often deviate substantially

fi-om actual cost and do not include the value ofgovernment fiimished materials. The

second issue pertains to inventory management. Inventory records maintained by Air

Force Materiel Command do not accurately portray quantities or values ofinvestment

item inventories. The third issue concerns problems with Air Force Materiel Command
billings. Problems included inadequate controls for recording sales transactions. The

Defense Logistics Agency has since assumed physical control of all Air Force owned

material. Responsibility for Air Force inventory management is scheduled to transfer to

DLA in FY 94. Additionally, implementation of the Financial Inventory Accounting and

Billing System in Oct 92 has corrected AFMC's billing problems.

DMRD 998, Consolidation of DoD Printing and Duplicating: The Defense

Printing Service's (DPS) internal management and administrative and management

controls do not provide adequate fund control or bill in a manner that customers can

ascertain the actual billed costs for individual jobs performed. As a result, valid

obligations, accrued expenditures unpaid and accrued expenditures paid cannot be

recorded properly or timely and fiind control cannot be adequately maintained. This

impacts virtually all CONUS Air Force Accounts. Correction of this weakness cannot be

projected. The actions necessary must be accomplished by DPS which is not within

DFAS' span of control.

V. Format Changes in the Statement of Operations (and Changes

jn Net Position):

The format of the Statement of Operations (and changes in net position) has been

modified for the purpose of a more meaningful presentation. Changes allow presenting,

1) on line 1, the total amount ofappropriations available (operating and capital) rather

than appropriations expensed;

2) earnings fi-om reimbursable programs on line 2, rather than revenues fi-om sales of

goods;

3) the amount of availability expended fi-om capital appropriations for property, plant

and equipment and other assets on line 8b;
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4) cost of reimbursable programs on line 10, rather than cost ofgoods or services sold;

5) the total revenue and financing sources, net ofamounts expended from capital

appropriations for property, plant and equipment, line 8c;

6) prior period adjustments on line 22, rather than line 17b ofthe suggested format.

This allows the beginning net position to be reduced by prior period adjustments, a

preferred presentation ofprior period adjustments. This creates changes in numbering

after line 1 7 from guidance.

7) the net effect of revenues and financing sources and expenses, including unfunded

items, as a meaningful number. This net amount, shown on lines 1 8 and 24a as the Excess

(Shortage) ofRevenues and Financing Sources Net of Capital expenditures Over Total

Expenses, Operating Appropriations is the current year change in unexpended

appropriations adjusted for changes in allowance for uncollectible accounts.

8) the net increase (decrease) in invested capital for the year on line 24b with the

amount of (decrease) due to aircraft crashes stated separately.

9) the components of prior period adjustments on lines 22a, 22b, and 22c;

10) a meaningful reconciliation ofnet position at the beginning and end ofthe year, lines

21 through 26;

11) reconciliation ofthe year-end net position on the Statement ofFinancial Position,

line 9, with the net position, ending balance, line 26, on the Statement of Operations.

12) only equity transfers on line 25. Changing line 1 from appropriations expensed to

appropriations available allows only equity transfers to be recorded on line 25 and that

portion of appropriations made available in the current year but not expended in the

current year to be reported as an appropriate component ofthe current net change ofthe

unexpended appropriation portion of net position.

The year-end components of net position; unexpended appropriations, invested capital,

donations, and cumulative results of operations/future funding requirements are presented

in Note 9.

W. Changes in Format of Statement of Cash Flows:

The previously described modifications in the Statement of Operations afiFects the

Statement ofCash Flows. Line 2, Appropriations Expensed, ofthe adjustments affecting

cash flow, has been retitled Capital Appropriations Expended. It includes the amounts

expended fi-om capital appropriations for program purchases of property, plant and

equipment, other assets and cost of reimbursable program.

The description for line 16 has been modified to include purchases of inventories not

held for sale so that the description reflects all purchases of invested capital components of
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nonfinancial assets. Due to accounting system limitations the amount reported on line 16

as purchases of property, plant and equipment and inventories not held for sale is the total

of capital appropriations expenditures and capital appropriations cost of reimbursable

program. This is the same amount as reported on line 8b ofthe Statement of Operations.

The effect of amounts expended from operating appropriations has been reflected in

the net amount shown as excess (shortage) of revenues and financing sources over total

expenses presented on line 1 of the Statement ofCash Flow.

X. Financial Data Presentation - Rounding and Adjustments:

Due to rounding, line items on the individual statements and notes may not, in all cases,

agree with the subtotals and totals.

Note 2. Fund Balances with Treasury and Cash:

A. Fund Balances with Treasury:

(1) Trust Funds $ 1,844.832

(2) Appropriated Funds... 65,749,830,244

(3) Other Fund Types 94.123.827

Total Funds $ 65.845.798.903

B. Cash:

(1) Restricted Cash $ 000

(2) Unrestricted Cash 149.055.181

Total Cash S 149.055.181

C. Other Information:

Trust Fund Balance with Treasury, $1,844,832, includes $1,736,875 of the Air Force

Gift Fund held by the Treasury. Reports prior to FY 92 do not include the amount of cash

held by Air Force disbursing oflBcers. Past policy was that all cash belonged to the U. S.

Treasury and was not considered as an asset of a DoD Component for external statement

purposes. For FYs 92 and 93, cash held by DoD disbursing oflBcers are reported on DoD
financial statements.

Note 3. Investments:

The Air force Gift Fund balance with Treasury includes $3 10,500 of Investments in

U.S. Securities. The Cadet Fund no longer includes any investments. The total ofthe
FY 92 Investments in Certificates of Deposits for student savings has been paid to the

cadets.
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Note 4. Inventories;

A. Inventory Categories:

(1) Inventory Held for Sale S 000

(2) Inventory Not Held for Sale

(a) Materiel and Goods for Own Use. 27,998,648,777

(b) Stockpiled Materials 2,803,145,072

(c) Other 000

Total S30.801.793.849

See Note lb.

B. Other Information:

As of September 30, 1993, the values reported in Materiel on Hand - Ammunition are

obtained from the Combat Ammunition System (CAS-A) located at Hill AFB. Previously,

FY 92 and prior fiscal years GFGL reporting, ammunition was reported using the Combat

Ammunition System (CAS) - Base at those installations which had converted to CAS-B.

Note 5. Property, Plant and Equipment Net:
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H. Other Information:

(1) The Vehicle Item Manager ofWarner Robins Air Logistics Center (AFMC) did

not report the value of vehicles in-transit. This amount could not be isolated, but is

estimated to be SI million.

(2) Some locations continue to have item records with unit prices of $999,999

instead of actual prices, causing the General Ledger Equipment in Use amount for the host

and satellite systems designators to be understated. Bases have been advised to load the

correct unit prices.

(3) In FY 93, Air Mobility Command (AMC) bases reported zero amounts for

Equipment in Use and Real Property, incorrectly believing that the Defense Business

Operations Fund (DBOF) would capitalize all AMC assets. However, amounts for

Equipment in Use and Real Property rightfially owned by AMC's General Funds were

included in the FY 93 financial statements after extensive research.

(4) A system change released June 1 993 eliminated possible double or incorrect

reporting of Equipment Authorized Inventory Data (EAID) (the program excludes the

value of leased vehicles); and Security, Cryptographic and Meteorological Equipment,

(reporting responsibility is assigned to the Air Force Intelligence Command (AFIC),

Defense Accounting Office (DAO), Kelly AFB, Texas, thus the program excludes this

type of equipment). The system change also implemented the $15,000 criteria for

equipment-in-use reporting.

(5) Weapon System Valuation Project. During FY 92, the Air Force began a

project to revalue the recorded costs ofweapon systems. The basic thrust of the project

was to update the weapon systems listed in the Air Force Materiel Command (AFMC)
technical manual, TO 00-25-30, Unit Cost of Aircraft, Guided Missiles, and Engines. This

publication was last revised on May 15, 1983.

The unit costs ofthe revalued weapon systems are derived by adding all costs for

procurement and dividing these total costs by the total quantity procured during the time

period. Modification costs that change the physical configuration or the fiinctional

characteristics of a system are included in the revalued balances. In addition, the revalued

costs include RDT&E expenses associated with specific weapon systems and GFM.

Subsequent phases ofthe project will update the remaining Air Force weapon systems

including aircraft, helicopters, strategic missiles, tactical and defense missiles, launch

vehicles, and aerial target and decoys. The revaluation project will run through FY 94.

Unit costs for the B-IB bomber were revised to agree with the Selected Acquisition

Report (SAR) costs, which increased B-IB values by approximately $7 billion; the FY 92

financial statements were adjusted to reflect this increase in value.
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(6) Donated Real Property (nonmonetary). Donated Real property value is the

estimated value of any right, title, or interest in land and buildings, fixed improvements,

utilities, and other permanent type additions to land donated to the Air Force. The
balance reported at the end ofFY 92 was $227,262,837 and at the end ofFY 93 was

$267,835,612.

(7) Other Donations to the Air Force (nonmonetary).

a. Air Force physically accounts for approximately 7,700 pieces of artwork

although no value has been established; any omitted amount is immaterial for financial

reporting purposes.

b. Donated Museum Items: Items donated to the Air Force Museum Program

are recorded in the physical and financial records with all other museum items. The

Colonel Richard Gimbel Aeronautical Collection at the United States Air Force Academy

is separately maintained by the Academy.

c. Foreign Gifts: The value of foreign gifts is not recorded in the financial

statements because Air Force ownership of these gifts has not been established.

(8) Work-in-Process for satellites has not been identified and accounted for

separately. Expenditures for this may be commingled with other expenditures. Costs for

each satellite are not tracked by unique vehicle. When a contract is completed, total

costs are distributed to the vehicles covered in the contract.

(9) Construction-in-progress costs are obtained from the Base Civil Engineers

(BCE) Curtent Month Cost Report (for ACs 80010, 83000, and 84000) and the Allotment

Ledger (for Military Family Housing (MFH) projects).

Construction-in-progress costs are also collected from the Army Corps ofEngineers

and the Navy Facilities Command for Air Force fiinded projects. These costs are entered

into the general ledger departmentally.

(10) Aircraft and missiles having "no operational value", and awaiting salvage, e.g.

stripped B-52s, should be valued at their scrap value. In response to FY 92 audits, HQ
AFMC/FM agreed to establish aircraft values at various levels from fiiUy operational to

scrap, thus reporting more accurate asset values. However, the FY 93 financial

statements still carry stripped aircraft and missiles at fiiU value, instead of at lower or scrap

values, causing a possible overstatement of aircraft and missile assets of $650.7 million.

The aircraft and missile valuation system has not been changed to account for various

levels ofvalue.
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(11) The uninstalled engine balance is based on output from the Comprehensive
Engine Management System (CEMS). CEMS calculates the value of engines and engine

'

modules in the Air Force inventory by multiplying the quantity and unit cost of type

model-series modification. CEMS has been found deficient in that unit cost are based on
standard cost; additionally, crashed, cannibalized, and scrap engines were carried at full

value of $439,581,464 instead of their decreased value. CEMS is also deficient in that

nonaccountable assets and contractor logistic support engines may not be included in

the financial statements.

Note 6. Leases:

The Air Force has use of leased land, buildings, and other facilities, all ofwhich are

leased under operating lease agreements. All Air Force leases are operating leases

because they are contracted for annually (with a possible 4 year renewal), and paid for

with the annual O&M appropriation. Thus, a capital lease amount is not reported. The
following estimates are derived from the Work Space Management Plan and Budget

Justification (Report Control No. 0323-GSA-XX).

Fiscal Year

Year 1993

Year 1994

Year 1995

Total

Lease Payments
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The cancelled "Merged Account" liabilities are the result of accounts payable cancelled

in accordance with Public Law 101-510.

Note 9. Fund Balances:

Reconciliation - ending net position on Statement of Operations (line 26) with net

position on Statement of Financial Position (line 9).
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G. Other Information:

The Air Force's equity, as presented above, consists of unexpended appropriation,

invested capital, donations, and cumulative results of operations:

(1) Unexpended appropriations represent amounts of funding authority which have not

been obligated, rescinded or withheld pending withdrawal, and amounts obligated but

unpaid. (More specifically, unexpended appropriation balances are those amounts of

currently available fiinds which are not classified as accrued expenditures unpaid or

accrued expenditures paid.) Unexpended appropriations consist of

Revolving Trust Funds

Cadet Trust Fund $5.010

Total Trust Funds 5.010

Appropriated Funds

General Funds -

Operating Appropriations

RDT&E 9,613,857,759

Operations and Maintenance, AF 6,972,493,549

Military Family Housing O&M 444,534,745

Operations and Maintenance, ANG 556,298,050

Operations and Maintenance, Reserve 3 1 0,658,652

Reserve Personnel 61,628,039

Military Personnel 160,620,000

National Guard Personnel, AF 74.082.494

Unexpended Operating Appropriations 18.194.173.288

Capital Appropriations

Aircraft Procurement 24,720,372,549

Other Procurement 8,778,452,547

Missile Procurement 7,202,779,691

Military Construction 1 ,920, 1 34,936

Military Construction, ANG 474,628,5 1

8

Family Housing, Construrtion 568,385,495

Military Construrtion, AF Reserve 68.532.737

Unexpended Capital Appropriations 43.733.286.473

Total General Funds Unexpended

Appropriations 61.927.459.761

Less Adjustment -

Allowance for Bad Debt Net of

Transportation Receipts 5.411.254
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Total General Fund Unexpended

Appropriations, as adjusted S 61 922.048.507

Special Funds -

Conservation Programs on Military

Reservations (Wildlife) $ 507.112

Total Appropriated Funds

Unexpended, as adjusted 61.922.555.619

Total Unexpended Appropriations, as adjusted $61.922.560.629

(2) Invested capital, as presented in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position,

represents the value ofthe Air Force's capital assets. These capital assets are classified as

non-financial resources on the Statement of Financial Position and consist of inventories

not held for sale and property, plant and equipment. Increases to capital assets and

invested capital are recorded when such capital assets are acquired or constructed (See

Note 18), or when asset valuations increase as a result of increases in standard

prices/costs. Decreases occur when such capital assets are consumed in operations or

otherwise disposed of Assets transferred without reimbursement similarly affect capital

assets and the contra invested capital amount.

(3) Donations represent the value of donated assets accepted fi^om sources other than

the Federal government, less reductions resulting fi-om sales, transfers, donations, usage of

consumption in operations, or other dispositions.

Net Increase in Donations to

Invested Capital $ 40,572,775

(4) Cumulative results of operations are equal to the amount of fiiture fiinding

requirements. This represents the accumulated effect of unfiinded expenses (see Notes 10

and 14). The accumulated effect of unfiinded expenses, or fijture fijnding requirements, is

shown as cumulative results of operations to avoid showing unexpended appropriations as

net of accumulated unfiinded items.

Note 10. Future Funding Requirements:

A. Actuarial Liabilities $ 000

B. Non-Actuarial Liabilities:

(1) Unfiinded Accrued MU & Civ Leave 1,438,090,461

(2) Unfiinded "Merged Acct' Liab (Note 8).. 272,656,033

(3) Net of Deferred Agreements that will

go to Air Force upon collection (17.137.905")

C. Total Future Funding Requirements S 1.693.608.589
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Note 11. Other Revenues and Financing Sources:

A. Other Revenues and Financing Sources:

Claims against contractors and others $ 76,1 1 1,391

Donations to the Gift Fund and other

revenue to the Trust Funds 646.338

Other Revenues and Financing Sources S 76.757.729

B. Other Information:

See note 1.1, Allowance for Doubtful Accounts, for further information on claims

against contractors. See Note 1 .E.2.a for flirther information on donations to the Gift

Fund.

Note 12. Program or Operating Expenses:

A. Operating Expenses:
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(2) Operation and Maintenance, Air Nat Guard
a. Personnel Compensation $870, 1 69,900

b. Personnel Benefits 2 1 3,563,095

c. Travel and Transportation of persons 32,651,358

d. Transportation of Things 13,751,009

e. Rent, Communications and Utilities 44,755,744

f Printing and Reprodurtion 965,537

g. Other Services 448,432,654

h. Supplies and Materials 767,656,677

i. Grants, Subsidies, and Contributions 3,708

j. Insurance Claims and Indemnities 1 03,03 1 ,465

k. Interest and Dividends 15,219

1. Unclassified 3,443,296

m. Equipment 64,121,138

n. Adjustment for "M year expenses (4,077,967)

Total $2,558,482,833

(3) Operation and Maintenance, AF Reserve

a. Personnel Compensation $489,282,686

b. Personnel Benefits 120,267,293

c. Travel and Transportation of persons 18,298,601

d. Transportation of Things 1,833,125

e. Rent, Communications and Utilities 14,453,818

f Printing and Reproduction 1,358,693

g. Other Services 264,5 1 2,207

h. Supplies and Materials 291,574,612

i. Equipment 25,012,005

j. Grants, Subsidies, and Contributions 23,390

k. Insurance Claims and Indemnities 4,885,709

1. Interest and Dividends 19,060

m. Unclassified (2,282,888)

n. Adjustment for TVT year expenses (566.308)

Total $1,228,672,003

(4) Operation and Maintenance, Military Family Housing

a. Personnel Compensation $69,890,577

b. Personnel Benefits 1,729,398

c. Travel and Transportation of persons 1,203,970

d. Transportation ofThings 3,139,467

e. Rent, Communications and Utilities 253,173,552

f Printing and Reproduction 59,557

g. Other Services 423,423,194

h. Supplies and Materials 49,503,434

i. Equipment 17,352,485

j. Grants, Subsidies, and Contributions 476,603

k. Insurance Claims and Indemnities 685

1. Refunds (39,450)
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m. Unclassified (2,996,215)
n. Adjustment for TVT year expenses (948.738")

Total $815,968,519

(5) Operation and Maintenance, Research, Development, Test

and Evaluation

a. Personnel Compensation $507,400,196
b Personnel Benefits 105,743,348

c. Travel and Transportation of persons 37,208,632
d. Transportation of Things 3,919,538
e. Rent, Communications and Utilities 61,605,573

f Printing and Reproduction 2,248,793

g. Other Services 729,308,688
h. Supplies and Materials 161,704,907

i. Equipment 118,937,143

j. Land and Structures 169,651

k. Grants, Subsidies, and Contributions 1 1,851

I. Insurance Claims and Indemnities 25,100
m. Interest and Dividends 23,081

n. Unclassified 5

Total $1,728,306,506

(6) Research, Development, Test, and Evaluation other than Operations and
Maintenance

a. Projects $10,389,066,395
b. Adjustment for "M year expenses 15.056.258

Total $10,404,122,653

C. Military Personnel

(1.) Active Duty

Unclassified $(6,141,868)

Pay and Allowance - OflBcers 4,376,656,63

1

Basic Allowance, S S, FSA, Ret Pay - OfiF 1,646,536,759

Pay and Allowance - Enlisted 7,306,293,177

VHA, FSA, Employers Social Security 2,977,845,580

Pay and Allowance - Cadets 33,493,000

Subsistence - Enlisted 739,290,804

PCS - OfiBcer 958,665,666

PCS - Enlisted (37,480,084)

Other Military Personnel Costs 118.342.000

Total $18,113,501,665
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(2.) Reserve Personnel

Unclassified $ (64,896)

Reserve Personnel 624,785, 1 1

5

Full Time Act Duty - PCS - Travel 59,445,474

Officer Training 40,823,096

Refunds - Transportation f4.92S'>

Total $724,983,864

(3.) National Guard Personnel

Unclassified $ (286,292)

Basic Pay 585.071,712

Other Training and Support 608,477,3 1

3

Refiinds - Transportation (2,999, 1 26)

Adjustment for "M" year expenses (545.845')

Total $1,189,717,762

Total General Funds $56,759,210,935

Less: Redistribution for Bad Debt Write-oflF,

Interest and Penalties & Discounts Lost (18,516,141)

Plus: Unfunded and Accrued Payroll Adj 232.038.102

Total General Fund Operating Expenses $56.972.732.896

D. Expenses of Capital Appropriations are listed in Note 18.

Note 13. Cost of Reimbursable Program:

Reimbursable program costs for operating appropriations are offset by earnings fi"om

the reimbursable program. These earnings include earnings fi-om operating and capital

appropriations. The costs for capital appropriations are included in line 8b.

Note 14. Other Expenses:

Other expenses include discounts lost of $2,318,294. This is a decrease of $48,325

fi-om FY 92.
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Note 15. Extraordinary Items and Prior Period Adjustments:

Subsequent to the issuance of financial statements for the Department of the Air Force

as of September 30, 1992 adjustments were made to the amounts presented. These

adjustments were necessitated by audit findings and other work. If a single period

statement was being presented these adjustments would be reflected as adjustments of the

opening balance of net position (September 30, 1992) by presenting prior period

adjustments. As comparative period statements are being presented, the previously issued

statements as of September 30, 1992 have been restated for the subsequent adjustments.

The adjustments and restatement ofthe Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and

Statement of Operations and Changes in Net Position are as follows:

Adjustments to

Consolidated Statement ofFinancial Position as of

September 30, 1992

(Adjustment Number)

Line l.b. Cash

( 1

)

$15,1 07,729 reclassification of accountability for pool agreements

to Line 2.b., Advances and Prepayments, Non Federal, General

Funds.

Line 1 .f Accounts Receivable, Net Non Federal

(2) $20,280,038 reclassification to Line 1 Jc.(l), Accounts

Receivable, Federal, General Funds.

(3) $2,265,280 decrease in Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts for

receivables reclassified fi-om non federal to federal. General

Funds.

(4) $973,380 addition of Transportation Receivables net of

Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts of $9,734, General Funds.-

Net Adjustment, $17,051,112 decrease

Line l.k. (1) Accounts Receivable, Federal

(2) $20,280,038 reclassification fi-om Line l.f , Accounts Receivable,

Net Non Federal, General Funds.

(5) $142,225 correction increase. Trust (Cadet) Funds.

(6) $142,225 correction increase in Intra Air Force Elimination.

- Net Adjustment, $20,280,038 increase.

Line 2.a. Resources Transferable to Treasury

(7) $100,538,102 addition ofMiscellaneous Receivables General

Funds to statement to present comparative amount. Presentation

ofmiscellaneous receivables is a new requirement of Fiscal Year

1993 format guidance.

Line 2.b. Advances and Prepayment, Non Federal

(1) $15,107,729 reclassification fi-om Line l.b.. Cash, representing

cash advances under pool agreements. General Funds.

103 APPENDIX VIII



265

Project 94053022

Footnotes

Line 2.c. Inventories Not Held For Sale

(8) $356,356,425 reclassiiication of intransit engines to Line 2.d.,

Property, Plant and Equipment, General Funds.

(9) $428,857,380 correction to recognize loss of inventory at

Homestead Air Force Base. - Net Adjustment, $785,213,805

decrease.

Line 2.d. Property, Plant and Equipment

(8) $356,356,425 reclassification of intransit en^nes from Line 2.c.,

Inventories Not Held For Sale, General Funds.

(10) $3,297,690,416 correction to remove duplication ofvehicles in

reported totals.

(1 1) $7,300,000 correction to remove duplication ofground training

aircraft in reported totals.

(12) $1,576,459,000 correction to report satellite costs not included in

reported totals.

(13) $2,400,000,000 correction to remove duplication of aircraft in

reported totals.

(14) $765,000,000 correction to adjust for understatement of missiles

in reported totals.

(15) $7,000,000,000 correction to adjust for understatement ofB-1

bombers in reported totals.

(16) $20,000,000 correction to adjust for error in understating

construction in progress reported totals.

(17) $ 1 64,0 1 1 , 1 73 correction to recognize loss ofequipment at

Homestead Air Force Base.- Net Adjustment, $3,848,813,836

increase.

Line 4.a. Account Payable, Non Federal

(18) $6,657,191 reclassification to Line 4.j.(l), Accounts Payable,

Federal, Deposit Funds.

(19) $27,666,404 reclassification from Line 4.c., Accrued Payroll and

Benefits, General Funds.

- Net Adjustment, $21,009,213 increase.

Line 4.c. Accrued Payroll and Benefits

(19) $27,666,404 reclassification to Line 4.a., Accounts Payable,

Federal, Deposit Funds.

(20) $2,634,719 reclassification of Intra Air Force elimination from

Line 4.j.(l)Accounts Payable, Federal.

(5) $142,225 correction increase. Trust (Cadet) Funds.

(6) $ 1 42,225 correction increase in Intra Air Force Eliminatioa

- Net Adjustment, $30,301,123 decrease.

Line 4.j.(l) Accounts Payable, Federal

(18) $6,657, 191 reclassification from Line 4;a., Accounts Payable Non
Federal, Deposit Funds.

(20) $2,634,719 reclassification of Intra Air Force Elimination to Line

4.C., Accrued Payroll and Benefits.- Net Adjustment,

$9,291,910 inaease
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Line 5. a. Accrued Leave

(21) $1,824,484,045 correction decrease in Accrued Leave (military

portion), General Funds.

Line 5.e Other Unfunded Liabilities

(7) $100,538,102 addition of Miscellaneous Receivables, General

Funds, to statement amount requires contra liability to Treasury.

Collections of Miscellaneous Receipts are to Treasury's account,

not Air Force.

Line 7.c. Appropriated Fund Balances

Unexpended Appropriations, As Adjusted

- $3,228,926 increase is contra to adjustments (3) and (4) above to

Linel .f , Accounts Receivable, Net Non Federal.

Invested Capital

- $3,063,600,03 1 increase is contra to adjustments (8), (9), (10),

(1 1), (12), (13), (14), (15), (16), and (17) above to Line 2.c.,

Inventories Not Held For Sale and Line 2.d., Property Plant, and

Equipment.

Line 8. Less; Future Funding Requirements

- $1,824,484,045 decrease correction is contra to adjustment (21)

above to Line 5. a. Accrued Leave, General Funds.

Adjustments to

Consolidated Statement of Operations

and Changes in Net Position

for Period Ended September 30,1992

(Adjustment Number)

Line 1

.

Appropriations Available

(1) $9,534,581 correction of overstatement. Trust (Cadet) Funds

(2) $9,534,581 correction of overstatement of Intra Air Force

Elimination-Net Adjustment, $ -0-

Line 2.a. Earnings from Reimbursable Program Intragovemmental

(3) $5,350 correction of overstatement. Trust (Cadet) Funds
Line 6. Other Revenues and Financing Sources

(4) $226,499,384 correction of overstatement of current year increase

in refund receivables not included in current year unexpended

appropriations computation. General Funds

(5) $67,243 correction to record current year increase in

transportation receivables not included in current year unexpended

appropriations. General Funds

(6) $6,040 correction of understatement ofCadet Emergency Leave
Fund collections. Trust (Cadet) Funds-Net adjustment,

$226,426,101 decrease Line 9. Program or Operating Expense
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(7) $6,460 correction of understatement ofCadet Emergency Leave

Fund disbursements. Trust (Cadet) Funds

(8) $856,401,105 correction decrease from closing credit

balance arising from change in corrected accrued leave. Line 14.b.,

Unfunded Expenses, General Funds. Adjustment for change in

accrued leave and other unfrinded liabilities was previously shown

on a separate line as unfunded expenses under Unfunded Expenses,

Line 14.b. The adjusted 9/30/92 balance ofunfunded expenses is

closed to program expense with this adjustment so change in

accrual included with current year expenses.

- Net adjustment, $856,394,645 decrease

Line 12. Bad Debts

(9) $226,499,384 correction of overstatement of current year increase

in allowance for refund receivables not included in current

year unexpended appropriations computation

(10) $2,265,280 reduction of current year change in allowance due to

reclassification of $20,280,038 ofnon federal receivables to federal

receivables

(1 1) $673 provision of allowance for current year increase in

transportation receivables - Net Adjustment, $228,763,991

decrease

Line 14.b. Unfunded Expenses

(12) $1,824,484,045 correction decrease from correction ofLine 5.a.,

Accrued Leave, General Funds, Statement of Financial Position.

(8) $856,401,105 increase to close Line 14.b, Unfunded Expenses,

General Funds to Line 9., Program Expenses, General Fund

- Net Adjustment, $968,082,940 decrease, reduces balance to

as adjusted total transferred and included in total reported on Line

9., Program Expenses, General Funds.

Line 19. Unfunded Expenses (included in computing Line 15, Total Expenses,

General Funds)

(12) $1,824,484,045 correction decrease from correction ofLine 5.a.,

Accrued Leave, General Funds, Statement ofFinancial

Position

Line 22. Prior Period Adjustments

Line 22.a a. Unexpended Appropriations

(13) (3) Correction ofPosition (Cadet Fund) $5,770 correction of

understatement of Cadet Emergency Leave Fund balance. Trust

(Cadet) Funds

(14) (4) Accounts Receivable $897,076 correction to report September

30, 1991 transportation receivables net of allowance for

uncollectible accounts. General Funds

Line 22.c c. Invested Capital

(15) $26,000,000,000 correction of overstatement ofammunition at

September 30, 1991, General Funds

(16) $8,820,602,107 correction of understotement ofweapons systems at

September 30, 1991, General Funds
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(17) $3,271,580,088 correction of duplication of vehicles in amounts

reported at September 30, 1991, General Funds

(18) $7,800,000,000 correction for understatement of construction in

process by Army Corps of Engineers and Department of the Navy
in amounts reported at September 30, 1991, General Funds

(19) $1,576,459,000 correction to state satellite costs not included in

reported totals. General Funds

(20) $7,000,000,000 correction to adjust for understatement of B-1

bombers in reported totals

(21) $307,338,472 correction to report property, plant and equipment

used by Airlift Service Industrial Fund not included in reported

totals, Genera] Funds- Net adjustment, $3,767,180,509 decrease

Line 24.B Net Increase (Decrease) in Invested Capital

1

.

(Decrease) Aircraft Crashes

(22) $524,638,271 reclassification of decrease arising from aircraft

crashes from Line 24.B, 3, Other Net Increase (Decrease),

General Funds

2. (Decrease) Natural Disasters

(23) $592,868,553 reclassification of decrease arising from natural

disasters from Line 24.B, 3, Other Net Increase (Decrease),

General Funds

3. Other Net Increase (Decrease)

(24) $1,1 17,506,824 increase contra to reclassifications on Line 24.B, 1

and Line 24.B, 2, General Funds

(25) $3,767,180,509 increase contra to the prior period adjustments

(15), (16), (17) (18), (19), (20), and (21) above. General Funds

(26) $3,063,600,031 increase contra to the Fiscal Year 1992,

adjustments (9), (10), (1 1), (12), (13), (14), (15), (16), and

(17) to Statement ofFinancial Position

Line 2.c., Inventories Not Held For Sale and Line 2.d., Property Plant, and Equipment,

General Funds- Net Adjustment, $7,948,287,364 increase

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as of September 30, 1992

As Reported Restated

Line No. In Current Format Adjustments Comparative

Debit (Credit) Amount
ASSETS

1

.

Financial Assets:

1 .a. Fund Balance With

Treasuo' 72,060,918,755 72,060,918,755

lb. Cash 128,652,670 (15,107,729) 113,544,941

I.e. Investments 1,229,216 1,229,216
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l.f. Accounts Receivable, Net

Non Federal 253,501,263 (17,051,112) 236,450,151

1 .k.(l ) Accounts Receivable,

Federal 1,596.399,840 20,280,038 1,616,679,878

l.k.(4) Other, Federal

(Advance/Prepayments) 1.655.136 1.655.136

1.1. Total Financial Assets 74.042.3 56.880 f 11.878.803') 74.030.478.077

2. Non-Financial Assets:

2.a. Resources Transferable to

Treasury 100,538,102 100,538,102

2.b. Advances and Prepayments,

NonFederal 273,864,455 15,107,729 288,972,184

2.C. Inventories Not Held

For Sale 24,982,464,432 (785,213,805) 24,197,250,627

2.d. Property Plant and

Equipment 224.810.455.355 3.848.813.836 228.659.269.191

2.f. Total Non Financial Assets 250.066.784.242 3.179.245.862 253.246.030.104

3. Total Assets 324.109.141.122 3.167.367.059 327.276.508.181

LIABTLITIES (Debit) Credit

4. Funded Liabilities

4.a. Accounts Payable,

NonFederal 4,000.718,730 21,009,213 4,021.727.943

4.C. Accrued Payroll and

Benefits 1,547.258.076 (30,301,123) 1,516,956.953

4j . ( 1 ) Accounts Payable,

Federal 1,174,981.678 9.291.910 1,184,273,588

4.j.(3) Unearned Revenue 1,166,017,145 1,166,017,145

4.j.(4) Other Funded Liabilities,

Federal 128.652.670 0. 128.652.670

4.k. Total Funded Liabilities 8.017.628.299 8.017.628.299

5. Unfunded Liabilities

5.a Accrued Leave 3,258,320,177 (1,824,484,045) 1,433.836,132

5.e. Other Unfunded Liabilities 43.956.867 100.538.102 144.494.969

5.f. Total Unfunded Liabilities 3.302.277.044 fl.723.945.943> 1.578.331.101

6. Total Liabilities 11.319.905.343 f 1.723 .945.943^ 9.595.959.400
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NET POSITION
7. Fund Balances

7.a. Trust Revolving Fund Balances 5,350 5,350

7.b. Trust Fund Balances 2,772,130 2,772,130

7.C. Appropriated Fund Balances

Unexpended Appropriations,

As Adjusted 66,295,815,556 3,228,926 66,299,044,482

Invested Capital 249.792.91 9.787 3.063.600.031 252.856.519.818

Total Appropriated

Fund Balance 316.088.735.343 3.066.828.957 319.155.564.300

7.d. Total Fund Balances 316,091,512,823 3,066,828,957 319,158,341,780

8. Less: Future

Funding Requirements 3.302.277.044 f 1.824.484.0451 1.477.792.999

9. Net Position 312.789.235.779 4.891.313.002 17.680.548.781

10. Total Liabilities and

Net Position 324.109.141.122 3.167.367.059 327.276.508.181

Consolidated Statement of Operations and Changes in Net Position

for Period Ended September 30, 1992

As Reported Restated

Line No. In Current Format Adjustments Comparative

Amount

REVENUES AND FINANCING SOURCES
2.b. Earnings from Reimbursable Program

Intragovemmental 4,699,406,284 (5,350) 4,699,400,934

6. Other Revenues and

Financing Sources 427,228,134 (226,426,101) 200,802,033

X. Other Unchanged

Lines Total 83.222.049.809 83.222.049.809

8. Total Revenues and

Financing Sources

8.a. Total Availability-Operating

andCapital

Appropriations 88,348,684,227 (226,431,451) 88,122,252,776

8.b. Less: Capital

Appropriations Expended

Plus Cost of Capital

Reimbursement Program 29.259.778.644 29.259.778.644
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8.C. Total Availability Net of Capital

Appropriations

Expended S9.088.90S.583 (226.431.45n 58.862.474.132

EXPENSES
9. Program or Operating

Expense 55,366,778,546 (856.394,645) 54,510,383,901

12. Bad Dd)ts and Writeoffs 478,160,761 (228,763,991) 249,396,770

14.b. Unfunded Expenses 968,082,940 (968,082,940)

XX. Other Unchanged

Lines Total 4.464.733.067 4.464.733.067

15. Total Expenses 61.277.755.314 (2.053.241.576) 59.224.513.738

16. Excess (Shortage) ofRevenues

1 8. and Financing Sources . .

.

(Same amount reported on

lines 16 and 18, as line 17

not used.) (2,188,849,731) 1,826,810,125 (362,039,606)

19. Unfunded Expenses 968.082.940 (1.824.484.045') (856.401.105)

20. Excess (Shortage) ofRevenues and Financing

Sources Ovct

Funded Expenses (1.220.766.791) 2.326.080 (1.218.440.711)

21

.

Net Poation, Beginning Balance

(9/30/91) As
Originally Stated 348,540,000,785 348,540,000,785

22. Prior Period Adjustments

22.a a. Unexpended Appropriations

(1) Accounts Payable 6,794,808,055 6,794,808,055

(2)AUowances (226,499,384) (226,499,384)

(3) Correction of

Position (8,598,110) 5,770 (8,592,340)

(4) Accounts Receivable 897,076 897,076

22.b b. Cumulative Results From Operations

(1) MisceDaneous Receipts(3 13,873,073) (3 13,873,073)

(2) Merged Accounts

Adjustment 289,047,179 289,047,179

22.C c. Invested Capital 199.471.205 (3.767.180.509) (3.567.709.304)

22.d d. Total Prior Period

Adjustments 6,734,355,872 (3,766,277,663) 2.968,078,209
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23. Net Position Beginning Balance

As Adjusted (9/30/91) 355,274,356,657 (3,766.277,663) 351,508.078,994

24.a Excess (Shortage) ofRevenues and

Financing Net of Capital

Expenditures Over Total Expenses

(Operating Appropriations)

Line 18 Above (2,188,849,731)1,826,810,125 (362,039,606)

24.b Net Increase (Decrease) in Invested Capital

1. (Decrease) Aircraft Crashes (524,638,271) (524,638,271)

2. (Decrease) Natural Disasters (592,868,553) (592.868.553)

3. Other Net Increase

(Decrease) (7.688.927.074) 7.948.287.364

4. Net Increase

(Decrease)

25. Plus (Minus) Equity

Transfers

259.360.290

(7,688,927,074) 6,830,780,540 (858.146,534)

(32.607.344.073) _0 (32.607.344.073)

26. Net Position Ending Balance

(9/30/92) 312.789.235.779 4.891.313.002 317.680.548.781

Note 16. Transfers (and Donations);

See Note 9 for donations.

Note 17. Intra Fund Eliminations:
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Intrafijnd transactions relate to only Air Force funds and enter the accounting records

as accounts receivable and revenues. It is presumed that an equal amount of accounts

payable and expenses have been entered on the accounting records. Consequently, those

amounts can be eliminated from the financial statements. Interfiind eliminations are

discussed on Note 1 .E. 1

.

Note 18. Net Increase in Invested Capital:

The overall increase or decrease in invested capital is the computed change ofthe total

of inventories not for sale and property plant and equipment from September 30, 1992 to

September 30, 1993. The Air Force General Ledger system does not allow for detailed

tracking and presentation ofthe various causes of changes in invested capital. The present

system does not allow for reconciling total appropriations from the capital appropriations

discussed below and amounts capitalized in the General Funds General Ledger.

The current budgetary and accounting process under which the Air Force operates

does not distinguish between capital and operating expenses within appropriations.

Therefore, appropriations have been classified as either operating appropriations or capital

appropriations for reporting purposes. (Capital appropriations are listed below.)

Expenditures from capital appropriations were $25,937,815,095 for the year. This

is the amount reported in the Statements of Operations, Cash Flows, and Budget

Reconciliation. Accrued expenditures, including cost of reimbursable program, by capital

appropriation are as follows (the amounts for appropriations classified as operating

appropriations are listed in Note 12):

Aircraft Procurement $11,217,832,309

Other Procurement 8,279,865,087

Missile Procurement 5, 1 3 5,7 1 1 ,454

Military Construction 897,146,686

Military Construction, ANG 228,308,409

Family Housing, Construction 149,325,931

Military Construction, AF Reserve 29.625.219

Total Capita] Accrued Expenditures $25.937.815.095

This total expenditure amount does not automatically increase invested capital for a

like amount. Only expenditures from an appropriation meeting the current capitalization

guidelines and dollar threshold of $15,000 will increase the value of property, plant and

equipment. Only expenditures for items of a nature included in inventories not held for

sale, and not consumed in the current year, will increase the value of inventories not held

for sale. The general ledger current year change in invested capital is computed as the

change from the previous year's sum ofinventories not held for sale and property, plant

and equipment. (See other notes for additional information on inventories and property,

plant and equipment.)
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Note 19. Other Disclosures:

Accrued Expenditure Report: As required by the Department of Defense

Accounting Manual, Chapter 27, Accounts Payable, Public includes $3,985,019,862 of

Accrued Expenditures Unpaid from the HAF-ACF(M)7 1 52 report received from the

DFAS-Columbus Center relating to central procurement. The report reflects outstanding

accounts payable, invoices on hand but unmatched to accounts payable, recoupments of

progress payments, and withholding on cost/fee vouchers because of non-receipt of patent

clearances.

Cancelled Balances: All unliquidated balances associated with the Merged Account

have been cancelled in accordance with Public Law 101-510. Cancelled accrued

expenditures unpaid of $272,656,033 are reflected in the financial statements as unfunded

liabilities. Cancelled undelivered orders outstanding totalling $662,225,825 are not

included in the financial statements, however, these orders may result in future

expenditures. Cancelled receivables totalling $173,960,252 are included in the Air Force

Statement of Financial Position line 2a, Resources Transferable to Treasury and oflFset on

line 5e, Other Unfunded Liabilities because collections of cancelled receivables must be

deposited in the Treasury miscellaneous receipt account. Cancelled unfilled customer

orders outstanding total $22,399,498.

Cadet Fund: The only equity in the Cadet Fund is the Cadet Emergency Leave Fund

totaling $5,010 as of September 30, 1993. The Cadet Emergency Leave Fund receives its

money from a one time collection from each freshman cadet. The Cadet Fund receives a

check from DFAS-DE which represents funds from the cadets to pay vendors who
perform services for the cadets (e.g., dry cleaning, tailors, and barbers). All dollars

received by the Cadet Fund are disbursed out for support of cadets.
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FINANCIAL ATTRIBUTES OF DoD ENTITIES
FY 93

AIR FORCE TRUST FUNDS

TRUST FUND TRUST FUND
CONSOLIDATED CONSOLIDATED

Operating Costs Attribute: 1992 1993

- Current Dollars:

~ Total Costs and Expenses $40,640,75

1

$9,5 14,273

<Statenient of Operations,

linel5>

~ Revenues and Reimbursements 42,902,788 8,479,845

<Statement of Operations,

line8c>

- Net Operating Costs (2,262,037) 1,034.428

<Statement of Operations,

line 16>

~ Annual Percentage Change n/a 146%

- 1990 Constant Dollars

<factor 1992 = .946>

<factor 1993 = .898>

- Net Operating Costs (2,139,887) 928,916

- Annual Percentage Change 143%

Narrative:

This attribute represents how much it costs to operate a program. The cost of operating a

program is its net operating cost, which is equal to the program's total expenses and losses,

minus its revenues and reimbursements.

The Air Force Trust Fund is composed ofthe Cadet Fund and the Gift Fund. The Trust

Fund is us€d to record the receipt and outlay of funds held in trust by the government for use

in carrying out specific purposes or programs. The trust funds operate on a cash basis. In FY
92, revenues exceeded expenses by $2,262,037. In FY 93 expenses exceeded revenues by

$1,034,428. The decreases in FY 93 expenses and revenues was because Cadet payroll was
transferred to General Funds.
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FINANCIAL ATTRIBUTES OF DOD ENTITIES
FY 93

AIR FORCE TRUST FUNDS

Ooeratine Costs Attribute:
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FINANCIAL ATTRIBUTES OF DoD ENTITIES
FY 93

AIR FORCE TRUST FUNDS

GIFT
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FINANCIAL ATTRIBUTES OF DoD ENTITIES
FY 93

AIR FORCE TRUST FUNDS

TRUST FUND TRUST FUND
CONSOLIDATED CONSOLIDATED

Operating Results Attribute: 1992 1993

- Revenues;

- Federal sources $40,219,331 $7,833,507

— Public sources

-Other 2,683,457 646,338

<Statenient of Operations,

Iine6>

Total Revenues 42.902.788 8,479,845

<Statement of Operations,

(line 8c - line 1)>

- Expenses and Losses 40,640,751 9,514,273

<Statement of Operations,

(lines (15 + 17+ 19)>

- Net Operating Income 2,262,037 (1,034,428)

<Statement of Operations, line 20>

- Additional Appropriations 000 000

<Statement of Operations, line 1>

-- Operating Surplus 2,262.037 (1,034,428)

<Statement of Operations,

lines (1 + 20)>

Narrative:

This attribute identifies whether a program's operations resulted in an excess of expenses

over revenues and appropriations, or vice-versa. A program's operating results for a fiscal

year are measured by calculating the difiFerence between the net operating cost and the amount

of fijnds appropriatwi to the program for that fiscal year.

The Air Force Trust Fund is composed ofthe Cadet Fund arid the Gift Fund. The Trust

Fund is used to record the receipt and outlay offunds held in trust by the government for use

in carrying out specific purposes or programs. The trust fimds operate on a cash basis. In FY

92, additional appropriations did not support the program. The Trust Fund had an operating

surplus of $2,262,037. In FY 93, the Trust Fund had an operating loss of $1,034,428.
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FY 93

Am FORCE TRUST FUNDS

Ooeratine Results Attribute:
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AIR FORCE TRUST FUNDS

GIFT
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FY 93

AIR FORCE TRUST FUNDS

TRUST FUND TRUST FUND
CONSOLIDATED CONSOLIDATED

Financial Condition Attribute:



283

Project 94053022
Supplemental

FINANCIAL ATTRIBUTES OF DoD ENTITIES
FY 93

Am FORCE TRUST FUNDS

CADET
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AIR FORCE TRUST FUNDS

GIFT
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FINANCIAL ATTRIBUTES OF DoD ENTITIES
FY 93

AIR FORCE - OTHER FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS
GENERAL FUNDS

Operating Efficiency Attribute; 1993 1993

Unit Cost Goal Actual

(Dollars in Billions)

- Inventory Control Point Operations

- Depot Issues and Receipts

- Other Depot Costs Included in Sales: WE DO NOT

- COSIS Inspections HAVE THIS

- COSIS Line Items Managed DATA

- Material/Other Costs of Sales

- Material

- Customer Returns With Credit

TOTAL SALES COST

- Workload: Gross Stock Fund Sales

- Cost Per Dollar of Sales

Narrative:

This attribute relates to the performance of a program in terms ofhow much it

accomplished in comparison with the resources it consumed. The operating efficiency of a

program is generally evaluated by inputs (efforts and resources) required to produce the

program's outputs (services and goods). Within the Department, efficiency can be measured

by cost-per-output or unit cost.
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FY 93

AIR FORCE - OTHERS FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS
GENERAL FUNDS

Capital Investment Attribute: 1992 1993

- Purchase of Property, Plant $ 29,259,778,644 $25,937,8 1 5,095

& Equip <Statement of Cash

Flows, line 16>

- Less: Sales ofProperty, Plant 000 000

& Equip <Statement of Cash

Flows, line 1 5>

-Net Cost of Capita] Assets 29,259,778,644 25,937,815,095

<Statement ofCash Flows,

(Iinel7-Unel5)>

- Average Balance of Capital 225,447,602,428 228,197,699,500

Assets <Statement ofFinancial

Position, line 2d>

- % of Acquisitions to Book Value 13% 11%

- 1990 Constant Dollars

<factor 1992 = .946>

<factor 1993 = .898>

~ Net Costs of Capital Assets 27,679,750,597 23,292,157,955

-% of Acquisitions to Book Value 12% 10%

Narrative:

This attribute represents the money that programs spend for the acquisition of long-term

assets such as land, buildings, equipment and other facilities. Capital investments of a

program are measured by determining the net cost of capital investments, which equals the

gross amount of expenditures made to acquire long-term physical and financial assets, less

capital recovered fi-om the disposition of long-term assets.

The General Fund contains the bulk of congressional appropriations. This fiind finances

the functional and administrative support required to operate and maintain Air Force

installations. In FY 92, the General Fund increased its property, plant and equipment by 13

percent, and FY 93 by 1 1%. However, property, plant & equipment are not only capital

items, they are also expensed items, making "Net Cost of Capital Assets' a misnomer.

127 APPENDIX VIII



287

Project 94053022

Supplemental

FINANCIAL ATTRIBUTES OF DoD ENTITIES
FY 93

AIR FORCE - OTHER FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS
DEPOSIT FUNDS

Operating Results Attribute: 1992
.

1993

- Revenues;

~ Federal sources

~ Public sources

_ Other 000 000

<Statement of Operations, line 6>

Total Revenues 000 000

<Statement of Operations,

lines (8c -1)>

- Expenses and Losses 000 000

<Statement of Operations,

line(15 + 17 + 19)>

- Net Operating Income (Deficit) 000 000

<Statement of Operations,

line 20>

- Additional Appropriations 000 000

<Statement of Operations, line 1>

- Operating Surplus (Deficit) 000 000

<Statement of Operations,

lines (1 + 20)>

Narrative:

This attribute identifies whether a program's operations resulted in an excess of expenses

over revenues and appropriations, or vice-versa. A program's operating results for a fiscal

year are measured by calculating the difference between the net operating cost and the amount

of fiinds appropriated to the program for that fiscal year.

Deposit Funds are used to a) hold assets whose distribution awaits legal determination or

for whdch the Air Force acts as agent or custodian, and b) account for unidentified

remittances. Since the Deposit Fund is a holding account, it neither accrues revenues or

expenses, thus the zero results above.
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FINANCIAL ATTRIBUTES OF DOD ENTITIES
FY 93

AIR FORCE - OTHER FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS
DEPOSIT FUNDS

Financial Condition Attribute: 1992 1993

-Available Sources of Cash $98,605,673 $94,123,827

<Statement ofFinancial Position,

lines (la thru ld)>

- Future Requirements for Cash $98,605,673 94,123,827
<Statement ofFinancial Position,

lines (la-Id + 8)>

- Cash Surplus (Shortfall) 000 000
<Statement of Financial Position,

line8>

-Total Assets $98,605,673 94,123,827
<Statenient ofFinancial Position,

line 3>

- Total Liabilities $98,605,673 94,123,827
<Statement ofFinancial Position,

line6>

- Asset to Debt Ratio 1 1

Narrative:

This attribute is defined as the financial health of a program and its inherent ability to

generate financial resources to maintain its operations and meet its financial obligations, when
they are due, without corisidering financial assistance (such as additional appropriations). The
debt to asset ratio can be used to test a program's solvency.

Deposit Funds are used to a) hold assets whose distribution awaits legal determination or
for which the Air Force acts as agent or custodian, and b) account for unidentified

remittances. In the Deposit Fund, all assets acquired are held for others, thus all assets

acquired create a liability. This fiand does not accumulate equity, thus the debt to asset ratio

of 1.
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OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE FUNDS IN SUPPORT OF

FLYING HOURS PROGRAM
(OOO's)

FY 93 FY 92 FY 91 FY 90

SYSTEMS SUPPORT $175,594 $159,287 $301,327 $292,463

GENERAL SUPPORT 215,789 239,216 302,310 268,965

DEPOT LEVEL REPAIRABLESi 1,034,827 2 219,810 N/A N/A

AVIATION FUEL 1.168.978 1.302.297 2.511.678 1.372.213

TOTAL $2.595.188 $1.920.610 $3.115.315 $1.933.641

^ Customer RespoDsibilit>' as of FY 92.

2 Represents actual customer usage for the entire fiscal year, versus FY 92 which represented a

partial year transfer of funds bettveen appropriations.
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MEDICAL CARE

FY 93 FY 92

ADMISSIONS PER 1000 POPULATION: 112.27 106.00

OCCUPIED BED DAYS PER 1000 POPULATION 570.81 570.32

AVERAGE LENGTH OF STAY IN DAYS 3.98 4.49

OUTPATIENT VISITS PER 1000 POPULATION 7,430.61 7,389.14

COST PER BENEnCIARY IN DIRECT CARE SYSTEM . $ 592.85 $765.17

COST PER MEDICAL WORK UNIT $2,678.82 $3,077.97

ANALYSIS

Although the workload difference between FY92 and FY93 did not reflect significant

changes in the rate per 1000 population, cost per beneficiary and cost per medical work unit

reflected a lower unit cost in FY93 than in FY92. The cause of this decrease is the use of first

half (latest data available) FY93 Medical Expense Performance Reporting System (MEPRS)
data for "A" and "B" accounts to extrapolate a fiill year projection. First halfFY93 financial

operations were severely constrained across the USAF Medical Service due to a number of

fiscally-driven management actions, easing slightly as the year progressed. Once actual FY93
MEPRS "A" and "B" accounts are tabulated and audited, the unit cost figures will, most

likely, reflect only a minimal difference.
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REAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE ACTIVITIES (RPMA)
PROGRAM

The Air Force plant replacement value (PRV) as of the end of fiscal year 1993 has been

calculated at $170.1 billion. The backlog of maintenance and repair (BMAR) is estimated at

$2.0 billion.

PRV is the amount of money required to replace the Air Force's physical plant (facility for

facility, mile of road for mile of road, etc.) in then year (FY93) dollars. The figure is

calculated using the ofiBcial Air Force real property records, consisting of over 450,000

individual facility records. Information extracted fi-om the records include the scope, unit of

measure, facility category code and description of each facility. The calculation algorithm

model takes into account the unit cost factor for the type of facility; a facility size adjustment

factor; a percentage for site preparation, design and construction management; and area cost

factors. The PRV has been adjusted for all known base closures, realignments and transfers.

Out year projections are also calculated using approved inflation factors. PRV includes both

vertical facilities as well as those not measured by square feet (i.e., utility systems, airfield

pavement and roadways) which account for upwards of35% of the total value. The figure

above does not include the military family housing PRV or PRV for three Air Force

installations funded from research, development, test and evaluation (RDT&E)
appropriations.

A BMAR project is defined as a contracted maintenance or repair project which was

programmed for accomplishment in a previous fiscal year and subsequently deferred due to

fiscal constraints. The project must also be four years old or less and remain a valid

requirement. BMAR projection calculations for future years are accomplished using a model

which incorporates reduction for BMAR over four years old, all known base closures and

realignments, size of physical plant, and budgeted funding. It incorporates additions for

accelerated deterioration caused by not accomplishing BMAR projects, inflations, foreign

currency fluctuations, annual requirements, and programmatic transfers.
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INSPECTOR GENERAL
DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE
400 ARMY NAVY DRIVE

ARLINQTON. VIRGINIA 22202-2884

June 30, 1994

MEMORANDUM FOR SECRETARY OF DEFENSE
COMPTROLLER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER OF
THE DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE

SUBJECT: Audit Rqx>it on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position of the

Defense Business Operations Fund for FY 1993 (Report No. 54-161)

We are providing this report for your information and use and for use by the

Congress. Financial statement audits are required by the Chief Financial Officers Act
of 1990. Office of Management and Budget Bulletin No. 93-06, "Audit Requirements
for Federal Financial Statements," requires the Inspector Genersil, Department of
Defense, to express an opinion on the financial statements and report on the adequacy
of internal controls and compliance with laws and regulations. We issued a draft report

of Part n, "Internal Controls," and Part HI, "Compliance With Laws and Regulations,"

on May 31, 1994.

We are disclaiming an opinion on the Consolidated Statement of Financial

Position. Although we were able to evaluate internal controls and compliance with

laws and regulations, we were unable to express an opinion on the Statement of
Financial Position because of material internal control weaknesses and significant

deficiencies in the accounting systems, which prevented the preparation of accurate

financial statements. Also, we did not receive management or legal representation

letters. Part I explains our disclaimer in more detail.

Part n discusses material weaknesses in controls involving Fund Balance With
Treasury; Inventory Held for Sale, Net; Inventory Not Held for Sale; and Property,

Plant and Equipment. Part HI discusses noncompliance with laws and regulations

]>ertaining to the same accounts. Separate audit reports were issued by the Service

audit organizations to address the deficiencies noted in this report and make
recommendations for corrective actions. We are also providing relevant appendixes
(Part IV) for your use.

This report contains no recommendations that are subject to resolution in

accordance with DoD Directive 7650.3; accordingly, comments are not required. The
courtesies extended to the audit staff are appreciated. If you have any questions about

this audit, please contact Mr. Raymond D. Kidd, Program Director, at (703) 604-9109
(DSN 664-9109), or Mr. John M. Seeba, Project Manager, at (703) 604-9134 (DSN
664-9134). The distribution of this report is listed in Appendix F. A list of audit team
members is inside the back cover.

/ZJtdl
/*

Robert J. Lieberman
Assistant Inspector General

for Auditing
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Office of the Inspector General, Department of Defense

Audit Report No. 94-161 June 30, 1994
(Project No. 3FH-2009)

CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE DEFENSE BUSINESS OPERATIONS FUND FOR FY 1993

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Introduction. The Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990 requires an annual audit of
funds such as the Defense Business Operations Fund (DBOF, the Fund). The Fund
was established as a revolving fund in FY 1992 and consists of various DoD
Components. Functional and cost management responsibilities rest with the Military

Depatrtments and Defense agencies. The Comptroller of the Department of Defense is

responsible for the management of the Fund's cash. A DBOF Corporate Board was
established to develop, review, and coordinate all policies and procedures; implement
Fund operating and capital investment goals; and oversee business performance. The
DBOF financial statements for FY IWS rraort total revenue of $84.4 billion, total

expenses of $84.3 billion, and total assets of $1 16.9 billion.

Objectives. The objectives of the audit were to determine whether the Fund Balance
with Treasury; Inventory Held for Sale, Net; Inventory Not Held for Sale; and
Property, Plant and Equipment accounts as presented on the Statement of Financial

Position of the Defense Business Operations Fund for FY 1993 were fairly presented in

accordance with Office of Management and Budget Bulletin No. 94-01, "Form and
Content of Agency Financial Statements," November 16, 1993. We also determined
whether internal controls over the Fund were adequate to ensure that the financial

statements were ft-ee of material error and assessed compliance with laws and
regulations for transactions and events that have a direct and material effect on the

financial statements. In addition, we identified improvements to the financial statement

process that could provide beneficial data to program managers and other users of the

financial statements and followed up on conditions noted in our previous audit of the

Fund's financial statements.

Scope and Methodology. For the FY 1993 financial statements, we limited our scope
to four selected accounts on the Statement of Financial Position. The four accounts

were the Fund Balance with Treasury reported at $4.7 billion; Inventory Held for Sale,

Net reported at $79.7 billion; Inventory Not held for Sale reported at $9.2 billion; and
Property, Plant and Equipment reported at $10.6 billion. Those accounts represent

$104.1 billion (89 percent) of the total reported assets of $116.9 billion on the

Statement of Financial Position. The statements were transmitted to us on
May 4, 1994, and dated March 31, 1994 (see Part V for the financial statements).

Appropriate substantive tests were designed to test the system of internal controls. We
evaluated the reliability of computer-processed information used in the reports by
comparing amounts to source documents. Based on that comparison, insofar as we
could determine, computer-processed information was not totally reliable.
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We have not received management and legal r^resentation letters from DBOF
management. In providing those letters, DBOF managers would acknowledge
responsibility for the fair presentation of the financial statements and provide
information that may materially affect the statements. The representation letters are
part of the evidential matter necessary to afford a reasonable basis for our opinion on
the financial statements. The lack of represaitation letters is sufficient basis for a
disclaimer of opinion, although other pn^lems were the primary factors causing the
disclaimer this year.

Independent Auditor's Opinion. We were not able to express an opinion on the
Statement of Financial Position of the Defense Business Operations Fund as of
September 30, 1993. Significant deficiencies in the internal control structure and
noncompliance with required regulations caused our inability to express an opinion on
the statement. Specifically, we were unable to determine the proper account values
from the general ledger accounts, non-financial records, and yearend accounting
adjustments. As a result, the asset balances presented on the financial statements could
not be validated. Poor internal controls caused assets to be improperly classified,

reported inventory balances to be incomplete, and financial records to be unreconciled.
However, we noted some improvement over the past year in the general areas of
accountability and control, DBOF structure, policy and procedures, and financial

systems.

Internal Controls. Material internal control weaknesses existed in all four selected
accounts. The Service audit organizations (the Army Audit Agency, the Naval Audit
Service, and the Air Force Audit Agency) could not validate the presentation of the
Fund Balance with Treasury. That occurred because the Fund was assigned a single
appropriation code that did not sqnrately identify transactions by the Military
Departments within the DBOF. The Service audit organizations also could not
determine assertions such as completeness, existence, and valuation for both the
Inventories Held for Sale, Net and Inventories Not Held for Sale accounts. Also, the
two inventory accounts were valued using differrat pricing methods and also had
significant misclassification of invaitory items. The Services identified deficiencies
with source documents, proper disclosure, and rq>orting of the Property, Plant and
Equipment account. Part II contains our rqx>rt on material internal control
weaknesses.

Compliance With Laws and Regulations. Several instances of noncompliance with
regulations materially affected the reliability of the DBOF financial statements. The
Internal Management Control Program was the main area of noncompliance. The
Defense Logistics Agency had not effectively implemented an Internal Management
Control Program over the reporting of results for physical inventories. The
Department of the Navy did not disclose in its Annual Statement of Assurance material
internal control weaknesses and prq)ared inaccurate vulnerability assessments. In
addition, the Air Force had material internal control weaknesses related to Inventories
and to Property, Plant and Equipment that were not reported on its Annual Statement
of Assurance. See Part III for further explanations of the noncompliances. Part FV,
Appendix D, identifies the laws and regulations tested.

Management Comments. We issued a draft rqwrt of Part n, "Internal Controls," and
Part III, "Compliance with Laws and Regulations," on May 31, 1994. No comments
were received.

u
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Independent Auditor's Opinion on tlie Financial Statements

Disclaimer of Opinion

We were not able to express an opinion on the Statement of Financial Position

of the Defense Business Operations Fund (DBOF, the Fund) as of

September 30, 1993. Significant deficiencies in the internal control structure

and significant instances of noncompliance with regulations resulted in our
inability to express an opinion on the statement.

We were unable to determine the proper account values from the general ledger

accounts, non-financial records, and yearend accounting adjustments. As a

result, the asset balances presented on the financial statements could not be
validated. Poor internal controls caused assets to be improperly classified,

reported inventory balances to be incomplete, and financial records to be
unreconcilable. Also, the lack of management and legal representation letters

added to the basis for our disclaimer.

Background

The Chief Financial Officers Act requires an annual audit of financial statements

for revolving funds such as the DBOF. Preparation of the financial statements

is the responsibility of the Defense Finance and Accounting Service (DFAS).
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on those statements based on our
audit.

Fund History. The DBOF was created by the Congress on October 1, 1991,

by combining Defense- and Service-owned revolving funds previously called the

stock and industrial funds. In addition, the DFAS, the Defense Commissary
Agency, and three Defense Logistics Agency functions (the Defense Technici
Information Center, the Defense Reutilization and Marketing Service, and the

Defense Industrial Plant and Equipment Center) were added to the DBOF.
Part rv. Appendix A, shows the reporting entities that make up the DBOF.

Functional and cost management responsibilities rest with the Military

Departments and Defense agencies. The Comptroller of the Department of

Defense (DoD Comptroller) is responsible for the management of DBOF cash.

The DBOF reported revenues of $84.4 billion, expenses of $84.3 billion, and

assets of $1 16.9 billion on its consolidated financial statements for FY 1993.

Fund Purpose. The Fund is intended to provide improved financial

management tools and establish incentives to control resources with greater

efficiwicy. Those tools will be used to identify the total cost of business

operations related to the production of customer goods and services. The Fund
management process was created to:

o foster a businesslike buyer/seller approach that enables the customer

to make economical buying decisions and forces the seller to become more cost

conscious;
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o identify the full costs of items, measure performance on the basis of

cost/output goals, and foster efficiency and productivity improvements;

o consolidate cash control and reduce required cash balances; and

o provide timely and accurate information to decisionmakers at all

levels in order to measure business performance.

DBOF Improvement Han. During FY 1993, the Secretary of Defense

directed a review and evaluation of the implementation of the DBOF. A
Steering Committee and an Expert Team, both composed of representatives of

the various DoD Components, was assembled "to review, analyze, and report

on policies and procedures already promulgated for the DBOF, the information

available to business managers within the Fund, and the methodologies used to

budget and execute the Fund's financial plan."

The results of the Expert Team's review presented to the Steering Committee

and the Deputy Secretary of Defense indicated four general areas in which

improvements were newial and why improvements were needed in each:

o accountability and control - to improve the overall effectiveness of the

Fund and measurement of the results;

o DBOF structure - to ensure that the structure of the Fund is properly

defmed and appropriate business areas are included;

o policy and procedures - to provide adequate guidance for execution of

the Fund and the mechanics for day-to-day operations; and

o fmancial systems - to improve, standardize, and modernize supporting

financial systems to provided better management information.

DBOF Progress Report. The management of the DBOF has made some

progress in the four areas. In the "Defense Business Operations Fund

Implementation Plan Progress Rqwrt," February 1, 1994, the DoD reported

several actions taken to improve die DBOF. Specifically, a DBOF Corporate

Board was established to develop, review, and coordinate policies, procedures,

and implementation. A Policy subcommittee was also established under the

direction of the Corporate Board to address the significant policies requiring

immediate development. The DoD Comptroller, through the Corporate Board,

has issued decision papers on Military Pricing, Major Real Property

Maintenance and Repair, Cash Management, Coital Purchasing, Mobilization

Costs, Replacement Inventory, and Net Operating Results. Otiier policies and

procedures are under development. The policies represent an important start in

providing field managers with guidance they need to manage their operations

and provide consistent application of accountmg regulations within the DBOF.

The progress report also cites memorandums distributed to the field offices in

order to reemphasize management's commitment to the success of the Fund.

One of the largest problems facing DBOF involves financial systems. The

Principal Deputy Comptroller rescinded the designation of Defense Business

Management System as the financial migratory system in the first quarter of
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FY 1994. Other systems are now being considered for implementation, with

emphasis on standiu'dizing the general ledgers, budget and accounting codes,

and technical requirements documents. A 5-year action plan was also developed

for improving all the accounting systems in the DoD.

Management was also committed to stabilizing the DBOF. The progress report

also discussed the removal of the Air Force-peculiar transportation and Naval

and Air Force laundries in FY 1995. By direction of the FY 1994

Authorization Act, the Defense Finance and Accounting Service and the Joint

Logistics Systems Center will be retained for FY 1995.

Scope and Methodology

Statements Reviewed. We examined four selected accounts on the Statement

of Financial Position contained in the Annual Financial Statement of the

Defense Business Operations Fund for the year ended September 30, 1993. The
four accounts were die Fund Balance with Treasury reported at $4.7 billion;

Inventory Held for Sale, Net reported at $79.7 billion; Inventory Not held for

Sale reported at $9.2 billion; and Property, Plant and Equipment reported at

$10.6 billion. Those accounts represent $104.1 billion (89 percent) of the total

reported assets of $116.9 billion on the Statement of Financial Position.

Statement on Auditing Standards No. 62, "Special Reports," July 1989, requires

that we express an opinion on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

when we examine the majority of accounts comprising that financial statement.

Additional accounts mentioned in this report were also reviewed when resources

were available. The statements we reviewed were transmitted to us on

May 4, 1994, and were dated March 31, 1994. See Part V for a copy of the

financucd statements.

Our audit did not examine all business entities of the DBOF. The excluded

entities represent $4.7 billion of the $12.8 billion (11 percent of total assets of

$116.9 billion) that was not reviewed. Generally accepted auditing standards

require us to consider materiality and audit risk as part of our overall audit

work. We do not believe that examining the excluded entities would have had

an impact on our decision to disclaim an opinion. See Part IV, Appendix B,

"Summary of Work Performed," for a list of entities examined.

An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts

and disclosures in financial statements, including the accompanying notes.

Appropriate substantive tests were designed to test the system of internal

controls.

Computer Processed Information. We evaluated the reliability of computer-

processed information used in the r^rts by comparing amounts to source

documents. Based on that comparison, insofar as we could determine,

computer-processed information was not totally reliable. An audit also includes

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management, as well as evaluating the overall statement presentation. We
relied primarily on the audit efforts of the Service audit organizations (the
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Army Audit Agency (AAA), the Naval Audit Service (NAS), and the

Air Force Audit Agency (AFAA)). We believe that our combined audit efforts

provide a reasonable basis for our results.

Representation Letters. We have not received management and legal

representation letters from DBOF management. In providing those letters,

DBOF managers would acknowledge responsibility for the fair presentation of

the financial statements and provide information that may materially affect the

statements. The letters are part of the evidential matter necessary to afford a

reasonable basis for our opinion on the financial statements. The lack of

representation letters is sufficient basis for a disclaimer of opinion. Ongoing

discussions between the Office of the Inspector General and Comptroller staffs

are expected to resolve procedural questions regarding representation letters, but

not in time to affect the disclaimer on the FY 1993 statements.

Time Period and Locations. The audit was conducted from June 1993 to

May 1994 at various offices of the Defense Finance and Accounting Service,

the Defense Logistics Agency, and the Military Departments' business areas that

are part of the DBOF. A complete list of organizations visited or contacted is

in Part IV, Appendix E.

Auditing Standards

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted Government

auditing standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, as

implemented by the Inspector General, Department of Defense, (IG, DoD), and

Office of Management and Budget (0MB) Bulletin No. 93-06, "Audit

Requirements for Federal Financial Statements," January 8, 1993. Those

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the Principal Statements are free of material

misstatements. We relied on the guidelines suggested by the General

Accounting Office and our professional judgment in assessing the materiality of

matters impacting the fair presentation of the financial statements and related

interned control weaknesses.

Accounting Principles

Accounting principles and standards for the Federal Government remain under

development. The Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board was

established to recommend Federal accounting standards to the Director, 0MB;
the Secretary of the Treasury; and the Comptroller General; who are principals

of the Joint Financial Management Improvement Program (JFMIP). Specific

standards agreed on by those three officials are issued by the Director, 0MB,
and the Comptroller General.

Until accounting standards that will govern all aspects of financial statement

reporting have been issued, which will constitute "generally accepted accounting
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principles for the Federal Government," agencies are required to follow the

hierarchy of accounting principles described in OMB Bulletin No. 94-01, "Form
and Content of Agency Financial Statements," November 16, 1993. The
hierarchy constitutes an "other comprehensive basis of accounting" to be used

for preparing Federal agency financial statements. A summary of the hierarchy

defined and s^roved by the JFMIP Principals, follows:

o standards agreed to and published by the JFMIP Principals,

o form and content requirements of the OMB,

o accounting standards contained in agency accounting policy guidance.

and

o accoimting principles published by other authoritative sources.

To date, three accounting standards have been published by the JFMIP
Principals, so most accounting standards for the DoD's "other comprehensive

basis of accounting" are contained in DoD accounting policy guidance. The
DoD accounting guidance is primarily in the DoD 7220.9-M, "DoD Accounting

Manual" (DoD Accounting Manual). During FY 1993, the DoD Comptroller

updated portions of the DoD Accounting Manual and incorporated those

sections into a new regulation, DoD 7000. 14-R, "DoD Financial Management
Regulation" (DoD Financial Regulation).

The DoD Financial Regulation will eventually serve as the single DoD-wide
financial management regulation for use by all DoD Components for

accounting, budgeting, finance, and financial management education and

training. In the interim, unless superseded by published Federal accounting

standards or requirements of the OMB, the policy contained in the DoD
Accounting Manual or in the DoD Financial Regulation, as applicable, is the

authoritative basis for preparing financial statements in accordance with an

"other comprehensive basis of accounting."

Additional Information

Overview. We also reviewed the financial information provided in the

Overview to the Defense Business Operations Fund for FY 1993. Such

information has not been audited by us; accordingly, we do not express an

opinion on that information.

Related Audits. The Inspector General (IG), DoD, has completed work on

related audits of automated data processing systems that provide information to

the DBOF financial statements. The "Apphcation Controls Over Application

Software Supporting the Navy's Inventories Held for Sale (Net)," audit (Project

No. 3FD-2025) found that general application controls were good for the PX06
system except for a wealaiess in the test and production system that supports the

PX06 ^plication. If corrective action is taken on that weakness, information

produced by the PX06 system would be reliable, based on the assumption that

reliable data is input into the PX06 system.



308

Independent Auditor's Opinion on the Financial Statements

The audit of "Application Controls Over Selected Portions of the Standard
Army Intermediate Level Supply System" (Project No. 3FG-2020) found
material internal control weaknesses over lack of reconciliations between the

retail inventory system and the on-hand general ledger system and that asset

visibility of in-transit inventories was not maintained. In addition, controls over
access to software was inadequate and edit routines supporting the inventory
software needed to be updated.
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Introduction

We examined the internal control structure of selected accounts of the Statement

of Financial Position for the Defense Business Operations Fund (DBOF, the

Fund) for the year ended September 30, 1993. Those accounts were Fund
Balance With Treasury; Inventory Held for Sale, Net; Inventory Not Held for

Sale; and Property, Plant and Equipment. The statements we reviewed were

transmitted to us May 4, 1994, and were dated March 31, 1994.

Management of the Fund is responsible for establishing and maintaining an

internal control structure. In fulfilling that responsibility, management is

required to make estimates and judgments to assess the expected benefits and

related costs of internal control structure policies and procedures. The
objectives of an internal control structure are to provide management with

reasonable but not absolute assurance that the following are met.

o Transactions are properly recorded and accounted for to permit the

preparation of reliable financial statements and to maintain accountability over

assets.

o Funds, property, and other assets are safeguarded against waste, loss,

unauthorized use, and misappropriation.

o Transactions, including those related to obligations and costs, are

executed in compliance with laws and regulations that could have a direct and

material effect on the consolidating statements and any other laws and

regulations that the Office of Management and Budget (OMB), entity

management, or the Inspector General (IG), DoD, has identified as being

significant for which compliance can be objectively measured and evaluated.

o Data that support reported performance measures are properly

recorded and accounted for to permit preparation of reliable and complete

performance information.

o Questions are answered as to whether performance measures existed

and whether those performance measures were adequate to enable the fund to

fulfill its purpose.

Objective

Our audit objective was to determine whether controls over the selected

accounts were adequate to ensure that the accounts were free of material error.

In planning and performing our audit of the selected accounts for the year ended

September 30, 1993, we considered its internal control structure, including

implementation of a DoD Internal Management Control Program. The purposes

of this evaluation were to:

o determine our auditing procedures for expressing an opinion on the

financial statements and

10
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o determine whether the internal control structure was established to

ensure that the statemoits were free of material misstatements.

That determination included obtaining an understanding of the internal control

policies and procedures, as well as assessing the level of control risk relevant to

all significant cycles, classes of transactions, and account balances. For those

significant control policies and procedures that had been properly designed and

placed in operation, we performed sufficient tests to provide reasonable

assurance that the controls were effective and working as designed.

For the purposes of this report, we classified the significant internal controls,

policies, and procedures into the following categories:

o Fund Balance with Treasury: collections, disbursements, certifica-

tions, and reconciliations;

o Inventory Held for Sale, Net: inventory cycle, financial and

inventory accounting cycle, and financial reporting cycle;

o Inventory Not Held for Sale: requesting, receiving, issuing/ disposal,

and reporting; and

o Property, Plant and Equipment: requesting, receiving, issuing/

disposal, and reporting.

Prior Audit Coverage

Since the DBOF was formed in 1992, the General Accounting Office (GAO);
the IG, DoD; and the Service audit organizations have conducted numerous
audits. See Part IV, Appendix C, for a list of the prior audit reports. We
summarized those audit rqx)rts by subject area because many of the reportable

conditions were common among the reports. Below is a summary of the

significant conditions idoitified during those audits. Corrective actions are

noted.

F\ind Balance with Treasury. The following are summaries of issues reported

relating to the Fund Balance with Treasury account.

Policy Guidance and Accounting Procedures. The GAO reported that

the DoD's dbihty to properly manage the Fund continues to be hindered because

of DoD's inability to manage cash, develop policies and procedures, enhance

financial systems, and produce accurate financial reports on the results of

operations. The IG, DoD, rqx>rted that the Defense Business Operations Fund
Implementation Plan established a milestone for issuance of a cash management
policy for the DBOF by March 31, 1994. No such policy has been issued. The
new policy is needed to ensure that responsibilities for management of cash are

clearly delineated and that uniform accounting procedures are established.

11
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Documentation and Recording. The IG, DoD, and the Service audit

organizations reported that transactions were not properly recorded and

accounted for because controls were inadequate, transactions were not recorded

in a timely manner, or transactions were not reported properly. Assets were not

safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use because of lack of supporting

documentation. Transactions were not executed in compliance with existing

guidance because financial data were not reconciled to ensure consistent

reporting of the same information. In addition, weekly flash cash reports were

unreliable, audit trails were inadequate, and a lack of uniform accounting

systems and lack of a general ledger existed. Those conditions still exist, as

noted in "Results of Audit" in this part of our report. In general, management

concurred with the findings. Corrective actions are pending further review by

management of the reportai conditions.

Inventory Held for Sale, Net and Inventory Not Held for Sale. The

following topics represent weaknesses found in prior audits of inventory

accounts.

Valuation. The IG, DoD, determined that inventory valuation methods

were not consistently applied throughout the business areas. For example, the

Army's depot maintenance activities overstated the value of unserviceable and

obsolete items by recording them at standard price. The Director, Defense

Finance and Accounting Service (DFAS), agreed to revise jguidance to assure

the use of allowance accounts to offset the value of unserviceable or obsolete

material. In addition, the Air Force Laundry and Dry Cleaning Service

managers did not comply with Air Force Regulation 170-29, November 1990,

requirements to report inventories at the lower of historical cost or fair market

value. The Air Force agreed to notify plant accountants to value inventory

using a first-in, first-out method.

Physical Inventory. The IG, DoD, was unable to reconcile physical

inventories to account records. For example, the Defense Commissary Agency

(DeCA) did not take sufficient physical inventories to determine the beginning

or ending balances for FY 1992. The IG, DoD, suggested the DeCA perform

physical inventories every 6 months; however, as of June 30, 1993, DeCA
management nonconcurred but agreed to do aimual physical inventories. As a

result, the Comptroller of the Department of Defense (DoD Comptroller)

ordered physical inventories to be taken at all DeCA stores to determine the

inventory on hand and establish beginning balances. In addition, some Navy-

managed direct material inventories were not periodically counted or, in some

instances, were never counted. The Navy's inventory counting procedures were

incomplete, unsound, and statistically invalid. The Naval Audit Service

recommended the Navy use statistical sampling techniques and perform annual

inventory counts. The Navy concurred; however, comments were not received

in time to be included in the report.

Recording and Reconciling. The IG, DoD, stated that internal consols

did not ensure that inventory general ledger balances agreed with subsidiary

records as required by DoD 7220.9-M, "DoD Accounting Manual" (DoD
Accounting Manual). The IG, DoD, issued an advisory memorandum to the

DeCA that discussed processing problems in the automated data systems that

resulted in unusual and misstated inventory account balances. The IG, DoD,

12
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suggested that DeCA implement additional internal control procedures,

including a procedure to compare daily store inputs to the actual posting to the

financial records and maintain and reconcile inventory accounts. Management
concurred with those suggested actions.

Some DFAS personnel misclassified depot maintenance and transportation

inventory as Invaitories Held for Sale. Recommendations were made to ensure

the use of the correct general ledger accounts and to classify material correctly.

Management agreed.

The reported value of Inventories Held for Sale was not supported because of

problems in posting information to records and because the financial statement

balances were taken firom dates prior to September 30, 1992. Recom-
mendations were made to require stock points to review and correct inventory

discrepancies identified and discontinue the practice of early cut-off or make a

footnote disclosure. Management nonconcurred with the recommendation

requiring stock points to aggressively review and correct discrepancies.

Management said stringent Stock Point Inventory Accuracy Officer

requiremoits are already in place. Management concurred with the

recommendation to discontinue early cut-off or make a disclosure.

The Air Force Audit Agency (AFAA) reported that the beginning inventory for

Supply Management was inaccurate. Some items were included in inventory

that should not have been and other items were excluded that should not have

been. The auditors were unable to substantiate some balances.

Material in Transit and Material Returned for Credit. The DoD
Accounting Manual states the Inventory in Transit account shall be kept under

financial accounting control at all times. Also, entries to that account shall not

be reversed at the beginning of the subsequent accounting period. Inventory in

Transit and Material Returned for Credit accounts may be misstated because

depots did not aggressively follow up to find out why transactions for items

from suppliers were open or returns for credit were outstanding.

Recommendations were made to reemphasize the need to conduct followup

reviews of inventory in transit and returned and also to establish procedures

defining conditions under which outstanding in-transit material should be written

off. Management agreed in principle and stated that the DoD must define the

criteria and authority for write-off of outstanding in-transit material and the

DFAS must develop implementing guidance.

A lack of sufficient documentation and followup resulted in transactions

remaining in an unmatched status for an extended period. The unmatched

transactions occur when an issue transaction does not have a matching receipt or

a receipt transaction does not have a matching issue. Recommendations to

management included making a more aggressive review, pursuing followup

action on unmatched in-transit transactions, and establishing a more realistic

beginning date for aging in-transit items. Management concurred.

Negative Inventory in Transit. Negative in-transit balances existed in

some accounts, which indicated more items or dollars were transferred out of

the account than had ever existed. The negative balances on the Army's
Standard Depot System may have occurred because unit prices increased before

13
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an order was fully delivered. The recommendations to management were to

research and correct negative balances before they are submitted as yearend data

and to make a system change to update prices when changes occur.

Management agreed and submitted an urgent system change request for the

Standard Depot System to correct the problem.

Other negative inventory balances were caused by receipts not being posted to

the proper account, amounts being posted that were greater than on-hand

balances, and transactions from commercial contractors not being posted.

Recommendations were made to develop and implement procedures to detect

and correct negative inventory balances prior to including them in the financial

statements. Management agreal in principle, but stated the DFAS would be

responsible for any changes in procedures. Finally, there were negative asset

balances for material in transit to contractors due to system reporting

deficiencies. The recommendation to management was to process a computer

system requirement document to require a comparison of contractor

Government-Furnished Material requisition receipts reported by contractors.

Management concurred, and an expected completion date is September 30,

1994.

Adjustments. The DoD Accounting Manual states adjustments to the

general ledger accounts and the item property accountability records shall be

supported and each recorded as a gain or loss. The DFAS Centers made journal

voucher adjustinents for inventory without coordinating the adjustments with

Military Department personnel. Recommendations to Army management

included performing detailed reconciliations to determine why differences

existed between the general ledger and budget execution r&poTts and to

coordinate with the activities before adjusting general ledger account balances

when preparing financial statements. Management agreed and is implementing

procedures to reconcile at the departmental level; however, until new

accounting systems with integrated general ledgers are deployed, no

reconciliation to detail will be done.

The Naval Audit Service (NAS) recommended adjustments to Inventories Held

for Sale, Net and to Inventories Not Held for Sale. In addition, the inventory

control points processed adjustments to financial records to bring them into

agreement with perpetual inventory records. Finally, insufficient procedures

existed to produce accurate adjusting entries to yearend account balances and

documentation to support those adjustments was lacking.

Government-Furnished Material. The DoD Accounting Manual states

a subsidiary account shall be maintained for each contractor that receives

Government-Furnished Material (GFM), and each account shall be subdivided

by contract. One business area could not substantiate the amount of GFM on

hand at contractor facilities because of improper journal voucher entries in the

general ledger and unsupported write-offs of asset balances. The Material on

Hand at contractor facilities account was adjusted to expense the entire balance

of GFM because the financial systems could not provide a reasonable

adjustment to the yearend balance. The business area management also wrote

off GFM Material in Transit without performing adequate research and

maintaining written documentation. Recommendations made to management

were to correct accounting systems; however, management indicated the

14
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correctioas would have to come from the DoD. The DoD has taken initiatives

to correct systems through the establishment of a financial operations initiative

under the Corporate Information Management process.

Excess Inventory. The NAS found inventory in excess of requirements

and inventory ready for reutilization or disposal were not properly handled as

required by the "DoD Guidance on Form and Content of Financial Statements

for FY 1993/1994 Financial Activity," January 12, 1994. That guidance

requires invraitory in the process of disposal or stock not expected to survive

repair will be valued at 2.04 percoit of the original acquisition cost. Also,

stock levels were not always reviewed for excesses. Excess inventory was not

reported at net realizable value, and managers were hesitant to get rid of

material that might fill a future requirement. Many activities had increased

their efforts to identify and dispose of material no longer needed.

Recommendations to management were to identify potential excess for all the

DBOF activities and include the excess in the financial statements at net

realizable cadi value. The recommendations are currently unresolved.

Property, Plant and Equipment. The following represent weaknesses

identified in prior audits with the Property, Plant and Equipment account.

Depreciation. The IG, DoD, and the Service audit organizations

reported that dq)reciation was either improperly reported or not reported at all.

Internal controls were not sufficient to ensure that accounting for fixed assets

and related dq)Feciation were accurate. Army Depot Maintenance personnel did

not accurately compute dq>reciation for fixed assets because personnel recorded

incorrect information and because personnel did not have an accounting system

that allowed them to compute depreciation. The Air Force Depot Maintenance

Service did not depreciate capital assets because Air Force depreciation policy

did not agree with the guidance memorandum issued by the DoD Comptroller.

Valuation. The IG, DoD reported that valuation methods of reporting

assets on the financial statements were not consistently applied throughout the

business areas. The value of property, plant and equipment was understated by

$177.5 million on the Department of the Navy Consolidating DBOF Report on

Financial Position for the year ended September 30, 1992. The Air Force

Materiel Command could not substantiate $1.6 billion of property, plant and

equipment. The Army Audit Agency identified $87.2 million that was not

recorded on the financial statements as of September 30, 1992. Management
agrees that fixed assets should be consistently valued and accurately reported on

the statements, and as of September 30, 1993, corrective actions have been

initiated but not completed for the Navy and Air Force, and have not been

initiated for the Army.

Capitalization. Property, plant and equipment meeting the criteria for

capitalization were not accurately c^italized. An asset should be capitalized

and TcpoTted in financial statements when the acquisition cost or fair market

value of the asset is $15,000 or more, and the asset has an estimated useful life

to the DoD of more than 2 years. The Army Depot Maintenance business area

did not properly cj^italize $87.2 million of fixed assets. Fixed assets reported

on the Navy's Consolidated Statement of Financial Position were capitalized in

error or in the wrong amount and may not have been removed from the

IS
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financial statements after disposal. The Air Force Base Support business area

did not accurately record, capitalize, and value fixed assets. As a result, the

$5.7 million fixed asset balance may have been materially misstated. As of

September 30, 1993, recommendations to capitalize all assets meeting

capitalization requirements have been initiated but not completed for the Navy,

the Army had not initiated corrective actions, and the status of Air Force

corrective actions had not been reviewed.

Supporting Documentation. Documentation supporting the value of

the Property, Plant and Equipment account on the financial statements was

either insufficient or did not exist. In some instances, the problem occurred

because personnel did not maintain records as required by the DoD Accounting

Manual. As a result, the reported value of property, plant and equipment could

not be supported. Therefore, historical cost and useful lives of fixed assets

could not be verified. Management agrees that there is a lack of supporting

documentation; however, further assessment of the impact is required before

final corrective actions are taken.

Results of Audit

Our review of internal controls for the Fund disclosed material internal control

weaknesses as defined by DoD Directive 5010.38, "Internal Management
Control Program," April 14, 1987. We also identified conditions that we
considered to be reportable under 0MB Bulletin No. 93-06, "Audit

Requirements for Federal Financial Statements," January 8, 1993. Reportable

conditions are matters coming to our attention relating to significant deficiencies

in the design or operation of the internal control structure that, in our judgment,

could adversely affect the organization's ability to effectively control and

manage its resources and ensure reliable and accurate financial information to

manage and evaluate operational performance. A material weakness is a

repor^le condition in which the design or operation of the internal control

structure does not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that errors or

irregularities could occur. Such errors or irregularities would be in amounts

that would be material in relation to the statements being audited, or material to

a performance measure or aggregation of related performance measures, and not

be detected within a timely period by employees in the normal course of

performing their fimctions.

Material internal control weaknesses existed in each of the accounts reviewed.

The following information explains specific weaknesses related to each account.

Paragraph titles followed by an asterisk denote conditions that were reported in

prior audits of the Fund.

Fund Balance With Treasury. Generally accepted accounting principles for

Federal agencies are promulgated by the Comptroller General of the United

States, and the Director, OMB. The statement of Federal Financial Accounting

Standards (FFAS) No. 1, "Accounting for Selected Assets and Liabilities,"

March 30, 1993, defmes Fund Balances With Treasury as the aggregate amount
of funds in the entity's accounts with the Treasury for which the entity is

authorized to make expenditures and pay liabilities. Fund balances are
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appropriation restorations, and allocations; transfers and reimbursements from
other agencies; and collections credited to appropriation or fund accounts that

the entity is authorized to spend or use to offset its expenditures. Fund balances

are decreased by disbursements made to pay liabilities or to purchase assets,

goods, and services; investments in U.S. securities; cancelation of expired

appropriations; transfers and reimbursements to other entities or to the

Treasury; and sequestration (money not released for use by the agency) or

rescission of appropriation. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 1993, the

Fund reported a Fund Balance With Treasury of $4.7 billion.

DoD Derinition of Fund Balance With Treasury. The DoD definition

of Fund Balance With Treasury is incomplete. The DoD Comptroller defines

Fund Balance With Treasury as the difference between funds collected and
funds disbursed during the year. It excludes key fund balances such as

appropriations, transfers, suspense accounts, and fund transfers. In addition,

the net of disbursements and collections does not represent future benefits to the

DoD Components. In accordance with FFAS No. 1 and Financial Accounting
Standards Board Concept Statement No. 6, "Elements of Financial Statements,"

December 1985, an asset is a probable future economic benefit controlled by the

reporting entity that resulted from past transactions or events.

The purpose of reporting Fund Balances With Treasury as assets on the

statements of financial position is that the balances represent the business areas'

claims to Treasury funds that can be used to pay expenditures and liabilities.

The net of collections and disbursements cannot be used to pay expenditures and
liabilities because the balance is transferred to a central DoD account at the

beginning of the next fiscal year. Expenditures and liabilities are paid from
appropriations that are allocated to each business area at the beginning of the

fiscal year.

The DoD Comptroller elected not to use the existing generally accepted

accounting principles for Federal agencies' definition of Fund Balances With
Treasury in reporting below the DoD level. Therefore, the assertion on the

FY 1993 Statement of Financial Position for the Fund Balances With Treasury

on September 30, 1993, is misleading because it was computed using the DoD
definition instead of applicable generally accepted accounting principles.

Reconciliation. Two problems were identified that hindered

reconciliations with the Fund Balance With Treasury account.

Reporting Entities. First, the Services do not have a mechanism
to identify or reconcile their portions of the Fund Balance With Treasury

account as those portions appear on the DoD Consolidated Financial Statements.

When the Department of the Navy's Fund Balance With Treasury information

was integrated with other DoD data, the Department of the Navy data could no
longer be distinguished from other DoD data for reconciliation with Treasury

records. Likewise, the Army Audit Agency (AAA) could not render an opinion

on Fund Balance With Treasury at the Army level because fund balances are

managed at the DoD level.

"DoD Guidance on Form and Content of Financial Statements for

FY 1993/1994 Financial Activity" directs that the Fund Balance With Treasury

17
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account be centrally managed. The guidance states that the U.S. Treasury shall

maintain fund balances at the "97x4930" appropriation level. With the

establishment of the DBOF on October 1, 1991, the revolving funds of all DoD
Components were consolidated into a single entity. The Department of the

Treasury eliminated the Service-unique Treasury codes and assigned the DBOF
a single Treasury Code. Maintaining the Fund Balance at the appropriation

level created the Services' inability to reconcile those amounts, and the Services

are prevented from determining the appropriateness of the amount presented on

consolidated financial statements.

Data Reliability. A $1.88 billion discrepancy between the

DFAS and the Defense Logistics Agency (DLA) records and $1.9 billion in

collections and disbursements related to the DLA supply management business

area could not be reconciled. An additional $24.7 million in collections and

disbursements reported from the Appropriation Control and Reporting System

(ACRS) for supply management were not identifiable to authorizied limits. The
OMB requires that differences resulting from time lags be reconciled and

discrepancies resulting from errors be corrected when financial reports are

prepared. However, reconciliations were not completed during FY 1993. As a

result, the lack of reliable fund control data prevented the confirmation of the

accuracy of amounts used to compile financial statement account balances such

as Fund Balances With Treasury.

Adequacy of Audit Trails.* The IG, DoD, determined that DFAS
controls and procedures did not provide adequate audit trails for DLA data.

Relevant transactions needed to be identified, recorded in financial records, and
summarized into financial statements. Those actions require use of an

accounting system that tracks the recording of transactions from source

documents through journals, ledgers, and trial balances to the financial

statements. The process should also be traceable in reverse. The ACRS and its

supporting automated systems did not maintain adequate audit trails to source

documentation. Adjustments of $87.4 million made by the DFAS-Indianapolis

Center to the FY 1993 data were not traceable to relevant source documents.

As a result, adjustments were posted to the current period rather than to the

period when the transactions occurred.

Matching Revenues With Expenses. Headquarters, DFAS, did not

implement procedures to ensure that posting dates in the DLA's accounting

records matehed posting dates reported by the DFAS-Indianapolis Center.

Under the matehing principle of accounting, transactions should be reported in

the period in which they occur. According to generally accepted accounting

principles, discrepancies resulting from time lags are to be reconciled and errors

corrected when financial reports are prq>ared. Recording, summarizing, and
properly reporting errors and adjustments would produce more meaningful

financial statements and reduce the risk of large reporting errors. Headquarters,

DFAS, procedures did not require the DFAS-Indianapolis Center to make
adjustments to the proper accounting period. In addition, the DFAS had not

established the necessary controls to accurately report prior period adjustments

to the yearend closing balances in the financial statements. Because of the

misstatements, the financial statements do not reflect current operations, and
comparability among accounting periods is hindered.
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Disclosure of Known Deficiencies. The lack of reconciliations and
corresponding discrepancies between ACRS and DLA accounting records were
not adequately disclosed in the Statements of Cash Flow and the Footnotes to

the financial statements. The primary purposes of the Statement of Cash Flow
are to provide information about cash collection and disbursements made during

FY 1993 and to show how cash changes that occurred in other financial

statement accounts affected cash. The information in the ACRS was used to

prepare the DLA financial statements, however the DLA accounting records

differed significantly from the ACRS when they should have been the same.

According to DFAS personnel, the DoD Accounting Manual allows them to

post unreconciled differences between the two sets of records to the accounts

receivable or accounts payable of the respective business areas' accounts. The
adjustment would be valid only if differences were attributed to timing and
those timing differences were validated through reconciliations between two sets

of records. However, the DFAS-Columbus Center did not perform

reconciliations or disclose the material differences between the two sets of

records on the Statements of Cash Flows, which caused the statements of Cash
Flow for the DLA to be misleading.

The DLA is responsible for the footnotes to its financial statements. Footnotes

to the financial statements should provide information that enhances

understandability. However, footnote disclosures often conflicted with the

information presented in the principle statements. For example, footnotes

related to supply operations and the Defense Reutilization and Marketing

Service showed negative unobligated balances and significantly overstated

invested cz^ital. The negative unobligated balances implied that funds were
overobligated.

Undistributed Collections and Disbursements. The Department of the

Navy Defense Business Operations Consolidated Financial Statements materially

misstated the balances of the Other, Non-Federal and Other Federal accounts.

Those misstatements occurred due to improper posting of undistributed

collections and disbursements to these accounts. DoD guidance requires that

undistributed collections and disbursements be report^ as adjustments to

Accounts Receivable, Non-Federal and Accounts Payable, Non-Federal, not in

the Other, Non-Federal and Other Federal accounts. As a result, these accounts

were overstated by $1.8 billion and $362.0 million, respectively. Further,

Department of the Navy DBOF activity data submissions did not distinguish

collections from disbursements, which prevented the Naval Audit Service from
determining the total impact of the undistributed transactions on Accounts
Receivable, Non-Federal and Accounts Payable, Non-Federal.

Inventory Held for Sale, Net. The Inventory Held for Sale, Net account

rq>resents tangible personal property held for sale in the ordinary course of

business or that is in the process of production for eventual sale. The ending

value of the inventory was $79.7 billion on the FY 1993 financial statements.

The definition of Inventory Held for Sale, Net excludes stockpiled inventory or

goods held for consumption. The inventory items are segregated between
inventory accounts based on purpose. For example, a tire may be an item held

for sale at a depot and at the same time be stockpiles or held for consumption by
the end user.
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Physical Inventory Counts. Physical inventory count quantities were
not always reported to the DLA supply activities or were not recorded correctly.

The dollar value of the DLA items sampled was $280.8 million and for the

items sampled, a net loss of $3.3 million (losses of $17.7 million and gains of
$14.4 million) occurred. The Air Force data submitted for the statistical sample
excluded retail inventory. The AFAA statistically sampled $8.3 billion in

inventory and found $382.7 million in errors. The AAA sample for inventory

included items that were not part of the DBOF (valued at $812.0 million) and
excluded items that were part of the DBOF (value unknown). The NAS
reported that sampled items valued at $2.3 billion included overstated inventory

of $34.5 million and understated inventory of $32.0 million, for a net dollau*

effect of $2.5 million.

Recording and Reconciliation. The IG, DoD, could not assess the

completeness of the DLA accounts because subsidiary records were inaccurate

or were not available for review. The AAA identified a difference of
$25.6 million between the general ledger and the subsidiary accounts for work
in process at the depot maintenance business area. The AAA found that depot
maintenance activities did not have adequate controls to ensure that

$23.5 million recorded as due-in from suppliers was valid. The purchasing
activities had paid for the inventory, but had not recorded the receipt in the

financial records. The AAA also determined that approximately $81.0 million

in transaction rejections were not sufficiently researched or promptly corrected

by the logistics and finance personnel at the wholesale activities.

In-Transit Accounts. The DLA in-transit accounts (total value of
$248.9 million) for procurements, transfers between storage locations, and ft"om

customer sales returns had $10.4 million recorded as in-transit from 181 to

360 days and $25.4 million in transit more than 360 days. Some of the

problems identified with in-transit accounts included invalid transactions

because material was received under a wrong contract line; was received, paid
for, and subsequently returned to the contractor; or material was shipped and
dropped at one stors^e location but not recorded as a receipt at the receiving

location. Also, customer sales returns transactions were recorded incorrectly

and due-ins were not canceled or reversed in a timely manner. The AAA
determined many transactions were invalid because storage depots had received
the material but the activities had not recorded the receipts in the financial

records. That weakness caused material to be double-counted. Also, when
contract numbers were not used for recording the in-transits from procurement,
the account was not cleared. The AAA determined that a significant number of
claims for material returned for credit that totaled $2.2 billion were invalid, and
some transactions caused duplicate reporting. The NAS determined that the

Naval Supply Systems Command did not post receipts and correct unit prices,

which caused Material in-Transit records to be overstated by $28.6 million.

The Command did not research the stock-in-transit account for the aviation

depot level consumables and rqiairables material, which contained
$65.2 million in invalid transactions and $179.4 million in transactions that

were at least 18 months old.

Valuation. The DLA financial statements presented $5.1 billion for
reutilization and marketing inventory. That amount for FY 1993 was actually

the ending balance for August 31, 1992. The IG, DoD, determined the DLA
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reutilization and marketing inventories were overvalued on the financial

statements by about $5.0 billion because the material was valued at standard

price instead of net realizable value. In addition, other valuation problems

occurred because items transferred among logistics installations were valued at

the standard price by the losing inventory manager rather than the latest

acquisition cost. The AAA found the activities valued all inventory at standard

price instead of latest acquisition cost.

Classification. The DLA Base Operating Supplies valued at

$18.0 million were classified as Inventory Held for Sale by the Supply

Management business area, but $10.5 million of that amount should have been

presented on the Distribution Dq)ot business area. War Reserve Material

valued at $1.8 billion was also included in Inventory Held for Sale but should

have been on the Inventory Not Held for Sale line on the financial statements.

Govemment-Fumisbed Material and Loaned Assets. The Air Force

reported $112.0 million in loaned assets and $848.0 million in assets at

contractor repair facilities. Those assets, however, were not recorded correctly

in the generid ledger accounts and could not be reconciled to the accountable

records. The loan officers were not required and did not reconcile loan

agreements to contractor records. The AFAA could not verify the accuracy of

over $80.0 million in loaned assets. Tests on 11 contractors' records showed

$1.1 million of loaned assets that were not on the loan officers' control records.

In addition, one loan agreement showed 44 assets valued at $24.0 million;

however, the loan officers' accounting records indicated 24 loaned assets valued

at $13.1 million, and the loan agreement folder had documentation supporting

22 loaned assets valued at $12.0 million. The AAA determined that

Government contractors reported GEM valued at $16.7 billion; however, the

combined amount of GEM in the Army General Fund and DBOF financial

statements was $10.7 billion. The Army did not have systems in place to

determine what portion of the $6.0 billion variance belonged to the Army and

what portion to the DBOF. Moreover, such laxity in controls can subject the

assets to loss.

Adjustments.* The AAA reported that wholesale and retail activities

adjusted financial records by approximately $4.0 billion to match logistical

records without researching the differences or trying to determine the causes for

the variances. The AAA determined that the DFAS made adjustments to the

general ledger balances without adequately coordinating adjustments with the

Army, referencing individual transactions to support the adjustments, or

identifying the explanations for the adjustments.

Inventory Not Held for Sale. The Inventories Not Held for Sale, Net line item

for the DBOF on the Principal Financial Statements for FY 1993 represents

materials and goods held for ftiture agency consumption or stockpiled for use in

national emergencies or for other purposes. The ending value of the inventory

was $9.2 billion on the FY 1993 financial statements. That inventory is not for

sale to customers during the ordinary course of business, but for use by the end

user.

Physical Inventory Counts.* The NAS concluded that the physical

inventory counting procedures and statistical sampling plans used by
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Department of the Navy DBOF activities to assess the accuracy of Inventories

Not Held for Sale were incomplete, unsound, and statistically invalid. The
NAS reported an inventory error rate of about 1 1 percent for the activities tested

throughout FY 1993. A statistical sampling technique used to test the yearend

balances, however, found a 40 percent error rate (an overstatement of

$2.4 million and an understatement of $2.6 million). The review identified

instances where inventories were not counted periodically or, in some instances,

were never counted. Also, the dollar impact on the Navy inventory financial

records could not be projected because tfie activities used attribute sampling

(items) which is not based on inventory value (dollars).

Recording and Reconciling. Completeness of the DLA inventory

accounts could not be assessed, "fiiat situation occurred for both Inventories

With Contractors and Test Facilities and Inventories in Process or

Assembly/Disassembly because subsidiary records were inaccurate or

unavailable for review. The accounts were valued at $75.4 million and

$49.6 million, respectively. In addition, DLA personnel were unable to provide

copies of a quarterly subsidiary report to verify the Inventory Temporarily in

Use account, which was valued at $0.9 million.

Negative Balances. DLA Inventories With Contractors and Test

Facilities account had differences that affected the inventory records. An
evaluation of $60.7 million out of the $75.4 million account balance, showed
positive amounts of $108.1 million and negative amounts of $47.5 million.

Inventory accounts should not have negative balances.

In-Translts. A separate sample of the Navy Material-in-Transit records

valued at $13.7 million found invalid records valued at $12.0 million

(88.6 percent). The auditors projected that the financial statement was
overstated by $24.8 million, plus or minus $661,988. Negative-value records,

however, caused understatements totaling $5.3 million, "nie result was a net

overstatement for Material-in-Transit of $19.5 million.

Classification. DLA Base operating supplies were valued at

$18.0 million, of which $7.5 million located at supply centers and $10.5 million

located at distribution depots were incorrectly categorized as Inventory Held for

Sale. The supplies were incorrectly categorized as inventory Held for Sale and

were attributed solely to the supply management business area instead of split

between the supply management and distribution depots business areas in the

amounts noted above.

Additionally, war reserve material and unserviceable material were included in

Inventory Held for Sale instead of being classified as Inventory Not Held for

Sale. Based on wholesale supply records, $1.5 billion of fuel inventory and

$269.0 million of subsistence inventory were held as war reserve material.

Litigation inventories valued at $59.6 million were also improperly categorized

as Inventories Held for Sale, and the restrictions were not fuUy disclosed.

Litigation inventories are those being held pending the outcome of litigation or

the negotiation of disputes with contractors or common carriers.

Defense Accounting Office personnel incorrectly capitalized organic general and

administrative costs to the Work-in-Process asset accounts with the Air Force
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Depot Maintenance Service. The Depot Maintenance Service prematurely

removed capitalized costs from the work-in-process account, thereby misstating

the balances by about $5.8 billion; incorrectly capitalized over $247.0 million

of general and administrative expenses into die organic work-in-process asset

account; and incorrectly capitalized about $311.0 million of estimated costs and

general and administrative expenses in the contract work-in-process accounts.

TTie Air Force Materiel Command could not support the $2.4 billion Inventory

Not Held for Sale balance and the DBOF Air Mobility Command did not

include as much as $567.7 million of Inventories Not Held for Sale on the

financial statements.

War Reserve Assets. The AAA could not verify the accuracy of war
reserve assets. War reserve assets represented about 79 percent of the

$2.7 billion account balance. Specifically, personnel from the Office of the

Deputy Chief of Staff for Logistics, the Department of the Army, and the

DFAS-Indianapolis Center usal several reports (for example, stratification

reports) to compute war reserve assets. Additionally, storage depots

differentiate inventory by condition code. They do not store and account for

inventory by purpose code (for example, war reserve). The sample data base

did not identi:fy Uie purpose of the on-hand assets; therefore, war reserve

inventory was comingled with peacetime inventory for reporting purposes.

Also, separate audits for FY 1993 disclosed accountability problems with war
reserve assets. For example, the AAA report on the audit of War Reserves,

Southern European Task Force, identified activities that did not adequately

account for, or effectively manage, war reserves. In addition. Audit Report

NR 94-300, "Management of ^uipment and Repair Parts," May 3, 1994,

issued by the 21st Theater Army Area Command, identified inadequate

accounting for repair parts (including war reserve stocks).

Valuation. Excess material was not properly valued at the prescribed

2.04 percent of latest acquisition cost. The result was an overstatement of

$49.2 million by the Navy for Inventories Not Held for Sale because excess

inventory was not written down to net realizable value.

Excess Material. The Navy found excess material accumulated because

personnel often did not want to purge inactive items from their inventories due

to the perceived negative effect such action would have on local operating

results and financial statement presentation. Some activities had local policies

that material would not be excessed unless credit was received from the supply

system. Others established local limits on items to be excessed, imposed

moratoriums, or terminated reviews of excess material. The Inventories Not
Held for Sale account was overstated by at least $49.2 million because excess

inventory was reported at full value rather than at the reduced net realizable

value. As a result of the review, the NAS determined that the reported

inventory balances included $50.2 million in excess material.

Property, Plant and Equipment, Net. The Property, Plant and Equipment
account includes capital assets and real property. Capital assets include, but are

not limited to, military equipment, automated data processing software,

equipment, and assets acquired under capital leases. Real property includes

land, structures, facilities, leasehold improvements, and construction in

progress. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 1993, the Fund reported
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Property, Plant and Equipment, Net, of $10.6 billion, which is approximately

9 percent of total Fund assets.

The Fund was established under section 8121 (a) of Public Law 102-172,

"Department of Defense Appropriations Act for 1992." Section 8121(b) of that

law transferred to the Fund "all assets and balances of working capital funds

heretofore established . . . .
" To implement section 8121(b) of the law, the

Office of the DoD Comptroller issued the "Capital Asset Accounting Guidance

for the Defense Business Operations Fund," July 21, 1992. The guidance states

that ownership of capital assets used by the Fund activities in providing goods

or services must be recognized in the property and financial records of that

business area.

Real Property Disclosure. In FY 1992, the IG, DoD, took exception to

real property being reflected on the Fund's financial statements. We received a

ruling on the legal issue of real property ownership from the Office of General

Counsel, DoD, that helped formulate our opinion on the issue. That ruling

stated that the legislation creating the DBOF did not transfer ownership of real

property. The IG, DoD, interpreted the ruling to mean that real property

should not be reflected on the DBOF financial statements. The DoD
Comptroller did not agree, stating that the real property should be reflected on

the statements to show the full costs of all resources and assets associated with

the operations of Fund activities.

For use in evaluating the FY 1993 DBOF financial statements, we requested

guidance from the GAO, Accounting and Information and Management
Division, on the proper accounting treatment for real property used by the

DBOF but owned by the Services. In response, the GAO specified three

criteria that an item of property must meet to qualify as an asset and be reported

in an entity's financial statemrats.

First, it must embody a probable future benefit that will contribute to

the entity's operations. Second, the entity that rqwrts the asset must

be able to obtain the benefit and control access to the benefit inherent

in the asset. Lastly, the transaction or event giving the entity a right

to and control over die benefit must have already occurred.

The GAO concluded that DBOF real property met those conditions and should

be represented as an asset of the Fund and, accordingly, should be reflected in

the Fund's financial statements with appropriate footnote disclosures. We have

relied on the GAO advice on reflecting real property on the statements and

future audits will review the business areas for compliance.

Source Documents. The AAA reported that activities did not keep

sufficient documentation to support the cost of the assets recorded in their

property records. Current policy requires activities to keep supporting

documentation for only 2 years. The Office of the Deputy Chief of Staff for

Logistics is reviewing that policy, and the Federal Accounting Standards

Advisory Board will address the issue during FY 1995. Until the Board

determines how fixed assets should be valued and reported, the AAA has

limited its evaluation of the Property, Plant and Equipment, Net account. The
Army reported $1.97 billion of Property, Plant and Equipment for the fiscal

year ended Septeml)er 30, 1993.
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The Air Force Depot Maintenance Service did not retain appropriate detailed

records to support the historical cost and accumulated depreciation account

balances for capital equipment. That situation occurred because personnel did

not ensure that equipment custodians established and maintained complete

equipment folders containing data supporting acquisition cost, useful life, or

changes to the useful life. As a result, neither the accuracy of depot

maintenance reported equipment values totaling over $1.8 billion nor the related

accumulated depreciation of $0.7 billion could be verified.

Disclosure of Sponsor-Funded Equipment. Department of the Navy

DBOF activities did not disclose $1.2 billion of sponsor-funded property and

equipment on the September 30, 1993, Navy Consolidating Financial

Statements. Sponsor-funded equipment is property provided by a sponsor to

another activity for use on a specific project. The Budget and Accounting

Procedures Act of 1950 and 0MB guidance require full disclosure in financial

statements of all assets, regardless of whether or not they are capitalized.

However, the Navy Comptroller Manual, NAVSO P-1000, allows recording

sponsor-ftinded equipment in memorandum accounts that are not included in

activity financial statements. As a result, total assets of $1.2 billion of

sponsor-funded equipment were not disclosed, and users of financial statements

were provided incomplete information for making budgetary decisions and

assessment of management performance.

Capitalization and Depreciation of Sponsor-Funded Equipment.

Department of the Navy DBOF activities failed to capitalize and depreciate

sponsor-funded equipment. The DoD Accounting Manual requires DBOF
activities to capitalize and depreciate all fixed assets except those acquired for a

specific project when no recurring use outside of that specific project exists.

The Navy Comptroller Manual conflicts with DoD guidance and allows

activities to hold sponsor-funded equipment in memorandum accounts that do

not require capitalization and recording of depreciation expense on the financial

statements. As a result, the full-costing concept intended by the DoD
Comptroller was not exercised. Activities reviewed did not capitalize an

estimated $309.6 million in sponsor-funded equipment, which resulted in

misstatements on the September 30, 1993, Department of the Navy DBOF
Consolidating Financial Statements.

Reporting of Property, Plant and Equipment. The Air Force Depot

Maintenance Service and Supply Management business area personnel did not

report Property, Plant and Equipment totaling $1.2 billion on the

September 30, 1993, DBOF fmancial statements. As a result, accountability for

Air Force property was reduced and allowed the potential for misappropriation,

theft, or misuse. In addition, the net values of equipment reported on the

September 30, 1993, Depot Maintenance and Supply Management financial

statements did not give a true and fair view for Property, Plant and Equipment.

Two Air Force depot maintenance activities did not classify and report unfunded

equipment and facilities as required. Instead, the activities classified the assets

as ftinded and reported them as depot maintenance-funded equipment items.

That occurred because the Defense Accounting Office personnel at Aerospace

Maintenance and Regeneration Center and Sacramento Air Logistics Center

issued asset classification guidance that was not clear, which led to the various
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That occurred because the Defense Accounting Office personnel at Aerospace

Maintenance and Regeneration Center and Sacramento Air Logistics Center

issued asset classification guidance that was not clear, which led to the various

depot maintenance activities interpreting the guidance in different ways.

Additionally, those Defense Accounting Office personnel did not develop an

internal control system to ensure the activities were complying with the intent of

the Defense Accounting Office's direction. As a result, comparative and

consolidated financial statements among activities do not provide reliable

analytical data.

Air Mobility Command personnel did not accurately report equipment and

related depreciation on the September 30, 1993, financial statements. That

situation occurred because Air Mobility Command personnel did not have an

accurate data base to track and rqwrt equipment; include all FY 1993

equipment transactions; or accurately report special and general purpose

vehicles, estimate the age of equipment, and report equipment values. As a

result, the correct adjusting entry for the $557.5 million yearend account

balances reported in the September 30, 1993, financial statements could not be

determined.

Air Mobility Command and Defense Accounting Office personnel at Airlift

Services Division did not accurately repon property, plant and equipment

transactions totaling $35.0 million during FY 1993. Specifically, those Defense

Accounting Office personnel did not properly record accounting entries,

capitalize and depreciate the cost of minor construction projects, and report

amortization of leasehold improvements. As a result, assets and

depreciation/amortization values on the September 30, 1993, financial

statements of the Airlift Services Division of the U.S. Transportation Command
were misstated.

Accuracy of Financial Data. The FY 1993 financial statements of the

Joint Logistics Systems Center did not accurately portray its financial position.

Specific^ly, the Property, Plant and Equipment balance of $266.4 million and

operating expenses of $29.6 million for FY 1993 were materially misstated.

That situation occurred because the Joint Logistics Systems Center had not

implemented an effective internal control program, as required by DoD; had not

compli»l with DoD Comptroller guidance on capitalization of assets and use of

operating funds; and did not enforce its own provisions requiring monthly

capital expense reporting. As a result, material inaccuracies in financial data

were reported to higher authorities and the useftilness of the financial statements

was limited.

Accounting Entries. Defense Accounting Office personnel at the

Ogden Air Logistics Center incorrectly increased the assets capitalized account

by approximately $5.6 million for equipment purchased with DBOF funds.

That situation occurred because Air Force Materiel Command Regulation

170-10, "Depot Maintenance Service, Air Force Industrial Fund Financial

Procedures," January 30, 1987, erroneously identified the Assets Capitalized

account as an appropriate credit entry for all equipment purchases. Cost

accounting personnel at Ogden Air Logistics Center used this regulation for

creating their journal vouchers. As a result, the Ogden Air Logistics Center

cost accounting personnel overstated the assets capitalized account by
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approximately $5.6 million and understated either accounts payable or cash

disbursemraits by the same amount.

Reportable Conditions Not Noted. Our consideration of the internal control

structure would not necessarily disclose all matters in the internal control

structure that might be reporti^le conditions and would not necessarily disclose

all reportable conditions that are also considered to be material weaknesses.
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Introduction

We evaluated selected accounts of the Statement of Financial Position for the

Defense Business Operations Fund (DBOF, the Fund) for material instances of

noncompliance with laws and regulations for the year ended September 30,

1993. Those accounts were Fund Balance With Treasury; Inventory Held for

Sale, Net; Inventory Not Held for Sale; and Property, Plant and Equipment.

The statements upon which we based our evaluation were transmitted to us on
May 4, 1994, and dated March 31, 1994. Such tests are required by the Chief

Financial Officers Act of 1990.

During FY 1993, the Comptroller of the Department of Defense (DoD
Comptroller) updated sections of EtoD 7220.9-M, "DoD Accounting Manual"
(DoD Accounting Manual), and incorporated those sections into a new set of

manuals using the 7000. 14-R series of numbers. The new 7000. 14-R manuals
will serve as the single DoD-wide fmancial management regulation for use by
all DoD Components for accounting, budgeting, fmance, and fmancial

management education and training.

Methodology

As part of our examination to obtain reasonable assurance that selected accounts

on the Fund's Statement of Financial Position were free of material

misstatements, we performed tests of compliance with laws and regulations.

See Part IV, Appendix D, for a list of laws and regulations tested.

The Inspector General (IG), DoD, is responsible for expressing an opinion on

the consolidated financial statements of the Defense Business Operation Fund
for FY 1993. To ftilfill that responsibility, we coordinated our audit efforts

with the Service audit organizations (the Army Audit Agency (AAA), the

Naval Audit Service (NAS), and the Air Force Audit Agency (AFAA).) We
believe that our combined efforts provide a reasonable basis for our results.

Objective

Our audit objective was to assess compliance with laws and regulations for those

transactions and events that have a direct and material effect on the financial

statements. Material instances of noncompliance are failures to follow

requirements, or violations of prohibitions contained in laws or regulations.

Such failures and violations are those that cause us to conclude that the

aggregation of the misstatements resulting ^m those failures or violations is

material to the Principal Statements, or those whose sensitive nature would

cause them to be perceived as significant by others.

The Deputy Secretary of Defense and the Director, Defense Finance and

Accounting Service (DFAS), are responsible for ensuring compliance with laws

and regulations applicable to the Fund. As part of obtaining reasonable
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assurance about whether the Principal Statements are free of material

misstatements, we tested compliance with laws and regulations that may directly

affect the financial statements and others laws and regulations designated by the

Office of Management and Budget (OMB) and the DoD. See Part IV,

Appendix D, for a list of laws and regulations tested.

As part of our examination, we reviewed management's compliance with DoD
Directive 5010.38, "Internal Management Control Program," April 14, 1987.

We compared management's most recent Armual Statement of Assurance with

our evaluation of the Fund's policies, procedures, and systems for documenting
and supporting financial, statistical, and other information presented to us in the

Overview to the Fund's Principal Statements, as well as supplemental fmancial

and management information. It was not our objective, however, to provide an

opinion on overall compliance with such provisions.

Prior Audit Coverage

Since the inception of the Fund in 1992, numerous reports on the DBOF have
been issued by the General Accounting Office, the Service audit organizations,

and the IG, DoD. We summarized those audit reports in Part n, "Internal

Controls," by subject area. Many of the reportable conditions are common
among the reports and many of die internal control weaknesses cited in the

summaries are related to compliance with laws and regulations. See Part IV,

Appendix C, for a complete list of reports resulting from those audits.

Results of Audit

Our examination disclosed several instances of noncompliance with regulations

that materially affected the reliability of the DBOF financial statements. Except
as described below, the results of our tests of compliance indicate that, with

respect to the items tested, the managers of the DBOF complied, in all material

respects, with the laws and regulations identified in Part IV, Appendix A, of
this report. With respect to items not tested, nothing came to our attention that

caused us to believe that the management had not complied, in all material

respects, with those provisions. Paragraph titles followed by an asterisk denote

conditions that were reported in prior audits of the Fund.

Standard General Ledger. The DFAS-Indianapolis Center did not use an

integrated general ledger to produce the FY 1993 financial statements. In

addition, several Army DBOF supply systems did not use the standard general

ledger system. The DoD Accounting Manual requires that activities use the

Standard General Ledger chart of accounts. OMB Circular No. A- 127,

"Financial Management Systems," requires agencies to establish and maintain a

single integrated financial management system that may be supplemented with

subsidiary systems. The lack of a fully integrated general ledger and failure to

use the Standard General Ledger system can lead to inaccurate financial
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statements and, therefore, inaccurate information being provided to

management.

Accounting Control.* DoD 7000. 14-R, volume 1, "General Financial

Management Information, Systems, and Requirements," May 1993, requires

accounting control over all resources. The Air Force and the Army could not

validate Government-Furnished Material owned by the DBOF. Also, the

controls over Material-in-Transit were inadequate, resulting in transactions that

were not valid or caused duplicate recording of inventory.

Internal Management Control Program. The Defense Logistics Agency had

not effectively implemented an Internal Management Control Program over the

reporting of results for physical inventories, and accounting records were not

reconciled with inventory records. The Navy did not disclose in its Annual

Statement of Assurance material internal control weaknesses and prepared

inaccurate vulnerability assessments for assessable units related to inventory.

The Air Force had material internal control weaknesses related to Inventories;

Property, Plant and Equipment; Inventories Not for Held Sale; and Accrued

Expenses that were not reported in its Annual Statement of Assurance required

by DoD 5010.38. DoD 5010.38 requires management to report on material

internal control weaknesses, identify corrective actions taken, and provide

specific plans and schedules for planned corrective actions.

Reconciliation.* The General Accounting Office's "Policy and Procedures

Manual for Guidance of Federal Agencies," Title 2, "Accounting," states that

general ledger balances must be reconciled with subsidiary accounts and

records. The Defense Logistics Agency and the Army did not reconcile

subsidiary records to general ledger accounts. The Army and the Navy logistics

and financial records did not agree, and financial records were adjusted to agree

with logistics records without the use or availability of supporting

documentation.

Valuation of Inventory. The Army valued all inventory at standard price

regardless of its condition. The Defense Logistics Agency valued reutilization

and marketing inventories at standard price instead of the required 2.04 percent

of latest acquisition cost. The Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board,

Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards Number 3, "Accounting

for Inventory and Related Property," requires that activities value excess,

obsolete, and unserviceable inventory at the expected net realizable value.

Inventory balances includnl $50.2 million in excesses.

DoD Accounting Manual, Chapter 14, "Internal Controls." Inventories Not

Held for Sale were overstated by a net amount of at least $32.8 million, due to

erroneous inventory records, in£q>propriate use of the Material-in-Transit

Account, and improperly trained personnel. The DoD Accounting Manual,

chapter 14, "Internal Controls," requires that all fmancial data presented in

reports be complete and accurate.

"DoD Guidance on Form and Content of Financial Statements for

FY 1993/1994 Financial Activity," January 12, 1994, defined Inventories Not

Held for Sale as amounts of materiel and goods held for future agency

consumption or stoclq)ilexl for use in national emergencies or for other purposes.
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Included are war reserve items. The guidance directs any allowances for

inventory losses, and the inventory valuation methods, by category, as well as
directing that any restrictions on use or convertibility shall be disclosed in

Note 5. The Defense Logistics Agency categorized base operating suppUes,
unserviceable materiel, war reserve materiel, and litigation as Inventories Held
for Sale, instead of Inventories Not Held for Sale, and failed to fully disclose

such in Note S of the financial statements.

Perfonnance Measures. "DoD Guidance on Form and Content of Financial
Statements for FY 1993/1994 Financial Activity" outlines the core performance
measures that must be in the Overview or provided as supplemental information
for management. The guidance also requires reporting activities to present

conclusions about the results of performance measures. The Army did not
include the core performance measure for Depot Maintenance (Other) in the

statements. It included the other core measures, but did not provide conclusions
about the results or benchmarks against which the results could be measured.

Property, Plant and Equipment. The DoD Accounting Manual states that

activities should maintain an accounting system that can compute depreciation
on an item-by-item basis. Each building should be depreciated individually.

Most Army depot maintenance activities did not have accounting systems that

allowed them to compute depreciation for individual buildings. The lack of a
fully integrated system could affect the accuracy of the financial statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements.* The Notes to the FY 1993 DBOF
Financial Statements were not presented in conformance with the DoD
Guidance on Form and Content on Financial Statements for FY 1993 and
FY 1994 Financial Activity. The DoD Guidance on Form and Content requires

26 notes to the financial statements and that they be presented in sequence and
noted "not applicable" if appropriate. The statements only presented four notes
without mention of the remaining 22 notes.

For example, the statements did not include notes to explain the Inventory and
Property, Plant, and Equipment accounts. The inventory note should report

separate amounts for Inventory Held for Sale (valued at $79.7 biUion), and
Inventory Not Held for Sale (valued at $9.2 billion). The note should also

provide amounts for allowance for losses, net inventory, and the method(s) of
valuation. Further categories of inventory such as Stockpile Materials and War
Reserves should also be disclosed. The Property, Plant and Equipment account
(valued at $10.6 billion) should have a note explaining the depreciation method
used, the range of service lives of the assets, the original acquisition costs of
assets currenUy in use, the accumulated depreciation, and the net book value of
the assets. In addition, real property used by but not owned by the DBOF was
not disclosed in any notes. Additionally, the notes did not include an
explanation for the intrafiind eliminations. Failure to record intrafund

eliminations results in overstatements of assets, liabilities, and stockholders
equity in the reporting entity Statement of Financial Position and the

consolidated Statement of Financial Position.
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Appendix A. Financial Statement Reporting
Structure for the Defense Business
Operations Fund

ARMY
Supply Managamam
Distribution Dapota
Depot Maintenanca-Othar
Depot Maintananca-Ordnanca
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Appendix B. Summary of Work Performed by Others
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Appendix C. Prior Audit Coverage

REPORT NUMBER TITLE DATE

(general Accounting OfRce

AIMD-94-gO Financial Management, Status of the

Defense Business Operations Fund (DBOF)'
March 9, 1994

Inspector General, Department Of Defense

94-082 Financial Management of the DBOF-
FY 1992

93- 164 Financial Statements of the Defense

Logistics Agency Supply Management
Division of the DBOF (Defense Fuel

Supply Center Financial Data) for

FY 1992

93-153 DBOF, Communication Information

Services Activity Financial Statements

for FY 1992

93-15

1

Compliance with the Federal Managers'
Financial Integrity Act at the Defuse
Commercial O^mmunications Office

93-147 Defense Commissary Resale Stock Fund
Financial Statements for FY 1992

93-134 Principal and Combining Financial

Statemoits of the Defense Business

Operations Fund for FY 1992

April 11, 1994

September 2, 1993

August 6, 1993

July 26, 1993

June 30, 1993

June 30, 1993

Army Audit Agency

NR 94-454 DBOF, Depot Maintenance, Army FY 92
Financial Statements, Rqx>rt of Management

March 30, 1994

^Acronym used in rqiort titles for brevity.
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Appendix C. Prior Audit Coverage

REPORT NUMBER TITLE DATE

Army Audit Agency (cont'd)

NR 94-456 DBOF, Transportation, Army FY 92
Financial Statements, Report of
Management Issues

NR 94-457 DBOF, FY 92 Financial Statements,

Common Management Issues

NR 93-462 DBOF Transportation, Army

NR 93-463 DBOF Depot Maintenance, Army

March 30, 1994

March 30, 1994

June 30, 1993

June 30, 1993

Naval Audit Service

053-H-93 FY 1992, ConsoUdating Financial

Statements of the Department of the

Navy DBOF

June 30, 1993

Air Force Audit Agency

94068025 Air Force Depot Maintenance Service,

FY 1993 Material In-Transit Balances

93068005 Internal Controls and Management Issues

Related to Laundry and Dry
Cleaning Service, DBOF, FY 1992
Financial Statements

92066008 Review of the Design and Development
Activities for the D^epot Maintenance
Management Information System

93068024 Opinion on Air Force Consolidating

Statements, DBOF, FY 1992 Financial

Statements

93068012 Opinion on Air Force Distribution,

Depot, DBOF, FY 1992 Financial

Statements

9306801 1 Opinion on Air Force Supply Management,
DBOF, FY 1992 Financial Statements

AprU 1, 1994

September 7, 1993

August 18, 1993

J^ne 30, 1993

June 30, 1993

June 30, 1993
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Appendix C. Prior Audit Coverage

REPORT NUMBER TITLE DATE

Air Force Audit Agency (cont'd)

92068002 Opinion on Air Force Depot Maintenance,

DBOF, FY 1992 Financial Statements

92068003 Opinion on Laundry and Dry Qeaning
Service, DBOF, FY 1992 Fuiancial

Statements

92071002 Opinion on Air Force Tianqwrtation,

DBOF, FY 1992 Financial Statements

92066002 Review of Genoal and Application

Controls Within the Equipment
Inventory, Multiple Status and

Utilization Rqmrting Subsystem

92066010 Review of General and Application

Controls Within the Contract Dqx)t
Maintenance Production and Cost System

92062001 Review of DMIF^ Revalue Accounts,

FY 1992 Financial Statements

June 30, 1993

June 30, 1993

June 29, 1993

April 1, 1993

April 1, 1993

February 28, 1993

^E>qx)t Maintenance Industrial Fund.
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Appendix D. Laws and Regulations Reviewed

Public Law 102-396, "Department of Defense Appropriation Act of 1993"

Public Law 102-190, "National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Years 1992 and
1993" as amended by Section 341, Public Law 102-484, "National Defense

Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 1993," October 23, 1993

PubUc Law 101-576, "Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990"

Public Law 100-496, "Prompt Payment Act of 1988"

Public Law 97-365, "Debt CoUection Act," October 25, 1982

Public Law 97-255, "Military Construction Codification Act," July 12, 1982

31 U.S.C. 3512, "Budget and Accounting Procedures Act of 1950"

31 U.S.C. 1341, "Antideficiency Act"

DoD 7000. 14-R, Volume 1, "General Financial Management Information, Systems,

and Requirements," May 1993

DoD 7000. 14-R, Volume 5, "Disbursing and Policy Procedures," December 1993

DoD 7000. 14-R, Volume 8, "Civilian Pay Policies and Procedures"

DoD 7000. 14-R, Volume 15, "Security Assistance Policy and Procedures"

DoD 7220.9-M, "DoD Accounting Manual," as amended, June 17, 1991

DoD 7200. 10-M, "Report of Survey"

DoD Directive 4140.31, "The Defense Inactive Item Program"

DoD 5010.38, "Internal Management Control Program," April 14, 1987

Joint Financial Managementimprovement Program Core Financial System

Requirements FFMSR-1, January 1988

Treasury Financial Manual, June 12, 1990

U.S. Standard General Ledger, November 12, 1992

*Federal Financial Management Systems Requirements
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Appendix D. Laws and Regulations Reviewed

General Accounting Office's "Policy and Procedures Manual for Guidance of Federal

Agencies," Title 2, "Accounting," May 18, 1988

0MB Bulletin No. 94-01, "Form and Content of Agency Financial Statements,"

November 16, 1993

0MB Bulletin No. 93-06, "Audit Requirement for Federal Financial Statements,"

January 8, 1993

0MB Statement of Federal Financial Accounting Standards Number 1,"Accounting for

Selected Assets and Liabilities," March 30, 1993

"DoD Guidance on Form and Content of Financial Statements for FY 1993/1994

Financial Activity," January 12, 1994
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Appendix £. Organizations Visited or Contacted

Office of the Secretary of Defense

Office of the Comptroller of the Department of Defense, Arlington, VA
Director of Revolving Funds, Office of the Deputy Comptroller (Program and

Budget), Arlington, VA
Director of Financial Management Policy, Office of the Deputy Comptroller

(Management Systems), Arlington, VA
Deputy Under Secretary of Defense (Lx)gistics), Arlington, VA

Department of the Army

Headquarters, Army Audit Agency, Arlington, VA
Army Audit Agency, Midwestern Region, Aviation Troop Command, St. Louis,

MO
Army Audit Agency, Red River Army Depot, Texarkana, TX
Army Audit Agency, Rock Island Arsenal, Rock Island, IL

Tank Automotive Command, Warren, MI

Department of the Navy

Headquarters, Naval Audit Service, Arlington, VA
Naval Audit Service, Southeast Region, Virginia Beach, VA
Naval Audit Service, Norfolk Naval Shipyard, Norfolk, VA
Naval Supply Center, Oakland, CA

Marine Corps Logistics Base, Albany, GA

Department of the Air Force

Air Force Audit Agency, Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, OH
Air Force Audit Agency, Kelly Air Force Base, TX
Air Force Audit Agency, Tinker Air Force Base, OK
Air Force Audit Agency, Peterson Air Force Base, CO
Warner Robins Air Force Base, GA

Defense Agencies

Headquarters, Defense Finance and Accounting Service, Arlington, VA
Defense Finance and Accounting Service Center, Columbus, OH
Defense Finance and Accounting Service Center, Denver, CO
Defense Finance and Accounting Service Center, Indianapolis, IN
Defense Accounting Office, Arlington, VA
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Appendix E. Organizations Visited or Contacted

Defense Agencies (cont'd)

Headquarters, Defense Logistics Agency, Arlington, VA
Defense Distribution Dqwt, Ogden, UT
Defense Distribution Depot, San Diego, CA
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Appendix F. Report Distribution

Office of the Secretary of Defense

Comptroller of the Department of Defense
Assistant to the Secretary of Defense (Public Affairs)

Deputy Under Secretary of Defense (Logistics)

Department of the Army

Secretary of the Army
Assistant Secretary of the Army (Installations and Logistics)

Assistant Secretary of the Army (Research, Development and Acquisition)

Auditor General, Army Audit Agency

Department of the Navy

Secretary of the Navy
Assistant Secretary of the Navy (Financial Management)
Comptroller of the Navy
Auditor General, Naval Audit Service

Department of the Air Force

Secretary of the Air Force
Assistant Secretary of the Air Force (Acquisition)

Assistant Secretary of the Air Force (Financial Management & Comptroller)

Auditor General, Air Force Audit Agency

Defense Agencies

Director, Defense Finance and Accounting Service

Director, Defense Finance and Accounting Service-Cleveland Center

Director, Defense Finance and Accounting Service-Columbus Center

Director, Defense Finance and Accounting Service-Denver Center

Director, Defense Finance and Accounting Service-Indianapolis Center

Director, Defense Accounting Office-Arlington, VA
Director, Defense Commissary Agency
Director, Defense Information Systems Agency
Director, Defense Logistics Agency
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Appendix F. Report Distribution

Inspector General, Central Imagery Office

Inspector General, Defense Intelligence Agency
Inspector General, National Security Agency
Director, Defense Logistics Studies Information Exchange

Non-Defense Federal Organizations

Office of Management and Budget
National Security and International Affairs Division, Technical Information Center,

U.S. General Accounting Office

Honorable Charles E. Grassley

Chairman and Ranking Minority Member of Each of the Following Congressional

Committees and Subcommittees:
Senate Committee on Appropriations

Senate Subcommittee on Defense, Committee on Appropriations

Senate Committee on Anned Services

Senate Committee on Governmental Affairs

House Committee on Appropriations

House Subcommittee on E>efense, Committee on Appropriations

House Committee on Armed Services

House Subcommittee on Readiness, Committee on Armed Services

House Committee on Government Operations

House Subcommittee on Legislation and National Security, Committee on Government
Operations
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Part V - Defense Business Operations
Fund - Consolidated Financial
Statements For FY 1993



347

Defense Business Operations Fund Financial Statements - FY 1S>93

OFTICI OF THE COMPTKOLUR OF THE DEPARTMENT Of DEFENSE

WASHMCTDN DC 20301 1 100

MAY 4 1994

MEMORANDUM FOR ASSISTANT INSPECTOR GENERAL FOR AUDITING, OOD

SUBJECT: Transmittal of Defense Business Operations Fund
Financial Statements on FY 1993 Financial Activity

The attached consolidated financial statements for the
Defense Business Operations Fund on FY 1993 financial activity
are submitted for audit as required by the Chief Financial
Officers Act.

My staff, and that of the Defense Finance and Accounting
Service, are available to provide assistance and information as
you require in the audit of these financial statements. We will
work with your staff to make the necessary adjustments and
improvements.

My point of contact on this matter is Mr. Oscar G. Covell.
He may be reached at (703) 697-6149 or DSN 227-6149.

Tucker
Deputy Chief Financial Officer

Attachment
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Defense Business Operations Fund Financial Statements - FY 1993

DEFENSE BUSINESS OPERATIONS

FUND

ANNUAL FINANCIAL

REPORT

FY 1993

51 UNAUDITED
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Defense Business Operations Fund Financial Statements - FY 1993

DEFENSE BUSINESS OPERATIONS FUND OVERVIEW

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE DEFENSE BUSINESS OPERATIONS FUND

A Changing Defense Environment

When the 1990s began, the Department of Defense faced a changing world order

and a compelling need to reduce the federal deficit. The challenge for the Military

Services was to downsize the force with minimum loss of capability. A focus was

placed on improving efficiency and effectiveness through streamlining, consolidation

of functions, and improved financial and managerial practices.

The Defense Business Operations Fund, or DBOF, emerged in this period of

critical review during which the standard ways of doing business were challenged

and new and more creative ways were being sought. The idea behind DBOF was to

use a financial tool to understand and control the size and cost of certain Defense

support functions. The objective was to help maximize the availability of resources

that directly support force readiness by more accurately defining support

requirements and their costs.

The DBOF uses a revolving fund financial structure in which funding is placed in

the hands of the consumers-the operating forces. The operating forces then purchase

the level of support they require from DBOF support activities. DBOF business

areas, in turn, are reimbursed by the customer for the total cost of support provided.

It is this marketplace "tension" between customer and provider that ultimately

serves to discipline the customer's demand for support and discipline the provider's

decisions concerning the cost of providing that support.

In order to achieve improved financial management, nine separate stock and

industrial funds managed by the Services and Agencies were merged to form a single

revolving fund account called the Defense Business Operations Fund in FY 1992. In

addition to the consolidation of these funds, a few Defense Agency support functions,

such as finance and accounting services, which were previously funded through direct

appropriations, were converted to DBOF-funded management. The formation of a

UNAUDITED 52
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Defense Business Operations Fund Fmancial Statements - FY 1993

single revolving fund account was believed to provide the best framework for

standardizing business processes and financial practices of similar business activities

and for reducing the overall level of working capital needed by the Department.

DBOF was created by Section 316 of the National Defense Authorization Act for

Fiscal Years 1992 and 1993 (P.L. 102-190, 105 Stat. 1338). This legislation provided

that working-capital funds established under Title 10 U.S.C. Section 2208 could be

managed through the Defense Business Operations Fund.

Although the DBOF consolidated nine funds into a single account, it did not alter

the operational control over the support activities operating under this account. The

depot maintenance activities, inventory control points, and other revolving fund

activities continued to be managed by the Service or Agency that controlled them

prior to DBOF. The emphasis was on maintaining decentralized control over

day-to-day operations while standardizing the financial processes. The goal was to

enable the Department to achieve a higher level of fiscal integrity in the

management of its support operations.

A Need forToUl Cost Visibility and Full Cost Recovery

Two factors shaped the foundation of the concept from which DBOF evolved.

First, the support providers must be given incentives to control and reduce cost. The

approach was to make all of the costs of providing support to the operating forces

visible, both to the provider of the support and to the operating forces that use them.

When the work of a support organization is managed as a total cost proposition, cost

management goals that are useful to line managers can be established. Budgets can

be allocated to working level managers which are based upon cost goals that are tied

to work output. This ensures that support activities are funded for the work output

actually produced rather than for a predetermined estimate of resource mir. This

funding process, called Unit Cost Resourcing, provides greater flexibility to

accommodate the program changes that inevitably occur over the nearly 18 month

interval between budget preparation and the year of budget execution . Total cost

visibility and resourcing based upon actual work output enables the Department to

gain abetter understanding of what is required to provide support aind reduce overall

costs of operations.

Secondly, it is coounonly recognized that defining a suitable balance between the

support infrastructure and the operating forces is very difficult. Traditionally, most

support activities are justified and operated independently from the operating forces.

53 UNAUDITED
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Defense Business Operations Fund Fmancial Statements - FY 1993

DBOF, instead, is centered around the belief that if the consumers of the services

provided by support functions define their support requirements and are responsible

for paying for them, we will collectively begin to "rightsiie" the support structure.

When the support function has a clear picture of its total cost and requires full

recovery of those costs from the customers, then total cost management is no longer

merely a statistical exercise but plays an essential role in DoO resource

management.

Revolving Fund Financing

The provider must set prices for the goods and services to recover the full cost of

production. The price development process requires that all direct, indirect, general

and administrative, and capital depreciation costs be allocated appropriately to each

product or service. Given the need for full cost recovery from customers, the

management of all elements of cost becomes a critical responsibility for the DBOF

support provider.

A fundamental tenet ofDBOF is that the customer should make the decision

about how much support is necessary and that the customer should be given the

funding to buy the level of support actually required. The requirement for the

support of the operating forces should be justified by the consumer of that support.

The consumer is in the best possible position to link mission requirements with the

appropriate level of support for that mission. It is this linking of resourcing decisions

about mission and support that begins to answer one of the Department's most vexing

questions, 'Just how much support is enough?"

Capital Budgeting

A significant chsmge brought about by DBOF was the inclusion of capital

budgeting concepts which recognize the integral relationship between capital

investment and daily operations. The budgeting of capital investment items is one of

the most important areas of managerial decisionmaking. Decisions today to make

large investments in infrastructure will impact an activity's operations for years to

come. The magnitude of resources involved and length of time needed to realize the

return on the investment require sound analysis and judgment.

Prior to DBOF, capital investments were funded in direct investment

appropriations. A primary factor in determining whether a capital asset was

purchased was the availability of investment funds based upon that capital asset's
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Defense Business Operations Fund Financial Statements - FY 1993

priority relative to other military items funded in the same account. The history of

DoD's investment accounts indicates that the capital equipment required to operate

the support establishment did not compete well against major weapon system

purchases.

When an asset is placed in operation in a DBOF business area, that business must

begin to depreciate the cost of the asset in the operating budget. Depreciation costs

are included in the business area's unit cost goals, and is ultimately included in the

prices charged to the business's customers. This process brings market forces to bear

upon the investment decision.

Stabilized Rates

Rates are established on a fiscal year basis and are set to recover the provider's

estimated total cost of support operations. Rates also reflect any gains or losses from

the business area's prior year operating results in order to break even over time.

These rates are stabilized and heldconstantduring the year of budget execution.

Resources are budgeted in the customers' appropriated fund accounts to pay the

established rates. This stabilized rate policy serves to protect appropriated fund

customers from unforeseen cost changes and permits more effective management of

resources by customers and providers alike.

SCOPE OF OPERATIONS

In Fiscal Year 1993. the total operating costs of support activities within the

DBOF financial structure was approximately $82 billion. In addition to these

operating costs, capital costs for Fiscal Year 1993, which include minor construction,

software development, and procurement ofequipment, totaled approximately $1.5

billion. In Fiscal Year 1993, DBOF business areas employed approximately 400,000

military and civilian personnel. The goods and services provided by DBOF support

activities range from common supply items to state-ofthe-art research and

development services. Detailed descriptions of each of the DBOF business areas

listed below are provided in the Component financial statements:

Supply Management Information Services

Distribution Depots Base Support

Depot Maintenance Printing and Publications

Navy Research and Development Clothing Factory

55 UNAUDITED



353

Defense Business Operations Fund Financial Statements - FY 1993

Transportation Industrial Plant Equipment

Commissary Reutilization and Marketing

Financial Operations Technical Information Service

Joint Lopstics Systems Center

The Component financial statements provide detailed reports by Component that

address both the financial and the program performance of these business areas.

This financial statement also provides financial information concerning the Defense

Corporate Account 5R in the Combining Statements. This account is for

Department- level Fund management requirements.

CURRENT ISSUES

The DBOF Improvement Plan

In April 1993, the Secretary ofDefense expressed his concern that the readiness of

our forces could be adversely affected by various aspects ofDBOF operations. To

address the concerns of the Secretary, the Military Departments, and Congress, the

Deputy Secretary of Defense directed that a review be performed to assess the

soundness of the DBOF concept, and to review its implementation to identify

shortcomings and make recommendations to correct identified weaknesses. The goal

was to ensure that the DBOF fully supported the Secretary's readiness goals. The

review was performed by members of the Components as well as OSD functional

offices. Together, they were able to assess requirements and develop joint

recommendations for financial management improvement.

The review resulted in validation of the DBOF concept and also in a requirement

to take significant actions to improve Fund implementation and operation. These

improvement actions have been documented in the DBOF Improvement Flan which

was endorsed by the Deputy Secretary and the Service Secretaries in September

1993. The plan includes 54 actions to improve accountability and control, the DBOF

structure, policies and procedures, and financial systems.

Advance Billing

The Department was directed by Congress in FY 1993 to make transfers from

DBOF to operation and maintenance accounts. The amount was more than had been

budgeted by the Department. While this is not the Department's preferred financial
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practice, the DBOF had to initiate advance billing in depot maintenance and Navy

research and development activities in order to generate adequate cash to complete

the transfers.

CONCLUSION

The Defense Business Operations Fund concept of financial operations has been

thoroughly reviewed by the Department and validated as a means of managing a

significant portion of the Defense support infrastructure. The senior leadership of the

Department strongly endorses the DBOF concept. The Department's vision is to

establish a robust financial system that allows DoD managers at every level to

evaluate the total cost and performance of selected support infrastructure operations.

The Department's objectives are to:

• Provide financial tools for decisionmakers at every level of this large and

complex organization. Products and services will be priced at full cost to

enable managers to concentrate on minimizing costs, develop a better

understanding of costs, and make decisions based on knowing these costs.

• Improve delivery of support goods and services to the operating forces. Output-

oriented resourcing mechanisms that clearly relate funding levels to actual

workload, reward efTiciency, and focus on customers.

• Maintain a continuous focus on bringing our financial practices into the next

century. Standardized financial management policies, procedures, and

systems will adapt age-old government practices to a new standard and usher

in a new era of financial responsibility and accountability.
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DEFENSE BUSINESS
OPERATIONS

FUND

PRINCIPAL STATEMENTS

31 MARCH 1994
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DEPAHTMENT/AGENCY: DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE
REPORTING ENTITY: DEFENSE BUSINESS OPERATIONS FUND
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS (AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION)
AS OF 30 SEPTEMBER 1993

($ IN DOLLARS)

REVENUES A FINANCING SOURCES

Appropriated Expensed
Revenues from Sales of Goods
a. To tlw Public

b Iniragovernmental

Interest & Penalities. Non- Federal

Interest. Federal

Taxes (Note 18)

Other Revenues & Financing Sources

Less. Taxes & Receipts Returned lo the Treasury

Total Revenues & Financing Sources

EXPENSES

9 Program or Operation Expenses (Note 3)

10 Cost of Goods Sold or Services Sold

a To the Public

b Intragovernmental

11 Depreciation and Amortization

12. Bad Debts & Write-otts

13 Interest

a Federal Financing Bank/Treasury Borrowing

b. Federal Securities

c Other

14 Ottier Expenses
15 Total Expenses

16 Excess (Shortage) ot revenues & Financing Sources over Total

Expenses Before Adjustments
Plus (Minus) Adjustments

a. Extraordinary Items

b Prior Penod Adjustments

Excess (Shortage) of Revenues & Financing Sources over

Total Expenses
Plus: Unfunded Expenses
Excess (Shortage) of Revenues & Financing Sources Over

Expenses
Net Position. Beginning Balance

Excess (Shortage) of Revenues & Financing Sources Over
Total Expenses
Plus (Minus) Equity Transfers

Net Position. Ending Balance

TOTAL
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DEPAFITMENT/AGENCY DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE
REPORTING ENTITY: DEFENSE BUSINESS OPERATIONS FUND
STATEMENT OF BUDGET & ACTUAL EXPENSES
AS OF 30 SEPTEMBER 1993

($ IN DOLLARS)
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DEFENSE BUSINESS
OPERATIONS

FUND

COMBINING STATEMENTS

31 MARCH 1994
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DEFENSE BUSINESS OPERATIONS FUND
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Note 1. Sumaary of Significant Accounting Policies

A. Reporting Entity

The Department of Defense expanded the use of businesslike
financial management practices through the establishment of the
Defense Business Operations Fund (the Fund) on October 1, 1991.

The Fund operates with financial principles that provide improved
cost visibility and accountability to enhance business management
and improve the decision making process. The Fund builds on
revolving fund principles previously used for industrial and
commercial-type activities.

The establishment of the Fund did not change any previous
organizational reporting structure or command authority
relationship. It combined business activities under a single
treasury code which permits consolidation of cash management
while functional and cost management responsibilities remain with

the Military Departments and Defense Agencies.

The primary goal of implementing the Fund is to provide a

business management structure that encourages managers and
employees of DoD support organizations to provide quality
products or services at the lowest cost. A major feature of this
business management structure is increased emphasis on business
operations. This business operations structure identifies each
business area, the products or services, and the total cost of

operations within that business area.

The DBOF Principal and Combining Statements represent the
overall activity of DoD Components and business areas within DoD
Components that were previously managed using industrial or stock
funds and a few additional Defense Agency activities that also
lend themselves to a business management mechanism. These DoD
Components have prepared CFO Financial Statements and have
reported as separate DBOF reporting entities. Notes to the

Principal Statements were included in each of these separate CFO
Financial Statements.

B. Accounting Standards

These financial statements are presented in accordance with
the accounting and reporting standards presented in Office of
Management and Budget Bulletin 93-02 and supplemented by
accounting policies of the Office of the Secretary of Defense
(OSD) and the Department of Defense Accounting Manual {7220. 9-M).

To the extent that accounting issues are not provided in the
preceding, the Defense Business Operations Fund follows guidance
promulgated by GAO, the Department of the Treasury, or the
Federal Accounting standards Advisory Board (FASAB), as

appropriate.
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C. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

The Defense Business Operations Fund is financed through
working capital revolving funds. Principal Statements within the

DoD Components do not contain a true Fund Balance with Treasury,
only net disburseinents/collections for the applicable fiscal

year.

D. Basis of Accounting

The basis of accounting for the DoO Components is discussed
in the DoD Component CFO Financial Statements. At the

departmental level, transactions are recorded when they occur.
Receipt of appropriations or transfers to or from the DBOF are
recorded in the month in which they occur. The net amount of

undistributed net outlays, which is the difference between the

net outlays reported to the U. S Treasury and reported by the DoD

Components is reported monthly. For CFO reporting purposes, the

amount of undistributed net outlay is recorded as an expense.

E. Revenues and Other Financing Sources

The DBOF receives congressional appropriations which are

retained at the departmental level. Transfers of funds to or

from the DBOF are also maintained at the departmental level. The
revenues generated by sales of goods or services through a

reimbursable order process are recorded and reported by the

individual DoD Components.

F. Accounting for Intra-governmental Activities

Inter/ intra-agency transactions and balances have, for the

most part, not been eliminated in the Principal and Combining
Statements because data elements resident in the DoD accounting
systems have not been revised to identify those transactions
within a department 97 (DoD) account. Sufficient detail
information is not available in the standard DOD general ledger
accounts to perform the elimination. No eliminations are

reflected in the Combining Statements.

G. Funds with the U.S. Treasury and Cash

The DBOF Principal and Combining Statements present a full
financial statement at the DoD level. The Business Fund cash
account, general ledger accounts 1013 - Funds with Treasury . 1014
- Undistributed Collections and 1015 - Undistributed
Disbursements , are held at the DoD level. The amount reported as

Fund Balances with Treasury at the DoD Component and business
area level represent the net of collections less disbursements
for the applicable fiscal year.

H. Equity

Equity for activities consists of invested capital, donated
material, contributed fixed assets, and cumulative result of

UNAUDITED 72
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operations as presented in the DoD Component statements of
financial position. Cumulative results of operations at the
departmental level represents the excess of appropriations over
expenses since inception of DBOF.

I. Comparative Data

Comparative data for FY 1993 and 1992 is presented.

Note 2. Fund Balances with Treasury

The DBOF Fund Balances with Treasury is $4,684,406,528 is
shown in the Total column of the Combining Statements. At the
DoD Component level. Fund Balances with Treasury represents the
net of collections less disbursements for fiscal year 1993. At
the Departmental level. Fund Balances with Treasury represents
cumulative transactions recorded for the DBOF since inception
except for the FY 1993 net of collections less disbursements
reported for the DoD Components.

Note 3. Program or Operation Expenses.

The amount of Program or Operation. Expenses represents the
adjustment for undistributed net outlays at the departmental
level and is computed as follows:

Collections less Disbursements

CFO Statements Report on Budget Difference
Execution

$1,542,251,860 $10,838,791

1,918,493,151 (26,296,257)

1,358,466,861 650,119

Army
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and disbursements related to FY's 1991 and 1992 in the value for
FY 1993 net outlays. Net collections less disbursements of
5717,889,710 applicable to those fiscal years were transferred to
the DBOF departmental level after September 30, 1993, and
excluded from the CFO statements U. S. Transportation Command
feeder report for the Military Sealift Command.

In addition, the Program or Operation Expenses includes an
adjustment of (5123.823.686) for the difference between the Air
Force ending Fund Balances with Treasury for FY 1992 and the
amount reported on the Air Force restated FY 1992 Fund Balances
with Treasury reflected on the Statement of Cash Flows.

Note A. Transfers of Cash from Others.

This is the amount reflected as Transfers of Cash to Others
on the DoD Component DBOF statements.
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WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM SENATOR GLENN TO FRANCIS E. REARDON,
DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY, AND THE RESPONSES

Payroll Problems

Question 1. Mr. Reardon, in the payroll area, you reported that internal controls

were lacking. Even though GAO had reported on some of these issues in their pre-

vious audits. Army unit commanders were still not adequately using finance reports

to ensure soldiers were getting appropriate pay. Apparently, this was occurring even

after memorandums were issued from the chief of personnel instructing command-
ers to use the reports. Equally troubUng is that personnel at military pay offices

did not have separated duties or controls over access codes that might prevent fraud

and abuse in the payroll system.

How widespread are these problems, and are they continuing to lead to payroll

fraud and abuse? ,, ,.,

Mr. Reardon. In order to answer the specific questions properly, I would hke to

clarify a few points pertaining to audit coverage. The GAO military payroll audit

in connection with the Army's FY 92 financial statements focused exclusively on the

centralized military pay operations at the Defense Finance and Accounting Service-

IndianapoUs Center. The audit results identified and quantified unauthorized pay-

ments to soldiers. Our audit of the FY 93 financial statements had two major com-

ponents. The first was to follow up on the GAO audit work at the Indianapolis Cen-

ter, and identify causes for the internal control weaknesses that allowed the unau-

thorized payments to occur. The second component was installation reviews to

evaluate payroll controls at four Army locations. Our audit was the first that evalu-

ated military payroll controls at Army installation level in connection with the Chief

Financial Officers Act.

We cannot project how widespread the installation-level problems are because of

the small number of sites audited in relation to the Armywide total. However, our

audit results indicated there could be significant internal control weaknesses at

many installations. Audit results at the four locations showed that:

—Unit commanders at three of the four installations weren't using Unit Coni-

manders Finance Reports to ensure only authorized soldiers were getting paid

the proper amount.
—None of the installation payroll offices (which is a Defense Finance and Ac-

counting Service function) had adequate separation of duties over access to

the military payroll system. ,,0.1
We didn't determine whether these weakness actually led to payroll fraud and

abuse. We didn't identify any specific cases of unauthorized payments—our focus

was on overall controls, not individual payments. On the other hand, the personnel

and payroll database matches conducted by the Indianapolis Center showed a down-

ward trend in potential fi-aud or abuse. The March 1994 comparison identified only

one suspicious case that was referred for legal investigation.

We believe the Army and the Defense Finance and Accounting Service have taken

a number of corrective actions in response to the problems identified in the previous

GAO report. For example, the Indianapolis Center and the Army are:

—Developing interfaces between the personnel and payroll systems to detect

unauthorized payments. (Army managers are participating in this effort.)

—Correcting coding errors that caused the wrong pay appropriations to be

charged.
,

,

. •, i.

—Addressing system deficiencies that caused problems in reconciling gross to

net pay totals. .

These actions, when completed, will go a long way m correcting the problems with

the centralized portion of the pay system.

As for the problems identified at the installations, we found that, although there

was sufficient guidance, responsible personnel either were not aware of some re-

quirements, or command had not placed sufficient emphasis on the controls. In the

short term, actions needed to reduce the problems revolve around emphasis on com-

plying with existing guidance. Also, the planned dissemination of the automated re-

view, developed at Fort Riley, to achieve the type of checks which heretofore had

to be done manually using the Unit Commanders Finance Report, should result in

significant improvements.
The short-term fixes, however, are not the true solution to this problem. The cur-

rent procedure and controls rely on literally thousands of people to provide timely

and accurate information. The need for so many people to 'do the right things

means that the internal control risk environment will remain high. The ultimate so-

lution is an integrated or fully interfaced personnel and pay system, which would

eliminate the need for many of the current manual, and consequently labor mten-
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sive, internal controls. Systems interfaces are being developed, and the long-term
Army and DFAS goal is to develop and field a fiiUy integrated personnel and pay
system.

Corps of Engineers

Question 1. Mr. Reardon, it appears that the Corps still has problems with ac-
counting for some assets. Your sample of property records found things missing.
Could you expand on this?

Mr. Reardon. At 4 Corps districts (Portland, Omaha, New Orleans, and Savan-
nah), we selected 30 items of equipment on hand at each site and determined
whether the districts recorded them properly. We also randomly selected 30 items
of equipment from property records and traced them to the physical assets. We
found several problems at two districts:—^At the U.S. Army Engineer District in Omaha, we found equipment valued

at $267,000 that wasn't shown in the property records. The equipment in-

cluded four computers ($95,000), two vehicles ($25,000), and a bulldozer
($147,000).—^At the U.S. Army Engineer District in Portland, we couldn't locate equipment
valued at $112,188 that was included in the property records. These items in-

cluded a computer, workstation, scooter, and trailer. Although district person-
nel later stated that they were able to locate the items, the point is that tight-

er controls were needed.
We found that three of the four districts didn't update some property records

promptly upon receipt of equipment. Also, three of the four districts didn't periodi-
cally review open supply requisitions to ensure they were still valid.

Question 2. Mr. Reardon, you issued a disclaimer on the Corps of Engineers finan-
cial statement but noted that the Corps has tried hard to make financial manage-
ment progress. In what areas has the Corps made improvements?
Mr. Reardon. Overall, the Corps' decision to be the Army's first major command

to prepare a complete set of annual financial statements—and to voluntarily submit
those statements for audit—demonstrated a genuine commitment to the concepts
and goals of the Chief Financial Officers Act. In addition, during the FY 93 audit,

Corps leadership took some positive actions to begin the process to improve its fi-

nancial management. These were:
—The command group requested feedback throughout our FY 93 audit and
showed initiative in developing plans and establishing teams to correct identi-

fied deficiencies before publication of our audit report.

—The Corps was participating as a pilot project in performance measurement
under the Government Performance and Results Act of 1993. Development of
effective methods to measure performance for the civil works operation and
maintenance program should enhance the Corps' financial management capa-
bilities.

—In an effort to assist subordinate commands in managing the "cost of doing
business," the Corps headquarters began publishing district and division-level

business profiles in FY 93. These profiles contain financial statements and
performance indicators, along with instructions on how to interpret results.

The profiles are an initial step to increase the awareness and relevancy of fi-

nancial information to first-line managers. We believe this approach should
yield positive results.

We also noted specific improvements in two areas where the General Accounting
Office previously identified deficiencies:—^AccountabiUty Controls Over Equipment. District personnel were generally

performing annual physical inventories of personal property.—^Accounting System Access Controls. The Corps improved controls in (i) pro-

duction program access, (ii) written procedures for software changes and test-

ing, and (iii) edit routines in the Civil Automated Reporting System.
Question 3. Mr. Reardon, I noticed that the Corps has many of the same financial

management problems that are found throughout the Army. Reconciliations were a
problem, installations ignored requirements to do physical inventories, internal con-
trols were lax, and collections were a problem. Are there specific recommendations
that you would make today to ensure that we are not talking about these problems
next year?
Mr. Reardon. In our FY 93 audit report, we made 53 recommendations to the

Corps. At the Corps Commander's request, we identified the most critical areas in

which the Corps should focus its emphasis. In our opinion the Corps can achieve
substantial immediate benefits by giving priority to corrective actions in these
areas:
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—The Corps of Engineers needs to remove values of completed projects from its

construction-in-progress (CIP) accounts. Account errors caused the Corps to

overstate its CIP balances for both civil and military construction; understate

other civil works property, plant and equipment accounts; and risk double

counting of military assets. The General Accounting Office first reported this

problem in 1991. To assist the Corps in solving this problem, we provided the

automated query that we used to identify completed projects erroneously in-

cluded in CLP accounts. This tool—and increased involvement of project man-
agement and resource management personnel in analyzing the accounts

—

should enable the Corps to correct the problem. Corrective action doesn't re-

quire automated system changes.

—The Corps of Engineers needs to reconcile general ledger balances for real

property with real estate inventory records and reconcile balances for per-

sonal property (equipment) with property books. The reconciliations aire need-

ed to provide an audit trail between the general ledger account balances and
the individual records comprising the balances. GAO identified this problem

in 1991. Corrective action doesn t require automated system changes in the

near term. When the new Corps of Engineers Financial Management System
is fully implemented, its envisioned integrated general and subsidiary ledgers

should balance without labor-intensive reconciliations. The Corps stated that

it has issued guidance for real property to the field, with a requirement that

all corrective actions be completed by FY 95 yearend.

—The Corps of Engineers needs to record labor costs to appropriate projects and

to reprogram fluids when necessary. Recording costs in improper accounts

risks Anti-Deficiency Act violations and creates the appearance of a lack of

financial integrity by senior Corps managers. The Corps agreed to implement

all of our recommendations by FY 94 yearend, including a change to the exist-

ing accounting system. Existing Corps policy prohibits improper labor cost

transfers; thus, compliance appears to be the issue.

—The Corps of Engineers needs to effectively compare its payroll database with

its personnel database and resolve any discrepancies. An automated compari-

son program is currently available, and Corps personnel agreed to run the

grogram semiannually,
elieve that these four areas present the greatest potential for improvmg fi-

nancial management at the Corps without waiting for new information systems.

Our preliminary results during the FY 94 audit showed that the Corps was devot-

ing substantial resources to ensure that corrective actions were implemented. The
command group was actively involved in highlighting areas of concern to subordi-

nate commanders.

Defense Business Operations Fund

Question 1. Mr. Reardon, you indicated in your Army DBOF audit that depot

maintenance activities didn't have adequate controls to ensure that amounts due

from suppliers were valid. As I understand it, the activities had paid for the inven-

tory, but hadn't recorded its receipt in financial records, and about 50 percent of

the inventory had been recorded as due in for over six months. Isn't it true that,

without followup, there is no assurance that items paid for were in fact received?

Mr. Reardon. Yes it's true that without followup there is no assurance that items

paid for were in fact received. However, our audit couldn't determine if the Army
paid for items and didn't receive them. The audit found that about 37 percent of

the transactions were valid. The remaining 63 percent of the "material inventop^

due in from suppliers" shown in the financial records wasn't vahd. Here is a break-

down of the results:
, , , • j u .l

The material for about 47 percent of the transactions had been received, but

the activities hadn't recorded the receipts in the financial records.

—One depot wrote off as lost shipments about 11 percent of the transactions.

The transactions were old and it couldn't determine what their disposition

was.
—^At the completion of audit work, one depot was still researching the status

of 2 percent of the transactions.

—About 3 percent of the transactions had been canceled in the supply records

but were still shown in the financial records as due in.

We recommended that the Army's Industrial Operations Command (Provisional)

require that depot maintenance activities conduct a special review of transactions

for inventory reported as in transit from suppliers for more than 90 days. We also

recommended that similar reviews be done monthly. Command agreed and said that

it will have activities follow up on old transactions.
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WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM SENATOR GLENN TO JACKIE R. CRAWFORD,
DEPARTMENT OF THE AIR FORCE, AND THE RESPONSES

Question 1. Both DFAS and the Air Force we responsible for producing accurate
financial information; however, you found that both organizations made significant
errors in compiling and reporting financial information. GAO found many of the
same problems you reported in their fiscal 1988 and 1989 reports.

Why have these problems persisted?
Mr. Crawford, a. Neither the Air Force nor the Defense Finance and Accounting

Service have the type of automated accounting system that is needed to produce ac-

curate and reliable financial statements. As both we and the GAO have indicated
in past audit reports, the Air Force needs a transaction-driven general ledger ac-
counting system which links the approximately 130 existing accounting, operational,
and financial management systems that currently provide data for the Air Force fi-

nancial statements.
b. Existing financial management systems were principally designed to focus on

budget preparation, budget execution, and fund control. While the existing systems
are generally effective in achieving their primary function, they cannot provide the
data needed to prepare the accurate and reliable financial statements required by
the Chief Financial Officers Act. Consequently, Air Force and DFAS personnel com-
pile financial data through a cumbersome and unreliable process that involves mul-
tiple automated and manual information systems.

c. Both the Air Force and DFAS are aware of the shortcomings in existing finan-
cial management systems. In 1989, the Air Force initiated an accounting systems
development effort, the Base Level Accounting and Reporting System (BLARS),
which was intended to provide the Air Force with a transaction-driven general ledg-

er accounting system. However, the BLARS development effort was canceled in Feb-
ruary 1990, based on DOD initiatives to develop a single accounting system to serv-
ice all DOD organizations. The DOD-wide accounting system is part of the broader
DOD Corporate Information Management (CIM) program. Standardized systems re-

sulting fi'om the CIM initiative, including a transaction-driven general ledger ac-

counting system, are not expected to be operational for several more years.

d. Although permanent solutions to existing financial management problems are
several years away, both the Air Force and DFAS have initiated interim corrective
actions which have resulted in improvements to Air Force financial data. Some of
the actions include:

(1) A joint Air Force/DFAS corrective action plan.

(2) Establishment of a tracking system to aetermine the status of corrective

actions in response to audit recommendations.
(3) A worldwide training program for Air Force and DFAS accounting person-

nel.

(4) Revised policies and procedures.
(5) Internal control reviews of accounting reports.

(6) Implementation of interim automated financial management systems to

improve contract and obligations data. These systems, which are currently
being activated, include the Direct Contract Payment Notice Reporting System
and the Automated Reconciliation System.

Question 2. Both DFAS and the Air Force are responsible for producing accurate
financial information; however, you found that both organizations made significant

errors in compiling and reporting financial information. GAO found many of the
same problems you reported in their fiscal 1988 and 1989 reports.

What part, if any, does the shifting of responsibility fi-om Air Force to DFAS play
in the persistence of these problems?
Mr. Crawford, a. The shift;ing of responsibility for Air Force accounting activity

fi[-om the Air Force to DFAS has had little direct effect on the persistence of existing
financial management problems. The Defense Finance and Accounting Service-Den-
ver Center (DFAS-DE), which provides most of the Air Force's accounting services,

was formerly the Air Force Accounting and Finance Center (AFAFC). Consequently,
when DFAS assumed responsibility for the former AFAFC, it inherited the Air
Force's existing financial management problems.

b. However, because DFAS must concern itself with DOD-wide financial manage-
ment issues and is responsible for improving financial management for all branches
of the military, permanent solutions to the Air Force's financial management prob-
lems may be delayed. As mentioned earlier, the CIM initiative to provide a DOD-
wide accounting system will not be available for several years.

Question 3. Given your work on the Air Force's and DFAS' internal controls, what
do you think is the potential for other ft"aud cases similar to the one at Reese Air
Force Base the year before last?
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Mr. Crawford, a. We have found that internal controls are generally well designed

to safeguard Air Force assets. Therefore, we believe that adherence to these internal

controls will minimize the potential for occurrences similar to those identified at

Reese AFB. However, internal controls can never completely eliminate the potential

for fraud regardless of how effective and comprehensive. Internal controls are de-

signed to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance that assets and resources

are protected. Our audits have shown the most common problem is improper appli-

cation of controls, thereby providing the opportunity for fraud. For example, ongoing

downsizing hampers the Air Force and DFAS's ability lo satisfy the key control of

separation of duties.

b. After the Reese case, the Air Force Audit Agency conducted a 40-base audit to

determine whether cases similar to the Reese fraud existed and also whether inter-

nal controls were adequate to provide reasonable protection from similar occur-

rences. Our audit did not identify any additional cases of fraud, but did conclude

that base personnel did not always follow the established internal controls and

therefore increased the risk of fraud. As a result of these findings, DFAS and the

Air Force have provided additional guidance to field units and embarked on ambi-

tious training and awareness programs to emphasize the importance of internal con-

trol compUance. The Air Force Audit Agency is assisting these efforts by monitoring

field compliance with specific internal control areas DFAS and the Air Force are em-

phasizing.

WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM SENATOR GLENN TO DEREK VANDER
SCHAAF, DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE, AND THE RESPONSES

Accounting Problems

Question 1. You've said that you hoped to see certain financial problems solved

by now, but yet they persisted. Can you explain your concerns in more detail, and

tell us what needs to be done to fix uncorrected problems?

Mr. Vander Schaaf In addition to the problems discussed in my testimony, we

noted continued difficulties in the following areas where more progress had been ex-

pected:

—continued generation of unmatched disbursements;

—illogical treatment of asset valuation, as in the Homeowners Assistance Fund

and the Defense Reutilization and Marketing Service portion of the DBOF;
—only partial completion of the DOD Financial Management Regulation and in-

adequate distribution of all completed parts to accounting offices; and

—failure to select finance and accounting systems to be updated and used as

interim core systems while ftiture systems are being designed.

The development of consolidated, integrated and more efficient automated sys-

tems is crucial in the DOD financial management improvement effort. In an even

more general sense, maintaining the active interest and involvement of senior DOD
officials in financial management improvement efforts is the key element in solving

the problems. It is also important to focus more attention on the front end of proc-

esses to prevent problems rather than deal with them later in extensive rework and

reconciliation efforts. For example, we recently issued draft reports identifying ways

to make the personnel separation process more efficient, so that the debt collection

workload can be reduced, and to reduce the data input errors in the Mechanization

of Contract Administration Services system, so that subsequent reconciliation work-

lo&d is ci6cr6£is6(l

We are reviewing our financial statement audit approaches, reorganizing to pro-

vide more audit support at DFAS Columbus Center, and working with DOD man-

agement to resolve issues such as the unwillingness of some officials to revise pre-

liminary financial statements and the remaining asset valuation problems. Together

with the continued operation of the Senior Financial Managers Oversight Council

and periodic Congressional hearings, the Chief Financial Officers Act audits and

other planned reviews of finance and accounting matters should be sufficient to

keep the spotlight on DOD financial management matters.

Question 2. Your written statement describes a very slow process of financial

statement production by the Pentagon, in which some statements weren't turned

over to auditors until June, a month before audits were due. How can we speed up

the process, and make it more effective?
.

Mr. Vander Schaaf The Department's process for producing the accounting intor-

mation used in its financial statements involves gathering data from multiple ac-

counting and non-accounting systems that are not integrated, not compatible, and

were not designed for financial reporting purposes. In many cases, the systems are
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not even automated, but are based on manual record keeping. The Department will
be able to speed up the process significantly only after the number of automated
systems are reduced and the systems are redesigned for finance and accounting pur-
poses. The fewer systems and the less manual intervention needed to produce ac-
counting data, the more accurate and timely the data should become. In the mean-
time, we believe that processing times can be somewhat reduced by avoiding some
of the current rework and improving coordination between activities. This year, one
of our audits will focus on the process used to produce the Defense Business Oper-
ations Fund financial statements.

Inventory and Equipment

Question 3. Your DBOF audit indicates some rather major inventory accounting
problems at the Navy. Can you explain more about what was found by the Naval
Audit Service—and what needs to be fixed?

Mr. Vander Schaaf (NOTE: Mr. Vander Schaaf stated at the hearing that he
would supply this information for the record.)

DBOF

Question 4. Considering all the problems you have raised—regarding DBOF—poor
accounting, lack of documentation, plugged entries, big inventory discrepancies

—

and when you combine it with GAO's recent report on DBOF pricing policies, it

doesn't give much faith in the fund's credibility.

I know the Pentagon is trying hard on DBOF, but what's your prognosis? What
else can we do to make it work better.

Mr. Vander Schaaf Both the GAO and the IG, DOD, have observed improvement
in the DBOF since its inception. Much of the improvement occurred since last year,
when the Department took a close look at where it was with the DBOF and de-
signed an improvement plan that had support from senior DOD management. The
plan included sound strategies and actions grouped in categories of accountability
and control, DBOF structure, policy and procedures, and financial systems. We ad-
vised the Department that the plan's schedule was too ambitious in some respects,
but we supported its content.

Much remains to be done before positive, measurable results can be expected from
the DBOF. Inadequate, non-integrated systems make it extremely difficult, if not
impossible, to produce timely, accurate, financial information for the DBOF or any
other fund. As addressed in the testimony, the single most crucial aspect of DOD
financial management improvement efforts is systems development. Additionally,
we agree with GAO that the DOD needs to assess periodically whether the current
approach for managing DBOF is successfully ensuring the implementation of the
DBOF improvement plan and of DBOF policies and procedures. If not, the DOD
needs to reconsider the alternative of using a high-level fund director to oversee
management of the fund.

Question 5. Mr. Vander Schaaf, I was pleased to see that after our April hearing
on financial management issues, the Department convened a high-level meeting to
review computer security problems in its financial systems.
Are you satisfied that they will take the necessary actions to correct this situa-

tion?

Mr. Vander Schaaf Yes, we are very encouraged by the positive reaction by the
Department to the computer security threat. The Assistant Secretary of Defense
(Command, Control, Communications, and Intelligence) directed the Defense Infor-

mation Systems Agency (DISA) to correct the security deficiencies cited in four re-

cent audit reports. The Defense Finance and Accounting Service (DFAS) was also
directed by the DOD Comptroller to correct application software security deficiencies
at its central design activities. Both DISA and DFAS have been given the deadline
of October 1, 1994 to complete those actions. At the request of the Deputy Secretary
of Defense, we have initiated two audit projects to determine whether corrective ac-

tions taken or planned will bring about adequate improvements. We plan to provide
feedback to the Assistant Secretary of Defense (Command, Control, Communica-
tions, and Intelligence) and the DOD Comptroller on the results of our work by No-
vember 1, 1994.

In addition, we are participating with the DFAS and Defense Manpower Data
Center in a joint project to identify unauthorized users and other problems in DOD
financial systems through a series of computer matches.
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WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM SENATOR GLENN TO HELEN T. McCOY,
DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY, AND THE RESPONSES

Audit Opinion

Question 1. Ms. McCoy, although the CFO Act audits indicated progress in many
financial management areas, the Army received a disclaimer again on its 1993

statements. What specific plans does the Army have for obtaining a clean opinion

on at least one of its statements—even a qualified opinion—and when do you expect

that better opinion?
Ms. McCoy. I expect it will be several years before the Armys financial state-

ments receive a quaUfied opinion. Let me explain my answer.

The issues identified in the audits cut across fiinctional lines within the Army,

as well as organizational lines within DOD. The lack of integrated systems, the use

of pystems designed for fiinds control more so than accounting, and the sheer num-
ber of systems fi-om which information must be gathered, all are contributing rea-

sons for disclaimers. The systems' solutions are long term.

However, we are not standing still. As you are aware, in 1992, the Army formed

a Senior Level Steering Group to ensure that CFO audit issues within our purview

are actively resolved. Functional proponents, such as Logistics and Installation

Management, are implementing changes to their present systems to improve accu-

racy. Now that corrective actions are well underway, we are developing an Army
stewardship improvement plan that focuses on shared concerns between the fiinc-

tional and financial conmiunities. The stewardship improvement plan will include

a comprehensive Usting of initiatives that support the tenets of the CFO Act, e.g.,

systems integration, compliance. _p t •
i

The Army will continue to discipUne existing processes and to interface functional

and financial systems whenever possible until true fimctional and financial integra-

tion can be achieved.

Payroll Problems

Question 2. Ms. McCoy, mihtary pay offices still lack fimdamental internal con-

trols, even though additional guidance has been issued. The Audit Agency says that,

in some offices, computer security is lax and there is no separation of duties—^both

of which make it easy for someone to commit payroll fi-aud without detection.

Why do these problems persist, and what is your plan for correcting them?

Ms. McCoy. I agree that adequate guidance has been issued to the field. The De-

fense Finance and Accounting Service is now responsible for all CONUS finance of-

fices. They have reinstituted a field quaUty assurance program that allows func-

tional experts to visit the various pay offices or Defense Accounting Offices (DAOs)

and perform an internal review function to identify weaknesses, reinforce good in-

ternal controls, and correct problems. The program's benefits are many. To name
a few, it will provide quick identification of broken internal controls, identify

problem(s) to DAOs for Uieir check and balance process, and serve as a watchdog

for possible payroll fi-auds. The items discovered during these assessments receive

special attention.
t l i. i:'

The OCONUS finance offices remain the responsibiUty of the Army. In both Eu-

rope and Korea, we have also established a field quality assurance program.

o
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